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Selected indicatorS
of the Lenzing group

Key earnings and profitability figures

eUr mn 2015 2014 changes

Revenue 1,976.8 1,864.2 6.0%

EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization) 290.1 240.3 20.7%

EBITDA margin 14.7% 12.9%

EBIT (earnings before interest and tax) 151.1 21.9 589.1%

EBIT margin 7.6% 1.2%

EBT (earnings before tax) 149.1 7.3 1,940.9%

Net profit/loss for the year 124.0 (14.2) n/a

Earnings per share in EUR 4.63 (0.51) n/a

ROCE (return on capital employed) 8.0% (0.1%)

ROE (return on equity) 13.0% 0.7%

ROI (return on investment) 6.3% 0.9%

Key cash flow figures

eUr mn 2015 2014 changes

Gross cash flow 284.5 230.8 23.2%

Cash flow from operating activities 215.6 218.8 (1.5%)

Free cash flow 145.0 114.8 26.2%

CAPEX 70.9 104.3 (32.0%)

Liquid assets as at 31/12 355.3 280.3 26.8%

Unused credit facilities as at 31/12 190.9 198.5 (3.8%)

Key balance sheet figures

eUr mn as at 31/12 2015 2014 changes

Total assets 2,421.8 2,375.1 2.0%

Adjusted equity 1,226.4 1,066.1 15.0%

Adjusted equity in % 50.6% 44.9%

Net financial debt 327.9 449.5 (27.0%)

Net financial debt / EBITDA 1.1 1.9 (39.6%)

Net debt 424.5 552.5 (23.2%)

Net gearing 26.7% 42.2%

Trading working capital 447.4 395.7 13.1%

Trading working capital to annualized group revenue ratio 21.6% 19.5%

Key stock market figures

eUr 2015 2014 changes

Market capitalization in millions as at 31/12 1,846.6 1,400.2 31.9%

Share price as at 31/12 69.55 52.74 31.9%

Dividend per share 2.001 1.00 100.0%

employees

Headcount 2015 2014 changes

Employees as at 31/12 6,127 6,356 (3.6%)

1) On the basis of proposed distribution of profits.

 The above financial indicators are largely derived from the Lenzing Group’s consolidated financial statements according to IFRS. Further details on their  
 calculation can be found in section “Notes on financial performance indicators of the Lenzing Group”, in the glossary of the Annual Report and the  
 consolidated financial statements of the Lenzing Group. Rounding differences can occur when presenting rounded amounts and percentages.

 To improve the informative value and clarity the presentation of key indicators was revised for this Annual Report.



In 2015, Lenzing developed its new group strategy “sCore 
TEN.” The name stands for a resolute performance orientation 
(scoring) and the strengthening of Lenzing‘s core business op-
erations (core) as well as the sustainable growth of the com-
pany with specialty fi bers such as Lenzing Modal® or TENCEL® 
(TEN). 

The heart in the logo represents corporate values, and the 
corporate culture developed within the context of the strategy 
process. They represent the breeding ground for the success 
of the Lenzing Group. 

Thus there are many good reasons to make sCore TEN the 
main theme of our Annual Report 2015.

das geschäftsjahr 2015 war geprägt durch die 

festlegung der neuen Lenzing Strategie score ten. 

neW StrateGY  
for profitaBLe groWth
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editorial BY tHe 
chairman of the management Board

his success is based on several measures. To begin 
with, it can be attributed to the resolute adaptation 
of our business operations to market requirements, 

as reflected in the excelLENZ program that was concluded in 
all areas of the Lenzing Group in 2015. In this way we man-
aged to sustainably improve the cost structure, streamline 
the organization and enhance its efficiency. 

Furthermore, Lenzing consistently disposed of business ar-
eas during the 2015 financial year which were not an inte-
gral part of its core business. As a consequence, we further 
sharpened management’s focus on our fiber production op-
erations, freeing up capital which was previously tied up in 
order to drive the expansion of our core business.  

Above all, our operating performance was the crucial fac-
tor underlying our dynamic development in 2015. Despite 
the persistence of an extremely volatile market environment, 
we achieved remarkable market success with our specialty 
fibers TENCEL® and Lenzing Modal® in the textile segment 
and with TENCEL® in the nonwovens sector. Strong demand 
for Lenzing products in the past financial year served as the 
basis for high capacity utilization. In particular, we exceeded 
in marketing our TENCEL® products. Moreover, the qual-
ity initiative launched in 2015 also contributed to our overall 
success. The bottom line is that Lenzing once again demon-
strated its market strength in 2015. The solid, longstanding 
foundation on which Lenzing stands was also highlighted in 

commemorating “50 Years of Lenzing Modal®“ and celebrat-
ing the first anniversary of the TENCEL® fiber production 
plant at the Lenzing site. 

On the basis of these impressive operational successes 
combined with the significantly improved net profit for the 
year and the sound balance sheets structure, the Manage-
ment Board and Supervisory Board propose that the An-
nual General Meeting approve the distribution of a dividend 
amounting to 2 Euro for the 2015 financial year, double the 
prior-year dividend.  

In the second half of 2015 we profited from the temporary rise 
in spot market prices for fibers in China and the weakening 
of the euro exchange rate against most other currencies. The 
decline in spot market viscose selling prices in China starting 
at the end of 2015 demonstrates how quickly market condi-
tions can change. We will be forced to repeatedly cushion 
against market volatilities by being flexible and taking suitable 
measures – today, tomorrow and in the future.

We developed our new group strategy entitled “sCore TEN” 
within the context of a broad-based process. sCore TEN 
enables the company to flexibly respond to the above-men-
tioned fluctuations and at the same time optimally exploit 
the opportunities arising as a consequence of the prevailing 
megatrends. We expect these trends to continue, impact-
ing our business in the years to come. This includes uninter-

t

dear shareholders,

the Lenzing group looks back at a successful 

2015 financial year with a sense of pride. We 

achieved very respectable results following three dif-

ficult years, generating an eBitda* for the period of 

290.1 million euro and a net profit of 124 million euro. 

*) For details on definitions and the basis for calculations, refer to the “Appendix: Notes on Financial Performance Indicators of the Lenzing Group” in chapter  
 16 of the Group Management Report. 
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rupted population growth, rising prosperity in the emerging 
markets, the heightened importance of industrial raw materi-
als from renewable sources as a result of climate change, the 
prudent use of natural resources, as well as growing demand 
for hygiene products. In our view these trends will cause the 
market for man-made cellulose fibers made from wood to 
increase almost twice as fast as for fibers in general.  

Our research and development is in very good shape today. 
Nevertheless, we want to even more effectively safeguard 
and expand Lenzing’s position as a technology and innova-
tion leader in this attractive growth market. To achieve this, 
we will focus more clearly than in the past on the most at-
tractive segments in the specialty fiber business. Lenzing will 
put value before volume in the future. We will work together 
even more closely with our customers so that we can jointly 
develop new and highly innovative products and product ap-
plications. 

The new group strategy developed by Lenzing Group em-
ployees is the result of an extensive, in-depth process. They 
superbly mastered this task in just a few months alongside 
the challenges of day-to-day business operations. The suc-
cessful conclusion of this process is evidence of the inherent 
potential and strength of our company. sCore TEN is now a 
stable platform, and a benchmark for a large number of im-
provements which we will continuously formulate and carry 
out in the months and years ahead.

We also realigned our internal organization in 2015 in order 
to ensure the level of customer proximity we want. This re-
structuring is designed for a stronger focus of our activities to 
the individual regions around the world. We want to delegate 
greater entrepreneurial responsibility to executives based in 
other locations and shorten decision-making processes. This 
goes hand in hand with a further internationalization of our 
management team.

Finally, I would like to thank all our employees for their com-
mitment and efforts in the past financial year on behalf of 
the company. I also wish to thank all our customers for their 
confidence in the quality of our products and services. Last 
but not least, my sincerest thanks  to our shareholders and all 
our business partners and friends for placing their trust in us. 

The Lenzing team enters the new financial year 2016 with 
confidence, optimism and renewed impetus.

 
 

Yours, 

Stefan Doboczky



8

end products

nonwoven

textile

Wood Pulp Fiber

tHe lenzinG GroUP

the company sets 
standards in the 

field of botanic 
cellulose fibers 

thanks to its 
high quality and 

innovative strength.

Fibers manufactured by Lenzing are made of the natural raw material wood, which contains about 40% cellulose. 
The natural origin of these fibers ensures their outstanding properties such as absorbency and excellent moisture 
management, the production process guarantees purity and clearly defined uniform quality. 

The Lenzing Group is a world market leader headquartered in Austria, with production sites in 
all major markets as well as a worldwide network of sales and marketing offices. Lenzing sup-
plies the global textile and nonwovens industry with high-quality, botanic cellulose fibers. Its 
portfolio ranges from dissolving wood pulp to standard and specialty cellulose fibers.  

Lenzing’s quality and innovative strength set global standards for cellulose fibers. With more 
than 75 years of experience in fiber production, the Lenzing Group is the only company world-
wide combining the manufacturing of all three cellulose fiber generations on a large industrial 
scale under one roof – from the classic viscose to modal and the Lyocell fiber TENCEL®. 

The success of the Lenzing Group is based on its consistent customer orientation together 
with its leadership in innovation, technology and quality. Lenzing is committed to the principles 
of sustainable management and very high environmental standards. 
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tHe ManaGeMent Board 
of the Lenzing group

thomas obendrauf 
Chief Financial Officer 
Member of the Management Board

Stefan doboczky
Chief Executive Officer  
Chairman of the Management Board

robert van de Kerkhof 
Chief Commercial Officer  
Member of the Management Board

responsibilities of the Board Members

Global Accounting

Global Controlling

Global IT & Process Management

Global Purchasing

Global Treasury

Internal Audit

Minority Participations

Risk Management

Regional Area AMEA

Regional Area North Asia

Global Pulp & Wood

Global Operations

Global HR

Global R&D

Strategy & Projects

Legal IP & Compliance

Corporate Communications &  
Investor Relations

Emerging Business Areas

Corporate Secretary

Regional Area Europe and Americas

Global Business Management Textiles  
and Nonwovens

Global Sustainability

Global Brand Management

Global S&OP
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The Lenzing Group aims to safeguard and expand its leadership role on the dynamic growth 
market for wood-based cellulose fi bers. To achieve this, it will focus more intensively on the most 
attractive growth segments in the specialty fi ber business. In the future Lenzing will put value be-
fore volume. The company will work even more closely with customers in order to jointly develop 
new and highly innovative product applications.   

Lenzing expects demand for wood-based cellulose fi bers to increase by 5-6% p.a. until 2020, 
almost twice as the anticipated expansion of the global fi ber market. The primary factors driving 
growth are the further increase in the world’s population and rising prosperity in the emerging 
markets. Forecasts call for a rise in per capita textile consumption in the emerging markets by 
about 50% in the period 2010 to 2020. In the industrialized countries the nonwovens industry, an 
important sales market for Lenzing, will profi t from the increased demand for hygiene products 
and is expected to expand twice as fast as the textile market.  

Lenzing optimally orients its new group strategy to these prevailing market trends. The name 
“sCore TEN” stands for a resolute performance orientation (scoring) and the strengthening of 
Lenzing‘s core business operations (core) as well as the sustainable growth of the company with 
specialty fi bers such as Lenzing Modal® or TENCEL® (TEN). Five strategic measures comprise 
the cornerstones of sCore TEN:  

 � Strengthen the core: A higher share of Lenzing’s pulp requirements is to be secured via 
backward integration, i.e. by increasing the Group’s own pulp production volumes and/or by 
expanding strategic cooperations. Lenzing will strive to further expand upon its quality and 
technology leadership. A program designed to strengthen commercial processes should 
generate a positive EBITDA contribution of EUR 50 mn by the end of the year 2017. The 
restructuring of Lenzing’s technical business areas will be concluded in 2016.  

 � customer intimacy: Lenzing plans to establish regional competence centers for product 
innovations and delegate greater decision-making powers to the regions as a means of 
intensifying customer proximity.  

 � Specialization: By 2020, 50% of total revenue should be generated from the company’s 
business with eco-friendly specialty fi bers such as TENCEL® and Lenzing Modal® as well as 
viscose fi ber specialties. Lenzing will further increase TENCEL® fi ber production capacities 
depending on market requirements. 

 � Forward solutions: Lenzing will expand its research and development activities in selected 
areas along the value chain via new, game-changing technologies. 

 � new business areas: Lenzing will exploit its core competencies to open up new, attractive 
business areas in the mid- to long-term. 

tHe neW StrateGY  
of the Lenzing group 

the Lenzing group developed its new group strategy entitled “score ten” in 

2015, setting a clear goal: profi table growth on the basis of sustainable specialty 

fi bers. 
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new organizational structure

During the second half of 2015 the organization of the company was realigned in order to opti-
mally implement sCore TEN. A matrix organization based on regions and functions was estab-
lished as of March 1, 2016. Three regional business units responsible for success were created to 
focus on the fi ber business in their respective regions: “Europe & Americas,” “North Asia” (China, 
Japan, Korea, Taiwan and Vietnam) and “AMEA” (Asia excl. North Asia, Middle East and Africa). 
The three regional business units will be complemented by the newly established global “Pulp & 
Wood” business area. This new organizational structure gives the regions greater management 
responsibility and further increases customer proximity. 

lenzing has defined the following financial objectives within the 
context of its score ten strategy:   

 � eBitda: 10% increase p.a. by 2020  
 � return on capital employed (roce): Rise to over 10% by 2020
 � net fi nancial debt: maintain it less than 2.5 times EBITDA  
 � targeted dividends: up to 50% of the group net profi t in the previous year

score ten

Profit Safety, Sustainability

Code of Business
Conduct (COBC)

P
eo

p
le

Planet

corporate values

leadership Model

culture Focus

Respect, inclusion 
and diversity

Pride in excellence

Collaboration 
with speed

“Lenzing is a performance materials
company that turns CO2 and 
sunlight into highly functional, 
emotional and aesthetic products 
across the globe”

Mission

Develop

InsightDeliver Connect

Shape
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THE PRODUCTION SITES 
OF THE LENZING GROUP1

  
Mobile, USA  

New York, USA  

 
Grimsby, Great Britain   

  
Lenzing, Austria   

Headquarters

1) All figures in metric tons as at December 31, 2015    2) Air-dried

Lyocell fibers (TENCEL®)

Capacity: 50,000 tons fibers p.a.

Lyocell fibers (TENCEL®)

Capacity: 40,000 tons fibers p.a.

World´s largest integrated pulp and viscose fiber production plant

Capacity: 272,000 tons fibers p.a. 

  297,000 tons dissolving wood pulp  p.a.2

TENCEL® fiber plant  
Capacity: 67,000 tons fibers p.a. 

Competence Center for research in dissolving wood pulp and fibers
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Paskov, czech republic   

  
nanjing, china   

Shanghai, china   

Hong Kong, china   

Jakarta, indonesia   

  
Purwakarta, indonesia   

  
Heiligenkreuz, austria   

coimbatore, india

 TENCEL® 

 Lenzing Viscose®     

 Lenzing Modal®     

 Pulp     

 Offi ces

Lyocell fi bers (TENCEL®)

capacity: 40,000 tons fi bers p.a.
Viscose fi bers

capacity: 178,000 tons fi bers p.a.

Dissolving wood pulp

capacity: 270,000 tons 
dissolving wood pulp p.a.2

Viscose fi bers

capacity: 323,000 tons fi bers p.a.

Lyocell fi bers (TENCEL®)

capacity: 65,000 tons fi bers p.a.
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ProdUctS oF 
the Lenzing group

tHe lenzinG GroUP iS tHe GloBal leader in tHe 
ProdUction and MarKetinG oF Botanic cellUloSe 
FiBerS For tHe textile and nonWovenS indUStrY. 

tencel®

TENCEL® is produced using the lyocell process, which won the European 

Award for the Environment from the European Union as an environmentally 

friendly technology. Unique physical properties such as tenacity (especial-

ly when wet), moisture management and pleasantness to the skin make  

TENCEL® an appealing material for a wide range of applications.

lenzing viscose®

With more than 75 years of experience in producing viscose fibers, Lenz-

ing sets the international quality standards in the industry for this product. 

Lenzing Viscose® is considered a premium product on the world market 

and is typically used in ladies’ outer garments, such as elegantly flowing 

printed dresses. Because of its purity, pleasantness to the skin and natural 

absorbency, Lenzing Viscose® is also an outstanding choice for sensitive 

hygiene applications.

lenzing Fr®

Made from the natural raw material wood, this fiber offers protection from 

heat in a variety of work areas. With its extraordinary characteristics with 

respect to heat insulation and moisture management, Lenzing FR® reduces 

the risk of heat stress or heatstroke and increases protection from first- to 

third-degree burns.

lenzing Modal®

Lenzing Modal® is manufactured from the natural raw material beech wood 

at the Lenzing facility for specialty products utilizing unique integrated pro-

cess management (Edelweiss technology). Besides being especially soft 

and pleasant to the skin, the fibers are known for their luster and brilliant 

colors. The dyeing behavior of Lenzing Modal® is very similar to that of cotton 

so ideal tone in tone dyeing is guaranteed.

Pulp

Dissolving wood pulp is the most important raw material used in the produc-

tion of wood-based cellulose fibers, and is derived from the renewable raw 

material wood. The Lenzing Group operates two pulp plants (at the Lenzing 

site in Austria and in Paskov, Czech Republic). It is also necessary for Lenz-

ing to procure additional pulp on the global market in addition to the quanti-

ties it produces itself in order to ensure that the entire Group has a sufficient 

supply of the raw material pulp. 

Lenzing fibers can be produced from beech wood, spruce, eucalyptus and 

other type of wood. The wood and pulp volumes used by Lenzing are con-

sistently derived from sustainably managed forests. 100% of the raw material 

used (wood or pulp) is either certified or comes from controlled and exter-

nally verified sources.

Biorefinery and co-products

The biorefinery products of acetic acid, furfural, magnesium lignin sulfonate 

and soda as well as sodium sulfate are the by-products of the integrated 

pulp and fiber production process. The manufacturing production and mar-

keting of these co-products make an important contribution to the optimal 

utilization of the natural resource wood.

TENCEL®, Lenzing Modal® and Lenzing Viscose®  
are registered trademarks of Lenzing Aktiengesellschaft.

MiSSion
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applications

More information about our applications 
can be found on our website

Bed linen

Shirts and blouses

Upholstery

Lenzing FR® Complete

TENCEL® cosmetics

Carpet

Bed

Baby wipes

Workwear

Lenzing Modal® COLOR

Automotive

Technical textiles

Denim

Active

Knits

Filtration

Bath

Wellness

Wool

Facial mask
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ManageMent RepoRt 2015

General Market environment

Global economy1

In 2015, the global economy grew at a slower pace than in the previous year in the light of a 
weaker economic development in the developing and emerging markets. According to the 
latest estimates of the International Monetary Fund (IMF), global economic growth reached 
a level of 3.1% in 2015, compared to 3.4% in 2014. The industrialized nations continued their 
moderate recovery, generating average growth of 1.9% (2014: 1.8%), whereas the developing 
and emerging markets posted growth of 4.0% in a year-on-year comparison, considerably 
lower than the 4.6% growth rate in 2014.    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The IMF reported that the Chinese economy expanded by 6.9% in 2015, down from the prior-
year level of 7.3%. Brazil and Russia slid into a recession, with their economies contracting by 
3.8% and 3.7% respectively. India was the only one of the BRIC countries (Brazil, Russia, India 
and China) whose economic growth rate of 7.3% matched its performance of the previous year 
(2014: 7.3%). The US economy expanded by 2.5% in 2015 (2014: 2.4%). GDP in the eurozone 
increased by 1.5%, an improvement from 0.9% growth in the year 2014.    

Global fiber market2

decline of worldwide production, global fiber consumption up 2.7%  

According to initial estimates, for the first time in many years world fiber production actually 
declined in the 2015 financial year, falling slightly by 0.9% to 94.0 mn tons, compared to 2.1% 
growth in 2014. This drop was in contrast to the expected 2.7% rise in fiber consumption in 
2015 (2014: 2.8%) to 95.6 mn tons.  

The main reason for the production decline was the sharp drop in worldwide cotton produc-
tion, which contracted by 14.0% in 2015 to 22.5 mn tons. This can be attributed to the fact that 
cotton production lost some of its attractiveness compared to other crops due to shrinking 
margins. Production decreases were also reported for wool (minus 0.6% to 1.2 mn tons) and 
other natural fibers (minus 3.7% to 4.9 mn tons).  

1) Source: IMF, World Economic Outlook Update, January 19, 2016    2) All production figures in this section were updated to the currently accepted values in 
comparison to the estimates published in Lenzing’s Annual Report 2014. Sources: International Cotton Advisory Committee (ICAC), IMF, Cotton Outlook, CCF 
Group (China Chemical Fibers and Textiles Consulting), Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO)

economic growth by region

2013 2014 2015

Worldwide 3.3% 3.4% 3.1%

industrialized countries 1.1% 1.8% 1.9%

eurozone (0.3%) 0.9% 1.5%

emerging and developing countries 5.0% 4.6% 4.0%
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In contrast, production of the group of synthetic and anorganic fi bers as well as wood-based 
and cotton linter-based cellulose fi bers continued to expand in line with the upward trend 
prevailing in recent years. Output increased by 4.8% in 2015 to an estimated 65.5 mn tons in 
comparison to 3.8% growth in 2014. Production of synthetic fi bers rose 5.1% from the prior-
year level, whereas the production of cellulose fi bers was up 1.5% according to preliminary 
forecasts. 

Fibers on the world market

Protein-based

Fibers

Wood-
based

Cellulose-based

Wool

Silk

Angora

Cashmere

Casein

Collagen

Ardein

Zein

etc.

Cotton
and 

bast fibers

Cotton

Flax

Hemp

Jute

etc.

Viscose

Modal

Lyocell

Cupro

Acetate

etc.

From
synthetic 
polymers

From
anorganic

substances

Carbon

Ceramics

Glass

Metal

Polyester

Polyamide

Polypropylene

Polyurethane 
(Elastan)

Acrylic

Polytetrafluor-
ethylene

Global fi ber market

Global fi ber consumption 2015

Synthetic fibers
62.1%

Wool
1.2%

Cotton
25.2%

Other
natural fibers

5.1%

Wood-based
cellulose fibers1

6.4%

Cellulose- & protein-based
 fib

ers

1) Wood-based and cotton linter-based cellulose fi bers Source: ICAC, CIFRS, TFY, FEB, Lenzing estimates
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demand for cotton exceeds production, inventories remain high3 

Based on the latest market assessments, demand is expected to exceed supply in the cur-
rent 2015/16 cotton season (as of the end of July) for the first time in five years. Accordingly, 
cotton production volumes will fall significantly due to a reduction in the land under cultiva-
tion in China, the USA and Pakistan. The area devoted to growing cotton around the world is 
expected to decline by 8.7%. However, demand for cotton is predicted to remain constant at 
about 24 mn tons.  

Worldwide cotton inventories of more than 20 mn tons continue to cover a good 80% of cur-
rent annual consumption. More than half of all cotton reserves are in China, which triggers a 
certain degree of uncertainty with respect to sales markets. Little is known at the present time 
about the quality of these stored quantities and the attainable sales prices for the stockpiled 
cotton. 

The average on the Cotton A Index in 2015 was 70.4 US cents/pound, or 15.1% below the 
comparable prior-year level. The difference between the highest and lowest selling prices for 
cotton was as minimal as at any time since the year 2006.  

Positive price development of viscose fibers in 2015

Market prices for viscose fibers significantly recovered in 2015, rising by an annual average of 
about 5%, whereas cotton and polyester selling prices each dropped by more than 20% on 
average. Starting in the middle of July 2015, viscose fibers were once again more expensive 
than cotton, the first time this has been the case since 2010.  

In the first half of 2015, considerable production capacities in China were temporarily shut 
down due to more stringent environmental regulations. In turn, this led to a scarcity of viscose 
fibers and a steady rise in prices on the Chinese spot market. Once these production facilities 
gradually came on stream again, a strong downswing in prices was evident as of the beginning 
of November 2015.  

In contrast, selling prices for polyester, which competes with viscose on the marketplace, 
continuously declined in 2015 due to the sharp drop in crude oil prices.

3) Source: ICAC, February 2016  
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development of the lenzing Group

In the 2015 fi nancial year, the Lenzing Group succeeded in improving just about all relevant 
economic and balance sheet indicators compared to its performance in 2014. In addition to 
the general recovery of viscose fi ber selling prices, the Lenzing Group especially profi ted from 
the increasing share of high-quality specialty fi bers in its product mix and the ongoing strong 
demand for Lenzing products. In particular, sales of the specialty fi ber TENCEL® increased 
signifi cantly.  

EBITDA* (consolidated earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization) increased 
by 20.7% to EUR 290.1 mn. The EBITDA margin* improved from 12.9% in the 2014 fi nancial 
year to 14.7% in the year under review. Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT)* of the Lenzing 
Group rose almost seven-fold in a year-on-year comparison to EUR 151.1 mn. The EBIT mar-
gin* correspondingly improved to 7.6% (2014: 1.2%). 

*) For details on defi nitions and the basis for calculations, refer to the Appendix: Notes on Financial Performance Indicators of the Lenzing Group in chapter 
 16 of the Group Management Report. 

Staple fi ber prices – development in china
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In summary, the financial performance of the Lenzing Group in the 2015 financial year com-
pared to 2014 developed as follows:  

 

In particular, the increase in revenue can be attributed to higher fiber selling prices, the sub-
stantial improvement in the product mix and positive exchange rate effects. The share of spe-
cialty fibers as a percentage of total group revenue was 40.5% (2014: 35.0%), and the share of 
standard fibers equaled 59.5% (2014: 65.0%).   

4) The complete consolidated income statement is presented in the consolidated financial statements.    

lenzing Group revenue: Share of specialty fibers

in percent

Standard fibers
47.0%

Other business areas
12.5%

Specialty fibers
40.5%

condensed consolidated income statement4 eUr mn

change

2015 2014 nominal relative

Revenue 1,976.8 1,864.2 112.6 6.0%

Changes in inventories of finished goods, own work 
capitalized and other operating income 67.7 80.6 (12.9) (16.1%)

Cost of material and other purchased services (1,218.3) (1,199.2) (19.0) 1.6%

Personnel expenses (300.2) (292.0) (8.2) 2.8%

Other operating expenses (235.9) (213.3) (22.6) 10.6%

eBitda 290.1 240.3 49.8 20.7%

Amortization of intangible assets and depreciation of 
property, plant and equipment (142.2) (221.5) 79.3 (35.8%)

Income from the release of investment grants 3.2 3.2 0.1 2.1%

eBit 151.1 21.9 129.2 589.1%

Financial result (3.5) (23.4) 19.9 (84.9%)

Allocation of profit or loss to puttable non-controlling interests 1.5 8.8 (7.3) (82.6%)

eBt 149.1 7.3 141.8 1,940.9%

Income tax expense (25.1) (21.5) (3.6) 16.8%

net profit/loss for the year 124.0 (14.2) 138.2 n/a



ANNUAL REPORT 2015 . lenzinG GroUP |  23

Total fiber sales volumes rose by 0.4% to approximately 965,000 tons (2014: 960,000 tons). 
The year-on-year rise was mainly the result of the year-round availability of the production 
output generated by the TENCEL® fiber production facility in Lenzing and the good sales de-
velopment of Lenzing Modal®. 

The core Segment Fibers accounted for 97.4% of group revenue, whereas the Segment Len-
zing Technik generated 1.5% of revenue and the Segment Other 1.1% (only external revenue). 

The cost of material and other purchased services was impacted by the higher material and 
energy costs as a result of the first-time, full-year operation of the TENCEL® fiber production 
plant at the Lenzing site, as well as negative exchange rate effects relating to raw materials 
invoiced in USD. At the same time, efficiency improvements along with the discontinuation of 
raw material procurement in connection with the divestment of Dolan GmbH, European Car-
bon Fiber GmbH and several technical business units tended to reduce expenses.  

On balance, the cost of material and other purchased services comprised 61.6% of group 
revenue in the 2015 financial year (2014: 64.3%).  

The rise in personnel expenses was primarily due to salary increases in Austria as mandated 
by collective wage agreements. This was in contrast to positive effects arising from the com-
pleted excelLENZ cost optimization program. The ratio of personnel expenses to group rev-
enue declined slightly to 15.2% in the 2015 financial year from the prior-year figure of 15.7%.  

The increase in other operating expenses is mainly attributable to expenses relating to the sale 
of group companies and business units of Lenzing Technik as well as one-off costs within the 
context of the structural and strategic realignment of the Lenzing Group. 

The decline in depreciation of property, plant and equipment and the amortization of intangible 
assets is primarily the consequence of impairment losses on goodwill and property, plant and 
equipment of the subsidiaries PT. South Pacific Viscose (Indonesia) and Lenzing (Nanjing) 
Fibers Co., Ltd (China), which had been recognized in the 2014 financial year. A much lower 
impairment on property, plant and equipment in the amount of EUR 7.9 mn was recognized in 
the 2015 financial year for Lenzing (Nanjing) Fibers Co., Ltd.  

The financial result showed a substantial improvement as a result of dividends of an equity 
investment to be recognized in profit or loss as well as lower financing costs. 

As a consequence of the above-mentioned developments, earnings before tax (EBT)5 of the 
Lenzing Group were significantly higher, rising to EUR 149.1 mn in 2015 from the prior-year 
level of EUR 7.3 mn. The income tax expense amounted to EUR 25.1 mn (2014: EUR 21.5 mn). 
As a result, the income tax rate6 equaled 16.8% in the reporting period. This relatively low fig-
ure was mainly due to a previously claimed and future tax credit from abroad. Accordingly, the 
net profit for the year totaled EUR 124.0 mn, in comparison to a loss of minus EUR 14.2 mn in 
the 2014 financial year. Earnings per share7 were at EUR 4.63 (2014: minus EUR 0.51).

5) EBT = earnings before tax; Net 
profit/loss for the year before 
income tax expense;  the precise 
calculation can be derived from the 
consolidated income statement.     

6) The income tax expense in rela-
tion to earnings before tax (EBT).    

7) The net profit attributable to 
Lenzing AG shareholders in rela-
tion to the average weighted num-
ber of issued shares calculated 
pursuant to IFRS (IAS 33 Earnings 
Per Share); the precise calcula-
tion can be seen in Note 18 of the 
notes to the consolidated financial 
statements. 
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Higher return on investment 

There was an improvement in the return on investment of the Lenzing Group thanks to the 
positive earnings development. Accordingly, the return on capital employed (ROCE)* increased 
substantially during the year under review, rising to 8.0% from minus 0.1% in the previous year.  

Similarly, the return on equity (ROE)* also rose significantly from 0.7% in 2014 to 13.0% in the 
2015 financial year. The return on investment (ROI)* of the Lenzing Group climbed to 6.3% 
(2014: 0.9%). 

Solid balance sheet structure

Lenzing took advantage of the good business development and favorable interest rate envi-
ronment to further optimize its balance sheet structure in the 2015 financial year.  

Total assets of the Lenzing Group at the reporting date December 31, 2015 were up 2.0% to 
EUR 2,421.8 mn (December 31, 2014: EUR 2,375.1 mn). Adjusted equity* correspondingly rose 
by 15.0% to EUR 1,226.4 mn (December 31, 2014: EUR 1,066.1 mn). As a result, the adjusted 
equity ratio* improved to 50.6% (December 31, 2014: 44.9%), the highest equity level since the 
end of 2006.   

Net financial debt* declined by 27.0% to EUR 327.9 mn (December 31, 2014: EUR 449.5 mn). 
Accordingly, the ratio of net financial debt to EBITDA* declined from 1.9 at the end of 2014 to 
1.1 at the end of 2015. Net gearing* also clearly decreased to 26.7% from the comparable 
prior-year figure of 42.2%. 

The ratio of trading working capital to annualized group revenue* rose slightly to 21.6% (De-
cember 31, 2014: 19.5%).  

Further cash flow improvement

The free cash flow* increased by 26.2% to EUR 145.0 mn, compared to EUR 114.8 mn in the 
previous year. After completion of the TENCEL® fiber production plant at the Lenzing site, 
investments in intangible assets, property, plant and equipment (CAPEX) fell by 32.0% in the 
reporting period to EUR 70.9 mn (2014: EUR 104.3 mn). 

The liquid assets8 of the Lenzing Group as at the reporting date December 31, 2015 increased 
by 26.8% to EUR 355.3 mn (December 31, 2014: EUR 280.3 mn). The reason for this rise was 
the issuing of a new private placement in May 2015. Moreover, the Lenzing Group had EUR 
190.9 mn in free credit facilities available for its use at the end of 2015 (December 31, 2014: 
EUR 198.5 mn).     

*) For details on definitions and the basis for calculations, refer to the Appendix: Notes on Financial Performance Indicators of the Lenzing Group in chapter  
 16 of the Group Management Report.    8) Cash and cash equivalents as well as liquid securities and liquid bills of exchange. 
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Segment Fibers

General development 

In the 2015 financial year, the Segment Fibers focused on steadily increasing the production 
and sale of high-quality fiber products, developing and expanding its market presence in at-
tractive areas of application and further optimizing production processes. Very good capacity 
utilization of Lenzing’s pulp and fiber production facilities prevailed throughout the entire year 
thanks to the good level of demand for Lenzing fibers.  

Revenue of the Segment Fibers rose to EUR 1,924.7 mn in 2015, an increase of 9.6% from 
the prior-year figure of EUR 1,755.6 mn (only external sales). Segment EBITDA improved by 
28.4% to EUR 286.5 mn (2014: EUR 223.2 mn). Segment EBIT in the 2015 financial year was 
up 56.3% to EUR 154.0 mn, compared to EUR 98.5 mn in the previous year. 

Textile fibers accounted for 70% of the total fiber sales of EUR 1,730.9 mn, whereas nonwoven 
applications comprised a 30% share. Asia was the most important sales region for the Lenzing 
Group, generating 63% of total fiber sales. 

 
Fiber revenue by segment

in percent

Nonwoven Fibers
30%

Textile Fibers
70%

Fiber revenue by core market

in percent

Europe incl. Turkey
25%

Americas
10%

Asia
63%

Rest of the world
2%
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textile Fibers   

The Lenzing Group pursues a resolute customer-oriented specialty strategy to further develop 
its business areas. This approach enabled Lenzing to make substantial progress with existing 
applications in 2015 and open up new market segments. In this way, Lenzing succeeded in 
safeguarding its leading market position against the backdrop of a competitive market environ-
ment.      

apparel 

In the Apparel business area, which generates the highest revenue in the Lenzing Group, the 
share of specialty fibers rose significantly once again in the year under review. This develop-
ment is primarily attributable to the increased use of TENCEL® fibers. The decisive factors un-
derlying this success were intensified marketing activities and the clear orientation to customer 
requirements. 

In its marketing for apparel, the Lenzing Group focuses on three subsegments: denim (jeans), 
innerwear (underwear, nightwear, T-shirts and tops) and outerwear (sportswear, shirts, dress-
es etc.) These globally-oriented areas are managed from the regions which are most relevant 
for the respective product groups.  

TENCEL® achieved substantial gains in the denim market during the year under review.  The 
share of denim producers featuring TENCEL® in their fashion collections increased once again 
in 2015. TENCEL® fibers enjoy growing popularity in this segment, especially because they 
improve wearing comfort and make a contribution to the environmentally compatible produc-
tion of denim products. 

With respect to innerwear, the specialty fiber MicroModal® secured an increasingly high level of 
acceptance in sensitive, close-to-the-skin applications (i.e. lingerie, linen, socks, pajamas). In 
the outerwear business, new customers were acquired for TENCEL® fibers used in producing 
work clothing and shirts. 

A growing number of sporting goods manufacturers offer sportswear and functional wear with 
blends consisting of TENCEL® and wool. In particular, the microfiber version of TENCEL® A100 
recently launched on the marketplace opens up promising opportunities for applications in 
these segments.  

Furthermore, a finishing process was developed to make knitted fabrics smooth and soft, 
enabling them to retain their look even after repeated washing and wearing. 

Home & interiors

The business with specialty fibers expanded considerably in the Home & Interiors business 
area. Lenzing made good progress in the linen segment, intensifying marketing work and 
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increasing sales of TENCEL® MICRO in the USA, China and Southeast Asia, amongst other 
activities. Sales successes were achieved with American retail chain stores for bath products 
(e.g. towels and bathmats) made of Lenzing Modal® and TENCEL®.  

technical

With respect to technical textile applications, Lenzing attracted attention with its presentation 
of the botanic shoe concept. The “botanic shoe” foresees the use of TENCEL® fibers for dif-
ferent components of the shoe. Numerous components used in commercial products have 
already been developed. This was achieved on the company’s own initiative but also based on 
the strong product development interest displayed by shoe manufacturers. The objective is to 
introduce a shoe in which all components contain TENCEL®.

nonwoven Fibers 

The nonwovens business of the Lenzing Group once again generated attractive growth rates 
in the 2015 financial year which surpassed growth of the overall market for wood-based cel-
lulose fibers. 

In particular, there was increasing demand for TENCEL® fibers. Due to their wet strength, skin 
compatibility and odor resistance, the TENCEL® fibers are particularly suited for hygiene prod-
ucts. Moreover, the fibers boast sustainability-related advantages such as the environmentally-
friendly origin of the raw material and the compostability of the fibers.  

With TENCEL® Short Cut fibers, Lenzing also supplies the basic material for hygienic prod-
ucts (especially wipes and care wipes) which are easily disposed of with the wastewater. This 
“flushability” is becoming an increasingly important aspect for the nonwovens industry.  

In the cosmetics segment, the caring facial masks made of TENCEL® Skin are enjoying grow-
ing popularity, especially in Asia. Lenzing will intensively press ahead with this development 
on all continents.   

Global technical customer Service

During the 2015 financial year, the regional customer service teams of Lenzing’s Global Tech-
nical Customer Service (GTCS) were strengthened in order to further enhance the customer 
proximity of the Lenzing Group. The company’s presence in Asia was increased thanks to the 
opening of a new Customer Service Center in Hong Kong. The main focal points of the new 
Lenzing Customer Service Centers are technical consulting, education and training, product 
and process development, quality management and fabric certification for the fiber brand 
license program of Lenzing. 
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Pulp 

The “Pulp Operations” functional area ensures the supply of high-quality dissolving wood pulp 
to the production sites of the Lenzing Group. Dissolving wood pulp is the most important raw 
material used in the production of Lenzing’s botanic cellulose fibers, and is derived from the 
renewable raw material wood. The Lenzing Group operates its own pulp production plants at 
the Lenzing site in Upper Austria and in Paskov, Czech Republic. A high level of profitability and 
the sustainability of pulp production are ensured at both sites. 

The annual pulp production volume of the Lenzing Group amounted to 560,000 tons9 in the 
2015 financial year. At the beginning of 2014, spot market prices were subject to a steady 
downward spiral against the backdrop of a weak viscose fiber market. This erosion in prices 
lasted until the end of the first quarter of 2015. Starting in the second quarter of 2015, dissolv-
ing wood pulp selling prices rose again in line with the rebound in demand for viscose fibers. 
The average market price for dissolving wood pulp was USD 845/ton in the 2015 financial year 
(2014: USD 839/ton; 2013: USD 892/ton).   

Wood

The supply of wood increased considerably in 2015 due to the extraordinary weather condi-
tions. The mild winter reduced the need for firewood throughout Central Europe, and a series 
of capricious weather events resulted in significant damage to forests in Central Europe as well 
as extensive additional quantities on the market and low prices for soft wood.

Lenzing’s Wood Purchasing Department substantially reduced imports for the Paskov plant 
from distant sources, thus supporting established suppliers in the Czech Republic and Slovakia 
by increasing purchases of wood infested by beetles. 

The supply of beech wood to the pulp plant in Lenzing was not characterized by a surplus 
supply, in light of the fact that foresters made it their priority to process beetle-infested spruce 
wood. Nevertheless, Lenzing succeeded in filling its storage facilities in November, ensuring a 
sufficient supply for the winter months.    

The wood purchased by Lenzing is exclusively derived from sources which are certified in ac-
cordance with PEFC or FSC standards or are from controlled sources.10 In this way, controver-
sial sources of wood are certainly excluded from the procurement process. 

co-Products

Lenzing Co-Products markets the by-products arising from fiber and pulp production. In line 
with the company’s mission statement, Lenzing sees itself as a bio-refinery, in which CO2 
and sunlight are converted into high-performance materials. High-quality co-products – acetic 
acid, furfural, sodium sulfate and soda – are derived in this process. They are sold to custom-
ers in the food, animal feed, pharmaceutical, detergent and construction industries. 

9) Air-dried    10) Controlled Wood: external verification audits confirm the sustainability of the supplied material.  
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Earnings increased for the co-products of acetic acid, furfural and soda in the 2015 financial 
year. Lenzing’s business with sodium sulfate was negatively impacted by the decline in selling 
prices at Asian sites.  

chemicals

Chemical prices around the world climbed slightly in 2015. In Europe, the main reason was 
the weakness of the euro compared to the US dollar, as well as the rising supply power of 
suppliers. Prices rose in Asia, primarily due to production plant downtimes and the resulting 
scarcity of supply.  

caustic soda   

Caustic soda is an important primary product for the production of viscose fibers, and arises 
as a by-product from chlorine production. In the first half of the 2015 financial year, the price 
of caustic soda in Europe and Asia increased, hovering at a high level in the second half of the 
year.     

Sulfur

Sulfur is a key basic product for the company’s own production of carbon disulfide and sulfuric 
acid used in viscose fiber production. 

The rise in sulfur prices commencing in the second half of 2014 continued until the end of 
the first quarter of 2015. Prices started to fall as of the second quarter of the year, and price 
volatility substantially diminished. The driving force behind both developments was a change 
in regulations for import duties imposed by the Chinese government. Sulfur prices in Europe 
showed a sideward movement in 2015.     

energy 

The Energy business area is responsible for ensuring the optimal availability of electricity, pro-
cess water, steam and cooling energy to all global production sites of the Lenzing Group. The 
prudent use of energy has a long tradition in the Lenzing Group for both economic and eco-
logical reasons. Due to the fact that pulp and fiber production are extremely energy-intensive 
processes, the Energy business area plays a very important role with respect to optimizing 
costs and safeguarding production.

In 2015, the European electricity market was characterized by declining spot and forward 
market prices. In some cases there were considerable price reductions in spot prices for 
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natural gas in Europe during the year under review. The Lenzing Group procures natural gas 
and electricity in line with a pre-determined purchasing strategy. Part of the required energy 
is procured via base contracts with fixed prices on forward markets. For this reason, Lenzing 
was largely unaffected by developments on spot markets.   

The energy production facilities of the Lenzing Group operated normally for the most part in 
2015, with only short downtimes.   

lenzing site, Upper austria  

Thanks to its optimal structure of the facility, the Lenzing site traditionally uses renewable fuels 
as its most important source of energy. Renewable fuels accounted for 82.9% of the entire 
energy consumption in 2015 thanks to the optimal plant structure. 

Projects to improve the energy supply and energy efficiency were continuously implemented 
during the year under review. Energy consumption declined perceptibly, largely compensating 
for the higher level of energy consumption relating to the new TENCEL® fiber production plant. 

Heiligenkreuz site, Burgenland

Energy efficiency optimization measures for three boilers were implemented in Heiligenkreuz 
during the reporting period. The process heat and peak load supply for the production plant 
were upgraded to state of the art technologies.  

Paskov site, czech republic

Further optimization work at the Paskov site enabled the complete substitution of natural gas 
by biogas arising from the plant’s own wastewater treatment facility. In this way, fossil fuels are 
no longer used at this site during normal operations. 

Purwakarta site, indonesia

The Purwakarta site’s own electricity production was maintained at a high level thanks to the 
optimized plant operations. This helped counteract the higher electricity prices imposed by the 
parastatal utility company. 

nanjing site, china

Energy savings projects were implemented in Nanjing, and the specific steam and electricity 
consumption could be further reduced during the period under review.  
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operational excellence (oPex)

Under the heading “Operational Excellence” (OPEX), the Lenzing Group launched a group-
wide program in the 2014 financial year designed to implement the ongoing optimization of 
in-house processes. The objective of the program is to transform the Lenzing Group into a 
sustainable self-learning and optimizing company, embedding all employees in the initiative.   

One core element of OPEX is the structured continuous improvement program on all levels 
of the company, i.e. applying so-called “World Class Operations Management” (WCOM). This 
was rolled out to all production areas and sites in 2015. The most important issues covered 
by WCOM are safety, quality and efficiency. One key aspect of the program is learning from 
one another within the Lenzing Group. In this regard, initial steps were taken on the basis of a 
cross-learning platform to be introduced at all production sites in 2016. Moreover, the WCOM 
program will be expanded to encompass the fields of safety, health and the environment 
(SHE), quality management and human resources.  

The Quality Consistency Program (QCP) was launched for all viscose fiber production sites in 
2015. The underlying aim is to ensure more stable product quality on the basis of improved 
process management. Multi-site teams are working on optimizing all process steps, engaging 
in intensive learning with and from one another.  
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Segment lenzing technik

In the 2015 financial year, the Lenzing Group pressed ahead with the strategic realignment of 
the Segment Lenzing Technik initiated in 2014. A series of services and employees involved in 
performing these services were integrated into the parent company Lenzing AG. Three busi-
ness units were sold, namely Mechatronics, Automation/Robotics and Sheet Metal. 

Accordingly, Lenzing Technik now focuses on the business areas of Filtration & Separation, 
Pulp Technology as well as Mechanical Construction and Industrial Services. These business 
areas in  2015 implemented projects and services on a global basis for both the Lenzing Group 
and external customers.  

In the 2015 financial year, the Segment Lenzing Technik reported a structurally-related revenue 
and earnings decline, which is also due to lower investments inside and outside the Lenzing 
Group. Lenzing Technik revenue amounted to EUR 70.6 mn in 2015, compared to EUR 90.8 mn 
in 2014. Revenue generated with external customers totaled EUR 29.6 mn (2014: EUR 43.6 mn). 
EBITDA by segment reporting amounted to EUR 0.07 mn, down from EUR 3.1 mn in the previous 
year. The number of employees at Lenzing Technik including trainees declined to 294 people as 
at December 31, 2015 (December 31, 2014: 646). This decrease is related to the sale of the Me-
chatronics, Automation/Robotics and Sheet Metal business units, as well as the related integra-
tion of employees in Lenzing AG due to the restructuring. Moreover, the deployment of temporary 
staff was more drastically cut back. 

Pulp technology 

The Pulp Technology business area is the pulp competence center for the Lenzing Group, offering 
solutions for the global pulp industry and implementing projects for the Group’s own pulp plants.    

Filtration and Separation technology

The Filtration and Separation Technology business area was able to further consolidate its 
strong market position over the past financial year, and successfully expanded its worldwide 
sales network. New applications for its products, for example in the crude oil, sugar and pulp 
industries, underline the potential of this business area.  

Mechanical construction and industrial Services

The Mechanical Construction and Industrial Services business area was adjusted to reflect specific 
market requirements on the basis of implementing restructuring and repositioning measures. The 
result was a streamlining of the organizational structure and an increase in production efficiency.  

Mechanical Construction and Industrial Services is a contract manufacturer for sophisticated 
applications. The sales focus of this business area in 2015 was on the external market. Within 
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the Lenzing Group, this business area made a major contribution to the successful construc-
tion and completion of the new Lenzing Modal® fiber production plant at the Lenzing site. 

risk report

current risk environment 

Refer to the section “General Market Environment” for a more detailed analysis of the latest 
developments on the world fiber market and the related risks for the Lenzing Group. 

In the fourth quarter of 2015, viscose fiber selling prices which had previously recovered moved 
downwards once again, driven by developments in China. For this reason, existing surplus 
production capacities for viscose fibers along with the low price levels for polyester and cotton 
remain the biggest risks to the upward development of fiber selling prices.  

The pulp supply for Lenzing’s fiber production facilities remains well secured. However, there 
is an increasing risk of losing cost advantages due to backward integration on the part of 
competitors, and the continued threat of potential import duties imposed in China on pulp from 
Europe and South Africa.   

Raw material prices for chemicals and energy prices are at a cyclically-related low level. Strong 
price increases are not expected in the short term.  

In terms of foreign currencies, Lenzing continues to profit from the strength of the US dollar 
and Chinese yuan compared to the euro. Liquidity risks in 2016 are considered to be low due 
to the positive cash flow development of the Lenzing Group and the cutbacks in the com-
pany’s investment activity.   

With respect to operational risks as well as environmental damage and product liability risks, 
which are all potential causes of extensive damage to the Group, there were once again no 
significant incidents of damage in 2015.

risk management 

The Management Board of Lenzing AG and the corporate centers assigned to it carry out 
extensive coordination and controlling operations in collaboration with the heads of these 
departments. This is done within the framework of a comprehensive integrated internal control 
system covering all sites. The timely identification, evaluation and response to strategic and 
operational risks are essential components of the management activities. A unified, group-
wide reporting system functioning on a monthly basis and ongoing monitoring of strategic and 
operational plans comprise the basis of this approach.
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Lenzing also operates a group-wide risk management system which is responsible for the 
central coordination and monitoring of risk management processes throughout the Group. 
The central risk management team identifies and analyzes the main risks in cooperation with 
the operating units and directly conveys its findings to the Management Board and the top 
management of the business units. This includes anticipatory analyses of potential events or 
near-misses as well. Another task is to actively work to mitigate risks and to implement ap-
propriate countermeasures in cooperation with the affected business entities, or to purchase 
additional external coverage on the insurance market as required.

risk management strategy

As part of its risk management strategy, Lenzing pursues a four-step approach in dealing with 
risks:

risk analysis (pursuant to the coSo®11 framework)

Central risk management conducts biannual risk assessments at all of Lenzing’s production 
sites and functional units. In this case, the risks are evaluated according to the likelihood of 
occurrence and financial impact pursuant to the international COSO® standards. In this regard 
the financial impact of potential damage to group EBITDA is taken into account.

risk mitigation

An attempt is made to minimize, avoid or intentionally accept risks in certain cases on the basis 
of appropriate measures, depending on the potential impact of the identified risk.

determining responsibility

The assignment of responsibility for dealing with a particular risk is carried out on the basis of 
the existing organization.

risk monitoring and control

During the year under review, Deloitte Austria once again evaluated the effectiveness of Len-
zing AG’s risk management system within the framework of an audit in accordance with Rule 
83 of the Austrian Corporate Governance Code. The corresponding confirmation is available 
on the Website of Lenzing AG at http://www.lenzing.com/nc/konzern/investor-center/corpo-
rate-governance.html.

11) The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
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In addition to fulfilling legal requirements, the main objective of the group-wide risk manage-
ment system is to increase the overall awareness of risk and to integrate subsequent findings 
into everyday business operations and strategic corporate development. The risk manage-
ment system only presents major risks which are not included in regular financial accounting 
(i.e. the statement of financial position, income statement).

Strategic market risks are assessed on the basis of market reports and internal market analy-
ses. The risks are evaluated jointly by the internal Market Research Department and Sales 
Department at monthly meetings. 

On balance, Lenzing’s risk management identified a total of 29 risks and bundled them in four 
main areas, as described below. 

Market environment risks

Market/Substitution risk

The globally operating Lenzing Group is exposed to a multitude of macroeconomic risks. 
Price and volume developments for textile fibers are cyclically dependent for textile fibers and 
to a lesser extent for nonwoven fibers. In turn, this is related to economic conditions on both 
a global and regional basis. Lenzing fibers compete with cotton and synthetic fibers on many 
submarkets. Their price development also affects Lenzing’s fiber sales revenues and volumes.

Lenzing counteracts this risk by the high share of specialty fibers in its global product portfolio. 
This share was further increased on the basis of the first-time full-year production of TENCEL® 
fibers at the Lenzing site. High-quality standards combined with value-added services in the 
standard viscose fiber business are also designed to safeguard Lenzing’s market leadership.

In addition, Lenzing relies on a strong international market presence, especially in Asia, com-
bined with a top-notch regional customer service and support network as well as a high level 
of customer-oriented product diversification.

Substitution risk for cellulose fibers is counteracted by Lenzing’s technological competence 
and a solid sales basis. 

Sales risk

Lenzing derives about half of its fiber revenue from a comparatively small number of major 
customers. Sales losses caused by major clients or the loss of one or more major customers 
combined with the failure to attract new customers constitute a risk which Lenzing counteracts 
by way of its global presence and the continuous broadening of its client base and sales seg-
ments. The probability of default on trade receivables is counteracted by stringent receivables 
management and global credit insurance.  
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innovation and competition risk

As the world’s leading manufacturer of botanic cellulose fibers and the global technology 
leader, Lenzing is exposed to the risk of losing its position on the fiber market due to increas-
ing competition or new technologies developed by competitors. The loss of its market position 
could especially take place if Lenzing is no longer capable of offering its products at competi-
tive prices, if the products do not fulfill customer specifications or quality standards, or if its 
customer service fails to meet customer expectations.

Lenzing counteracts this risk by carrying out research and development activities surpassing 
the average in the cellulose fiber industry as well as a high level of product innovation and 
ongoing cost optimization measures. The Lenzing Group and other producers of wood-based 
cellulose fibers face the risk that acceptable or even superior alternative products may become 
available and obtainable at more favorable prices than wood-based cellulose fibers.  

laws and regulations

Lenzing is confronted with different legal systems and regulations in its global markets. A 
change in laws or other regulations, such as import duties, more stringent environmental re-
quirements etc. as well as a stricter interpretation of existing laws could lead to considerable 
additional costs or competitive disadvantages. Lenzing has its own Legal Management and 
Compliance Department which carries out corresponding consulting services and risk as-
sessments pertaining to the legal situation.

operational risks

Procurement risk (incl. pulp supply)

Lenzing purchases large amounts of raw materials (wood, pulp, chemicals) and energy in order 
to manufacture wood-based cellulose fibers. Fiber production and its margins are subject to 
risks related to raw material availability and the price development of these resources, which 
can fluctuate to the detriment of the Lenzing Group. Lenzing counteracts these risks by care-
fully selecting its suppliers according to specified criteria such as price, reliability and quality, 
but also focuses on establishing longstanding, stable supplier-customer partnerships, in some 
cases with supply agreements over a period of several years. Lenzing has also established 
long-term contractual relationships with several raw material suppliers and service partners 
(but with only a few customers). These agreements require Lenzing to purchase specified 
quantities of raw materials at standardized terms and conditions, which may also include price 
adjustment clauses. As a consequence, Lenzing may not be able to change prices, quantities 
purchased or other contractual terms in the short term as a means of appropriately respond-
ing to changed economic conditions. This risk is aggravated by the fact that the lion’s share of 
group revenue is derived from short-term contractual relationships with customers.
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Lenzing’s pulp and energy strategy focuses on maintaining a maximum degree of self-suffi-
ciency. Lenzing also compensates for price fluctuations by concluding long-term supply con-
tracts, including gas forward delivery contracts.

operating risk and environmental risk  

The production of cellulose fibers requires a complex series of chemical and physical process-
es which entail certain environmental risks. These risks are well managed thanks to special, 
proactive and sustainable environmental management efforts, closed production cycles and 
the continuous monitoring of emissions on the basis of modern-day production technologies. 
For decades the Lenzing Group has operated production facilities for industrial purposes at 
several locations. For this reason, risks related to environmental damage caused in the past 
cannot be fully excluded. 

Although the Lenzing Group sets high technological and safety standards in the construction, 
operation and maintenance of its production sites, the risk of breakdowns, disruptions and ac-
cidents cannot be fully excluded. In particular, such difficulties can also be caused by external 
factors over which the Lenzing Group has no control. There are no direct means of safeguard-
ing against certain natural dangers (e.g. cyclones, earthquakes, floods). In addition, there is the 
risk of personal injury, material and environmental damage which could result in considerable 
claims for damages and even criminal liability. 

The Lenzing Group has concentrated its production operations at just a small number of sites. 
Any disruption at one of these facilities would impact a substantial part of the company’s busi-
ness operations.

Product liability risk

Lenzing markets and sells its products and services to customers throughout the world. In this 
regard, customers could potentially suffer from damage attributable to the delivery of a defec-
tive product from Lenzing or one of its subsidiaries. Lenzing is also subject to the prevailing 
local laws in the countries in which it delivers the products, and is exposed to a high level of 
liability risk, in particular in the USA. Lenzing counteracts this risk with a special department 
exclusively focusing on problems experienced by customers in processing Lenzing products 
and on dealing with complaints. Liability claims and losses caused by Lenzing are insured 
within the context of a separate liability insurance program. 
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Financial risks

exchange rate risk 

Due to its international business relationships, the Lenzing Group is exposed to currency risks, 
in particular with respect to the USD, CNY and CZK. Clearly-defined, written guidelines exist 
for dealing with financial risks, which are continually monitored by the Global Treasury Depart-
ment. The objective of foreign currency management is to safeguard payment flows from busi-
ness operations against exchange rate fluctuations. Lenzing uses forward exchange contracts 
for this purpose. Hedging activity as well as the correlation between the risk and the hedging 
instruments are continuously monitored and reported. Currency translation risks are generally 
not hedged, but are subject to ongoing observation. 

The risk of loss relating to these derivative financial instruments is regularly evaluated. It is 
considered to be relatively low due to the good creditworthiness of the contractual partners.

counterparty risk 

Default risks relating to primary financial instruments (loans, securities, receivables and cash 
held at banks) are limited by spreading the liquid assets of the Group over a number of dif-
ferent banks. In addition, Lenzing AG has accepted liability for other companies. The risk of 
subsidiary liability is considered to be small as the concerned companies can be expected to 
meet their payment obligations.

The risk of changes in the market value of primary and derivative financial instruments is also 
rated as relatively small. No increased volatility until maturity is expected for short-term finan-
cial instruments. 38.2% of the company’s non-current liabilities are linked to variable interest 
rates.

Liquidity risk, namely the risk of insufficient funds to meet obligations resulting from primary 
financial instruments and their derivatives, does not exist. The derivative financial instruments 
are exclusively employed for hedging purposes. The resulting obligations are accordingly cov-
ered by the hedged business operations. Obligations resulting from primary financial instru-
ments are covered by available liquid funds and if needed by internal financing.

Payment flows resulting from financial instruments can be subject to fluctuations. These cash 
flow risks are essentially limited to variable interest rate liabilities.
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Financing risk

The Lenzing Group requires financial resources to implement its business plan and strategy. 
Tighter credit markets and the resulting difficulty in obtaining credit could adversely affect the 
availability, terms and conditions and costs of procuring capital. In addition, declining demand 
or a fall in selling prices could also negatively impact business operations and thus the financial 
situation and earnings of the Lenzing Group. From today’s perspective, the risk is considered 
to be immaterial. 

tax risk

Lenzing’s production facilities are subject to local tax regulations in the respective countries, 
and are required to pay both income taxes as well as other taxes. Changes in tax laws or dif-
fering interpretations of prevailing regulations could lead to subsequent tax liabilities.

compliance

The ongoing tightening of international codes of conduct and legal regulations increases the 
demands imposed upon Lenzing to comply with and monitor compliance to these regulations. 
Insufficient controls in business processes or a lack of adequate documentation could poten-
tially result in violations of relevant statutory provisions. Lenzing addresses this risk through 
its group-wide compliance organization, a code of conduct which is binding throughout the 
Group, and implementing an anti-bribery and corruption policy as well as an antitrust policy.

Personnel risks

Qualified employees   

Personnel risks may arise as a consequence of the fluctuation of employees serving in key 
positions, as well as recruiting of new staff at all global sites. Lenzing operates a globally op-
erating Human Resources Department which continuously coordinates personnel planning 
with the respective sites, and centrally manages and monitors all personnel-related issues. 
This includes global management and training programs for potential executives which are 
organized by the Human Resources Department. 
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report on essential elements of the internal  
control System (Section 243a para 2 of the austrian 
Stock corporation act)
 
The internal control system of the Lenzing Group is designed to ensure the reliability of financial 
reporting, compliance with legal regulations and internal guidelines and the presentation of off-
balance sheet and income statement risks.

The organizational structure and process organization of the Lenzing Group comprise the 
main basis for the overall control environment and the internal control system of the company.

With respect to the organizational structure, competencies and responsibilities are clearly as-
signed to the different management levels and hierarchies of the Group, encompassing its 
Austrian sites and all international subsidiaries. Essential corporate functions are centralized 
in corporate centers, which reflect the Lenzing Group’s global market presence as well as its 
decentralized business and site organization. The respective management is responsible for 
coordinating and monitoring business operations on a national level.

The process organization of the company is characterized by a clearly-defined and compre-
hensive set of guidelines which provide an appropriate basis for a strong control environment 
and control system. The “Lenzing Group Mandates” define essential group-wide approval pro-
cesses and competencies. The respective management of the business area or department is 
responsible for monitoring compliance with the respective regulations and controls.

Financial reporting

Global Accounting & Controlling is centrally responsible for financial reporting, thus ensuring 
a clearly-defined structure and designated responsibilities for this area. A comprehensive set 
of regulations and guidelines detailing the way control functions are exercised has been devel-
oped and implemented. 

Lenzing has an internal control and risk management system for the accounting process aim-
ing to ensure the uniform implementation of legal standards, generally accepted accounting 
principles, the accounting principles contained in the Austrian Commercial Code and for group 
accounting purposes, the accounting principles laid out in the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as well as internal group accounting guidelines, especially the accounting 
handbook and timetable applicable throughout the entire Group.

The accounting-related internal control system is designed to ensure the timely, uniform and 
accurate recording of information on all business processes and transactions in order to make 
reliable data and reports available with respect to the financial position and financial perfor-
mance of the Lenzing Group.
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The subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements of the Lenzing Group pre-
pare individual financial statements and IFRS financial statements on a company level in a timely 
manner. They are responsible for ensuring the decentralized implementation of existing rules 
with the support of the Corporate Consolidation team. The consolidated financial statements 
are prepared on the basis of the data supplied by the group companies. Corporate Consolida-
tion is responsible for consolidation entries, reconciliations and monitoring compliance with 
reporting guidelines with respect to contents and deadlines.

Due to its direct access to the company’s assets, the Global Treasury and Payment Depart-
ment is considered to be a highly sensitive area. Correspondingly, comprehensive regulations 
and instructions have been developed to take account of the enhanced need for security in the 
relevant processes.

These clear guidelines stipulate the strict application of the four-eyes principle for implementing 
transactions as well as ongoing report to the Global Treasury and Payment Department. The 
Internal Audit Department is responsible for monitoring the application of and compliance with 
controls of business operations.

Global Tax Management is in charge of handling tax issues in the Group.

compliance with legal regulations and internal guidelines

The Legal Management & Compliance Department of Lenzing AG is responsible for dealing 
with legal issues. This centralized function is in charge of handling all legal issues within the 
Lenzing Group and in particular for those matters which go beyond standard business pro-
cesses.

The Legal Management & Compliance Department is responsible for the further development 
of a compliance management system (CMS) for processes regulating compliance with statu-
tory law and internal guidelines or preventing violations of the law or improper behavior. Legal 
Management & Compliance reports directly to the Chief Executive Officer. The compliance 
management system is responsible for the following tasks: continually identifying compliance-
relevant risks, taking measures to minimize risks, developing compliance-relevant guidelines 
and monitoring adherence to them, training employees, providing assistance on compliance 
issues, dealing with and correcting cases of improper behavior and preparing regular reports 
to the Management Board and Supervisory Board or to the Audit Committee. 

Lenzing AG has declared its commitment to adhering to the rules contained in the Austrian 
Code of Corporate Governance (ACCG), and prepares a corresponding public Corporate Gov-
ernance Report within the context of Lenzing’s Annual Report. The Corporate Governance 
Report requires the participation of the Supervisory Board, which for this purpose delegates 
responsibility to the Audit Committee for monitoring compliance with the obligations stipulated 
in the report.
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The Internal Audit Department is independent of organizational units and business processes 
and reports directly to the Chief Executive Officer as at December 31, 2015. Internal Audit eval-
uates whether the deployed resources are used legally, sparingly, economically and properly in 
the spirit of sustainable development. Internal Audit orients its activities to the international stan-
dards laid down by the Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA). Regular reporting to the Management 
Board and the Audit Committee ensure the proper functioning of the internal control system. 

recognition of off-balance sheet and income statement risks

The Risk Management Department identifies and presents risks outside of the consolidated 
statement of financial position and consolidated income statement by preparing a semi-annual 
Risk Report. The main risks contained in the Risk Report are also mentioned in the Annual 
Report. The Risk Report is prepared according to the internationally recognized standards of 
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO®). 

Balance Sheet Structure and liquidity

The Lenzing Group meets its obligations in a timely manner. The Group boasts a solid liquidity 
and equity basis as well as a sound balance sheet structure. Moreover, sufficient credit facili-
ties which can be used for financing at any time have already been granted by various banks.

on balance, the Management Board of lenzing aG in its capacity as the management of 
the lenzing Group is not aware of any risks as at the reporting date december 31, 2015 
that could endanger the continued existence of the company in the 2016 financial year.

research and development

The commitment to be and remain the innovation leader in the industry is a central part of 
the Lenzing Group’s strategy. Lenzing has been a pioneer for ecologically responsible and 
profitable cellulose fiber production for decades on the basis of its systematic research and 
development (R&D) activities. 

R&D work at Lenzing covers the entire value chain, beginning with the raw material of wood 
to the fibers and the different applications in the apparel, nonwovens, technical textiles and 
chemicals segments. Numerous innovations are continuously being developed in collaboration 
with customers, but also with partners from external research facilities or university institutes. 

R&D activities at the Lenzing site are bundled in a centralized Innovation and Strategic R&D 
Department reporting directly to the Management Board. Central research is closely linked to 
other business areas such as Production, Business Development, Application Technology, 
Customer Services and Sales.   
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At the end of 2015, a team of specialists consisting of about 170 employees conducted re-
search in Lenzing. Their achievements are reflected in Lenzing’s approximately 1,500 patent 
applications (from 250 patent families) in 63 countries across the globe.   

In the 2015 financial year, research and development expenditures calculated according to 
the Frascati method amounted to EUR 29.8 mn (2014: EUR 20.6 mn). Lenzing’s investments 
in R&D comprise a peak value compared with the rest of the industry, both as a percentage 
of revenue and in absolute terms. Lenzing intends to further increase these expenditures in 
the coming years to sustainably retain and expand its innovation leadership in cellulose fiber 
production.   

Priorities in 2015

With respect to pulp, the R&D focus was on optimization measures (i.e. further closing cycles, 
enhancing quality) at the Paskov and Lenzing pulp production plants. In addition, work was 
done on a concept to further increase the utilization rate of the raw material wood with respect 
to existing and new co-products (in the spirit of Lenzing’s role as a biorefinery).    

The priority in fiber technology research was on further developing the entire TENCEL® tech-
nology. Additional improvements were implemented in the production process.  

Special processes to manufacture nonwovens were developed and tested, including wet lay-
ing processes or the use of special short-cut fibers. Moreover, several new TENCEL® specialty 
fibers were developed, in particular for wipes. 

The Innovation and Strategic R&D Department intensively participated in the development 
of the new sCore TEN strategy during the year under review. In the years to come, the focus 
of Lenzing’s R&D activities will mainly be on implementing sCore TEN. In this regard, the key 
driving forces underlying innovations are quality and technological leadership, customer needs 
and sustainability. The systematic integration of sustainability aspects in R&D already begins 
before the raw material reaches the factory gates, and requires a holistic approach.
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environment and Sustainability

At Lenzing, sustainability is a fundamental value embedded in strategic business management, 
and simultaneously an important differentiating factor for the Lenzing brand. Sustainable think-
ing and action are the basis for innovation, laying the foundation for the future success of the 
Lenzing Group. Lenzing attaches the same importance to profi table business operations as 
achieving social equity and safeguarding the ecological basis of life.     

The commitment to sustainability is a basic value fi rmly anchored in the mission statement of 
the Lenzing Group:

 � Lenzing is a performance materials company that turns CO2 and sunlight into highly func-
tional, emotional and aesthetic products. 

 � Lenzing creates value with eco-friendly, innovative top-quality products and services. 

 � Lenzing operates its business sustainably and creates value for all stakeholders.  

 � Lenzing improves its own ecological footprint and that of its partners in the value chain. 

 � Lenzing creates growth and learning opportunities for its employees. 

Sustainability model of the lenzing Group
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The principles of sustainable business development are embedded at Lenzing due to its raw 
material basis, and are thus practiced on all levels of the cellulose cycle throughout the entire 
Lenzing Group. As a globally operating company, Lenzing is consistently committed to a sustain-
able and transparent supply chain along the textile and nonwovens value chains. Accordingly, 
Lenzing works closely with all stakeholders, thus fulfilling the growing demands of consumers 
with respect to sustainability and quality.   

The deeply felt commitment of the Lenzing Group to sustainability is an integral part of the new 
group strategy “sCore TEN” and thus of crucial importance in implementing strategic measures. 
For this reason, Lenzing is currently working on a new sustainability strategy taking future mega-
trends and stakeholder demands into account. The updated sustainability strategy will define 
sustainability targets and specific implementation measures.         

responsibility for people

The Lenzing Group operates globally. Principles such as tolerance, openness and respect for 
all people regardless of their origin are applied equally by Lenzing everywhere.  

During the reporting period, central values of the Lenzing Group such as diversity and ap-
preciation for different countries and nationalities were increasingly made visible. Issues of 
relevance to employees were communicated via various employee media, and were lived and 
practiced within the context of action days such as the Indonesian Independence Day and the 
United Nations Week. 

responsibility for the environment

Lenzing fibers are an indispensable input factor for the textile industry, healthcare as well as 
personal hygiene and body care. The explicit aim of the Lenzing Group is to contribute to the 
production of goods with a minimal environmental impact along the entire value chain, includ-
ing the final product.

In the past, the viscose fiber industry was considered as environmentally harmful and re-
source-intensive. Over the past few decades, Lenzing has demonstrated the possibility of 
sustainably producing wood-based cellulose fibers. For more than a quarter of a century, 
Lenzing has set international standards in manufacturing wood-based cellulose fibers on the 
basis of ongoing process improvements, closed chemical cycles and state of the art exhaust 
air and wastewater treatment systems. In addition, Lenzing is committed to a strict procure-
ment policy for wood and pulp to ensure that no wood from controversial sources is used to 
produce pulp and fibers.       

By defining valid group-wide environment standards, Lenzing has voluntarily committed itself 
to complying with specified environmental criteria. The basis for Lenzing’s commitment is its 
orientation to strict benchmarks stipulated in various international standards such as the EU 
Ecolabel. 
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Policy for Wood and Pulp

The supply of wood and pulp of the right quality and quantity to all of the Lenzing Group’s 
pulp and fiber production sites is an important aspect of the Lenzing Group’s core business. 
In order to ensure adherence of its wood and pulp sourcing to sustainability principles, the 
Lenzing Group developed a clearly-defined “Policy for Wood and Pulp” applicable throughout 
the entire Group, which was updated during the year under review. 

The “Policy for Wood and Pulp” of the Lenzing Group aims to procure wood and pulp exclu-
sively from non-controversial sources. In addition, suppliers participating in credible forest 
certification programs are preferred.    

Controversial sources include wood which has been harvested:

 � illegally

 � from forests of high conservation value, including ancient and endangered forests, and 
endangered species habitat

 � from plantations established after 1994 through significant conversion of natural forests or 
converted to non-forest use

 � from forests or plantations growing genetically modified trees

 � in violation of civil or social rights or the rights of the indigenous population

 � in violation of any of the ILO Core Conventions as defined in the ILO Declaration on Funda-
mental Principles and Rights at Work. 

Regular risk-assessments, audits and on-site visits as well as independent third-party certification 
of the sustainable forest management programs help to ensure compliance with the policy. 

If Lenzing discovers that wood or pulp is sourced from controversial sources, the respective sup-
plier will be eliminated from the supply chain with a reasonable lead time. 

Lenzing strives to establish long-term partnerships with its wood and pulp suppliers, and seeks to 
do business personally and directly with forest owners and pulp mills.
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eU ecolabel

Back in 2002, Lenzing became the first fiber producer in the world to be awarded the EU Eco-
label. The EU Ecolabel has been an important benchmark for the Lenzing Group ever since 
due to the strict criteria for awarding it and the high level of public recognition it enjoys. 

On the basis of new, even stricter criteria, the Grimsby (GB) site became yet another produc-
tion facility of the Lenzing Group to be given the EU Ecolabel.   

USda certified Biobased label

The United States Department for Agriculture (USDA) grants the Certified Biobased Product 
Label to promote environmentally compatible products. After successfully concluding the certi-
fication process, all Lenzing Modal® and TENCEL® fiber types are authorized to bear the USDA 
Biobased Product Label. Accordingly, Lenzing fibers are designated as biobased and environ-
mentally compatible products for consumers and public procurement bodies in the USA.

Sustainability awards for lenzing products

Two Lenzing Group products were given sustainability awards in May 2015. Lenzing developed 
shoe laces made of 100% TENCEL® which received the CSR Newcomer Trophy from TRIGOS, 
the most well-known sustainability award in Austria. This award recognized the outstanding 
ecological balance and complete compostability of the TENCEL® shoe laces, qualitatively on 
par with conventional laces. In addition, Lenzing was granted the prominent environmental 
prize ENERGY GLOBE Award Austria in the Category Earth for Lenzing Modal® COLOR. The 
decisive factor was that these Lenzing fibers made of beech wood reduce the typically high 
environmental burden in dyeing textiles by up to 80%.           

responsibility for the economy

Lenzing bears considerable responsibility as an employer, borrower of capital, customer and 
supplier, as well as a company actively shaping global value chains, especially in economically 
challenging times. After two very difficult years, Lenzing proved its ability during the year under 
review to successfully manage even longer crisis periods without threatening the intrinsic value 
of the company and its stakeholders. By implementing suitable measures in a timely manner, 
Lenzing safeguarded its economic viability and created the pre-requisites to remain a reliable 
partner in the future.

In spite of the extremely tense market environment, the Lenzing Group punctually met all its 
financial obligations, and continued to pursue a consistent dividend policy. The ongoing high 
equity ratio of the Lenzing Group underlines its economic strength and financial autonomy.
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In its role as a technology leader, Lenzing is aware of its responsibility along the entire value 
chain. Lenzing sees itself as a driving force for innovative solutions, especially with respect to 
the growing importance of sustainable products in the textile and nonwovens industry. The 
Lenzing Group closely orients its business operations to customer needs, intensively working 
with all partners along the entire value chain within the context of its push-pull market strategy. 

Accordingly, Lenzing is strongly committed to the development of global sustainability stan-
dards in collaboration with industrial, retail and political institutions and interest groups as 
well as NGOs. As an active member of the Sustainable Apparel Coalition (SAC), Lenzing was 
intensively involved in the development of the global standard Higg Index. This index serves as 
the basis for a standardized evaluation of the sustainability of textile products along the entire 
value chain. In addition, Lenzing takes part in various sustainability projects within the context 
of its SAC membership, for example the development of recycling technologies for clothing.   

As a leading company in the fields of pulp and botanic cellulose fibers, Lenzing also bears a 
particular responsibility in procuring wood and pulp. In this regard, Lenzing is working on a 
certification process entitled “Man Made Cellulosic Fibre Solution Pathway” in cooperation 
with the Canadian non-profit organization Canopy as well as leading brands and retailers. This 
certification is designed to ensure that the only apparel made of cellulose fibers which can 
demonstrate a transparent supply chain boasting unobjectionable practices will be sold in their 
shops. In particular, products which are potentially made of wood or pulp from old-growth or 
endangered forests are to be excluded.  

vÖnix – Sustainability index of the vienna Stock exchange

Since 2005, some 60 publicly listed Austrian companies have been analyzed each year on 
the basis of about 100 environmental and social criteria. The best companies are accepted 
for listing in the VÖNIX index (VBV Austrian Sustainability Index) for a period of one year. In 
2015, Lenzing was accepted for listing in the VÖNIX index for the tenth straight time, and was 
honored as an “All Time Index Member” along with eight other companies. 

certifications

Certifications provide important information about the status of an organization with respect to 
its systems and products. Accordingly, business partners and customers can be assured of 
adherence to the corresponding quality, environmental and safety standards.
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Human resources

The most valuable asset of a performance-driven, competitive organization are its commit-
ted, motivated and highly qualified employees. For this reason, the Lenzing Group constantly 
implements measures to enhance the qualifications of its employees, based on a broad range 
of global and regional personnel development programs.  

Following a difficult, market-related working environment characterized by cost savings and 
declining earnings, a substantial improvement in earnings was reported for the 2015 financial 
year, giving employees a motivational boost. The strategy formulation process for sCore TEN 
also made a positive contribution during the year under review. Within the context of this pro-
ject, teams spanning all Lenzing sites, hierarchies and departments successfully collaborated 
on developing the Lenzing Group’s new strategic orientation.    

A global employee survey was carried out within the strategy formulation process focusing 
on key issues relating to the employer branding of Lenzing®. This was designed to help the 
company better understand the expectations held by employees at all sites concerning their 
employer. As a follow-up, the results of the survey were qualitatively deepened in focus groups 
within the context of the prevailing local culture. Executives and human resources teams are 
now doing their share to further tackle relevant issues. 

The results of this employee survey on Lenzing’s corporate culture will be integrated in the new 
sCore TEN strategy, ensuring that respect, diversity, professional cooperation, pride in excel-
lent achievements and shared values will already have a prominent place in the implementation 
of sCore TEN. In particular, a focal point for Lenzing in 2015 and beyond is embedding the 
new leadership model, a top priority alongside implementation of the new group strategy, in 
the hearts and minds of executives. 

certification status in the lenzing Group

iSo 9001 iSo 14001 oHSaS 18001

lenzing (austria)

Heiligenkreuz (austria)

Grimsby (UK)

Mobile (USa)

Purwakarta (indonesia)

nanjing (china)

Paskov (czech republic)
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Global further education and professional development

The conference series entitled “Management Time Out” which was launched in 2014 contin-
ued to be an important platform in 2015 for the mutual exchange of ideas and orientation of 
top management on issues relating to strategy, leadership, corporate culture and change. The 
objective of Management Time Out is to help the top management level reach a consensus, 
develop a shared understanding and awareness of their joint responsibility and embed it all in 
the organization. The conference took place on a quarterly basis, and involves 50 participants 
from the different global sites of the Lenzing Group. 

The 16-month executive development program “Springboard”, which was also initiated in the 
previous year and includes close to 30 participants from Asia, USA and Europe, was success-
fully continued in 2015. “Springboard” focuses on the issues of culture and change, decision-
making, leadership, international communications as well as virtual and practical cooperation. 
The first cycle of the program concludes in March 2016, with other groups planned in sub-
sequent years. Several Springboard participants have also been attending the Management 
Time Out meetings since June 2015.   

The employee performance review is an important leadership instrument which has been used 
in the past, and is planned to be rolled out as an annual tool on a broader basis. Based on the 
strategy and department objectives, performance targets are set for the employees, conduct 
and leadership styles are discussed within the context of the new strategy, and professional de-

lenzing leadership Model

Develop

InsightDeliver Connect

Shape

Build emotional 
relationships.

Develop other people 
and develop yourself.

Determine where you want 
to go and shape the way.

We want to deliver 
ambitious results.

Insight into 
yourself and 
into others.
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velopment needs of the individual employees are identified. Furthermore, employees and their 
supervisors reflect on and evaluate performance, and relevant objectives and measures for the 
coming year are agreed upon. A global process was defined during the year under review as a 
means of further strengthening the performance and feedback culture in the company.  

For Lenzing as an expert organization, the protection and targeted internal transfer of know-
how is a critical factor of success. Pilot projects on know-how transfer were launched in order 
to promote the sharing of knowledge in the spirit of a true learning organization. Specific 
reasons for focusing on this issue include the planned retirement of an employee, the handing 
over of responsibilities from predecessors to successors, or the necessity of new employees 
to familiarize themselves with the company and their jobs. A structured process was defined 
to ensure the attendance of an expert to moderate job handover meetings. In this way, less 
documented but implicit practical knowledge can be more effectively passed on.   

In order to further expand sales competencies, concepts were developed in 2015 to establish 
a new “Commercial Academy.” It will serve as a platform to deepen competencies in sales, a 
general understanding of the business, product know-how, adding value in the value chain and 
legal knowledge. The first phase of the program is scheduled to begin in the spring of 2016. 

In addition to global personnel development initiatives, a large number of regional programs 
and measures take place, targeting the professional development of employees as well as 
specialist and apprenticeship training. 

At the reporting date December 31, 2015, the total number of employees working for the Len-
zing Group comprised 6,127 people around the world (December 31, 2014: 6,356), thereof 182 
apprentices. This 3.6% reduction of the Lenzing staff was mainly due to the sale of subsidiaries 
or business units. 

A total of 2,662 employees were working at the corporate headquarters in Lenzing, Austria 
at the reporting date December 31, 2015, employed at the companies Lenzing AG, Lenzing 
Technik and Lenzing’s educational center, BZL – Bildungszentrum Lenzing GmbH (December 
31, 2014: 2,739): This figure includes 166 apprentices (December 31, 2014: 173). In addition, 16 
apprentices received vocational instruction and training at the Lenzing sites in Heiligenkreuz, 
Austria and Grimsby, Great Britain.
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Safety, Health and environment

The Corporate Center “Global Safety, Health and Environment” (Global SHE) is responsible 
for overseeing the Lenzing Group’s efforts with respect to occupational safety, health and the 
environment. Measures were implemented in the 2015 financial year to increase occupational 
safety and further develop group-wide healthcare management.    

Safety

The primary goal of Global SHE is to raise awareness in the workforce about the importance 
of safety and take appropriate measures to minimize the risk of accidents at work.

For this purpose, the “Lenzing Heartbeat” program was launched during the year under review 
as a consequence of the sCore TEN strategy development process. Its objective is to promote 
a safety culture in the Lenzing Group. In the first phase, the initial situation was evaluated on 
the basis of a group-wide survey and analysis process. Interviews were conducted with global 
executives and regional management teams alongside an assessment of facilities, systems 
and processes. The top ten safety risks within the Lenzing Group were identified on the basis 
of this review, and specific measures to enhance safety were developed.   

Following a rise in the 2014 financial year, the accident rate declined once again in 2015. The 
Grimsby (GB) and Mobile (USA) sites did not report any accidents, and the number of acci-
dents also decreased at the Nanjing plant (China). 

Staff members by country

number of lenzing Group employees as at december 31, 2015: 6,127*

Czech Republic
6%

Others
1%

China
12%

Indonesia
29%

Austria
47%

USA
3%

UK
2%

*) Headcount incl. trainees, excl. leased labor 
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Health

The Lenzing Group has established industry-specific healthcare standards at all its sites such 
as regular health checks for all employees and regularly held trainings in how to properly 
deal with chemicals. In addition, various health promotion programs are implemented at the 
production facilities of the Lenzing Group. The offering ranges from health recommendations, 
cost-free vaccinations and smoking cessation programs to balanced nutrition in the company 
canteens, fitness courses and sporting events.

For example, the “iHealthy Wellness” program initiated at Lenzing’s production facility in Mo-
bile, USA showed initial successes in 2015. Its primary focus is on prevention. For example, it 
encompasses annual healthcare checks designed to identify existing health risks in a timely 
manner or prevent risks by promoting a healthy lifestyle.  

An emergency hospital with state-of-the-art equipment was set up at the Purwakarta site in 
Indonesia during the reporting period. 

corporate communications

Transparent and open internal and external communications is a central pillar of Len zing’s 
corporate culture, and an important factor in positioning the Lenzing Group with all its stake-
holders.  

The Corporate Center Corporate Communications is responsible for coordinating all commu-
nications processes on a group level. The objective is to optimally inform all stakeholders of 
the Lenzing Group on the basis of high-quality public relations and internal communications. 
The close cooperation with Investor Relations ensures a holistic approach to communications.  

development of the accident rate
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Public relations

In the past financial year, the Lenzing Group provided comprehensive and timely information 
about its ongoing development and current issues relating to its core pulp and fiber business 
to the public and Lenzing employees. In this regard, Lenzing made use of a variety of different 
information channels. 

Information for external stakeholders was disseminated, amongst other means, via regular 
press releases, media events and a large number of individual talks with journalists. This took 
place on the basis of the personal involvement and appropriate preparatory work of the Man-
agement Board as well as directly via Corporate Communications.

The Website www.lenzing.com was relaunched during the year under review and is being 
further developed, also focusing on the more product-focused Web and social media applica-
tions. 

The most important information channels were recently adjusted to reflect the trend towards 
increased digital communications and the reduction of printed materials. Appealingly de-
signed employee and customer magazines, digital newsletters and Lenzing’s own TV format 
are the primary information platforms. Employee magazines with a local focus offer relevant 
information for the staff at the respective sites. The bilingual online magazine “Lenzing Life” 
(www.lenzinglife.com) also provides timely information to employees, customers and other 
stakeholders about news from the world of Lenzing. 

50 years of lenzing Modal®

At the end of November 2015, Lenzing joined together with longstanding Lenzing Modal® cus-
tomers to celebrate the 50th anniversary of the production and marketing of this specialty fiber 
developed by Lenzing. Other events with customers were held at all subsequent international 
textile trade fairs.

First anniversary of the world’s largest tencel® fiber plant

In October 2015, the world’s largest TENCEL® fiber plant located at the Lenzing site marked 
its first anniversary. On this occasion, the celebration in Lenzing attended by prominent guests 
thanked all those who were involved in the successful realization of the project. Members of 
the Supervisory Board as well as representatives of the B&C Group, the core shareholder of 
Lenzing, avowed their clear commitment to further growth of the Lenzing Group with TENCEL®. 
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investor relations

the lenzing share

The Lenzing share is publicly listed on the Prime Market of the Vienna Stock Exchange, and in 
its role as one of the 20 largest listed companies is also traded on the benchmark ATX index 
(Austrian Traded Index), the Vienna Stock Exchange Share Index WBI and uninterruptedly in 
the VÖNIX Sustainability Index since 2005. 

Average daily turnover of the Lenzing share in 2015 was close to EUR 3.0 mn. Market capital-
ization at the end of 2015 (December 30, 2015) totaled EUR 1.85 bn.  

 
Key indicators 2015 

ISIN AT 0000644505
Ticker symbol LNZ 
Initial listing September 19, 1985
Indices ATX Prime, VÖNIX, WBI
Number of shares 26,550,000
Nominal capital EUR 27,574,071.43
Trading volume 11,782,076
Total turnover EUR 746,252,947.80
Average daily turnover EUR 2.997 mn
Year’s high EUR 75.65
Year’s low EUR 52.39
Closing price Dec. 30 EUR 69.55
Annual performance +31.87%
Market capitalization on Dec. 30 EUR 1,846,552,500.00

Share performance

In 2015, global stock markets were characterized by extreme share price fluctuations, and dif-
fered substantially in terms of their regional development. The Vienna benchmark index ATX 
closed out 2015 at 2,396.94 points, a gain of about 11% for the year. The value of the Lenzing 
share increased by close to 32% during the year under review, thus ranking among the biggest 
winners on the Prime Market of the Vienna Stock Exchange. The good business develop-
ment, successful implementation of the cost reduction program launched in 2013 and the new 
strategy sCore TEN presented in November 2015 were well received by the capital market. 
The year’s low of EUR 52.39 was reached in January 2015, whereas the highest share price of  
EUR 75.65 was recorded in November 2015. 
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nominal capital and shareholder structure

The nominal capital of Lenzing AG amounts to EUR 27,574,071.43 and is divided into 26,550,000 
individual shares. The majority owner remains the B&C Group, which holds a 67.6% stake of 
the voting rights, and sees itself as the long-term oriented Austrian core shareholder of Len-
zing AG. Another 5% of the voting rights are held by Oberbank AG, a leading Austrian regional 
bank. The remaining 27.4% of the shares are in free float with international and Austrian inves-
tors. The company does not have any treasury stock.

The geographical breakdown of the identifiable share ownership as per January 31, 2015 is 
as follows: 

development of the lenzing share 2015
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10.97%

Share ownership by country

in percent and millions of shares as at dec. 31, 2015 (23,129,843 shares identified)

USA/Canada
5.1%
(1.2 Mio)

Germany
0.5%
(0.1 Mio)

UK
4.7%
(1.1 Mio)

Austria
85.8%

(19.9 Mio)

Rest of the world
3.6%

(0.8 Mio)

France
0.3%

(0.1 Mio)
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Position of shareholders

There are no shares that confer special rights to control. Each no-par value share grants the 
shareholder one vote at the Lenzing AG Annual General Meeting. Unless mandatory provisions 
of the Stock Corporation Act provide otherwise, the Annual General Meeting passes resolu-
tions by a simple majority of the votes cast and – if a majority of the nominal capital is required 
– by a simple majority of the nominal capital represented at the Annual General Meeting.

A resolution passed by the Annual General Meeting held on April 28, 2014 authorized the 
Management Board, contingent upon consent granted by the Supervisory Board, to purchase 
own no-par-value shares on the stock market of up to 10% of the company’s share capital 
valid for a period of up to 30 months starting on April 28, 2014. The purchase may not be for 
the purpose of trading in own shares. 

If necessary, the Management Board was also authorized to reduce the share capital by re-
deeming such own shares without any further resolution by the Annual General Meeting. The 
Supervisory Board is authorized to adopt any amendments to the Articles of Association re-
sulting from the redemption of shares.

A resolution passed by the Annual General Meeting on April 22, 2015 authorized the Man-
agement Board, pending the approval of the Supervisory Board, to raise the share capi-
tal of the company within a period of five years – if need be in several tranches – by up to  
EUR 13,778,412 by way of issuing up to 13,274,000 new no-par share certificates against 
cash and/or payment in kind (“authorized capital”). This authorization has not yet been entered 
into the Austrian Commercial Register and is not effective as yet. Moreover, another resolu-
tion approved at the Annual General Meeting of April 22, 2015 authorized the Management 
Board, provided the Supervisory Board grants its approval, to issue, by no later than April 22, 
2020, convertible bonds granting subscription rights or conversion rights for up to 13,274,000 
shares, if need be in several tranches (“contingent capital”). These rights may be exercised by 
means of the contingent capital and/or via the company’s own shares. 

As of December 31, 2015, the Management Board had not yet exercised its existing authoriza-
tion to raise the share capital, issue convertible bonds and to buyback own shares.   

investor relations measures

In the light of the difficult market environment, the objective of Lenzing’s investor relations ac-
tivities was the transparent presentation of the implemented measures, e.g. the cost reduction 
program and the strong, proactive orientation of business operations to fiber specialties. In 
addition, Lenzing’s investor relations team worked on increasing recognition on international 
stock markets. On November 17, 2015, the management led by the new CEO Stefan Doboczky 
presented the new sCore TEN strategy at the Capital Markets Day held in Lenzing. 

In addition to regular publications (e.g. interim reports, ad-hoc announcements, corporate 
news), Lenzing also provided information to investors at numerous road shows and confer-
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ences in Europe. Lenzing took part in information days for stock markets, and also conducted 
tours of the plant grounds at its headquarters. Analysts and investors were regularly provided 
with an overview of the current strategic and corporate business development of the company 
within the context of conference calls and individual telephone conversations. On balance, the 
number of personal one-on-one contacts amounted to far more than 600 in 2015. 

analyst coverage

In the year 2015, Lenzing was monitored by the following equity research companies:  

 � Kepler Cheuvreux
 � Deutsche Bank
 � Raiffeisen Centrobank
 � ERSTE Group
 � Berenberg Bank
 � Baader Helvea
 � Citigroup

The latest information on analyst research can be viewed on the Lenzing Website at: 
http://www.lenzing.com/en/investors/the-lenzing-share/analysts-consensus.html

annual General Meeting 2015 and dividends

The 71st Annual General Meeting of Lenzing AG took place on April 22, 2015 in Lenzing, Upper 
Austria. All of the proposed resolutions received more than 90% of the votes cast. The Annual 
General Meeting resolved to distribute a dividend of EUR 1.00 per no-par-value share for the 
2014 financial year. Based on 26,550,000 shares, this corresponded to a total dividend payout 
of EUR 26,550,000.00.

The Management Board and Supervisory Board will propose to the 72nd Annual General 
Meeting that a dividend of EUR 2.00 per no-par-value share be distributed for the 2015 finan-
cial year.  

Further disclosures pursuant to Section 243a UGB  
(austrian commercial code)

There are no provisions other than those stipulated by law with respect to the appointment or 
dismissal of members of the Management Board and Supervisory Board. There are no signifi-
cant contractual agreements to which the company is a party, which would take effect, cause 
major changes or expire in the event of a change in ownership resulting from a takeover bid. 
No compensation agreements exist between the members of the Management Board and 
Supervisory Board or with employees in case of a public takeover offer. 
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outlook lenzing Group 2016

No economic tailwinds continue to be expected again in the 2016 financial year. The Interna-
tional Monetary Fund (IMF) anticipates a slight increase in global economic growth to 3.4% 
compared to 3.1% in 2015. A moderate economic recovery is emerging in the industrialized 
countries against the backdrop of low raw material costs, whereas the IMF forecasts a further 
weakening of growth in China.

A continuation of the global fiber market’s volatile development is expected. High cotton inven-
tories still burden the market. Polyester fiber selling prices will remain at a low level as long as 
oil prices stay low. In turn, this intensifies price competition among the various fibers (inter-fiber 
competition). 

However, the market segment of wood-based cellulose fibers, which is of relevance to Len-
zing, is showing signs of developing more favorably than the overall fiber market. Demand for 
these cellulose fibers was good at the beginning of 2016. The long-term trend is towards the 
increased use of viscose fibers, and in particular cellulose-based specialty fibers. On the sup-
ply side, no significant new production capacities will apparently be moving into the market in 
the short term.   

development of the lenzing Group  

Lenzing is very well positioned in this business environment. Within the context of its new 
group strategy sCore TEN, Lenzing is striving to increase its EBITDA by about 10% annually 
and to raise the return on capital employed (ROCE) to more than 10% by 2020. Moreover, 
Lenzing will even more strongly position itself as a premium supplier in the attractive specialty 
fiber segment, enabling the company to increasingly detach itself from the commodity price 
cycle. 

The Lenzing Group reported strong demand for its products in the first weeks of 2016. This 
served as the basis for a high level of capacity utilization, especially for its specialty fibers. 
Assuming unchanged conditions on the fiber market and currency exchange rates, Lenzing 
expects a substantial improvement of its business results in the 2016 financial year compared 
to 2015. 
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events after the reporting Period

The Lenzing Group is not aware of any further events significant to it after the reporting date 
December 31, 2015 that would have resulted in a different presentation of its financial position 
and financial performance. 

Lenzing, March 9, 2016

lenzing aktiengesellschaft

the Management Board

Stefan doboczky
Chief Executive Officer 
Chairman of the Management Board  

robert van de Kerkhof 
Chief Commercial Officer 
Member of the Management Board

thomas obendrauf 
Chief Financial Officer 
Member of the Management Board
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appendix: notes on the Financial Performance indicators  
of the lenzing Group 

Key financial performance indicators for the Lenzing Group will be described here in detail. They are largely derived from the 
consolidated financial statements of the Lenzing Group according to IFRS. These figures are particularly shown in the sections 
“Selected Indicators of the Lenzing Group” and “Five-Year Overview of the Lenzing Group” of the annual report. The definitions 
of these financial indicators are included in the glossary of the annual report. The Management Board is of the opinion that these 
financial performance indicators provide useful information about the financial position of the Lenzing Group since they are used 
in-house, and are usually of considerable importance to external stakeholders (in particular investors, banks and analysts).   

eBitda, eBitda margin, eBit and eBit margin

In the Lenzing Group, EBITDA and EBIT are considered to be the benchmarks for operating earnings strength and profitability 
(performance) before and after depreciation and amortization. Due to their significance, also for external stakeholders, these 
indicators are presented in the consolidated income statement and, in order to provide a comparison of margins, in relation to 
group revenue (as the EBITDA margin and EBIT margin).

eBt 

EBT measures the earnings strength of the Lenzing Group before tax. It is presented in the consolidated income statement.

Gross cash flow 

In the Lenzing Group, the gross cash flow serves as the benchmark for the company’s ability to convert gains/losses from 
operating activities (before changes in working capital) into cash and cash equivalents. It is presented in the consolidated state-
ment of cash flows.  

eUr mn 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) 290.1 240.3 225.4 352.4 480.3

/Revenue 1,976.8 1,864.2 1,908.9 2,090.4 2,140.0

eBitda margin 14.7% 12.9% 11.8% 16.9% 22.4%

eUr mn 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 151.1 21.9 86.4 231.5 364.0

/Revenue 1,976.8 1,864.2 1,908.9 2,090.4 2,140.0

eBit margin 7.6% 1.2% 4.5% 11.1% 17.0%
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Free cash flow 

The free cash flow generated by the Lenzing Group serves as the benchmark for the readily available cash flow generated from 
operating business activities after deducting investments used to service debt capital providers and equity investors. Moreover, 
it is of importance to external stakeholders. 

caPex 

In the Lenzing Group, CAPEX serves as a measure for capital expenditures in intangible assets and property, plant and equip-
ment. It is presented in the consolidated statement of cash flows. 

liquid assets

Liquid assets in the Lenzing Group are the benchmark for the ability to meet payment obligations falling due through immedi-
ately available liquidity. It is also used to calculate other financial indicators (e.g. net financial debt; see below).

trading working capital and trading working capital to annualized group revenue 

Trading working capital in the Lenzing Group is a measure for potential liquidity and capital efficiency. It is used to compare 
capital turnover by relating it to group revenue. 

*) Adjusted compared with the annual reports of previous years.

eUr mn 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Cash flow from operating activities 215.6 218.8 82.3 209.4 309.7

- Cash flow from investing activities (56.5) (102.8) (152.2) (281.8) (216.2)

- Net inflow from the sale and disposal of subsidiaries and other business areas (13.4) 0.0 (61.7) 0.0 0.0

+ Acquisition of financial assets 4.9 2.3 8.3 4.3 49.5

- Proceeds from the sale/repayment of financial assets (5.6) (3.5) (40.7) (41.0) (23.8)*

Free cash flow 145.0 114.8 (163.9) (109.1) 119.2*

eUr mn as at dec. 31 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Cash and cash equivalents 347.3 271.8 287.9 481.7 410.5

+ Liquid bills of exchange (in trade receivables) 8.1 8.5 8.1 8.5 5.8

+ Liquid securities (in financial assets) 0.0 0.0 0.0 38.6 76.5

+ Current securities 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 6.7

liquid assets 355.3 280.3 296.0 528.8 499.6
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adjusted equity and adjusted equity ratio

In the Lenzing Group, adjusted equity measures the independence from providers of debt capital and the ability to raise new 
capital (financial strength). In addition to equity in accordance with IFRS, it also includes government grants less proportionate 
deferred taxes. Adjusted equity is used to compare equity and borrowed capital by relating it to total assets. This (or similar 
indicators) is occasionally used as a financial covenant with debt capital providers.  

net financial debt, net financial debt/eBitda, net gearing and net debt

Net financial debt is used as the benchmark for the financial debt burden and capital structure of the Lenzing Group, and is also 
an important indicator for external stakeholders. Net financial debt is related to EBITDA and thus provides an indication of how 
many periods the same EBITDA will have to be generated in order to cover net financial debt. The relation of net financial debt and 
adjusted equity (net gearing) illustrates the relation of net debt to adjusted equity. This (or similar indicators) is occasionally used as 
a financial covenant with debt capital providers. Net debt in the Lenzing Group measures the financial debt burden, taking account 
of provisions for severance payments and pensions. 

eUr mn as at dec. 31 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Inventories 338.5 344.1 311.5 299.6 284.6

+ Trade receivables 258.9 232.8 258.8 264.5 236.8

- Trade payables (150.0) (181.1) (176.6) (200.3) (148.5)

trading working capital 447.4 395.7 393.7 363.8 372.8

eUr mn 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Most recent quarterly group revenue reported (= 4th quarter respectively) 518.0 506.5 461.9 522.9 547.8

x 4 (= annualized group revenue) 2,071.8 2,026.0 1,847.5 2,091.5 2,191.4

trading working capital to annualized group revenue 21.6% 19.5% 21.3% 17.4% 17.0%

eUr mn as at dec. 31 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Equity 1,206.7 1,045.6 1,089.5 1,130.7 1,023.7

+ Non-current government grants 17.8 22.0 23.0 24.5 23.1

+ Current government grants 8.0 4.6 3.0 4.5 8.2

- Proportionate deferred taxes on government grants (6.1) (6.1) (5.9) (6.5) (6.8)

adjusted equity 1,226.4 1,066.1 1,109.6 1,153.1 1,048.1

/total assets 2,421.8 2,375.1 2,439.9 2,632.7 2,340.5

adjusted equity ratio 50.6% 44.9% 45.5% 43.8% 44.8%
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return on capital (roe, roi and roce)

Return on capital employed (ROCE) is the Lenzing Group’s benchmark for the yield (return) on the capital employed for the operat-
ing business. It is also of importance to external stakeholders. Return on capital (ROE) and return on investment (ROI) are profit-
ability indicators designed to measure the earnings strength of the Lenzing Group.  

*) Adjusted compared with the annual reports of previous years.

eUr mn as at dec. 31 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Current financial liabilities 172.3 192.7 191.1 173.6 134.4

+ Non-current financial liabilities 510.9 537.0 609.6 701.6 518.5

- Liquid assets (355.3) (280.3) (296.0) (528.8) (499.6)

net financial debt 327.9 449.5 504.7 346.3 153.3

/Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) 290.1 240.3 225.4 352.4 480.3

net financial debt/eBitda 1.1 1.9 2.2 1.0 0.3

eUr mn as at dec. 31 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Net financial debt 327.9 449.5 504.7 346.3 153.3

/Adjusted equity 1,226.4 1,066.1 1,109.6 1,153.1 1,048.1

net gearing 26.7% 42.2% 45.5% 30.0% 14.6%

eUr mn as at dec. 31 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Net financial debt 327.9 449.5 504.7 346.3 153.3

+ Provisions for severance payments and pensions 96.5 102.9 77.4 99.2 85.9

net debt 424.5 552.5 582.0 445.5 239.3

eUr mn as at dec. 31 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 151.1 21.9 86.4 231.5 364.0

- Proportionate current tax expense (on EBIT) (23.8) (23.4) (26.3) (39.0) (89.6)

earnings before interest and tax less proportionate current income tax expense (noPat) 127.4 (1.5) 60.1 192.5 274.3

/Average capital employed 1,588.2 1,601.7 1,605.7 1,409.8 1,193.4*

roce (return on capital employed) 8.0% (0.1%) 3.7% 13.7% 23.0%*

Proportionate current income tax expense (on EBIT) (23.8) (23.4) (26.3) (39.0) (89.6)

Proportionate other current tax expense 3.4 2.7 5.6 (0.8) 3.0

current income tax expense (20.3) (20.7) (20.7) (39.8) (86.7)
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*) Adjusted compared with the annual reports of previous years.

eUr mn as at dec. 31 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Total assets 2,421.8 2,375.1 2,439.9 2,632.7 2,340.5

- Trade payables (150.0) (181.1) (176.6) (200.3) (148.5)

- Non-current puttable non-controlling interests (11.7) (12.4) (19.5) (29.0) (32.1)

- Current puttable non-controlling interests 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (1.8)

- Other non-current liabilities (3.1) (7.6) (2.3) (1.7) (19.6)

- Other current liabilities (85.3) (90.5) (35.5) (41.9) (70.2)

- Current tax liabilities  (10.6) (25.2) (14.8) (43.7) (74.9)

- Deferred tax liabilities (52.9) (44.8) (41.8) (41.0) (28.2)

- Proportionate deferred taxes on government grants (6.1) (6.1) (5.9) (6.5) (6.8)

- Current provisions (69.9) (81.4) (126.4) (81.6) (144.5)

- Non-current provisions (122.7) (130.0) (106.8) (140.0) (112.9)

+ Provisions for severance payments and pensions (post employment benefits) 96.5 102.9 77.4 99.2 85.9

- Cash and cash equivalents (347.3) (271.8) (287.9) (481.7) (410.5)

- Current securities 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (6.7)

- Investments accounted for using the equity method (25.6) (38.0) (39.1) (35.8) (30.3)

- Financial assets (22.8) (23.2) (23.2) (56.1) (93.6)

as at dec. 31 1,610.5 1,565.8 1,637.5 1,572.7 1,245.8

as at Jan. 1 1,565.8 1,637.5 1,572.7 1,245.8 1,141.0*

average capital employed 1,588.2 1,601.7 1,605.1 1,409.2 1,193.4*

eUr mn as at dec. 31 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Adjusted equity as at Dec. 31 1,226.4 1,066.1 1,109.6 1,153.1 1,048.1

Adjusted equity as at Jan. 1 1,066.1 1,109.6 1,153.1 1,048.1 758.8

average adjusted equity 1,146.2 1,087.8 1,131.4 1,100.6 903.5

eUr mn 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Earnings before tax (EBT) 149.1 7.3 68.1 236.0 351.9

/Average adjusted equity as at Dec. 31 1,146.2 1,087.8 1,131.4 1,100.6 903.5

return on equity (roe) 13.0% 0.7% 6.0% 21.4% 39.0%

eUr mn 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Total assets as at Dec. 31 2,421.8 2,375.1 2,439.9 2,632.7 2,340.5

Total assets as at Jan. 1 2,375.1 2,439.9 2,632.7 2,340.5 1,963.4

average total assets 2,398.4 2,407.5 2,536.3 2,486.6 2,152.0

eUr mn 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 151.1 21.9 86.4 231.5 364.0

/Average total assets as at Dec. 31 2,398.4 2,407.5 2,536.3 2,486.6 2,152.0

return on capital (roi) 6.3% 0.9% 3.4% 9.3% 16.9%
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The Austrian Code of Corporate Governance (ACCG) provides Austrian stock corporations 
with a framework for the management and supervision of companies. This framework includes 
internationally recognized standards for good corporate governance as well as relevant regula-
tions of Austrian stock corporation law.

The code aims to ensure a responsible management and control of companies and corporate 
groups oriented towards the sustainable and long-term value creation. It is intended to create 
a high degree of transparency for all stakeholders of the company.

declaration of commitment

Lenzing Aktiengesellschaft respects the Austrian Code of Corporate Governance (ACCG). 
For the first time, the company committed itself in 2010 to complying with the stipulations 
contained in the code. The Supervisory Board also unanimously resolved to fully adhere to 
the ACCG. The code is available on the Internet at www.corporate-governance.at in the 
currently valid version (January 2015). Lenzing Aktiengesellschaft is required to prepare and 
publish a Corporate Governance Report in accordance with Rule 60 of the ACCG. 

This Corporate Governance Report is publicly available on the Website of Lenzing Aktien-
gesellschaft in accordance with C-Rule 61 ACCG (http://www.lenzing.com/investors/ 
corporate governance/reports.html).

corporate Bodies of lenzing aktiengesellschaft  

The division of responsibilities of the members of Lenzing’s Management Board during the 
2015 financial year was as follows:

1) Management Board

Stefan doboczky (born 1967) 
Chairman of the Management Board, Chief Executive Officer 
First appointed: June 1, 2015 
Current mandate expires: May 31, 2018
responsibilities (up to December 10, 2015): Strategy & Projects, Global Strategy, Global 
Human Resources, Internal Audit, Corporate Communications, Investor Relations, Legal Man-
agement & Compliance, Wood Procurement, Works Council, TENCEL® Fiber Operations, Vis-
cose/Modal Operations, Pulp Operations, Technical Services, Operational Excellence, Site 
Service Management, Company Secretary     
Supervisory Board mandates in other companies: Economic Development Board, Singapore
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robert van de Kerkhof (born 1964)
Member of the Management Board, Chief Commercial Officer
First appointed: May 1, 2014
Current mandate expires April 30, 2017  
responsibilities (up to December 10, 2015): Global Sales, Marketing & Business Develop-
ment, Technical Customer Service & Quality Management, Innovation & Strategic R&D, Strate-
gic Price Management, Market Intelligence, Global Logistics, Corporate Sustainability, Global 
Safety, Health & Environment   
Supervisory Board mandates in other companies: none

thomas riegler (born 1969)
Member of the Management Board, Chief Financial Officer
First appointed: June 1, 2014
responsibilities (up to December 1, 2015): Global Accounting & Controlling, Global Treasury, 
Finance Purwakarta, Finance Nanjing, Global Purchasing, Pulp Trading Management, Global 
IT, Global Risk Management
Supervisory Board mandates in other companies: none 
Mr. Riegler resigned from his position on the Management Board effective December 1, 2015. 

Peter Untersperger (born 1960) 
Chairman of the Management Board
First appointed: January 1, 1999. 
Mr. Untersperger resigned from his position on the Management Board effective May 31, 2015.

At the Supervisory Board meeting of Lenzing Aktiengesellschaft held on December 10, 2015,  
Mr. Thomas Obendrauf was appointed to serve as a Member of the Management Board and 
Chief Financial Officer for a period of three years starting on March 1, 2016. The duties of the Chief 
Financial Officer were performed by Stefan Doboczky on an interim basis until February 29, 2016.

Furthermore, the Supervisory Board meeting held on December 10, 2015 also resolved upon 
a new division of responsibilities among the Management Board members as follows: 

chief executive officer: Regional Area AMEA, Regional Area North Asia, Global Pulp & Wood, 
Global Operations, Global HR, Global R&D, Strategy & Projects, Legal IP & Compliance, Cor-
porate Communications & Investor Relations, Emerging Business Areas, Corporate Secretary

chief commercial officer: Regional Area Europe and Americas, Global Business Manage-
ment Textiles and Nonwovens, Global Sustainability, Global Brand Management, Global S&OP 

chief Financial officer: Global Accounting, Global Controlling, Global IT & Process Manage-
ment, Global Purchasing, Global Treasury, Internal Audit, Minority Participations, Risk Man-
agement

The Management Board manages the business operations of Lenzing Aktiengesellschaft in 
accordance with prevailing legal regulations, the Articles of Association and the internal rules 
of procedure applying to the Management Board. The distribution of responsibilities among 
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the members of the Management Board is determined based upon the organizational plan 
stipulated in the internal rules of procedure, which also regulates the mode of cooperation 
among the Management Board members. Furthermore, the Management Board is required to 
fully comply with the rules stipulated in the Austrian Code of Corporate Governance.

2) Supervisory Board

2.1. composition

Hanno M. Bästlein (born 1963)
First appointed: April 28, 2014: Chairman since April 22, 2015
Current mandate expires at the Annual General Meeting resolving upon the 2016 financial year. 
Supervisory Board mandates in other companies: AMAG Austria Metall AG, VA Intertrad-
ing Aktiengesellschaft (Chairman), B&C Industrieholding GmbH

Felix Strohbichler (born 1974)
Since April 22, 2015:  Deputy Chairman
First appointed: April 22, 2015
Current mandate expires at the Annual General Meeting resolving upon the 2018 financial year. 
Supervisory Board mandates in other companies: Semperit Aktiengesellschaft Holding   

veit Sorger (born 1942)
Since March 29, 2011:  Deputy Chairman
First appointed: June 4, 2004
Current mandate expires at the Annual General Meeting resolving upon the 2018 financial year. 
Supervisory Board mandates in other companies: Mondi AG (Chairman), Semperit Ak-
tiengesellschaft Holding (Chairman), Constantia Industries AG (Chairman), Binder+Co AG, 
GrECo International Holding AG    

Helmut Bernkopf (born 1967)
First appointed: April 23, 2009
Current mandate expires at the Annual General Meeting resolving upon the 2018 financial year. 
Supervisory Board mandates in other companies: Schoellerbank Aktiengesellschaft, Oes-
terreichische Kontrollbank Aktiengesellschaft, card complete Service Bank AG (Chairman), 
Bausparkasse Wüstenrot Aktiengesellschaft, BWA Beteiligungs- und Verwaltungs-Aktienge-
sellschaft   

Franz Gasselsberger (born 1959) 
First appointed: April 24, 2013
Current mandate expires at the Annual General Meeting resolving upon the 2015 financial year. 
Supervisory Board mandates in other companies: Bank für Tirol und Vorarlberg Aktien-
gesellschaft (Chairman), BKS Bank AG, voestalpine AG, AMAG Austria Metall AG
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Josef Krenner (born 1952)
First appointed: April 23, 2009
Current mandate expires at the Annual General Meeting resolving upon the 2018 financial year. 
Supervisory Board mandates in other companies: B&C Industrieholding GmbH, AMAG 
Austria Metall AG (Chairman)

Patrick Prügger (born 1975)
First appointed: March 29, 2011
Current mandate expires at the Annual General Meeting resolving upon the 2015 financial year. 
Supervisory Board mandates in other companies: Semperit Aktiengesellschaft Holding, 
AMAG Austria Metall AG

andreas Schmidradner (born 1961)
First appointed: June 12, 2008
Current mandate expires at the Annual General Meeting resolving upon the 2016 financial year. 
Supervisory Board mandates in other companies: Semperit Aktiengesellschaft Holding, 
VAMED Aktiengesellschaft

astrid Skala-Kuhmann (born 1953)
First appointed: April 19, 2012
Current mandate expires at the Annual General Meeting resolving upon the 2018 financial year. 
Supervisory Board mandates in other companies: Semperit Aktiengesellschaft Holding

Michael Junghans (born 1967)
First appointed: April 30, 2010
As of March 29, 2011: Chairman (Up to March 29, 2011: Deputy Chairman)
Supervisory Board mandates in other companies: Stadtwerke Klagenfurt (Public Utility 
Company of Klagenfurt) 
Mr. Junghans resigned from his position on the Supervisory Board effective April 22, 2015.  

Supervisory Board members designated by the Works council: 

Helmut Kirchmair (born 1968)    Georg liftinger (born 1961)
First appointed 2015    First appointed 2008
 
daniela Födinger (born 1964)   Johann Schernberger (born 1964)
First appointed 2014    First appointed 2001

Franz Berlanda (born 1961)
First appointed 2014

rudolf Baldinger (born 1954)     
First appointed 1998 (resigned on September 01, 2015)
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2.2. independence (c-rules 53 and 54 accG)

The Supervisory Board has adopted the guidelines relating to the independence of its members 
pursuant to Appendix 1 of the Austrian Code of Corporate Governance.

All members of the Supervisory Board have declared themselves to be independent from the 
company and the Management Board.

Pursuant to C-Rule 54 of the ACCG, the Supervisory Board members Veit Sorger, Helmut  
Bernkopf, Franz Gasselsberger and Astrid Skala-Kuhmann declared in the 2015 financial year that 
they were neither shareholders with a stake of more than 10% in the company nor did they repre-
sent such a shareholder’s interests.

2.3. Mode of operation of the Supervisory Board

To fulfill its responsibility of overseeing the work of the Management Board, the Supervisory 
Board of Lenzing Aktiengesellschaft convenes at least once every quarterly period for a meet-
ing. A total of six Supervisory Board meetings took place during the year under review (C-Rule 
36 ACCG).

In the 2015 financial year the Supervisory Board of Lenzing Aktiengesellschaft constituted six 
committees consisting of its own members (C-Rules 34 and 39 ACCG):

 
2.3.1. audit committee  
The Audit Committee carries out the responsibilities assigned to it pursuant to Section 92 
Para. 4a Austrian Stock Corporation Act. This stipulates that these responsibilities are primarily 
in auditing and preparing the adoption of the annual financial statements and the evaluation 
of the proposal made by the Management Board on the distribution of profits as well as the 
Management Report. The Audit Committee also examines the consolidated financial state-
ments of the Group and the Group Management Report and makes a recommendation for 
the selection of the auditors. Furthermore, the Audit Committee examines the effectiveness 
of the internal control system (ICS), internal auditing and the risk management system of the 
company. The committee is required to report to the Supervisory Board about its activities. In 
the 2015 financial year the Audit Committee convened three times.

Members: Patrick Prügger (financial expert, Chairman as of April 22, 2015), Hanno M. Bästlein, 
Felix Strohbichler (as of April 22, 2015), Andreas Schmidradner, Michael Junghans (resigned on 
April 22, 2015), Rudolf Baldinger (resigned on April 22, 2015), Johann Schernberger (as of April 
22, 2015), Georg Liftinger

2.3.2. nomination committee
The Supervisory Board has established a Nomination Committee which makes recommenda-
tions to the Supervisory Board on filling new or vacant positions on the Management Board, 
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and also deals with issues relating to succession planning. In the 2015 financial year the com-
mittee prepared the appointment of two Management Board members. Moreover, the com-
mittee makes proposals to the Annual General Meeting for filling vacant positions on the Su-
pervisory Board. Two meetings of the Nomination Committee were held in the course of the 
2015 financial year.  

Members: Hanno M. Bästlein (Chairman), Felix Strohbichler (as of April 22, 2015), Veit Sorger, 
Andreas Schmidradner, Michael Junghans (resigned on April 22, 2015), Rudolf Baldinger (re-
signed on April 22, 2015), Johann Schernberger (as of April 22, 2015), Georg Liftinger

2.3.3. remuneration committee  
The Supervisory Board has set up a Remuneration Committee which deals with the terms 
and conditions of employment contracts with Management Board members, ensures com-
pliance with C-Rules 27, 27a and 28 ACCG and also assesses the remuneration policy with 
respect to Management Board members in regular intervals. The Remuneration Committee 
convened seven times during the 2015 financial year, focusing in particular on evaluating the 
performance of the Management Board and performance targets for 2015, as well as general 
remuneration issues relating to the Management Board. Furthermore, the Remuneration Com-
mittee negotiated, approved and concluded agreements in connection with the resignations of 
two Management Board members as well as the employment contracts for two members of 
the Management Board on behalf of Lenzing Aktiengesellschaft. 

Members: Hanno M. Bästlein (Chairman), Felix Strohbichler (as of April 22, 2015), Veit Sorger, 
Andreas Schmidradner, Michael Junghans (resigned on April 22, 2015)

 
2.3.4. Strategy committee
The Supervisory Board established a Strategy Committee concerning itself with evaluating 
the strategic positioning of the company and monitoring the implementation of the business 
strategy. In 2015 the Management Board developed strategic options for the Lenzing Group 
on the basis of a market and competition analysis, which was discussed with the Strategy 
Committee. The “sCore TEN” strategy proposed by the Management Board was approved 
by the Supervisory Board. Three meetings of the Strategy Committee were held in the 2015 
financial year.  

Members: Hanno M. Bästlein (Chairman), Astrid Skala-Kuhmann, Veit Sorger, Felix Strohbichler 
(as of April 22, 2015), Michael Junghans (resigned on April 22, 2015), Rudolf Baldinger (resigned 
on April 22, 2015), Johann Schernberger (as of April 22, 2015), Georg Liftinger

 
2.3.5. excellenz committee
The Supervisory Board established an excelLENZ Committee. This committee dealt with the 
ongoing monitoring and control of the operational measures relating to the global cost sav-
ings and improvement program “excelLENZ 2.0”. The focal points included savings designed 
to improve margins, reduce costs and optimize cash flows. Three meetings of the excelLENZ 
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Committee took place in the 2015 financial year. The excelLENZ Committee was dissolved by 
the Supervisory Board on December 10, 2015. The excelLENZ 2.0 program was integrated by 
the Management Board into a continuous improvement program. The Supervisory Board is 
provided with regular reports about the continuous improvement program.

Members: Hanno M. Bästlein (Chairman), Felix Strohbichler (as of April 22, 2015), Veit Sorger, 
Andreas Schmidradner, Michael Junghans (resigned on April 22, 2015), Rudolf Baldinger (re-
signed on April 22, 2015), Johann Schernberger (as of April 22, 2015), Georg Liftinger

 
2.3.6. committee for Urgent Matters  
The Supervisory Board set up a Committee for Urgent Matters. No meetings of the committee 
were held in the course of the 2015 financial year. 

Members: Hanno M. Bästlein (Chairman), Felix Strohbichler (as of April 22, 2015), Johann 
Schernberger (as of April 22, 2015)

 
2.3.7. Share Buyback committee
The Share Buyback Committee was dissolved on April 22, 2015. No meetings of the commit-
tee were held in the course of the 2015 financial year. 

2.4. cooperation of the Management Board and Supervisory Board

The Management Board reports to the Supervisory Board on fundamental issues relating to 
the future business policies of the company and the Group, as well as the future develop-
ment of the financial position and financial performance of the Lenzing Group. In addition, the 
Management Board regularly informs the Supervisory Board about business developments 
and the current situation of the company and the Group in comparison to forecasts, taking 
the future development into account. The Management Board and Supervisory Board also 
discuss the long-term growth objectives of the Lenzing Group in a separate strategy meeting. 

2.5. Self-evaluation of the Supervisory Board  

The Supervisory Board carried out a self-evaluation in the 2015 financial year in accordance 
with C-Rule 36 ACCG in the form of a questionnaire which focused on issues such as the 
controlling function of the Supervisory Board with respect to the Management Board as well 
as the compliance with the Management Board’s obligations to provide information to the 
Supervisory Board. The results of the self-evaluation show that the activities of the Supervi-
sory Board of Lenzing Aktiengesellschaft are given an overall rating of good. The Supervisory 
Board decided to follow up on several suggestions which were made during the self-evaluation 
process. Furthermore, a list of measures designed to enhance the efficiency of the Supervi-
sory Board’s work was prepared.
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3) Principles of Management Board and Supervisory Board 
remuneration (c-rule 30 accG)  

The remuneration models for the Management Board employment contracts were largely harmo-
nized in recent years, and the variable salary components in these contracts were expanded. The 
remuneration of the Management Board members in the 2015 financial year consists of a fixed 
and a variable performance-oriented salary component as well as a long-term bonus component. 

The variable salary components are particularly linked to the performance criteria described 
below.   

 � Current variable (performance-related) component:  
The current variable (performance-related) component is oriented to the following criteria: 
return on capital employed (ROCE: Doboczky, Obendrauf), or the group net profit for the 
year combined with ROCE (van de Kerkhof, Riegler, Untersperger) as well as individual 
qualitative targets.  

 � Long-term bonus model:  
Starting in the financial year 2015, the long-term increase of the equity values of the  
Lenzing Group to be calculated over a period of several years according to an agreed 
formula will apply as the target value for the long-term bonus model of Mr. Doboczky. 
Payment will take place when the employment contract expires in 2018, and depends on 
exceeding a threshold value as well as the extension of the Management Board contract. 
50% of the bonus will be paid in cash and the other 50% in shares of Lenzing Aktien- 
gesellschaft. A retention period for shares in Lenzing Aktiengesellschaft of at least one year 
applies for the first half of the bonus program, and at least two years for the second half.   
 
The targets used to determine the long-term bonus model for other Management Board 
members are as follows: 50% of the bonus for Mr. Riegler and Mr. van de Kerkhof and 2/3 
of the bonus for Mr. Untersperger are calculated on the basis of performance criteria of 
the Lenzing Group (revenue, EBIT margin, total shareholder return) evaluated over a period 
of several years and compared to a peer group. Qualitative targets account for 50% of the 
bonus for Mr. Riegler and Mr. van de Kerkhof and 1/3 of the bonus for Mr. Untersperger. 
Payment will be distributed over a three-year period for Mr. van de Kerkhof. 

 � The maximum bonus is limited to 314% for Mr. Doboczky and 64% for Mr. van de Kerkhof 
calculated on the basis of the current variable salary component plus the long-term bonus 
component in relation to the ongoing fixed salary component. A stock option program or 
a program for the beneficial transfer of shares does not exist.  

 � The main features of the long-term bonus model for Mr. Obendrauf correspond to those 
agreed upon with Mr. Doboczky.  

 � Moreover, the Management Board is also entitled to the company making contributions to 
a pension fund. This amounted to EUR 159 thousand in the 2015 financial year (2014: EUR 
118 thousand), of which EUR 38 thousand was for Mr. Doboczky, EUR 32 thousand each 
for Mr. van de Kerkhof and Mr. Riegler and EUR 57 thousand for Mr. Untersperger.    
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 � Company pension benefits as well as severance payments and entitlements to benefits in 
case an employment contract of a board member is terminated are determined by valid 
federal regulations (Company Employee Pension Act).

 � In the case of the premature termination of a Management Board contract, the conditions 
stipulated in Rule 27a ACCG are adequately taken into account.

 � The company has taken out a Directors and Officers Liability Insurance (D & O) policy 
as well as accident insurance and legal protection insurance for the Management Board 
members.

The amounts presented below for the 2015 financial year totaling EUR 5.470 thousand (2014: 
EUR 2.325 thousand) include EUR 2.644 thousand (2014: EUR 2.325 mn) for current employee 
benefits and EUR 2.826 thousand for payments relating to the termination of employment 
contracts. 

amount expensed for salaries of the active Management Board members of lenzing 
aktiengesellschaft: 

 
 
 

 
 
 
A total of EUR 40 thousand (2014: EUR 171 thousand) was recognized as an expense to cover 
payments to which retired members of the Management Board were entitled. This also includes 
claims for compensation for unused vacation time.  

In addition, a total of EUR 731 thousand was recognized as an expense in the 2015 financial 
year (2014: EUR 47 thousand) for entitlements derived from long-term bonus models (other 
non-current employee benefits and share-based payments). Remuneration for former mem-
bers of the Lenzing Management Board or their surviving dependants amounted to EUR 973 in 
the 2015 financial year (2014: EUR 952 thousand).

Members of the Management Board of Lenzing Aktiengesellschaft received a total of EUR 0 in 
remuneration in the 2015 financial year for consulting services rendered before their Manage-
ment Board mandates (2014: EUR 102 thousand).
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Fixed and variable current remuneration and termination pay  
for active members of the Management Board (expensed) teUr

Stefan  
doboczky1

robert  
van de Kerkhof

thomas 
riegler2

Peter  
Untersperger3

Friedrich 
Weninger4 total

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

Fixed current remuneration 412 0 453 292 457 259 244 585 0 435 1,566 1,571

Variable current remuneration 644 0 209 133 0 116 225 190 0 315 1,077 754

Termination payments 0 0 0 0 874 0 1,953 0 0 0 2,826 0

total 1,056 0 662 425 1,330 376 2,422 774 0 750 5,470 2,325

1) Member of the Management Board since June 01, 2015    2) Member of the Management Board up to December 01, 2015     
3) Member of the Management Board up to May 31, 2015    4) Member of the Management Board up to December 31, 2014
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The principles underlying the remuneration paid to members of the Supervisory Board are 
laid down in the Articles of Association of Lenzing Aktiengesellschaft (Section 13), which are 
published on the Website of the company. In accordance with the Articles of Association, the 
members of the Supervisory Board are granted an annual remuneration corresponding to their 
responsibilities as well as the overall situation and financial position of the company.

The remuneration of the Supervisory Board members for the 2014 financial year as resolved 
upon by the Annual General Meeting of Lenzing Aktiengesellschaft held on April 22, 2015 
amounted to the following:

a. EUR 30,000 for the Chairman of the Supervisory Board
b. EUR 25,000 for the Deputy Chairmen of the Supervisory Board
c. EUR 20,000 for each other member of the Supervisory Board
d. EUR 5,000 for the Chairman of the Audit Committee and Strategy Committee as well as for 

financial experts
e. EUR 2,500 for the Chairman of the Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee 

and for each member of a Supervisory Board committee 

In addition, each Supervisory Board member receives an attendance fee for each Supervisory 
Board meeting amounting to EUR 1,000, and each member of a Supervisory Board committee 
is granted an attendance fee of EUR 500 for each committee meeting attended.

Accordingly, the total remuneration paid to the members of the Supervisory Board during the 
2015 financial year amounted to EUR 326,430 thousand. The remuneration for the individual 
members is listed below:

Hanno M. Bästlein EUR 37,170
Michael Junghans (resigned in 2015) EUR 55,160
Veit Sorger EUR 43,830
Helmut Bernkopf EUR 26,000
Josef Krenner EUR 26,000
Franz Gasselsberger EUR 25,000
Martin Payer EUR 8,670
Patrick Prügger EUR 32,500
Andreas Schmidradner EUR 34,000
Astrid Skala-Kuhmann  EUR 30,000      

Rudolf Baldinger EUR    900
Georg Liftinger EUR 1,800
Helmut Kirchmair EUR 600
Johann Schernberger EUR 1,950
Daniela Födinger EUR 1,800
Franz Berlanda EUR 1,050
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4) Promoting the career advancement of women on the Management 
Board, Supervisory Board and executive positions (l-rule 60 accG) 

Lenzing Aktiengesellschaft observes a strict equal opportunity policy and actively promotes the 
career development of women in management positions in all business areas.

In recent years, the percentage of women holding qualified positions in the company has steadi-
ly increased. This includes Ms. Astrid Skala-Kuhmann and Daniela Födinger, who serve on the 
Supervisory Board. Moreover, inasmuch as it is made possible by the respective position, the 
company promotes the compatibility of career and family life on the basis of flexible working time 
models and the possibility to work at home.

5) compliance

The “Group Compliance Office” staff unit was integrated into the Legal Department. It devel-
oped important compliance guidelines in 2015 which were presented to more than 150 em-
ployees in training courses. The Code of Conduct developed was adopted as binding rules of 
behavior by all operating units and subsidiaries. Furthermore, the Issuers’ Compliance Direc-
tive was revised and published. The group-wide compliance management system (CMS) was 
further developed, communicated and implemented within the context of the Lenzing Group 
Portal (Intranet). In addition to a help platform and various information systems, employees 
also have the opportunity to report suspected violations of compliance rules. The focus of the 
classroom-based instruction was CMS as well as anti-corruption issues and competition law. 
A report on compliance activities at Lenzing Aktiengesellschaft is submitted once a year to the 
Audit Committee in accordance with Section 18a ACCG.

6) directors’ dealings

The disclosure of share purchases and sales by members of the Management Board and 
Supervisory Board is carried out in accordance with valid provisions contained in the Austrian 
Stock Exchange Act. A link to the Website of the Financial Market Authority can be found on 
the Website of Lenzing Aktiengesellschaft and is conveyed to the Issuers Compliance Officer. 
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7) risk management and internal auditing 

The effectiveness of Lenzing’s risk management system was evaluated by the auditor Deloitte 
Audit Wirtschaftsprüfungs GmbH in accordance with Rule 83 ACCG and issued an unqualified 
opinion. The Management Board was informed about the results. Furthermore, the Head of Risk 
Management annually reports about current risks during a meeting of the Audit Committee. 

The Internal Audit Department reports directly to the Management Board. The annual auditing 
plan is determined in close collaboration with the Management Board and the Audit Commit-
tee. Similarly, the Head of Internal Audit regularly reports to the Audit Committee about the key 
audit findings.

8) external evaluation

In accordance with Rule 62 ACCG, Lenzing submits to an external evaluation of its compliance 
with the C-Rules and R-Rules of the Austrian Code of Corporate Governance on a regular ba-
sis, but at least every third year. Lenzing contracted PwC Oberösterreich Wirtschaftsprüfung 
und Steuerberatung GmbH to evaluate its Corporate Governance Report 2015. The external 
evaluation concluded that the declaration provided by Lenzing Aktiengesellschaft committing 
the company to complying with the Austrian Code of Corporate Governance (January 2015 
version) gives a true and fair view of the actual situation. All external evaluation reports can be 
viewed on the company’s Website at www.lenzing.com

Lenzing Aktiengesellschaft 
Lenzing, March 9, 2016

the Management Board

 
 
Stefan doboczky

robert van de Kerkhof

thomas obendrauf
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rePort oF tHe   
SuperviSory Board

dear shareholders!

The year 2015 was characterized by volatility and uncertain-
ty. Following the financial crisis, in which a large number of 
countries and financial institutions were subject to consider-
able pressure in some cases, new challenges emerged, such 
as refugee flows which are unlikely to stop in the foreseeable 
future, along with digitalization, cybercrime and falling com-
modity prices. 

All these issues and their effects are to be adequately ad-
dressed by Lenzing AG. In addition to external factors, 2015 
was still shaped by the company’s restructuring efforts, as 
continued from the previous year. For the most part, these 
measures were implemented as planned.  

In addition to the reorganization, the strategy process initi-
ated in 2014 involving a large number of employees was con-
tinued in 2015, and ended up as a future-oriented program 
entitled “sCore TEN”. At the same time, consistent with the 
global nature of our business, we also attracted highly quali-
fied and internationally experienced colleagues to strengthen 
our leadership team, starting with a new Chief Executive Of-
ficer, Chief Financial Officer and several top executives of 
different nationalities. Combined with in-house personnel 
developments, a strong management team has arisen, striv-
ing to align and intensify the spirit of the company to reflect 
the tasks ahead of us. We are increasingly changing from an 
Austrian company with foreign business activities to a glob-
ally operating company with strong Austrian roots. This is 
mirrored by the clear commitment to Austria as the corporate 
headquarters of the Lenzing Group, as well as maintaining 
major research and development centers and production fa-
cilities in the country.      

In the light of these multifaceted activities, the Supervisory 
Board fulfilled its monitoring obligations and provided profes-
sional advice to the company. For this purpose, the Super-
visory Board of Lenzing AG convened a total of eight times, 
and was informed by the Management Board about the 
company’s business development, discussed major busi-
ness transactions and measures and passed the required 
resolutions.

In particular, the Supervisory Board supported the proposed 
strategy project sCore TEN, and with its approval laid the 
foundation for a realignment of the organization in December 
2015 as the basis for the further strategic development of the 
company. The comprehensive cost savings program excel-
LENZ 2.0 initiated in 2013 to safeguard the competitiveness 
of the Lenzing Group was a further focal point of the Super-
visory Board’s work in the 2015 financial year. The excelLENZ 
2.0 program was integrated by the Management Board into 
a continuous improvement program, which the Supervisory 
Board will receive impending regular reports. 

The Management Board submitted a detailed written report 
to the Supervisory Board at each meeting about all relevant 
issues relating to the business development, the financial po-
sition and financial performance of Lenzing AG and the Lenz-
ing Group. In addition, the Chairman and Deputy Chairmen 
of the Supervisory Board were provided with information on 
a regular basis by the Management Board.

The Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board convened 
three times, and in addition to examining and preparing the 
annual and the consolidated financial statements, also ful-
filled its duties and responsibilities as stipulated in Section 
92 Para. 4a Austrian Stock Corporation Act. In particular, 
the Supervisory Board monitored the financial reporting pro-
cesses as well as the effectiveness of the internal control, 
audit and risk management systems.

The Supervisory Board set up a Remuneration Committee 
which focuses on the employment contracts of Management 
Board members, ensures adherence to C-Rules 27, 27a 
and 28 and regularly reviews the remuneration policies for 
Management Board members. Seven meetings of the Re-
muneration Committee took place during the 2015 financial 
year, particularly dealing with the evaluation of the Manage-
ment Board with respect to the 2014 financial year, defining 
performance targets for 2015 and discussing other general 
remuneration issues pertaining to the Management Board. 
Furthermore, the Remuneration Committee negotiated, ap-
proved and concluded agreements in connection with the 
resignation of two Management Board members and the 

to the 72nd annual General Meeting: 
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employment contracts for two Management Board members 
on behalf of Lenzing AG.

The Supervisory Board established a Strategy Committee 
which deals with assessing the strategic positioning of the 
company and monitoring the corporate strategy. In 2015, the 
Management Board developed strategic options for the Lenz-
ing Group on the basis of a market and competition analysis, 
and discussed these options with the Strategy Committee. 
The proposed sCore TEN strategy was approved by the Su-
pervisory Board. Three meetings of the Strategy Committee 
were held in 2015.

The excelLENZ Committee established by the Supervisory 
Board in April 2014 dealt with the ongoing monitoring and 
control of the operational measures relating to the future cost 
savings and improvement program “excelLENZ 2.0“. After a 
total of six meetings, including three in the 2015 financial year, 
the excelLENZ Committee was dissolved by the Supervisory 
Board on December 10, 2015. 

The Share Buyback Committee authorized by the Annual 
General Meeting in April 2014 did not convene in the 2015 
financial year and was dissolved on April 22, 2015. 

Further information pertaining to the composition and mode 
of operation of the Supervisory Board and its remuneration 
are available in the Corporate Governance Report.

The separate financial statements including the Management 
Report of Lenzing AG as well as the consolidated financial 
statements and the Group Management Report of the Lenz-
ing Group as at December 31, 2015 were audited by Deloitte 
Audit Wirtschaftsprüfungs GmbH, Vienna, and granted an 
unqualified auditor’s opinion. The Corporate Governance 
Report was evaluated by PwC Oberösterreich Wirtschafts-
prüfung und Steuerberatung GmbH, Linz, which concluded 
that the declaration provided by Lenzing AG committing the 
company to complying with the Austrian Code of Corporate 
Governance (January 2015 version) gives a true and fair view 
of the actual situation.

The Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board reviewed 
the separate and the consolidated financial statements, the 
Management Report and Group Management Report, the 
proposal of the Management Board for the appropriation of 

the total accumulated profit along with the Corporate Gover-
nance Report. The Audit Committee also intensively focused 
on the auditor’s reports and meticulously discussed the re-
sults of the audit in detail with the auditor. On the basis of its 
own review, the Audit Committee concurred with the results 
of the auditor’s report. The Audit Committee dutifully reported 
to the Supervisory Board on this matter and recommended 
that the Supervisory Board propose the appointment of De-
loitte Audit Wirtschaftsprüfungs GmbH, Vienna, again to the 
Annual General Meeting to serve as the auditors for the 2016 
financial year.

Following its own detailed review, the Supervisory Board 
declared its formal approval of the Management Report and 
Corporate Governance Report, and thus hereby adopted the 
separate annual financial statements for 2015 pursuant to 
Section 96 Para. 4 Austrian Stock Corporation Act. Further-
more, it declared its approval of the consolidated financial 
statements and Group Management Report in accordance 
with Section 244 and Section 245a Austrian Commercial 
Code. The Supervisory Board concurred with the Manage-
ment Board’s proposal on the distribution of the total accu-
mulated profit. Accordingly, a dividend of EUR 53,100,000 or 
EUR 2.00 per share is to be distributed.  

The Supervisory Board agrees with the recommendation of 
the Audit Committee and will thus propose to the 72nd Annual 
General Meeting to appoint Deloitte Audit Wirtschaftsprü-
fungs GmbH, Vienna, as the auditors for the annual financial 
statements of the 2016 financial year.

No conflicts of interest on the part of Management Board 
and Supervisory Board members which require disclosure 
were reported to the Supervisory Board during the year un-
der review.

The Supervisory Board would like to thank the Management 
Board and all employees and employee representatives for 
their high level of continued commitment and the satisfactory 
results achieved in the past financial year.

Vienna, March 16, 2016

 
Hanno Bästlein
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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lenzing aG

consolidated income Statement
for the period January 1 to december 31, 2015

eUr ‘000

 note 2015 2014

 Revenue (7) 1,976,806 1,864,222

 Change in inventories of finished goods and work in progress (7,298) (2,561)

 Own work capitalized 29,230 34,631

 Other operating income (8) 45,727 48,530

 Cost of material and other purchased services (9) (1,218,260) (1,199,241)

 Personnel expenses (10) (300,207) (292,000)

 Other operating expenses (12) (235,885) (213,279)

earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (eBitda)1 290,114 240,302

 Amortization of intangible assets and depreciation of property, plant and equipment (11) (142,248) (221,546)

 Income from the release of investment grants 3,236 3,170

earnings before interest and tax (eBit)1 151,102 21,926

 Income from investments accounted for using the equity method (14) 17,726 (541)

 Income from non-current and current financial assets (15) 5,652 4,519

 Financing costs (16) (26,913) (27,416)

Financial result (3,535) (23,439)

 Allocation of profit or loss to puttable non-controlling interests (34) 1,531 8,818

earnings before tax (eBt)1 149,098 7,305

 Income tax expense (17) (25,064) (21,466)

net profit/loss for the year 124,034 (14,160)

 Net profit/loss for the year attributable to shareholders of Lenzing AG 122,947 (13,478)

 Attributable to non-controlling interests 1,087 (682)

earnings per share (18) eUr eUr

 Diluted = undiluted 4.63 (0.51)

1) EBITDA: Operating result before depreciation and amortization or accordingly earnings before interest, tax, depreciation on property,  
 plant and equipment and amortization of intangible assets and before income from the release of investment grants. 
EBIT: Operating result or accordingly earnings before interest and tax. 
EBT: Earnings before tax.
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lenzing aG

consolidated Statement of comprehensive income
for the period January 1 to december 31, 2015

eUr ‘000

note 2015 2014

net profit/loss for the year as per consolidated income statement  124,034 (14,160)

items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss  

 Remeasurement of defined benefit liability 
 (thereof from investments accounted for using the equity method: 
 2015: EUR -30 thousand, 2014: EUR -718 thousand) (33) 5,204 (14,614)

 Income tax relating to these components of other comprehensive income (29) (1,360) 3,496

3,844 (11,118)

items that may be reclassified to profit or loss

 Foreign operations – foreign currency translation differences arising during the reporting period 
 (thereof from investments accounted for using the equity method: 
 2015: EUR 3 thousand, 2014: EUR 178 thousand) (29) 41,548 48,618

 Foreign operations – reclassification of foreign currency translation differences on loss of control (164) 0

 Available-for-sale financial assets – net fair value gain/loss on remeasurement recognized  
 in the reporting period (29) 163 790

 Available-for-sale financial assets – reclassification of amounts relating to financial assets  
 disposed of in the reporting period (29) 0 0

 Cash flow hedges – effective portion of changes in fair value recognized in the reporting period  
 (thereof from investments accounted for using the equity method: 
 2015: EUR 1 thousand, 2014: EUR -23 thousand) (29) (38,956) (35,107)

 Cash flow hedges – reclassification to profit or loss 
 (thereof from investments accounted for using the equity method:  
 2015: EUR 4 thousand, 2014: EUR 18 thousand) (29) 62,762 7,653

 Income tax relating to these components of other comprehensive income (29) (5,709) 6,057

 59,645 28,012

 other comprehensive income - net of tax  63,489 16,893

 total comprehensive income  187,523 2,733

 Attributable to shareholders of Lenzing AG 183,840 602

 Attributable to non-controlling interests 3,683 2,131
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lenzing aG

consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as at december 31, 2015

eUr ‘000

assets note 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

 Intangible assets (19) 18,234 21,931

 Property, plant and equipment (20) 1,294,451 1,322,490

 Investments accounted for using the equity method (21) 25,568 37,956

 Financial assets (22) 22,847 23,194

 Deferred tax assets (32) 17,253 21,534

 Current tax assets  9,335 6,865

 Other non-current assets (23) 5,369 9,003

non-current assets  1,393,057 1,442,975

 Inventories (24) 338,464 344,092

 Trade receivables (25. 26) 258,939 232,769

 Current tax assets  251 13,785

 Other current assets (27) 83,846 69,640

 Cash and cash equivalents (36) 347,254 271,791

current assets  1,028,753 932,076

total assets  2,421,810 2,375,051

 

equity and liabilities note 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

 Share capital  27,574 27,574

 Capital reserves  133,919 133,919

 Other reserves 31,147 (30,153)

 Retained earnings  986,799 890,376

equity attributable to shareholders of lenzing aG  1,179,439 1,021,716

 Non-controlling interests  27,255 23,919

equity (29) 1,206,694 1,045,634

 Financial liabilities (31) 510,910 537,033

 Government grants (30) 17,807 21,994

 Deferred tax liabilities (32) 52,934 44,830

 Provisions (33) 122,653 130,007

 Puttable non-controlling interests (34) 11,686 12,410

 Other liabilities (35) 3,075 7,640

non-current liabilities  719,065 753,914

 Financial liabilities (31) 172,337 192,745

 Trade payables (35) 149,987 181,130

 Government grants (30) 7,995 4,565

 Current tax liabilities  10,571 25,186

 Provisions (33) 69,895 81,382

 Other liabilities (35) 85,266 90,493

current liabilities  496,051 575,502

total equity and liabilities  2,421,810 2,375,051



86

Consolidated FinanCial statements 2015

lenzing aG

consolidated Statement of changes in equity
for the period January 1 to december 31, 2015

Siehe dazu insbesondere Note 29.

        other reserves eUr ‘000

note
Share  

capital capital reserves

Foreign cur-
rency translation 

reserve
available-for-sale  

financial assets Hedging reserve
actuarial gains/

losses
retained  
earnings 

equity attributable 
to shareholders  

of lenzing aG
non-controlling 

interests equity

as at 01/01/2014  27,574 133,919 (18,932) 840 299 (26,441) 950,390 1,067,649 21,813 1,089,462

Net profit/loss for the year as per consolidated income statement  0 0 0 0 0 0 (13,478) (13,478) (682) (14,160)

Other comprehensive income - net of tax  0 0 45,842 589 (21,286) (11,064) 0 14,080 2,813 16,893

total comprehensive income 0 0 45,842 589 (21,286) (11,064) (13,478) 602 2,131 2,733

Acquisition/disposal of non-controlling interests and other changes in  
consolidated group (4, 29) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (73) (73) 75 2

Dividends 0 0 0 0 0 0 (46,463) (46,463) (100) (46,563)

as at 31/12/2014 27,574 133,919 26,909 1,429 (20,987) (37,505) 890,376 1,021,716 23,919 1,045,634

as at 01/01/2015 27,574 133,919 26,909 1,429 (20,987) (37,505) 890,376 1,021,716 23,919 1,045,634

Net profit/loss for the year as per consolidated income statement 0 0 0 0 0 0 122,947 122,947 1,087 124,034

Other comprehensive income - net of tax 0 0 38,522 123 18,363 3,885 0 60,893 2,596 63,489

total comprehensive income 0 0 38,522 123 18,363 3,885 122,947 183,840 3,683 187,523

Acquisition/disposal of non-controlling interests and other changes in 
consolidated group (4, 29) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (222) (222)

Share-based payments (44) 0 0 0 0 0 0 433 433 0 433

Dividends 0 0 0 0 0 0 (26,550) (26,550) (125) (26,675)

Reclassification due to settlement or disposal of defined benefit plans 0 0 0 0 0 407 (407) 0 0 0

as at 31/12/2015 (29) 27,574 133,919 65,431 1,552 (2,624) (33,212) 986,799 1,179,439 27,255 1,206,694
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        other reserves eUr ‘000

note
Share  

capital capital reserves

Foreign cur-
rency translation 

reserve
available-for-sale  

financial assets Hedging reserve
actuarial gains/

losses
retained  
earnings 

equity attributable 
to shareholders  

of lenzing aG
non-controlling 

interests equity

as at 01/01/2014  27,574 133,919 (18,932) 840 299 (26,441) 950,390 1,067,649 21,813 1,089,462

Net profit/loss for the year as per consolidated income statement  0 0 0 0 0 0 (13,478) (13,478) (682) (14,160)

Other comprehensive income - net of tax  0 0 45,842 589 (21,286) (11,064) 0 14,080 2,813 16,893

total comprehensive income 0 0 45,842 589 (21,286) (11,064) (13,478) 602 2,131 2,733

Acquisition/disposal of non-controlling interests and other changes in  
consolidated group (4, 29) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (73) (73) 75 2

Dividends 0 0 0 0 0 0 (46,463) (46,463) (100) (46,563)

as at 31/12/2014 27,574 133,919 26,909 1,429 (20,987) (37,505) 890,376 1,021,716 23,919 1,045,634

as at 01/01/2015 27,574 133,919 26,909 1,429 (20,987) (37,505) 890,376 1,021,716 23,919 1,045,634

Net profit/loss for the year as per consolidated income statement 0 0 0 0 0 0 122,947 122,947 1,087 124,034

Other comprehensive income - net of tax 0 0 38,522 123 18,363 3,885 0 60,893 2,596 63,489

total comprehensive income 0 0 38,522 123 18,363 3,885 122,947 183,840 3,683 187,523

Acquisition/disposal of non-controlling interests and other changes in 
consolidated group (4, 29) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (222) (222)

Share-based payments (44) 0 0 0 0 0 0 433 433 0 433

Dividends 0 0 0 0 0 0 (26,550) (26,550) (125) (26,675)

Reclassification due to settlement or disposal of defined benefit plans 0 0 0 0 0 407 (407) 0 0 0

as at 31/12/2015 (29) 27,574 133,919 65,431 1,552 (2,624) (33,212) 986,799 1,179,439 27,255 1,206,694
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lenzing aG

consolidated Statement of cash Flows
for the period January 1 to december 31, 2015

eUr ‘000

note 2015 2014

net profit/loss for the year 124,034 (14,160) 

+ Amortization of intangible assets and depreciation of property, plant and equipment (11) 142,248 221,546

- Income from the release of investment grants  (3,236) (3,170) 

+/- Change in non-current provisions  (2,029) 531

- Income/+ expenses from deferred taxes 4,745 783

+/- Change in current tax assets and liabilities 2,160 20,418

+/- Income from investments accounted for using the equity method (37) 12,366 581

- Other non-cash income/+ expenses (37) 4,174 4,277

Gross cash flow 284,463 230,806

+/- Change in inventories 8,956 (18,435) 

+/- Change in accounts receivable (27,690) 25,887

+/- Change in accounts payable (50,149) (19,444) 

change in working capital (68,883) (11,992) 

cash flow from operating activities 215,580 218,814

- Acquisition of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment (CAPEX)  (70,914) (104,311) 

- Acquisition of financial assets (4,938) (2,307) 

+ Proceeds from the sale of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment  320 337

+ Proceeds from the sale/repayment of financial assets  5,604 3,468

+ Net inflow from the sale and disposal of subsidiaries and other business areas (5) 13,385 0

cash flow from investing activities  (56,543) (102,812) 

- Distribution to shareholders  (26,675) (46,563) 

+ Disposal of non-controlling interests (4) 0 2

+ Investment grants  1,033 1,027

+/- Change in current financial liabilities  (21,408) (3,487) 

+ Proceeds from the issue of private placements (31) 150,000 0

- Repayment of private placements (31) (89,500) 0

+ Proceeds from non-current financial liabilities  43,083 10,721

- Repayment on non-current financial liabilities  (147,630) (100,493) 

cash flow from financing activities  (91,098) (138,792) 

total change in liquid funds  67,939 (22,791) 

Liquid funds at beginning of the year  271,791 287,882

Currency translation adjustment relating to liquid funds  7,523 6,700

liquid funds at the end of the year (36) 347,254 271,791

additional information on payments in cash flow from operating activities:

Interest payments received 1,428 1,714

Interest payments made 21,131 23,805

Income taxes paid 17,654 370

Distributions received from investments accounted for using the equity method 30,093 40
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General information 

note 1

Basic information

description of the company  
and its business activities

The Lenzing Group (the “Group”) consists of Lenzing Aktieng-
esellschaft (Lenzing AG) and its consolidated companies. 
Lenzing AG is a listed stock corporation under Austrian law. 
It is entered in the Commercial Register of the Wels Com-
mercial and Regional Court, Austria, under FN 96499k. Its 
registered office is Werkstrasse 2, 4860 Lenzing, Austria. The 
shares of Lenzing AG are listed on the Prime Market (since 
April 18, 2011) and in the ATX benchmark index (since Sep-
tember 19, 2011) of the Vienna Stock Exchange in Vienna, 
Austria. 

The main shareholder of Lenzing AG as at December 31, 
2015 was the B&C Group, which directly and indirectly held 
67.60% (December 31, 2014: 67.60%) of the share capital of 
Lenzing AG. The direct majority shareholder of Lenzing AG 
is B&C Lenzing Holding GmbH, Vienna. In addition, B&C 
Iota GmbH & Co. KG, Vienna, also holds shares in Lenzing 
AG. The indirect majority shareholder of Lenzing AG is B&C 
Industrieholding GmbH, Vienna. In turn, its majority share-
holder is B&C Holding Österreich GmbH, Vienna, which pre-
pares and publishes consolidated financial statements which 
include the Lenzing Group. The ultimate parent company of 
the B&C Group, and therefore also of Lenzing AG, is B&C 
Privatstiftung, Vienna.

The core business of the Lenzing Group is the production 
and marketing of botanic cellulose fibers. A significant portion 
of the pulp needed for production purposes is manufactured 
in the Group’s own plants or partially bought in. The most 
important raw material for the manufacture of pulp is wood, 
which is bought in. The Lenzing Group also operates in me-
chanical and plant engineering and offers engineering ser-
vices. The Lenzing Group has production locations in Austria 
(Lenzing and Heiligenkreuz), the Czech Republic (Paskov), 

the UK (Grimsby), the United States (Mobile), Indonesia (Pur-
wakarta) and China (Nanjing). The sales network comprises 
sales companies in China (Hong Kong and Shanghai) and 
sales offices in Indonesia (Jakarta), India (Coimbatore) and 
the United States (New York).

Presentation of the  
consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the period from 
January 1 to December 31, 2015 were prepared in accor-
dance with all International Financial Reporting Standards  
(IFRSs) and interpretations effective as at the reporting date, 
as endorsed in the EU. The additional requirements of sec-
tion 245a(1) of the Unternehmensgesetzbuch (öUGB – Aus-
trian Commercial Code) have been complied with.

The reporting currency is euro (EUR), which is also the func-
tional currency of Lenzing AG and a majority of its subsidiar-
ies. The figures shown in these consolidated financial state-
ments and in the notes, unless stated otherwise, have been 
rounded up to the next thousand. Arithmetic differences 
due to rounding effects can occur when adding up rounded 
amounts and percentages using automatic tools. 

Use of estimates, assumptions and judgments

In preparing the IFRS consolidated financial statements, the 
Management Board of Lenzing AG uses estimates, assump-
tions and judgments. These estimates, assumptions and 
judgments are based on the circumstances assumed as at 
the reporting date and can have a significant effect on the 
presentation of the financial position and financial perfor-
mance of the Group. They concern the recognition and value 
of assets and liabilities, contingent assets and liabilities, the 
reporting of cash flows and income and expenses (including 
other comprehensive income) and the presentation of disclo-
sures in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

lenzing aG

notes to the consolidated Financial Statements 
as at december 31, 2015
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In the case of the following assumptions about the future and 
other major sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting 
date, there is a considerable risk in the Lenzing Group that they 
could lead to a material adjustment of the financial position 
and financial performance – in particular the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities – in the subsequent reporting period:

 � The assessment of the recoverability of intangible assets 
– especially goodwill – and property, plant and equipment 
– especially at the level of cash-generating units – in im-
pairment tests is based on assumptions about the future. 
Several assumptions are applied when determining the re-
coverable amounts in impairment tests. Future cash flows 
and the discount rate (WACC) play a significant role here. 
Other assumptions are also included in the assessment 
(such as in connection with perpetuals). Goodwill and 
property, plant and equipment at the level of cash-gener-
ating units react particularly sensitively to changes in these 
assumptions because of the large number of estimation 
parameters. Further detailed information is given in notes 
19, 20 and 3 (under “Impairment”).

 � When measuring existing defined benefit pension plans 
and similar obligations – “old severance payment” system 
and similar systems (e.g. jubilee benefits) – assumptions 
are made with regard to the actuarial, demographic and 
financial parameters. In particular, these include the dis-
count rate and future increases in salaries and pensions. 
Other assumptions are also included in the assessment 
(such as staff turnover deductions and biometric data). Be-
cause of the complexity of the assessment and its long-
term nature, these obligations are sensitive to changes in 
these assumptions. Further detailed information is given in 
notes 33 and 3 (under “Obligations from pensions and sev-
erance payments” and “Obligations from jubilee benefits”).

 � The recognition of deferred tax assets under the line item 
“Deferred tax assets” – provided that there are insufficient 
taxable temporary differences – is based on the assump-
tion that sufficient taxable income will be generated in the 
future to utilize existing unused tax loss carryforwards, 
unused tax credits or other deductible temporary differ-
ences. The recognition of deferred tax assets requires 
a significant estimate regarding the expected date and 
amount of the future tax results. Further detailed informa-
tion is given in notes 32 and 3 (under “Current taxes and 
deferred taxes [deferred tax assets and liabilities]”).

 � The recognition of (other) provisions is based on estimates 
concerning the probability of the future outflow of bene-
fits. In measuring these items, assumptions are also made 
with regard to the expected amount required to settle the 
obligations. These uncertainties relate in particular to pro-
visions for restructuring measures – especially severance 
payments and settlements because of the headcount re-
duction (such as the number of jobs to be cut in the future 
and costs to be incurred), provisions for guarantees and 
warranties (such as when the risks for which provisions 
have been recognized will take effect and their amount), 
provisions for anticipated losses and other risks (such 
as the future volume of sales or procurement and future 
prices or costs) and other provisions for legal disputes, 
which depend largely on the estimate of the outcome of 
the process and the costs then incurred. Further detailed 
information is given in notes 33 and 3 (under “Provisions”). 

Assumptions and estimates are based on experience and other 
considerations that the Management Board considers appro-
priate. However, the amounts that ultimately arise can deviate 
from these assumptions and estimates if the general conditions 
assumed develop differently from expectations as at the report-
ing date. Changes are taken into account when better informa-
tion is learned and the assumptions are adjusted accordingly.

When applying the accounting policies, the following signifi-
cant judgments were made in the Lenzing Group that had a 
material influence on the amounts in the consolidated finan-
cial statements:

 � For the derecognition of receivables in connection with 
factoring agreements, judgment is used concerning the 
fulfillment of derecognition requirements as defined by IAS 
39. Similar deliberations also apply in relation to liabilities 
under reverse factoring agreements. Further detailed in-
formation is given in notes 39 (under “Transfer of financial 
assets [sale of receivables/factoring]”), 35 and 3 (under 
“Financial instruments”).

 � For the inclusion of group companies in the consolidated 
group, judgments are made about the nature or method of 
consolidation, specifically about the existence of control, 
significant influence or a joint venture, etc., as per IFRS 10, 
IFRS 11 and IAS 28. Further detailed information is given 
in notes 1 (under “Consolidated group”), 47 (under “Com-
ments” in connection with the table “Group companies”) 
and 3 (under “Principles of consolidation for subsidiaries” 
and “Investments accounted for using the equity method”).
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consolidated group

The consolidated financial statements of the Lenzing Group include Lenzing AG as the parent company and its subsidiaries, 
each on the basis of financial statements as at December 31, 2015. If the financial years of consolidated subsidiaries do not end 
at the reporting date for Lenzing AG on December 31, interim financial statements are prepared for the purposes of consolida-
tion. This is the case for one subsidiary (December 31, 2014: one subsidiary), which has a different reporting date because of 
local legal requirements (see note 47).

Investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. 

The number of companies included in the consolidated financial statements developed as follows:

 
Changes in the consolidated group are described in note 4. A list of all group companies as at December 31, 2015 can be found 
in note 47. The main group companies operate in the production and marketing of botanic cellulose fibers and, in some cases, 
of pulp (Segment Fibers).

On the basis of its comprehensive co-determination rights, Lenzing AG controls assets in the wholesale fund GF 82, a special 
fund under section 20a of the österreichisches Investmentfondsgesetz (öInvFG – Austrian Investment Fund Act). The fund is 
therefore classified as a structured entity and included in consolidation. The securities held in the fund serve to fulfill the fiscal 
securities coverage of the pension provisions from Austrian pension plans as required under section 14 of the österreichisches 
Einkommensteuergesetz (öEStG – Austrian Income Tax Act). The material, unchanged risks of the fund are traditional invest-
ment risks (especially default and market price risks). At present, the Lenzing Group does not intend to grant the fund financial 
or other aid or to assist in the procurement of financial aid.

development in number of companies  
included in consolidation (incl. parent company) 2015 2014

Full 
consolidation

at equity 
consolidation

Full 
consolidation

at equity 
 consolidation

as at 01/01 33 8 32 8

Included in consolidation for the first time in reporting period 0 0 1 0

Deconsolidated in reporting period (4) 0 0 0

as at 31/12 29 8 33 8

Thereof in Austria 13 4 14 4

Thereof abroad 16 4 19 4
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note 2

changes in accounting policies   

overview

In the 2015 financial year, the Lenzing Group maintained the accounting policies applied in the previous financial year, with the 
exception of the changes described in this section. The accounting policies are described in detail in note 3.

Mandatory changes in accounting policies

Standards and interpretations applicable from the 2015 financial year

The following new and amended standards and interpretations were adopted into EU law and became mandatory for the Lenz-
ing Group for the first time in the 2015 financial year:

 
The above new or amended standards and interpretations that are applicable as of January 1, 2015 do not result in any sig-
nificant changes in the financial statements of the Lenzing Group. The accounting policies and measurement and presentation 
methods applied in the consolidated financial statements therefore remained largely unchanged in comparison to the last con-
solidated annual financial statements of the Lenzing Group as at December 31, 2014.

Standards/interpretations
Publication by 

the iaSB

Mandatory  
application according 

to iaSB for financial 
years from

adoption by 
the eU as at 

31/12/2015

IFRIC 21 Levies (mandatory application according to the European 
Commission as of June 17, 2014) 20/05/2013 01/01/2014 Yes

Various Amendment of a number of IFRSs as a result of 
the 2011-2013 improvement process (mandatory 
application according to the European Commission as of 
January 1, 2015) 12/12/2013 01/07/2014 Yes
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Standards and interpretations that are already published  
but not effective until subsequent financial years

The following new and amended standards and interpretations that had already been published by the IASB when the con-
solidated financial statements were prepared were not yet mandatory for the Lenzing Group for financial years beginning on or 
before January 1, 2015:

 
 
The new and amended standards and interpretations shown above were not adopted early by the Lenzing Group; they are 
expected to have the following effects on the financial position and financial performance of the Lenzing Group in future financial 
years:

 � iFrS 9 (and iFrS 7): IFRS 9 (Financial Instruments) contains amendments to the categorization and measurement of finan-
cial instruments, impairment of financial assets and regulations on hedge accounting. As things stand, the Lenzing Group 
expects the application of IFRS 9 to mainly affect financial assets (especially their categorization and in isolated cases their 
measurement). Due to the conversion to the uniform expected credit loss model, bad debt provisions for financial instruments 

note:

1) The European Commission proposes to currently not endorse the interim standard IFRS 14 for adoption into EU law.
2) Effective date was deferred indefinitely by the IASB.

Standards/interpretations
Publication by 

the iaSB

Mandatory  
application according 

to iaSB for financial 
years from

adoption by 
the eU as at 

31/12/2015

IAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions (mandatory 
application according to the European Commission as of 
February 1, 2015) 21/11/2013 01/07/2014 Yes

Various Amendment of a number of IFRSs as a result of 
the 2010-2012 improvement process (mandatory 
application according to the European Commission as of 
February 1, 2015) 12/12/2013 01/07/2014 Yes

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 30/01/2014 01/01/2016 No1

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements:  
Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations 06/05/2014 01/01/2016 Yes

IAS 16, 38 Property, Plant and Equipment, Intangible Assets:  
Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 
Amortization 12/05/2014 01/01/2016 Yes

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 28/05/2014 01/01/2018 No

IAS 16, 41 Property, Plant and Equipment, Agriculture: Bearer Plants 30/06/2014 01/01/2016 Yes

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 24/07/2014 01/01/2018 No

IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements: Equity Method in Separate 
Financial Statements 12/08/2014 01/01/2016 Yes

IFRS 10, IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture 11/09/2014 Unknown2 No

Various Amendment of a number of IFRSs as a result of the  
2012-2014 improvement process 25/09/2014 01/01/2016 Yes

IFRS 10, 12, IAS 28 Investment Entities: Application of the Investment Entities 
Exceptions 18/12/2014 01/01/2016 No

IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative 18/12/2014 01/01/2016 Yes

IFRS 16 Leases 13/01/2016 01/01/2019 No

IAS 12 Income Taxes: Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for 
Unrealized Losses 19/01/2016 01/01/2017 No

IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Disclosure Initiative 29/01/2016 01/01/2017 No
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(especially for trade receivables) will tend to be recognized 
earlier in future. Simplifications in hedge accounting are 
also expected. IFRS 7 (Financial Instruments: Disclosures), 
revised in the course of the release of IFRS 9, will result in 
changed or expanded disclosures in the notes, specifically 
regarding defaults of receivables, hedge accounting and 
the presentation of financial instrument categories.

 � iFrS 15: IFRS 15 (Revenue from Contracts with Custom-
ers) stipulates, according to a principle-based model, 
when and what amount of revenue must be recognized 
and requires disclosures in the notes on revenue ob-
tained from contracts with customers. The Lenzing Group 
is currently analyzing whether this will result in changes. 
As things stand, the Lenzing Group does not expect the 
adoption of IFRS 15 to result in any significant changes 
to accounting policies concerning the date and amount 
of the recognition of revenue from customer contracts. In 
particular, changed or expanded disclosures in the notes 
concerning revenue will be required.

 � iFrS 16: IFRS 16 (Leases) leads to changes in the ac-
counting for leases by the lessee. In future, the lessee will 
be required to capitalize a right of use for an asset arising 
from a lease, carry lease liabilities as a liability and roll over 
both values. Relief is granted for terms no longer than 12 
months and for low-value assets. Accounting on the part 
of the lessor remains virtually unchanged. The Lenzing 
Group is currently analyzing which changes will ensue as 
a result of IFRS 16. As things stand, the Lenzing Group ex-
pects the application of IFRS 16 in particular to result in the 
increased recognition of rights of use (rise in non-current 
assets) and of lease liabilities (rise in financial liabilities) from 
leases previously classified as operating leases in which 
the Lenzing Group is the lessee. In particular, changed or 
expanded disclosures in the notes concerning leases will 
also be required. In addition, it is anticipated that EBITDA, 
EBIT and cash flow from operating activities will improve 
as a result of the amended reporting requirements.

 � iaS 7: Due to the amendments to IAS 7 (statement of cash 
flows) the Lenzing Group will particularly incorporate ad-
ditional information on changes to financial liabilities in the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

 � others: There are a number of other standards, amend-
ments and interpretations that either are not relevant to the 
Lenzing Group or do not have any significant impact on its 
earnings, assets, liabilities or cash flows.

The application of these standards and interpretations is 
planned following their endorsement by the EU in each case.

voluntary changes in accounting policies

There were no voluntary changes to accounting policies in 
the 2015 financial year.

note 3

accounting policies

Presentation

The consolidated income statement has been prepared in 
line with the nature of expense method. The consolidated 
statement of cash flows has been prepared using the indirect 
method. In the consolidated statement of cash flows, interest 
paid and received, income taxes paid and dividends received 
are allocated to cash flow from operating activities. Dividends 
paid are reported in the cash flow from financing activities.

Measurement

In the case of intangible assets, property, plant and equip-
ment, loans granted, inventories, receivables and liabilities, 
historical cost represents the fundamental basis for measure-
ment. In the case of available-for-sale financial assets and 
derivative financial instruments, the basis for measurement 
is the fair value as at the reporting date. Plan assets in the 
context of defined benefit pension obligations are also mea-
sured at fair value as at the reporting date. Assets and liabili-
ties from company acquisitions are measured at fair value as 
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at the acquisition date. Assets classified as held for sale are 
measured at the lower of their carrying amount and their fair 
value less costs to sell.

Principles of consolidation for subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are companies under the control of the parent 
company. Control is assumed when Lenzing AG holds more 
than 50% of the voting rights and there are no indications to 
the contrary. Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 
financial statements by way of consolidation. 

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the ac-
quisition method. For every acquisition, the Lenzing Group 
makes an individual decision as to whether the non-control-
ling interests in the acquiree shall be recognized at fair value 
or on the basis of the proportionate share in the net assets 
of the acquired subsidiary. On addition, non-controlling inter-
ests are measured either at fair value or at the correspond-
ing share of the recognized carrying amounts of net assets. 
They are reported in equity and in income as “Non-controlling 
interests”.

The capital shares attributable to the non-controlling share-
holders of certain companies are reported outside equity. 
These capital shares do not constitute equity under IFRS 
because of the limitation of the companies under company 
law. Initial measurement is at fair value, which generally cor-
responds to the fair value of the non-controlling shareholder’s 
contribution at the time of the contribution. In subsequent 
measurement, the amount recognized in liabilities on initial 
measurement is increased by the gain accrued/reduced by 
the loss incurred up to the measurement date. In the state-
ment of financial position, these third-party capital shares 
are reported in the “Puttable non-controlling interests” item 
under liabilities or in the “Other current assets” item under 
assets. The change in net assets attributable to those non-
controlling interests that is recognized in profit or loss is re-
ported in the item “Allocation of profit or loss to puttable non-
controlling interests” in the income statement. In addition, 
any amounts recognized directly in equity are included in the 
measurement of the liability/receivable. Distributions of profits 
to non-controlling shareholders reduce the liability/increase 
the receivable. 

currency translation

The reporting currency of Lenzing AG and the Lenzing Group 
is the euro. The subsidiaries prepare their annual financial 
statements in their respective functional currency. Except for 
PT. South Pacific Viscose, the functional currency is the cur-
rency of the country or region where the respective subsid-
iary is based. The functional currency for PT. South Pacific 
Viscose is the US dollar. Exchange rate gains or losses from 
transactions by consolidated companies in a currency other 
than the functional currency are recognized in profit or loss. 
Monetary items of consolidated companies that are not de-
nominated in the functional currency are converted using the 
closing rate at the reporting date.
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The following key exchange rates were used for currency translation into the reporting currency euro:

 

 

intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortization as at the reporting date if they have a limited 
useful life. The option to apply the revaluation model is not exercised. The cost of production comprises all costs attributable to 
the production process (direct costs and overheads) and pro rata borrowing costs in the case of qualifying assets. Amortiza-
tion, depreciation, impairment and reversals of impairment losses attributable to the financial year are reported under the item 
“Amortization of intangible assets and depreciation of property, plant and equipment” in the income statement. Development 
costs from internally generated intangible assets are capitalized if they fulfill the criteria of IAS 38. Otherwise, the development 
costs concerned are recognized as an expense. Research costs are generally recognized as an expense.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method on the basis of the estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives of 
the most important assets are as follows:

Goodwill, trademark rights and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are amortized only if they are impaired.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is reported at cost less accumulated depreciation as at the reporting date. The option to apply 
the revaluation model is not exercised. The cost of production comprises all costs attributable to the production process (direct 
costs and overheads) and pro rata borrowing costs in the case of qualifying assets. Amortization, depreciation, impairment and 
reversals of impairment losses attributable to the financial year are reported under the item “Amortization of intangible assets 
and depreciation of property, plant and equipment” in the income statement. 

exchange rates for key currencies 2015 2014

Unit currency 
end of  

reporting period average
end of  

reporting period average

1 EUR USD US Dollar 1.0926 1.1018 1.2160 1.3285

1 EUR GBP British Pound 0.7380 0.7205 0.7823 0.8061

1 EUR CZK Czech Koruna 27.0290 27.1917 27.7280 27.5360

1 EUR CNY Renminbi Yuan 7.0910 6.9353 7.5442 8.1857

1 EUR HKD  Hong Kong Dollar 8.4685 8.5415 9.4340 10.3025

1 EUR INR Indian Rupee 72.5350 71.1453 77.1686 81.0406

Useful lives for intangible assets

Years

Software/computer programs 3 to 4

Licenses and other intangible assets

 Purchased 4 to 20

 Internally generated 7 to 15
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Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method on 
the basis of the estimated useful lives. The estimated useful 
lives of the most important assets are as follows:

 
Assets acquired second-hand are depreciated over their re-
maining useful lives. Land is depreciated only if it is impaired. 
Major conversions are capitalized, whereas regular mainte-
nance work, repairs and minor conversions are recognized 
as expenses at the time they are incurred.

leases

If all material risks and rewards associated with ownership of 
a leased asset are transferred to the lessee, then the lease 
involved is a finance lease. All other leases are classified as 
operating leases. 

In the case of finance leases in which the Lenzing Group is 
the lessee, the leased assets are capitalized at the fair val-
ue of the asset or, if lower, the present value of the future 
minimum lease payments. Depreciation is recognized over 
the economic life of the relevant item of property, plant and 
equipment or over the term of the lease if this is shorter. The 
Lenzing Group does not currently recognize any finance leas-
es as a lessor.

In the case of operating leases, the agreed lease payments 
are recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term as 
expenses (if the Lenzing Group is the lessee) or income (if the 
Lenzing Group is the lessor) in the income statement.

impairment on intangible assets, property, 
plant and equipment, investments accounted 
for using the equity method and cash-
generating units

Cash-generating units to which goodwill is allocated and in-
tangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for im-
pairment at least once a year, or more frequently if appropri-
ate. The annual impairment tests are performed in the fourth 
quarter of each financial year. All other intangible assets, 
property, plant and equipment and investments accounted 
for using the equity method are tested for impairment if there 
is evidence to suggest that they are impaired. An asset or 
cash-generating unit is impaired if its recoverable amount is 
lower than its carrying amount. The recoverable amount is 
the higher of the value in use and the fair value less costs of 
disposal. The value in use corresponds to the present value 
of estimated future cash flows assuming a market interest 
rate that is adjusted for the specific risks of the asset. The 
cash flows are derived from current planning. 

When determining the recoverable amount, assumptions 
about future developments are made, particularly with re-
gard to the development of production and sales volumes, 
which may not actually materialize. Furthermore, estimates 
are made with regard to the conditions of a potential sale of 
these assets on the market. If the recoverable amount for an 
asset cannot be determined, the asset is included in a cash-
generating unit. Cash-generating units are the groups of as-
sets at the lowest level that generate cash flows indepen-
dently of other assets. Goodwill and trademark rights with 
indefinite useful lives are allocated to the cash-generating 
units that are expected to benefit from synergies resulting 
from the relevant company acquisition and that represent the 
lowest level of management control of cash flows within the 
Group. In the Lenzing Group, these are individual production 
sites in particular.

In the case of cash-generating units to which goodwill has 
been allocated and cash-generating units with trademark 
rights that have an indefinite useful life, the Lenzing Group 
initially calculates the recoverable amount on the basis of fair 
value less costs of disposal. The fair value less costs of dis-
posal of cash-generating units to which goodwill has been 
allocated and cash-generating units with trademark rights 
that have an indefinite useful life is derived based on bud-
gets and cash flow projections approved by the Management 
Board for the next four years on a post-tax basis. In justified 
exceptions, the cash flow projections are extended to up to 

Useful lives for property, plant and equipment

Years

Land use rights 30 to 99

Buildings 10 to 50

Fiber production lines 10 to 15

Energy production facilities 10 to 25

Other mechanical equipment 4 to 20

Vehicles 4 to 20

Office equipment and other fixtures and fittings 4 to 15

IT hardware 3 to 10
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five years. This is the case for cash-generating units where 
there are plans for increased capital investments whose cash 
flow potential will not be fully reflected in the cash flows and 
who therefore will not reach the “steady state” until after four 
years. Based on the assumptions of the past year, perpetu-
als taking account of a sustainable long-term growth rate of 
0.6% to 0.9% (2014: 0.7% to 1.1%) are anticipated after the 
detailed planning period. The estimate used for the sustain-
able long-term growth rate is half of the inflation rate for the 
next few years in the relevant country that is expected by 
an international economic research center. This value usu-
ally tends to offset general inflation. The planned/projected 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a dis-
counted cash flow method. Fair value measurement is clas-
sified in full as level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, since key 
input factors (particularly cash flows) cannot be observed 
on the market. The discount rate used is a composite rate 
(weighted average cost of capital – WACC) combining the 
average interest rate for debt capital and the anticipated re-
turn on the equity employed and calculated on an individual 
basis using the capital asset pricing model (CAPM). The risk 
premium is calculated on the basis of CAPM by multiplying 
the market risk premium by the beta factor. The market risk 
premium is the yield differential between a broadly diversified 
portfolio (“market portfolio”) and yields on risk-free securities. 
The beta factor reflects the systemic risk of a company in 
relation to the equities market as a whole. The discount rate 
reflects current market assessments and the risks specific to 
the cash-generating units concerned. For the fourth quarter 
of 2015 WACCs after taxes of between 7.5% and 8.2% (2014: 
between 7.0% and 10.4%) were used.

The WACCs were mainly determined based on externally 
available capital market data from comparable companies 
(particularly for determining the risk premium). Planning and 
projections of free cash flows (freely available cash flows) are 
based in particular on internal assumptions with regard to an-
ticipated future sales prices and volumes (revenue develop-
ment) and the costs required for this (particularly commodi-
ties and energy in addition to labor and taxes), taking into 
account the expected market environment and market posi-
tioning. In addition, anticipated investments and the changes 
in working capital (inventories plus operating receivables less 
operating liabilities) also play a role. These internal assump-
tions are based on past experience, current operating results 
and the assessment of future developments. They are sup-
plemented by external market assumptions such as sector-
specific market studies and economic outlooks.

Impairment losses – and reversals of impairment losses – are 
recognized in the income statement under the item “Amor-
tization of intangible assets and depreciation of property, 
plant and equipment”. Impairment losses on cash-generating 
units to which goodwill is allocated firstly reduce the carrying 
amount of goodwill. Any further impairment losses reduce 
the carrying amounts of the cash-generating unit’s assets. 
If the impairment ceases to apply, it is reversed (written up) 
to fair value but at most to the value derived by applying the 
amortization/depreciation schedule to the original cost. 

investments accounted for using the equity 
method

Investments accounted for using the equity method relate to 
investments in associates and joint ventures. Investments in 
associates relate to shares in companies at which the Lenz-
ing Group can exert significant influence over financial and 
operating policies. Significant influence is assumed when the 
share of capital is between 20% and 50%. Joint ventures are 
joint arrangements managed by the Lenzing Group together 
with one or more partners whereby the Lenzing Group has 
rights to the net assets of the arrangement. Investments in 
associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the  
equity method. 

Financial assets and securities

The securities essentially consist of bonds. Securities also 
include equity shares and investment funds. The fair values 
of bonds are derived from their current quoted prices and 
change in particular because of changes in market interest 
rates and the credit rating of the bond’s debtors. The fair val-
ues of shares are derived from the current quoted prices. The 
fair values of investment funds are derived from their current 
notional values. All securities are assigned to the “available-
for-sale financial assets” category. The change in unrealized 
fair value measurement, less deferred taxes, can therefore be 
seen in other comprehensive income. Non-current securities 
are not intended to be sold within one year. 

A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an avail-
able-for-sale equity instrument below its cost is objective evi-
dence of impairment. Any existing impairment is recognized 
in profit or loss. Reversals of impairment losses are recog-
nized in other comprehensive income for equity instruments 
and in profit or loss for debt instruments.
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If there is no market price on an active market and their mar-
ket price cannot be measured reliably due in particular to a 
lack of reliable future cash flows or is of minor importance, 
investments in unconsolidated affiliated companies, other  
equity investments and related derivative financial instruments 
are measured at the lower of cost and cost less impairment.

Loans are recognized at amortized cost or, if they are im-
paired, at their lower fair value.

current taxes and deferred taxes (deferred 
tax assets and liabilities)

Current taxes and deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to 
income taxes. Current taxes are the expected tax liabilities or 
tax receivables on the taxable income of group companies 
for the financial year on the basis of the applicable tax rates 
in the relevant country and all adjustments of tax liabilities for 
earlier years. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated for the re-
spective assets and liabilities on the basis of temporary differ-
ences between the values in the consolidated financial state-
ments and the values used for calculating tax. In addition, 
the tax benefit from tax loss carryforwards and unused tax 
credits must be taken into account in the context of deferred 
taxes if it is likely to be used. If it is likely that deferred tax as-
sets – particularly on loss carryforwards – will be recovered, 
the values are maintained; otherwise they are written down. 
No deferred taxes are accrued on permanent differences. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reported on a net basis 
in the Group if there is a right to offset the taxes and the taxes 
relate to taxable entities within the same tax group.

Lenzing AG and the subsidiaries included in the tax group 
agreement are members of the tax group concluded on Sep-
tember 25, 2009 between B&C Industrieholding GmbH as 
the group parent and Lenzing AG and other subsidiaries of 
Lenzing AG as group members in accordance with section 9 
of the österreichisches Körperschaftsteuergesetz (öKStG – 
Austrian Corporation Tax Act). As part of group taxation, tax-
able profits and tax losses are offset between group mem-
bers. On the basis of their joint tax assessment, deferred tax 
assets and liabilities of group members are offset. Future tax 
liabilities from offsetting losses of foreign subsidiaries are 
recognized in the consolidated financial statements without 
being discounted. The group and tax equalization agreement 
requires Lenzing AG to pay a tax allocation in the amount of 

the corporation tax attributable to the taxable profit of the 
company and the subsidiaries included in the tax group. Any 
domestic and foreign withholding taxes deductible from the 
overall group result at the group parent and minimum corpo-
ration taxes passed on reduce the tax allocation to be paid 
by Lenzing AG. If current losses/loss carryforwards caused 
by the group parent B&C Industrieholding GmbH itself can 
be offset against positive earnings of Lenzing AG’s tax group 
in the year of assessment, then the tax allocation to be paid 
by Lenzing AG is reduced. The reduction of the tax allocation 
is equivalent to 50% of the applicable corporation tax rate 
(therefore currently 12.5%) for the group parent’s own current 
losses/loss carryforwards offset against positive earnings in 
a year of assessment of B&C Industrieholding GmbH. Tax 
losses of Lenzing AG including the subsidiaries involved are 
kept on record and offset against future tax gains. An equal-
ization payment is agreed for losses that are not offset on 
termination of the contract.

The Lenzing Group includes the effects of uncertain tax po-
sitions in the calculation of current and deferred taxes. Af-
fected tax claims are recognized at the expected amount 
of reimbursement in cases in which the claim is sufficiently 
certain. The tax returns of the Lenzing Group subsidiaries are 
regularly reviewed by the tax authorities. Taking account of 
a number of factors, including interpretations, commentaries 
and legal decisions relating to the respective tax jurisdiction 
and past experience, appropriate provisions have been rec-
ognized for possible future tax obligations as far as can be 
seen. Uncertain tax positions are assessed on the basis of 
estimates and assumptions of future events. In future, new 
information can become available that causes the Group to 
change its assumptions regarding the appropriateness of the 
tax positions. Such changes will affect tax expense in the 
period in which they are discovered.

trade receivables and other assets

With the exception of derivative financial instruments, which 
are accounted for at market value, trade receivables and 
other assets are measured at amortized cost. Bad debt pro-
visions are recognized for those items likely to be deemed 
uncollectible or only partly collectible. Receivables denomi-
nated in a foreign currency are converted using the closing 
rate. All trade receivables are classified as current assets.
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construction contracts

If the result of a construction contract can be reliably esti-
mated, the revenue and costs are recognized in line with the 
stage of completion at the reporting date (percentage-of-
completion method). The percentage of completion is calcu-
lated on an input-oriented basis from the ratio of the contract 
costs incurred to date to the estimated total contract costs 
(cost-to-cost method). The progress of projects is monitored 
on an ongoing basis. Changes in contractual work, claims 
and performance bonuses are included to the extent that 
their amount can be measured reliably and it is likely that they 
will be received. If the result of a construction contract can-
not be reliably estimated, contract revenue is recognized only 
in the amount of the contract costs incurred that are likely to 
be collectible. Contract costs are recognized as an expense 
in the period in which they are incurred. If it is probable that 
total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the 
expected loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

Receivables from contract customers from construction con-
tracts are reported under “Trade receivables”. Pro rate con-
tract revenue in profit or loss is recognized as “Revenue”. If 
an excess of advance payments arises, this is reported under 
“Other liabilities”.

inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realiz-
able value at the reporting date. The cost of production com-
prises all costs attributable to the production process (direct 
costs and overheads). Net realizable value corresponds to 
the expected selling price less attributable costs to sell in-
curred prior to the sale, plus any costs of completion yet to 
be incurred. When the reasons for a write-down have ceased 
to exist, the write-down is reversed accordingly.

The cost of raw materials and supplies is calculated using the 
weighted average cost method. The change in inventories of 
finished goods and work in progress is shown in the item of 
the same name in the income statement.

cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand, amounts 
payable on demand, checks and short-term time deposits 
with banks. They are measured at their nominal amounts. 

In addition to cash and cash equivalents, the item “Liquid 
funds” as per the statement of cash flows also includes liquid 
marketable securities with a remaining term of less than three 
months that are subject to minor fluctuations in value. 

equity instruments issued

Financial instruments issued by the Lenzing Group are classi-
fied as financial liabilities or as equity depending on the eco-
nomic substance of the contractual agreement. The “Equity” 
item subsumes the equity instruments. An equity instrument 
is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets 
of an entity after deducting the liabilities. 

emission certificates

Emission certificates are capitalized at fair value as at the 
date when they are allocated. The difference between the fair 
value and the amount spent by the company to acquire the 
emission certificates is reported in the “Government grants” 
items. At each reporting date, a provision is recognized for 
the certificates used by this date. If the used certificates are 
covered by the certificates held by the company at this re-
porting date, the provision is measured at the asset value 
recognized for these certificates. If the used certificates ex-
ceed the certificates held, the provision is measured at the 
fair value of the certificates (to be purchased subsequently) 
as at the relevant reporting date. The deferred income item 
attributable to the certificates used by this date is reversed in 
profit or loss.

Government grants

Investment grants are reported as liability items and recog-
nized in profit or loss as “Income from the release of invest-
ment grants”, distributed on a straight-line basis in line with 
the useful lives of the subsidized investments. The recogni-
tion and measurement of grants relating to emission certifi-
cates are described in the section “Emission certificates”.

Government grants for reimbursements are recognized as 
other income in the period in which the relevant costs are 
incurred, except if the inflow of the grant depends on condi-
tions that are not yet sufficiently likely to occur.
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obligations from pensions and severance 
payments

Obligations from employee pensions and severance pay-
ments – “old severance payment” system and similar sys-
tems – are considered post-employment benefits under 
IFRS. A distinction is made between defined benefit plans 
and defined contribution plans.

Under defined benefit plans, the Lenzing Group’s obliga-
tion is to provide the agreed benefits. In this case, actuarial 
risk and investment risk are chiefly assumed by the Lenzing 
Group. Obligations from defined benefit plans are calculated 
using the projected unit credit method. An actuarial valua-
tion is performed at the end of each reporting period, with 
the anticipated benefits distributed over the entire period of 
employment. Future increases in salaries and pensions are 
taken into account. Remeasurements of the net liability (actu-
arial gains and losses) are recognized in full in other compre-
hensive income in the period in which they arise. Past service 
cost is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

The obligations from defined benefit plans recognized in 
the consolidated statement of financial position represent 
the present value of the defined benefit obligation. The fair 
value of existing plan assets is deducted from this. The re-
maining obligations after deducting plan assets are reported 
under provisions. Net interest expense from defined benefit 
plans (expenses from the interest accruing on the obligations 
and the return on plan assets) is recognized under person-
nel expenses. All other gains and losses, with the exception 
of remeasurements of the net liability, are also recognized 
in personnel expenses. Remeasurements of the net liabil-
ity (relating to actuarial gains and losses and the return on 
plan assets not included in net interest expense, excluding 
amounts included in interest income) are included in other 
comprehensive income.

The main obligations from defined benefit plans consist of 
obligations for pensions and severance payments at Austrian 
companies of the Lenzing Group. A discount rate derived 
from high-quality fixed-income corporate bonds with at least 
an AA rating according to the standard of an international 
actuary was used for these obligations. Bonds with signifi-
cantly higher or lower interest rates than the other bonds in 
their risk class (“statistical outliers”) were not included here. 
The currency and terms of the bonds from which the rate is 
derived are based on the currency and expected terms of the 
obligations to be settled. The estimated salary and pension 

increases that are also considered realistic for the future were 
derived from an examination of the averages over the past 
years. Rates of employee turnover were recognized for each 
company depending on the composition of the workforce 
and employees’ length of service. The retirement age used 
for the calculation is based on the respective legal provisions. 
In the other countries, country-specific assumptions are used 
in determining the discount rate, salary increases, employee 
turnover rates and the retirement age.

obligations from jubilee benefits

Obligations from jubilee benefits for employees (long-service 
bonuses) are considered other long-term employee benefits 
under IFRS. Obligations from jubilee benefits are calculated 
using the projected unit credit method, with the anticipated 
benefits distributed over the entire period of employment. 
Future salary increases are taken into account. Remeasure-
ments of the net liability (actuarial gains and losses) and past 
service cost are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

The obligations from jubilee benefits recognized in the con-
solidated statement of financial position represent the pres-
ent value of the obligation and are reported under provisions. 
Net interest expense from jubilee benefits (expenses from 
the interest accruing on the obligations) is recognized under 
personnel expenses. All other gains and losses, including re-
measurements of the net liability (relating to actuarial gains 
and losses), are also recognized in personnel expenses. 

The main obligations from jubilee benefits are at Austrian 
companies of the Lenzing Group. A discount rate derived 
from high-quality fixed-income corporate bonds with an AA 
rating according to the standard of an international actu-
ary was used for these obligations. Bonds with significantly 
higher or lower interest rates than the other bonds in their 
risk class (“statistical outliers”) were not included here. The 
currency and terms of the bonds from which the rate is de-
rived are based on the currency and expected terms of the 
obligations to be settled. The estimated salary increases that 
are also considered realistic for the future were derived from 
an examination of the averages over the past years. Rates of 
employee turnover were recognized for each company de-
pending on the composition of the workforce and employ-
ees’ length of service. In the other countries, country-specific 
assumptions are used in determining the discount rate, em-
ployee turnover rates and salary increases.
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Provisions

Provisions are recognized if there are legal or constructive 
obligations to third parties that are based on past business 
transactions or events and are likely to result in an outflow of 
cash or other assets that can be reliably determined. They 
are stated at the anticipated settlement amount with due re-
gard to all identifiable risks. The amount of a provision corre-
sponds to the best estimate of the settlement amount of the 
present obligation as at the reporting date. The measurement 
of provisions is based on historical data, current cost and 
price information and estimates/appraisals by internal and 
external experts. Restructuring provisions are recognized if 
there is a detailed formal restructuring plan and a valid ex-
pectation that the restructuring will be implemented has been 
raised in those affected.

The assumptions on which the provisions are based are re-
viewed on an ongoing basis. The actual values may deviate 
from the assumptions made if the general conditions de-
velop differently from expectations as at the reporting date. 
Changes are taken into account in profit or loss when better 
information is learned and the premises are adjusted accord-
ingly. Reversals of provisions are reported as income in the 
expense items that were originally debited when the provision 
was recognized.

The “Provisions” item also includes accruals. Compared to 
provisions in a narrower sense, accruals are generally certain 
in terms of their existence and involve only an insignificant 
level of risk with regard to the amount and timing. Accruals 
are reported separately in the development of provisions. If 
they constitute financial instruments, they are treated as fi-
nancial liabilities accounted for at amortized cost.

liabilities

With the exception of derivative financial instruments, which 
are accounted for at market value, liabilities are measured at 
amortized cost. Liabilities denominated in a foreign currency 
are converted using the closing rate.

contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations or present ob-
ligations that arise from past events for which an outflow of 
resources is not considered probable. If, in extremely rare 

cases, an existing liability cannot be recognized as a provi-
sion in the consolidated statement of financial position be-
cause a reliable estimate of the liability is not possible, this 
also constitutes a contingent liability. Contingent liabilities 
are not recognized in the consolidated statement of financial 
position, but are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements.

revenue recognition and causation of 
expenses

Revenue comprises all income resulting from the typical busi-
ness activities of the Lenzing Group. This includes income 
from product sales (particularly sales of botanic cellulose 
fibers in the Segment Fibers) and services provided (par-
ticularly from mechanical and plant engineering in Segment 
Engineering), less trade discounts granted or expected and 
other sales deductions, and not including VAT. Any other op-
erating income is recognized as other operating income. 

The Segment Fibers mainly sells botanic cellulose fibers and 
products such as sodium sulfate, black liquor and pulp. In-
come is recognized when ownership of the products has 
been transferred to the customer (thus at transfer of risks), 
the amount of the income/the associated costs can be reli-
ably determined and it is probable that the economic benefits 
from the transaction will flow to the Group.

Segment Lenzing Technik operates in the field of mechani-
cal and plant engineering and performs engineering services. 
A significant portion of its income results from construction 
contracts. Income from construction contracts is recognized 
based on the stage of completion in line with the cost-to-cost 
method (see the section “Construction contracts” above).

The change in inventories of finished goods and work in 
progress serves to neutralize expenses for goods that were 
still held in inventory as at the reporting date. Own work capi-
talized serves to neutralize expenses to be capitalized as part 
of the cost of non-current assets. Operating expenses are 
recognized at the time when the related service is utilized 
or when they are caused. Dividends are taken into account 
once the legal claim to payment has arisen. Interest and oth-
er financial expenses and income are recognized as income 
or expenses on an accrual basis using the effective interest 
method.
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earnings figures

EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation on prop-
erty, plant and equipment and amortization of intangible 
assets and before income from the release of investment 
grants or “earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, and 
amortization”) and, particularly, EBITDA before restructuring 
are important key figures for measuring performance in the  
Lenzing Group. One-off effects from restructuring are signifi-
cant income or expenses that do not regularly recur in terms 
of their type or amount, particularly in connection with busi-
ness combinations, impairment and restructuring and similar 
measures. EBITDA (after restructuring) is reported separately 
in the consolidated income statement and therefore defined 
and calculated in detail there. EBITDA before restructuring is 
used as the segment result in the context of segment report-
ing (see note 6). In addition, EBIT (earnings before interest 
and tax) is also of particular interest. EBIT (after restructuring) 
is reported separately in the consolidated income statement 
and therefore defined and calculated in detail there. 

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acqui-
sition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are 
capitalized as part of the cost. The Lenzing Group defines 
qualifying assets as construction projects or other assets 
that require at least twelve months to be ready for their in-
tended use or sale. They are capitalized in the item “Own 
work capitalized” and the associated asset account and are 
written down in the item “Amortization of intangible assets 
and depreciation of property, plant and equipment”. All other 
borrowing costs are recognized in the financial result in the 
period in which they are incurred.

earnings per share

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit/
loss for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders (net 
profit/loss for the year attributable to shareholders of Lenzing 
AG) by the average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the financial year (see note 18 for more detail).

Financial instruments

Financial instruments comprise financial assets and financial 
liabilities. Initial recognition of a financial asset is at fair value 
taking into account transaction costs incurred. Initial recogni-
tion of a financial liability is at fair value less transaction costs 
incurred. Transaction costs incurred in the acquisition of fi-
nancial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

Depending on their classification/measurement category, fi-
nancial instruments are recognized either at (amortized) cost 
or at fair value on subsequent measurement. The Lenzing 
Group uses the measurement categories “Loans and receiv-
ables”, “Available-for-sale financial assets” and “Financial li-
abilities at amortized cost”. The category “Financial instru-
ments at fair value through profit or loss” is used for trading 
derivatives only. The fair value option is not currently exer-
cised. The Lenzing Group does not have any held-to-maturity 
investments. The item measured is the relevant individual fi-
nancial instrument.

If there is evidence to suggest impairment (particularly sig-
nificant financial difficulties of the debtor, default or delay in 
making payments, an increased probability that the debtor 
will become bankrupt), non-collateralized financial assets are 
written down in profit or loss. Bad debt provisions are recog-
nized via an allowance account. Financial assets are derec-
ognized directly only if the contractual rights to payments 
from the financial assets finally no longer exist (particularly 
in the event of bankruptcy). If the reasons for the impairment 
loss cease to apply, it is reversed up to cost. 

Financial assets and liabilities are recognized in the consoli-
dated statement of financial position when the Group be-
comes a contractual party to a financial instrument. Finan-
cial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights to 
payments from the financial assets no longer exist or the fi-
nancial assets are transferred together with all material risks 
and rewards. Financial liabilities are derecognized when the 
contractual obligations are settled, canceled or have expired. 
For liabilities that are part of reverse factoring agreements, 
it is considered whether the original trade payable still has 
to be reported or whether it must be derecognized on the 
basis of the agreement and a new financial liability recog-
nized. In doing so it is considered whether the Lenzing Group 
was released from its original obligation. If the Lenzing Group 
was not released from its original obligation, it is then consid-
ered whether the Lenzing Group, under the reverse factoring 
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agreement, entered into a new obligation that must be rec-
ognized in addition to the trade payable. If this is also not the 
case, there is a present value test to determine whether the 
reverse factoring agreement has resulted in significant chang-
es to the contractual terms of the trade payable, leading to 
a derecognition of the trade payable and the recognition of 
a new financial liability. Financial instruments are recognized/
derecognized as at the settlement date for all transactions.

derivative financial instruments and hedges

The Lenzing Group uses derivative financial instruments to 
hedge against currency risks from operating business and 
to manage commodity price risks. These derivative financial 
instruments serve to compensate for the variability of cash 
flows from future transactions. Hedges are determined in 
advance on the basis of the expected revenue and planned 
consumption of commodities in the relevant foreign currency.

The Lenzing Group applies the hedge accounting regula-
tions under IAS 39 with respect to these derivative financial 
instruments. The use of hedge accounting is subject to the 
requirements that the hedge must be documented and the 
effectiveness of the hedge must be measured on a regular 
basis and must be between 80% and 125%. Effective offset-
ting between unrealized losses and gains is demonstrated 
by means of effectiveness tests. In measuring effectiveness, 
the hedged items and the hedging instruments are grouped 
together in at least quarterly maturity ranges for each hedged 
risk. The prospective hedging effect of the hedges is dem-
onstrated by comparing the main conditions. The planned 
hedged items are compared against the hedging instruments 
concluded. The retrospective hedging effect is assessed 
using the dollar-offset method, which compares periodic 
changes in the fair value of the hedged items with periodic 
changes in the fair value of the hedges in line with the com-
pensation method.

If the criteria for using hedge accounting are fulfilled, the profit 
or loss from changes in the fair value of the derivative financial 
instruments is recognized either in profit or loss or in other 
comprehensive income, depending on whether the hedge 
is a fair value hedge or a cash flow hedge. In the case of 
fair value hedges, the results of the fair value measurement 
of the hedges and of the related hedged items are offset in 
profit or loss. Unrealized gains and losses from changes in 
the fair value of cash flow hedges are initially reported in other 
comprehensive income and do not impact profit or loss until 

the underlying hedged items are recognized. In hedging fu-
ture cash flows in foreign currencies (cash flow hedges), the  
Lenzing Group typically hedges the risk until the time that 
the payment in the foreign currency is made. Reclassification 
from other comprehensive income to profit or loss takes place 
when the foreign-currency revenue is generated or when the 
foreign-currency cost of material is incurred. From the point 
in time when foreign-currency receivables and payables are 
recognized, changes in the fair value of the derivatives are 
recognized in profit or loss. From this point on, changes in 
fair value are shown alongside the foreign currency measure-
ment of the foreign-currency trade receivables/payables as at 
the reporting date. Ineffective portions of changes in the fair 
values of cash flow hedges and the measurement of deriva-
tives for which no hedge can be established (trading deriva-
tives) are recognized immediately in the income statement.

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other 
host contracts are treated as stand-alone derivatives if their 
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to 
the host contract and the entire contract is not measured at 
fair value through profit or loss. 

Derivatives are measured at fair value. Their fair value is equal 
to their market value, if available, or calculated using standard 
methods on the basis of the market data available on the 
measurement date (particularly exchange rates, commodity 
prices and interest rates). The fair value of derivatives reflects 
the estimated value that would be payable or receivable by 
the Lenzing Group if the deal were closed at the reporting 
date. Currency and commodity forwards are measured using 
the respective forward rate or price at the reporting date. The 
forward rates or prices are based on the spot rates or prices 
taking into account forward premiums and discounts. Valu-
ations by banks and other parties are used in addition to the 
Group’s own models to estimate measurement.

In measuring derivatives, the counterparty risk (credit risk/
counterparty risk/non-performance risk) that a market par-
ticipant would recognize when setting prices is also taken 
into account in the form of discounts from the fair value. 
Framework netting agreements are not taken into account 
here. The future exposure is considered to be constant and 
the creditworthiness of the counterparty and of the company 
itself are derived from historical probabilities of default. This is 
mainly done on the basis of externally available capital market 
data. On the basis of the counterparties’ consistently good 
creditworthiness according to experience, the company’s 
own good creditworthiness and the predominantly short re-
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maining terms of the derivatives, the given nominal values 
were only subject to low levels of discounts.

Contracts that are entered into and continue to be held for 
the purpose of the receipt or delivery of non-financial items 
in accordance with the expected purchase, sale or usage 
requirements (internal consumption contracts) are not ac-
counted for as derivative financial instruments, but rather as 
open transactions.

note 4

changes in entities included in consolidation and 
business combinations

In the 2014 financial year, three non-proportional capital in-
creases totaling EUR 385 thousand were carried out at Lenz-
ing Modi Fibers India Private Limited, with the result that the 
Lenzing Group’s equity interest rose from 96.31% to 96.41%. 
As a result of these transactions, non-controlling interests in-
creased by EUR 7 thousand. The difference offset against 
retained earnings amounted to EUR 7 thousand.

In April 2014, Lenzing Land Holding LLC, Dover, USA, was 
founded. The Lenzing Group’s share in this company is 
100%. The company was included in the group of consoli-
dated subsidiaries of the Lenzing Group.

In October 2014, shares in European Carbon Fiber GmbH, 
Kelheim, Germany were sold for EUR 2 thousand, with the 
result that the Lenzing Group’s equity interest in this com-
pany fell from 100% to 91.07%. As a result of this transaction, 
non-controlling interests increased by EUR 68 thousand. The 
difference offset against retained earnings amounted to EUR 
66 thousand.

In April 2015, the sale of the subsidiaries Dolan GmbH, Kel-
heim, Germany, and European Carbon Fiber GmbH, Kelheim, 
Germany, was closed. The closing led to the loss of control 
over and deconsolidation of these subsidiaries. Details of this 
can be found in note 5.

In July 2015, the sale of the subsidiary LENO Electronics 
GmbH, Schörfling, was closed. The closing led to the loss of 
control over and deconsolidation of this subsidiary. Details of 
this can be found in note 5.

In December 2015, the previously consolidated subsidiary 
Lenzing Engineering and Technical Services (Nanjing) Co., 
Ltd, Nanjing, China, was deconsolidated as its liquidation 
was economically largely complete. Details of this can be 
found in note 5.

Otherwise there were no business combinations or changes 
in the entities included in consolidation.

note 5

non-current assets and liabilities held for sale, 
disposal groups and discontinued operations

2015 financial year

dolan GmbH, Kelheim, Germany, and european carbon Fi-
ber GmbH, Kelheim, Germany, were consolidated companies 
of the Lenzing Group belonging to the Segment Other. In April 
2015, the Lenzing Group reached an agreement on the sale of 
both companies. This led to the loss of control by the Lenzing 
Group and to the deconsolidation of these companies.

The following net assets were deconsolidated as a result of the 
loss of control:

 

The consideration received for the sale of shares amounted 
to EUR 24,864 thousand in total. There was a gain on dis-
posal of EUR 5,148 thousand reported under other operating 
income.

deconsolidated net assets eUr ‘000

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 7,760

Other current assets 18,203

Cash and cash equivalents 8,646

deconsolidated assets 34,609

Trade payables 3,424

Provisions 11,114

Other current liabilities 134

deconsolidated liabilities 14,671

deconsolidated net assets 19,938
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The net cash inflow from the disposal is reported in the cash 
flow from investing activities and breaks down as follows:

 
Non-controlling interests in the amount of EUR 222 thousand 
were derecognized due to the loss of control.

In the course of the restructuring of the technical opera-
tions the Lenzing Group reached an agreement in June 2015 
on the sale of three business units of Segment lenzing 
technik (the Mechatronics business area incl. the consoli-
dated subsidiary LENO Electronics GmbH, Schörfling, the 
Automation/Robotics unit and the Sheet Metal business op-
erations). The closing took place in July and September 2015. 
This led to the loss of control by the Lenzing Group and to the 
disposal of these business units. Non-current assets in the 
amount of EUR 336 thousand, current assets (without cash 
and cash equivalents) in the amount of EUR 2,658 thousand, 
cash and cash equivalents in the amount of EUR 510 thou-
sand, provisions in the amount of EUR 1,648 thousand and 
other current liabilities in the amount of EUR 1,708 thousand 
were derecognized. The amounts quoted above are the car-
rying amounts after the recognition of impairment due to the 
measurement at fair value less costs to sell which had to be 
done in the course of the intra-year reclassification of these 
business units as disposal groups held for sale. The fair value 
less costs to sell was derived from actual purchase bids and, 
overall, is assigned to level 2 of the measurement hierarchy.

The consideration received for the sale of shares and assets 
and liabilities amounted to EUR 501 thousand in total. There 
was a total loss on deconsolidation of EUR 6,585 thousand, 
EUR 309 thousand of which is reported as other operating in-
come and EUR 6,894 thousand as other operating expenses. 
These amounts quoted above include the recognition of intra-
year impairment resulting from the measurement at fair value 
less costs to sell. In tax write-downs on investments carried 
out in this transaction, deductible sevenths in the amount of 
EUR 1,329 thousand were recognized as deferred tax assets.

The net cash inflow from these disposals in the amount of 
EUR -54 thousand is reported in the cash flow from investing 
activities in “Net inflow from the sale and disposal of subsid-
iaries and other business areas”. It consists of the consider-
ation of EUR 456 thousand received in cash less the holdings 
of cash and cash equivalents sold in the amount of EUR 510 
thousand.

Furthermore, the previously consolidated subsidiary lenzing 
engineering and technical Services (nanjing) co., ltd, 
Nanjing, China, was deconsolidated in December 2015, as 
the liquidation of this company in Segment Lenzing Technik 
was initiated and this was economically largely complete. The 
deconsolidation resulted in a loss of EUR 2 thousand that 
was reported in other operating income. There were no cash 
flows. In deconsolidation – with the exception of the offset 
intra-group assets and liabilities – assets of EUR 387 thou-
sand (thereof cash and cash equivalents: EUR 348 thousand) 
and liabilities of EUR 572 thousand were derecognized. The 
amounts quoted above are the carrying amounts after the 
recognition of impairment due to the measurement at fair 
value less costs to sell which was necessary owing to the in-
tra-year reclassification of these business units as a disposal 
group held for sale. A total impairment loss of EUR 864 thou-
sand was recognized in this context. EUR 164 thousand of 
this was recognized in cost of material and other purchased 
services, EUR 618 thousand in amortization of intangible as-
sets and depreciation of property, plant and equipment and 
EUR 82 thousand in other operating expenses. The fair value 
less costs to sell was derived from current estimates of fore-
cast liquidation values and, overall, is assigned to level 3 of 
the measurement hierarchy.

In the process for the measurement of fair values less costs 
to sell, the necessary observable market data were collected 
and the input factors not observable were tested based on 
internally available information and updated as necessary.

In the 2015 financial year, expenses in the amount of EUR 
1,691 thousand before income tax in connection with former 
discontinued operations were recognized because of the 
resolution of uncertainties or changes in estimates. The in-
come tax revenue from these amendments amounts to EUR 
423 thousand; earnings after tax therefore amount to EUR 
-1,268 thousand.

net inflow from the sale of  
subsidiaries and other  
business areas eUr ‘000

Consideration received (cash and cash equivalents) 22,433

- Holdings of cash and cash equivalents sold  (8,646)

net inflow from the sale of subsidiaries  
and other business areas 13,787
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The amounts are entirely attributable to the shareholders of 
the parent company. All amounts mentioned above did not 
affect cash flows in the 2015 financial year.

2014 financial year

In the 2014 financial year, expenses in the amount of EUR 878 
thousand before income tax in connection with former dis-
continued operations were recognized because of the disso-
lution of uncertainties or changes in estimates. This resulted 
in income tax revenue of EUR 220 thousand; earnings after 
tax therefore amount to EUR -659 thousand.

The amounts are entirely attributable to the shareholders of 
the parent company. All amounts mentioned above did not 
affect cash flows in the 2014 financial year.

note 6

Segment reporting

In the Lenzing Group the segments are classified on the ba-
sis of the differences between their products and services; 
they require different technologies and market strategies. 
Each segment is managed based on the responsibilities of 
the different members of the Management Board. The chief 
operating decision maker relevant to segment reporting is the 
Management Board of Lenzing AG as a whole. The following 
segments are presented separately in the internal reporting of 
the Lenzing Group to the Management Board:

Segment Fibers:

The Segment Fibers manufactures botanic cellulose fibers 
and markets them under the umbrella brands Lenzing Vis-
cose®, Lenzing Modal® (including Lenzing FR®) and TEN-
CEL®. A significant portion of the pulp needed for produc-
tion purposes is manufactured in the Group’s own plants or 
partially bought in. The most important raw material for the 
manufacture of pulp is wood, which is bought in. The Fibers 
segment represents the core business of the Lenzing Group.

The Segment Fibers comprises the business areas Textile 
Fibers (fibers for textiles), Nonwoven Fibers (fibers for non-
woven fabrics) and Pulp (pulp and wood), as these are com-

parable with regard to the key business characteristics of the 
cellulose fiber industry (products, production process, cus-
tomers and distribution methods). These business areas are 
part of an integrated value chain (from the raw material wood 
via the pre-product pulp to the finished product fiber) with 
comparable risks and opportunities. Moreover, the business 
area Energy is assigned to the Segment Fibers as the Seg-
ment Fibers has by far the highest energy requirements in the 
Lenzing Group because of the energy-intensive nature of the 
fiber and pulp production process.

Segment lenzing technik:

The Segment Lenzing Technik operates in the field of me-
chanical and plant engineering and offers engineering ser-
vices. It comprises the business area Lenzing Technik.

other:

Until April 2015, the residual Segment Other comprised the 
business activities of Dolan GmbH, Kelheim, Germany (man-
ufacture of specialty products from plastic polymers, particu-
larly acrylic fibers) and European Carbon Fiber GmbH, Kel-
heim, Germany (production of precursor for carbon fibers). It 
also includes the business activities of BZL-Bildungszentrum 
Lenzing GmbH, Lenzing (training and personnel develop-
ment).

The residual Segment Other does not contain any business 
segments that would exceed the quantitative thresholds for 
reportable segments.
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1) EBITDA margin = EBITDA (operating result before depreciation and amortization) in relation to total revenue (here: according to segment reporting).
2) EBIT margin = EBIT (operating result) in relation to total revenue (here: according to segment reporting).

information on business segments eUr ‘000

1-12/2015 and 31/12/2015 Fibers
lenzing 
technik other 

Segment 
total

reconcili-
ation Group 

Revenue from external customers 1,924,707 29,620 22,479 1,976,806 0 1,976,806

Inter-segment revenue 9,892 41,029 1,770 52,691 (52,691) 0

total revenue 1,934,599 70,648 24,250 2,029,497 (52,691) 1,976,806

EBITDA (segment result) 286,467 68 3,978 290,513 (398) 290,114

EBIT 153,975 (1,243) 3,840 156,572 (5,470) 151,102

Amortization of intangible assets and depreciation of property,  
plant and equipment 135,724 1,315 137 137,176 5,071 142,248

 Thereof impairment 156 0 0 156 8,532 8,688

Share of income from investments accounted  
for using the equity method 17,646 0 80 17,726 0 17,726

Other material non-cash income and expenses 52,992 (3,509) 2,243 51,727 0 51,727

Acquisition of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment (CAPEX) 70,403 399 112 70,914 0 70,914

eBitda margin1 14.8% 0.1% 16.4% 14.3% 14.7%

eBit margin2 8.0% -1.8% 15.8% 7.7% 7.6%

Segment assets 2,007,238 21,873 1,200 2,030,311 391,499 2,421,810

Segment liabilities 428,047 19,356 1,565 448,968 766,148 1,215,116

Investments accounted for using the equity method 23,702 0 1,866 25,568 0 25,568

information on business segments (previous year) eUr ‘000

1-12/2014 and 31/12/2014 Fibers
lenzing 
technik other 

Segment 
total

reconcili-
ation Group

Revenue from external customers 1,755,599 43,565 65,058 1,864,222 0 1,864,222

Inter-segment revenue 8,414 47,218 1,783 57,415 (57,415) 0

total revenue 1,764,014 90,782 66,841 1,921,638 (57,415) 1,864,222

EBITDA (segment result) 223,153 3,083 12,487 238,724 1,578 240,302

EBIT 98,499 1,248 11,542 111,289 (89,363) 21,926

Amortization of intangible assets and depreciation of property,  
plant and equipment 127,820 1,839 946 130,605 90,941 221,546

 Thereof impairment 608 0 0 608 93,956 94,564

Share of income from investments accounted for  
using the equity method (580) 0 39 (541) 0 (541)

Other material non-cash income and expenses 40,930 11,479 1,748 54,157 (1,280) 52,877

Acquisition of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment (CAPEX) 102,954 778 578 104,311 0 104,311

eBitda margin1 12.7% 3.4% 18.7% 12.4% 12.9%

eBit margin2 5.6% 1.4% 17.3% 5.8% 1.2%

Segment assets 1,966,051 39,152 27,210 2,032,413 342,638 2,375,051

Segment liabilities 462,390 35,428 11,758 509,576 819,841 1,329,417

Investments accounted for using the equity method 36,078 0 1,878 37,956 0 37,956
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Other material non-cash income and expenses relate to non-cash measurement effects from provisions and accruals.

The same principles were applied in the presentation of segment reporting as in the consolidated financial statements as at 
December 31, 2014.

The performance of the segments is measured using EBITDA before restructuring (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation on 
property, plant and equipment and amortization of intangible assets, before income from the release of investment grants and 
before restructuring). The reconciliation of segment result to operating result (EBIT) to earnings before tax (EBT) is as follows:

The reconciliation from earnings before tax (EBT) to net profit/loss for the year (profit/loss after tax; net profit/loss) can be 
viewed in the consolidated income statement. 

Restructuring breaks down as follows: 

reconciliation of segment result (eBitda) to the earnings before tax (eBt) eUr ‘000

2015 2014

Segment result (EBITDA) 290,513 238,724

Consolidation (4,079) (452)

Restructuring 3,681 2,030

Group result (eBitda) 290,114 240,302

Segment amortization of intangible assets and depreciation of property, plant and equipment (137,176) (130,605)

Consolidation 3,461 3,015

Income from the release of investment grants 3,236 3,170

Impairment of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment (8,532) (93,956)

earnings before interest and tax (eBit) 151,102 21,926

Financial result (3,535) (23,439)

Allocation of profit or loss to puttable non-controlling interests 1,531 8,818

earnings before tax (eBt) 149,098 7,305

restructuring eUr ‘000

2015 2014

restructuring measures

 Other operating income 326 0

 Cost of material and other purchased services (164) 0

 Personnel expenses 5,336 1,174

 Other operating expenses (6,890) 135

Sale of subsidiaries

 Other operating income 5,148 0

liquidation of ePG

 Other operating income 0 921

 Other operating expenses (75) (200)

total 3,681 2,030
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The line “Impairment of intangible assets and property, plant 
and equipment” shown above includes impairment on good-
will, other intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 
of EUR 8,532 thousand in 2015 (2014: EUR 93,956 thousand).

The reconciliation of segment EBIT to operating result (EBIT) 
after restructuring is as follows:

 
 

 
The reconciliation of segment amortization and depreciation 
to consolidated amortization and depreciation is as follows: 

 
 

 

 

Segment assets chiefly consist of intangible assets and prop-
erty, plant and equipment, inventories, trade receivables and 
other receivables, except for income tax assets. The recon-
ciliation of segment assets to consolidated assets (corre-
sponding to total assets, i.e. the total of non-current and cur-
rent assets or the total of equity and non-current and current 
liabilities) is as follows:

 
Segment liabilities chiefly relate to trade payables, provi-
sions and other liabilities, except for current tax liabilities. The  
reconciliation of segment liabilities to consolidated liabilities 
is as follows:

 
 
 

reconciliation of segment eBit  
to earnings before interest  
and tax (eBit) eUr ‘000

2015 2014

Segment EBIT 156,572 111,289

Result from restructuring and 
impairment (4,851) (91,926)

Consolidation (619) 2,563

earnings before interest and tax 
(eBit) 151,102 21,926

reconciliation of segment amortiza-
tion and depreciation to consolidated 
amortization and depreciation eUr ‘000

2015 2014

Segment amortization of intangible 
assets and depreciation of property, 
plant and equipment 137,176 130,605

Consolidation (3,461) (3,015)

amortization of intangible assets 
and depreciation of property, plant 
and equipment 133,716 127,590

Impairment of intangible assets and 
property, plant and equipment 8,532 93,956

consolidated amortization and 
depreciation 142,248 221,546

reconciliation of segment  
assets to consolidated assets eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Segment assets 2,030,311 2,032,413

Investments accounted for  
using the equity method 25,568 37,956

Assets not allocated to the segments

 Securities and other  
 financial assets 22,847 23,194

 Deferred tax assets and  
 current tax assets 26,839 42,184

 Cash and cash equivalents 347,254 271,791

Consolidation (31,008) (32,488)

consolidated assets 2,421,810 2,375,051

reconciliation of segment  
liabilities to consolidated liabilities eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Segment liabilities 448,968 509,576

Liabilities not allocated to the 
segments

 Financial liabilities 683,247 729,778

 Deferred tax liabilities  
 and current tax liabilities 63,504 70,017

 Government grants 25,802 26,559

Consolidation (6,406) (6,514)

consolidated liabilities 1,215,116 1,329,417
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The reconciliations of segment items to consolidated items that are not described in more detail above (revenue and invest-
ments) comprise consolidation effects only. The valuations for segment reporting are in line with the accounting policies applied 
to the IFRS consolidated financial statements. 

information about products and services

Revenue from external customers breaks down by products and services as follows:

There is no single external customer that accounts for more than 10% of external revenue. 

information about geographic regions

Revenue from external customers by sales market and total assets, non-current assets (not including financial instruments and 
tax assets; reconciled to consolidated figures for total non-current assets) and expenditures for intangible assets and property, 
plant and equipment (investments) break down by geographic areas as follows:

revenue from external customers by product and service eUr ‘000

2015 2014

Botanic cellulose fibers 1,669,979 1,504,174

Sodium sulfate and black liquor 52,795 54,002

Pulp, wood, energy and other 211,825 205,838

Segment Fibers 1,934,599 1,764,014

Mechanical and plant engineering and engineering services - Segment Lenzing Technik 70,648 90,782

Specialty products from plastic polymers 20,548 63,037

Other and consolidation (48,989) (53,611)

revenue according to consolidated income statement 1,976,806 1,864,222

information about geographic regions eUr ‘000

revenue non-current assets total assets investments

2015 2014 31/12/2015 31/12/2014 31/12/2015 31/12/2014 2015 2014

Austria 134,030 143,264 751,421 782,941 989,146 982,951 51,555 78,504

Europe (without Austria 
including Turkey) 522,332 551,208 197,646 208,996 263,405 292,545 8,844 16,911

Asia 1,115,989 961,751 341,489 347,405 704,705 691,711 6,884 7,366

America 169,320 173,525 47,855 43,399 73,054 65,205 3,632 1,530

Rest of the world 35,135 34,474 0 0 0 0 0 0

Subtotal 1,976,806 1,864,222 1,338,412 1,382,742 2,030,311 2,032,413 70,914 104,311

Reconciliation to 
consolidated figures 0 0 54,645 60,233 391,499 342,638 0 0

consolidated total 1,976,806 1,864,222 1,393,057 1,442,975 2,421,810 2,375,051 70,914 104,311
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Revenue is allocated based on the geographic region of the 
customer, while assets and investments are allocated depend-
ing on the geographic location of the asset. The figures above 
comprise all segments of the Lenzing Group. Further informa-
tion on the segments can be derived from the management 
report of the Lenzing Group as at December 31, 2015.

notes to the consolidated income Statement

note 7

revenue

Revenue breaks down as follows:

 

 

 
Further breakdowns of revenue are shown in the segment re-
port (see note 6, particularly the information about products 
and services and about geographic areas). 

note 8

other operating income

Other operating income breaks down as follows:

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
Income from energy includes income from remuneration 
for green electricity in the amount of EUR 18,726 thousand 
(2014: EUR 17,837 thousand). The gain on disposal from the 
sale of subsidiaries in 2015 results from the sale/deconsolida-
tion of Dolan GmbH, Kelheim, Germany, European Carbon 
Fiber GmbH, Kelheim, Germany, Lenzing Engineering and 
Technical Services Co., Ltd, Nanjing, China and the three 
business units in Segment Lenzing Technik (see note 5). 
Miscellaneous other income includes rental income of EUR 
3,731 thousand (2014: EUR 3,698 thousand), income from 
the disposal of assets in the amount of EUR 172 thousand 
(2014: EUR 91 thousand), insurance compensation from third 
parties for property, plant and equipment in the amount of 
EUR 253 thousand (2014: EUR 206 thousand) and exchange 
rate gains of EUR 0 thousand (2014: EUR 4,676 thousand). 

note 9

cost of material and other purchased services

The cost of material and other purchased services breaks 
down as follows:

revenue eUr ‘000

2015 2014

Revenue from the sale of botanic 
cellulose fibers 1,669,979  1,504,174 

Revenue from the sale of other 
products and services  289,689  336,389 

revenue invoiced  1,959,668  1,840,563 

Revenue from long-term construction 
contracts  17,138  23,660 

total  1,976,806  1,864,222 

other operating income eUr ‘000

2015 2014

Income from internal cost allocation, 
other products and energy 29,549 30,575

Income from the release of the 
deferred income item for emission 
certificates and from subsidies 5,189 6,490

Gain on disposal from the sale of 
subsidiaries and other business areas 5,459 0

Various other income 5,529 11,465

total 45,727 48,530

cost of material  
and other purchased services eUr ‘000

2015 2014

Material 1,059,205 1,040,050

Other purchased services 159,055 159,191

total 1,218,260 1,199,241
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The cost of material primarily relates to the input factors con-
sumed, namely pulp (and wood for internal production of 
pulp), key chemicals (sodium hydroxide, carbon disulfide and 
sulfuric acid) and merchandise. The cost of other purchased 
services mainly relates to energy consumed.

note 10

Personnel expenses

Personnel expenses break down as follows:

 
Severance payment expenses chiefly include expenses for the 
statutory obligations of Lenzing AG and its Austrian subsidiar-
ies towards their employees, as well as gratuities and sever-
ance pay in the course of restructuring (see note 33).

The number of employees in the Lenzing Group breaks down 
as follows:

 
The number of employees at Lenzing AG and the Austrian 
subsidiaries of the Lenzing Group breaks down as follows:

note 11

amortization of intangible assets and depreciation 
of property, plant and equipment

The item for amortization of intangible assets and deprecia-
tion of property, plant and equipment breaks down as follows: 
 

 
 
In the 2015 financial year, impairment contains EUR 618 thou-
sand (2014: EUR 0 thousand) from fair value measurement of 
non-current assets held for sale less costs to sell (see note 5). 
The other impairment and reversals of impairment losses are 
explained in notes 19 and 20.

note 12

other operating expenses

Other operating expenses break down as follows: 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Selling expenses include expenses for outgoing freight in the 
amount of EUR 78,459 thousand (2014: EUR 83,357 thou-

Personnel expenses eUr ‘000

2015 2014

Wages and salaries 233,160 223,120

Severance payment expenses 1,096 4,689

Retirement benefit expenses 6,089 6,026

Statutory social security expenses 55,305 54,080

Other social costs 4,558 4,085

total 300,207 292,000

number of employees

2015 2014

Average 6,242 6,516

As at December 31 6,127 6,356

average number of employees in austria

2015 2014

Hourly workers 1,778 1,790

Salaried employees 1,082 1,138

total 2,860 2,928

amortization of intangible assets  
and depreciation of property,  
plant and equipment eUr ‘000

2015 2014

Depreciation 133,560 126,982

Impairment 8,688 94,564

total 142,248 221,546

other operating expenses eUr ‘000

2015 2014

Selling expenses 97,182 100,320

Expenses for maintenance, repairs 
and other third-party services 43,637 39,325

Legal, consulting and audit expenses 21,486 12,288

Insurance expenses 8,904 9,378

Travel expenses 7,021 5,958

Waste disposal expenses 6,383 6,861

Loss on disposal from the sale of 
subsidiaries and other business 
areas 6,894 0

Other 44,377 39,148

total 235,885 213,279
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sand) and for commissions and advertising in the amount of 
EUR 18,723 thousand (2014: EUR 16,964 thousand). The loss 
on disposal from the sale of subsidiaries and other business 
areas in the 2015 financial year results from the sale of the 
three business units in Segment Lenzing Technik (see note 5). 
Miscellaneous other operating expenses include rental and 
lease expenses of EUR 10,982 thousand (2014: EUR 7,513 
thousand), exchange rate losses of EUR 276 thousand (2014: 
EUR 0 thousand), property tax and similar taxes of EUR 3,051 
thousand (2014: EUR 4,455 thousand), loss on receivables of 
EUR 1,295 thousand (2014: EUR 4,000 thousand), expenses 
for patents and trademarks of EUR 3,617 thousand (2014: 
EUR 2,736 thousand), expenses for food and drink of EUR 
2,554 thousand (2014: EUR 2,546 thousand) and expenses 
from emission certificates in the amount of EUR 1,831 thou-
sand (2014: EUR 1,590 thousand). In addition, the item com-
prises losses on the disposal of fixed assets in the amount of 
EUR 557 thousand (2014: EUR 123 thousand).

note 13

auditors’ fees

The fees expensed for services of Deloitte Audit Wirtschafts-
prüfungs GmbH, Vienna, and Deloitte Tax Wirtschaftsprü-
fungs GmbH, Vienna, break down as follows:

 
Fees for other assurance services chiefly consist of fees for 
the review of the consolidated half-year financial statements 
and the audit of the annual financial statements of Lenzing 
Group subsidiaries.

note 14

income from investments accounted  
for using the equity method

The result of EUR 17,726 thousand (2014: EUR -541 thousand) 
is due to the Group’s share in the current earnings of associ-
ates and joint ventures and to a distribution to be recognized 
in profit or loss in the amount of EUR 15,645 thousand in the 
2015 financial year. The total distribution amounted to EUR 
30,000 thousand and was cash-effective.

auditors’ fees expensed eUr ‘000

2015
lenzing

aG
austrian 

subsidiaries total

Audit of the annual 
financial statements (incl. 
consolidated financial 
statements) 234 0 234

Other assurance services 45 52 96

Other services 58 0 58

Tax advisory 595 34 629

total 932 86 1,018

auditors’ fees expensed (previous year) eUr ‘000

2014
lenzing

aG
austrian 

subsidiaries total

Audit of the annual 
financial statements (incl. 
consolidated financial 
statements) 259 0 259

Other assurance services 42 61 103

Other services 10 0 10

Tax advisory 294 39 332

total 604 99 704
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note 15

income from non-current  
and current financial assets

Income from non-current and current financial assets breaks 
down as follows:

note 16
 

Financing costs

Financing costs break down as follows:

note 17

income tax expense

Current income tax expense and income/expense from de-
ferred taxes (changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities) of 
the companies included in the consolidated financial state-
ments are reported as income tax expense.

Income tax expense breaks down as follows:
income from non-current  
and current financial assets eUr ‘000

2015 2014

income from non-current and 
current financial assets

 Interest income from bank  
 balances, loans, receivables and 
 income from available-for-sale  
 securities 1,570 1,924 

 Measurement of long-term  
 financial assets 908 0 

 Net foreign currency gains from  
 financial assets 5,034 4,077 

7,512 6,001 

expenses from non-current and 
current financial assets

 Measurement of loans (269) (10)

 Measurement of non-current  
 financial assets (1,591) (1,430)

 Loss on the disposal of available- 
 for-sale securities 0 (43)

(1,860) (1,482)

total 5,652 4,519 

Financing costs eUr ‘000

2015 2014

Net foreign currency gains/losses 
from financial liabilities  (3,606)  (1,556)

Interest expense from bonds and 
private placements  (6,832)  (5,892)

Interest expense from bank loans, 
other interest and similar expenses  (16,476)  (19,969)

total  (26,913)  (27,416)

income tax expense by source eUr ‘000

2015 2014

current income tax expense

Austria 12,155 16,276 

Abroad 8,163 4,407 

20,319 20,683 

income/expense  
from deferred taxes 4,745 783 

total 25,064 21,466 

income tax expense by cause eUr ‘000

2015 2014

current income tax expense

Current tax expense for current year 30,861 23,612 

Reduction because of use of tax 
losses (6,565) (369) 

Reduction because of use of tax 
credits (3,080) 0 

Adjustment for prior-period income tax (897) (2,560) 

20,319 20,683 

income/expense  
from deferred taxes

Recognition and reversal of 
temporary differences 6,749 (1,326) 

Effects of changes in tax rates (116) (1) 

Change in capitalized loss 
carryforwards 9,142 (496) 

Change in capitalized tax credits (14,006) 0 

Effects of previously unrecognized 
temporary differences from prior 
periods (825) (137) 

Changes in write-downs on deferred 
tax assets (not including loss 
carryforwards) 3,801 2,742 

4,745 783 

total 25,064 21,466 
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In the 2015 financial year, a tax credit (EUR 3,080 thousand) 
was claimed for the first time in the Czech Republic. A de-
ferred tax asset for the tax credit to be claimed in future years 
of EUR 14,006 thousand was recognized for the first time in 
profit or loss as its utilization is now sufficiently certain.

The reconciliation from the calculated income tax expense in 
line with the Austrian corporation tax rate of 25% (December 
31, 2014: 25%) to the effective income tax expense is as follows:

The item “Tax income from prior periods” includes a tax credit 
of EUR 1,487 thousand (2014: EUR 3,000 thousand) from the 
tax group with B&C Industrieholding GmbH (see also note 
44). The item “Impairment of goodwill” comprises the impair-
ment loss on CGU Fiber Site Indonesia in the 2014 financial 
year (see note 19).

Lenzing AG and the Austrian subsidiaries of the Lenzing 
Group are subject to an income tax rate of 25% (Decem-
ber 31, 2014: 25%). The income tax rates applied to foreign 
companies range between 16.5% and 36.08% (December 
31, 2014: between 16.5% and 36.08%).

In comparison to the previous financial year, there was a 
change in the applicable tax rate in the UK from 21% to 20% 
in 2015. As of April 1, 2020, a tax rate of 18% is applicable 
there.

note 18

earnings per share

Earnings per share are calculated as follows:

 
 
 

The share-based remuneration agreement (see note 44) con-
tains performance-tied conditions that are not deemed to be 
fulfilled as at December 31, 2015 for the calculation of diluted 
earnings per share. As a result, diluted earnings per share 
correspond to basic earnings per share.

tax reconciliation eUr ‘000

2015 2014

earnings before tax 149,098 7,305 

Calculated income tax expense (25% 
of earnings before tax) 37,275 1,826 

Tax-free income and tax allowances 
(particularly research allowance) (1,958) (1,056) 

Impairment of goodwill 0 18,116 

Non-deductible expenses, 
withholding taxes and similar 
permanent differences 4,214 1,533 

Income from investments accounted 
for using the equity method (4,431) 135 

Effect of different tax rates (1,235) (354) 

Changes of tax rates (116) (1)

Tax income from prior periods (1,722) (2,697) 

Exchange rate differences due to the 
translation of deferred tax items from 
local into functional currency 4,126 2,066 

Change in unrecognized deferred 
tax assets from loss carryforwards, 
tax credits and other temporary 
differences (9,871) 3,974 

Tax portion of puttable non-
controlling interests (383) (2,204) 

Other (834) 127 

income tax expense 25,064 21,466 

earnings per share eUr ‘000

2015 2014

Net profit/loss for the year 
attributable to shareholders of 
Lenzing AG used in the calculation of 
earnings per share 122,947 (13,478)

Weighted average  
number of shares 26,550,000  26,550,000 

eUr  eUr 

Diluted = undiluted 4.63 (0.51)
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notes on the consolidated Statement of Financial Position,  
the consolidated Statement of comprehensive income and the  
consolidated Statement of changes in equity 

note 19

intangible assets

development

Intangible assets developed as follows:

development of intangible assets eUr ‘000

2015 Goodwill

concessions, industrial 
property rights, licenses and 

similar rights
internally generated  

intangible assets total 

cost 

as at 01/01/2015 86,929 18,640 14,458 120,027

Currency translation adjustment 8,843 45 0 8,888

Changes in scope of consolidation and 
disposal of other business areas (223) (3,340) (267) (3,829)

Additions 0 505 485 990

Disposals 0 (148) 0 (148)

as at 31/12/2015 95,549 15,701 14,677 125,927

accumulated amortization

as at 01/01/2015 (73,597) (13,415) (11,083) (98,095)

Currency translation adjustment (8,312) (35) 0 (8,347)

Changes in scope of consolidation and 
disposal of other business areas 0 180 19 199

Amortization 0 (830) (563) (1,393)

Impairment 0 (13) (156) (169)

Disposals 0 113 0 113

as at 31/12/2015 (81,909) (14,000) (11,783) (107,693)

Carrying amount 01/01/2015 13,332 5,225 3,375 21,931

carrying amount 31/12/2015 13,640 1,701 2,894 18,234
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The additions to internally generated intangible assets shown above in the amount of EUR 485 thousand (2014: EUR 604 thou-
sand) relate to additions from internal development. All other additions relate to additions from separate acquisition.

research and development expenses

Research and development expenses in accordance with IFRS totaling EUR 20,074 thousand (2014: EUR 18,776 thousand) 
were incurred in the Lenzing Group in the 2015 financial year. 

impairment losses and reversals of impairment losses

On the basis of the impairment tests performed, impairment losses relating to intangible assets in the amount of EUR 169 thousand 
are recognized in the 2015 financial year (2014: EUR 73,212 thousand) under “Amortization of intangible assets and depreciation of 
property, plant and equipment” and in the development of intangible assets above. 

In the 2014 financial year, the impairment of goodwill in the amount of EUR 72,574 thousand related to an Indonesian production site 
(a fiber production plant) of the Indonesia Fiber Site CGU in the Segment Fibers. The impairment losses were required on the basis 
of reduced economic performance due to altered expectations in the fiber market and altered medium-term price expectations in 
particular. More details can be seen further down (see section “Goodwill and trademark rights with indefinite useful lives”).

Under concessions, industrial property rights, licenses and similar rights, there were impairment losses of EUR 13 thousand (2014: 
EUR 29 thousand) in the 2015 financial year. At EUR 8 thousand, the impairments relate to a Chinese production site in the Segment Fi-
bers (for more details, see note 20) and at EUR 5 thousand they relate to impairments resulting from fair value measurement less costs 

development of intangible assets (previous year) eUr ‘000

2014 Goodwill

concessions, industrial 
property rights, licenses and 

similar rights
internally generated  

intangible assets total 

cost 

as at 01/01/2014 78,255 17,898 13,854 110,007

Currency translation adjustment 8,673 51 0 8,725

Additions 0 709 604 1,313

Disposals 0 (18) 0 (18)

as at 31/12/2014 86,929 18,640 14,458 120,027

accumulated amortization

as at 01/01/2014 (208) (12,535) (9,853) (22,597)

Currency translation adjustment (814) (38) 0 (852)

Amortization 0 (818) (622) (1,440)

Impairment (72,574) (29) (608) (73,212)

Disposals 0 5 0 5

as at 31/12/2014 (73,597) (13,415) (11,083) (98,095)

Carrying amount 01/01/2014 78,047 5,362 4,001 87,411

carrying amount 31/12/2014 13,332 5,225 3,375 21,931
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to sell, which were necessary owing to the intra-year classifica-
tion of a Chinese subsidiary in the Segment Lenzing Technik (for 
more details, see note 5) as a disposal group held for sale. In the 
process for the measurement of fair values less costs to sell, the 
necessary observable market data were collected and the input 
factors not observable were tested based on internally available 
information and updated as necessary.

Trademark rights with indefinite useful lives were derecognized 
as a result of the disposal of the subsidiary dolan GmbH, Kel-
heim, Germany, in April 2015. In 2014, there was no need for the 
impairment of trademark rights with indefinite useful lives on the 
basis of the impairment tests performed.

Under internally generated intangible assets, there were impair-
ment losses of EUR 156 thousand on development costs in the 
Fibers segment in the 2015 financial year (2014: EUR 608 thou-
sand). They were required due to a lack of technical and com-
mercial usability.

There were no reversals of impairment losses in either of the 
periods presented.

Goodwill and trademark rights with indefinite 
useful lives

Goodwill and trademark rights with indefinite useful lives are 
allocated to the following segments/cash-generating units 
(CGUs) as at the reporting date:

Trademark rights with indefinite useful lives in the amount of 
EUR 3,090 thousand and goodwill in the amount of EUR 223 
thousand included in the table above in Segment Others as 
at the reporting date December 31, 2014 were derecognized 
in April 2015 due to the sale of the subsidiary Dolan GmbH, 
Kelheim, Germany. No changes in the value of these trade-
mark rights had been recognized, meaning that the carrying 
amount disposed of corresponded to cost. These trademark 
rights were classified as having indefinite useful lives because 
there was no foreseeable end to their economic use.

The recoverable amount for the largest CGUs with goodwill in 
the 2015 financial year – CGU Pulp Site Czech Republic, CGU 
Fiber Site UK and CGU Fiber Site USA – is determined on the 
basis of the fair value less costs of disposal on the basis of a 
discounted cash flow method (for detailed information see note 
3, under “Impairment”). Fair value measurement is classified in 
full as level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, since key input factors 
(particularly cash flows) cannot be observed on the market.

The recoverable amount (before consideration of net financial 
debt) of the Indonesia Fiber Site CGU that was impaired in the 
2014 financial year was EUR 313,517 thousand as at Decem-
ber 31, 2014 and was determined on the basis of the fair value 
less costs of disposal. 

The following individual assumptions from the most recent im-
pairment tests are or were also relevant to the CGUs Czech Re-
public Pulp Site, Fiber Site UK and Fiber Site USA; the amounts 
assigned to the significant assumptions represent the assess-
ment of the future development by the Management Board. 
The individual assumptions for the CGU Fiber Site Indonesia in 
the 2014 financial year are also shown in the table below:Goodwill and trademark rights  

with indefinite useful lives by  
segment/cGU eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Segment Fibers

 CGU Fiber Site Indonesia 0 0 

 CGU Pulp Site Czech Republic 9,771 9,525 

 CGU Fiber Site UK 2,415 2,278 

 CGU Fiber Site USA 1,454 1,307 

13,640 13,109 

Segment other 0 3,313 

total 13,640 16,422 

assumptions for impairment testing of the largest 
cGUs to which goodwill has been allocated

2015  
financial year

2014  
financial year

cGU Fiber Site indonesia

Average operating margin in planning 
period p.a. n/a 6.5%

Long-term growth rate of perpetuals n/a 1.0%

Discount rate (WACC) after taxes n/a 10.0%

cGU Pulp Site czech republic

Average operating margin in planning 
period p.a. 19.2% 13.8%

Long-term growth rate of perpetuals 0.8% 0.9%

Discount rate (WACC) after taxes 7.5% 7.9%
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Planning and projections of free cash flows of the Czech Re-
public Pulp Site CGU are based in particular on internal as-
sumptions with regard to anticipated future sales prices and 
volumes as well as pulp production volumes and the costs 
required for this (particularly for wood and energy), taking into 
account the expected market environment and market posi-
tioning. The detailed planning period is four years (2014 finan-
cial year: four years). Average revenue growth in the detailed 
planning period is 0.8% p.a. (2014: -1.4% p.a.).

Planning and projections of free cash flows of the CGUs Fiber 
Site UK and Fiber Site USA are based in particular on internal 
assumptions with regard to anticipated future sales prices 
and volumes as well as fiber production volumes and the 
costs required for this (particularly for pulp and energy), tak-
ing into account the expected market environment and mar-
ket positioning. The detailed planning period for both CGUs 
is four years (2014 financial year: four years). In the detailed 
planning period the average revenue growth of the CGU Fiber 
Site UK was -0.3% p.a. (2014: 6.8% p.a.) and that of the CGU 
Fiber Site USA -1.8% p.a. (2014: 3.7% p.a.).

Planning and projections of free cash flows of the Indone-
sia Fiber Site CGU in the 2014 financial year were based in 
particular on internal assumptions with regard to anticipated 
future sales prices and volumes as well as fiber production 
volumes and the costs required for this (particularly for pulp 
and energy), taking into account the expected market envi-
ronment and market positioning. The detailed planning pe-
riod in the 2014 financial year was five years. Average revenue 
growth in the detailed planning period in 2014 was 2.2% p.a.

As a result of the goodwill impairment on the CGU Fiber Site 
Indonesia in the 2014 financial year, its fair value less costs of 
disposal was equal to its carrying amount as at December 
31, 2014. The estimates made for the fair value less costs of 
disposal of the Czech Republic Pulp Site CGU exceed its car-
rying amount by EUR 103.366 thousand (2014 financial year: 
EUR 57,373 thousand). The estimates are considered ap-
propriate. However, corrections may be required in the event 
of changes in assumptions or circumstances. As part of a 
sensitivity analysis, the following table shows hypothetical 
scenarios for key assumptions and the possible changes in 
value as at the reporting date for which, if they occurred, the 
recoverable amount would be equal to the carrying amount 
of the CGU plus goodwill.

 

assumptions for impairment testing of the largest 
cGUs to which goodwill has been allocated

2015  
financial year

2014  
financial year

cGU Fiber Site UK

Average operating margin in planning 
period p.a. 19.7% 18.9%

Long-term growth rate of perpetuals 0.6% 1.0%

Discount rate (WACC) after taxes 7.9% 8.0%

cGU Fiber Site USa

Average operating margin in planning 
period p.a. 13.7% 13.3%

Long-term growth rate of perpetuals 0.9% 1.0%

Discount rate (WACC) after taxes 8.2% 7.8%

Sensitivity analysis of assumptions for impairment  
testing to which goodwill has been allocated

values 
relating 

to key 
assump-

tions

change in values  
relating to key assump-

tions for which the 
recoverable amount 

would be equal to  
the carrying amount

cGU Pulp Site  
czech republic

Operating margin 100% minus 29.8%

Long-term growth rate  
of perpetuals 0.8%

minus 6.5 percentage 
points

Discount rate (WACC)  
after taxes 7.5%

plus 4.1 percentage 
points

Sensitivity analysis of assumptions for impairment  
testing to which goodwill has been allocated  
(previous year)

values 
relating 

to key 
assump-

tions

change in values  
relating to key assump-

tions for which the 
recoverable amount 

would be equal to  
the carrying amount

cGU Pulp Site  
czech republic

Operating margin 100% minus 20.2%

Long-term growth rate  
of perpetuals 0.9%

minus 3.0 percentage 
points

Discount rate (WACC)  
after taxes 7.9%

plus 2.2 percentage 
points
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note 20

Property, plant and equipment

development

Property, plant and equipment developed as follows:

development of property, plant and equipment eUr ‘000

2015
land and  
buildings

technical equipment  
and machinery, factory and 

office equipment

Prepayments 
and assets under 

construction total

cost 

as at 01/01/2015 503,530 2,337,904 30,573 2,872,007

Currency translation adjustment 16,154 62,641 1,121 79,916

Changes in scope of consolidation and disposal 
of other business areas (92) (16,934) (314) (17,340)

Additions 2,391 48,438 24,560 75,388

Disposals (15) (10,888) (2) (10,906)

Reclassifications 2,337 16,700 (19,037) 0

as at 31/12/2015 524,305 2,437,860 36,901 2,999,065

accumulated depreciation

as at 01/01/2015 (222,300) (1,323,699) (3,518) (1,549,517)

Currency translation adjustment (4,712) (29,621) (263) (34,596)

Changes in scope of consolidation and disposal 
of other business areas 42 9,906 0 9,948

Depreciation (15,331) (116,836) 0 (132,166)

Impairment (2,188) (6,331) 0 (8,519)

Disposals 11 10,225 0 10,236

as at 31/12/2015 (244,478) (1,456,356) (3,781) (1,704,615)

Carrying amount 01/01/2015 281,230 1,014,205 27,056 1,322,490

carrying amount 31/12/2015 279,827 981,504 33,120 1,294,451
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Pledges of property, plant and equipment and 
other physical security or restrictions on title 
encumbering property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment also includes assets from fi-
nance leases (see note 42). In addition, there is physical se-
curity in the form of property, plant and equipment for loans 
borrowed by the Group. Please refer to the information in 
note 31. The carrying amount of property, plant and equip-
ment pledged to secure financial liabilities is EUR 273,107 
thousand (December 31, 2014: EUR 268,178 thousand).

capitalization of borrowing costs

In the 2015 financial year, borrowing costs for property, plant 
and equipment were capitalized in the amount of EUR 550 
thousand (2014: EUR 3,025 thousand), using a borrowing 
cost rate of 2.4% (2014: 2.8% to 3.0%).

impairment losses and reversals of 
impairment losses

On the basis of the impairment tests performed, impair-
ment losses relating to property, plant and equipment in the 
amount of EUR 8,519 thousand are recognized for the 2015 
financial year (2014: EUR 21,353 thousand) under “Amortiza-
tion of intangible assets and depreciation of property, plant 
and equipment” and in the development of property, plant 
and equipment above.

In the 2015 financial year, EUR 7,907 thousand (2014: EUR 
21,353 thousand) of the impairment of property, plant and 
equipment related to a Chinese production site (a fiber pro-
duction plant) in the Segment Fibers with EUR 2,179 thou-
sand (2014: EUR 5,625 thousand) of this impairment relating 
to land and buildings and EUR 5,728 thousand (2014: EUR 
15,728 thousand) relating to technical equipment and ma-
chinery (particularly fiber production facilities) in addition to 
operating and office equipment. The recoverability of prop-
erty, plant and equipment was assessed in light of develop-

development of property, plant and equipment (previous year) eUr ‘000

2014
land and  
buildings

technical equipment  
and machinery, factory and 

office equipment

Prepayments 
and assets under 

construction total

cost 

as at 01/01/2014 428,337 2,071,477 214,455 2,714,269

Currency translation adjustment 15,936 64,308 1,319 81,563

Additions 14,559 70,588 13,023 98,169

Disposals (92) (21,902) 0 (21,994)

Reclassifications 44,791 153,432 (198,223) 0

as at 31/12/2014 503,530 2,337,904 30,573 2,872,007

accumulated depreciation

as at 01/01/2014 (197,430) (1,189,078) (3,251) (1,389,760)

Currency translation adjustment (4,546) (29,689) (266) (34,501)

Depreciation (14,714) (110,828) 0 (125,542)

Impairment (5,625) (15,728) 0 (21,353)

Disposals 16 21,623 0 21,639

as at 31/12/2014 (222,300) (1,323,699) (3,518) (1,549,517)

Carrying amount 01/01/2014 230,906 882,399 211,204 1,324,509

carrying amount 31/12/2014 281,230 1,014,205 27,056 1,322,490
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ments on financial markets in China as at year-end/the turn 
of 2015/2016. The impairment losses are necessary because 
of the decline in economic performance.

The recoverable amount (before consideration of net financial 
debt) of the Chinese production site is EUR 96,527 thousand 
(December 31, 2014: EUR 105,839 thousand). The recover-
able amount is determined on the basis of the fair value less 
costs of disposal using a discounted cash flow method (for 
detailed information see note 3, under “Impairment”). Fair 
value measurement is classified in full as level 3 of the fair val-
ue hierarchy, since key input factors (particularly cash flows) 
cannot be observed on the market. The following individual 
assumptions are also relevant to this Chinese production site; 
the amounts assigned to the significant assumptions repre-
sent the assessment of the future development by the Man-
agement Board:

 
 
Planning and projections of free cash flows of the Chinese 
production site are based in particular on internal assump-
tions with regard to anticipated future sales prices and vol-
umes as well as fiber production volumes and the costs re-
quired for this (particularly for pulp and energy), taking into 
account the expected market environment and market posi-
tioning. The detailed planning period is four years (2014 finan-
cial year: five years). Average revenue growth in the detailed 
planning period is 1.8% p.a. (2014: 3.5% p.a.).

In the 2015 financial year, further impairments of property, 
plant and equipment relate to impairments of land and build-
ings in the amount of EUR 9 thousand and, in the amount of 
EUR 603 thousand, to impairments of technical equipment 
and machinery as well as operating and office equipment to 
fair value less costs of disposal, which were necessary owing 
to the intra-year classification of a Chinese subsidiary in the 
Segment Lenzing Technik (for more details, see note 5) as 
a disposal group held for sale. In the process for the mea-

surement of fair values less costs of dispoal, the necessary 
observable market data were collected and the input factors 
not observable were tested based on internally available in-
formation and updated as necessary.

There were no reversals of impairment losses in either of the 
periods presented.

note 21

investments accounted  
for using the equity method

Investments accounted for using the equity method relate 
to investments in associates and joint ventures, especially in 
EQUI-Fibres Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH (EFB), Kelheim, 
Germany, which is assigned to the Segment Fibers. Invest-
ments accounted for using the equity method break down 
as follows:

 

assumptions for impairment testing  
of the chinese production site

2015  
financial year

2014 
financial year

Average operating margin in planning 
period p.a. 2.5% 0.7%

Long-term growth rate of perpetuals 1.0% 1.4%

Discount rate (WACC) after taxes 7.9% 8.6%

carrying amounts of investments  
accounted for using the equity  
method eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

associates

EQUI-Fibres Beteiligungsgesellschaft 
mbH (EFB)  19,972 32,470 

Other associates  5,523 5,422 

Joint ventures  73 65 

total  25,568 37,956 
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Investments accounted for using the equity method developed as follows:

 
 

 
The above total comprehensive income figures result only from continuing operations.

As at December 31, 2015, the Lenzing Group held 45% (December 31, 2014: 45%) of the capital and the voting rights of EFB, 
which is not listed on the stock exchange. The core business of EFB is the production and sale of botanic cellulose fibers. The 
Lenzing Group’s relations with this company are described in note 44. The table below summarizes EFB’s financial information 
in accordance with IFRS (100% in each case, i.e. not adapted to the interest held by the Lenzing Group and before intra-group 
eliminations or adjustments):

development of the carrying amounts of investments  
accounted for using the equity method eUr ‘000

2015 eFB other associates Joint ventures total

as at 01/01 32,470 5,422 65 37,956

Income from investments accounted for using the equity method 17,528 191 7 17,726

Other comprehensive income - remeasurement of defined benefit 
liability and other (25) 0 0 (25)

Other comprehensive income – foreign currency translation 
differences arising during the reporting period 0 2 1 3

total comprehensive income 17,503 193 8 17,704

Distributions (30,000) (93) 0 (30,093)

as at 31/12 19,972 5,523 73 25,568

development of the carrying amounts of investments  
accounted for using the equity method (previous year) eUr ‘000

2014 eFB other associates Joint ventures total

as at 01/01 33,755 5,266 62 39,083

Income from investments accounted for using the equity method (562) 18 3 (541)

Other comprehensive income - remeasurement of defined benefit 
liability and other (723) 0 0 (723)

Other comprehensive income – foreign currency translation 
differences arising during the reporting period 0 178 0 178

total comprehensive income (1,285) 197 3 (1,086)

Distributions 0 (40) 0 (40)

as at 31/12 32,470 5,422 65 37,956
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The reconciliation of equity to the carrying amount of the in-
vestment in EFB is as follows:

note 22

Financial assets

Financial assets break down as follows:

Non-current securities are measured at their current quoted 
prices or other market prices (particularly notional values for 
investment funds) and break down as follows:

 
Government bonds mainly comprise bonds issued by the 
Federal Republic of Germany in the amount of EUR 2,879 
thousand (December 31, 2014: EUR 2,683 thousand), by the 
Republic of France in the amount of EUR 2,110 thousand 
(December 31, 2014: EUR 837 thousand) and bonds issued 
by the Republic of Austria in the amount of EUR 0 thousand 
(December 31, 2014: EUR 358 thousand). The bonds from 
other issuers relate to bank bonds and were sold in 2015 
(December 31, 2014: EUR 100 thousand). Other securities 
and book-entry securities chiefly relate to shares. Other  
equity investments as at December 31, 2015 mainly include 
the equity investment in LP Beteiligungs & Management 
GmbH, Linz, of EUR 1,050 thousand (December 31, 2014: 
EUR 1,050 thousand). Loans totaling EUR 5,011 thousand 
(December 31, 2014: EUR 7,261 thousand) relate entirely to 
loans to third parties. 

  

Summarized financial  
information of eFB eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Non-current assets 79,537 80,307

Current assets 55,834 56,433

Equity 44,122 71,893

Non-current liabilities 21,694 21,982

Current liabilities 69,555 42,865

2015 2014

Revenue 162,004 163,236

Earnings before tax (EBT) 6,306 (184)

Total comprehensive income 4,128 (968)

 Thereof net profit for the year  
 (of continued operations) 4,184 638

 Thereof other comprehensive 
 income (of continued operations) (56) (1,607)

reconciliation of equity to carrying 
amount of the investment in eFB eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Equity 44,122 71,893

Thereof:

 Group’s interest  
 (45%; previous year: 45%) 19,855 32,352

Consolidation and other effects 117 118

carrying amount 19,972 32,470

Financial assets eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Non-current securities 16,274 14,369 

Other equity investments 1,562 1,564 

Loans 5,011 7,261 

total 22,847 23,194 

non-current securities by asset class eUr ‘000

2015

Market  
value 
31/12

average  
effective 

yield in %

income for 
the finan-
cial year

Government bonds  6,869 

Bonds from other 
issuers 0

Other securities and 
book-entry securities  9,405 

total  16,274 4.37  205 

non-current securities  
by asset class (previous year) eUr ‘000

2014

Market  
value 
31/12

average  
effective 

yield in %

income for 
the finan-
cial year

Government bonds  5,944 

Bonds from other 
issuers  100 

Other securities and 
book-entry securities  8,325 

total  14,369 6.61  235 
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note 23

other non-current assets

Other non-current assets break down as follows:

 
 
 
 
 
 

note 24

inventories

Inventories break down as follows:

 
Raw materials and supplies primarily include wood for pulp 
production, pulp and chemicals for cellulose fiber production 
and various incidentals. Finished goods and work in progress 
include cellulose fibers, sodium sulfate, acetic acid, furfural 
and products of the Segment Lenzing Technik.

In the 2014 financial year, write-downs on inventories were 
recognized in profit or loss in the amount of EUR 5,036 thou-
sand (2014: EUR 9,880 thousand). The carrying amount of 
inventories carried at net realizable value is EUR 122,189 
thousand (December 31, 2014: EUR 180,112 thousand). Ex-
penses for inventories are mainly recognized in cost of mate-
rial. Inventories recognized as cost of material in the report-
ing period amount to EUR 1,059,205 thousand (2014: EUR 
1,040,050 thousand). The carrying amount of inventories 
pledged to secure financial liabilities is EUR 87,799 thousand 
(December 31, 2014: EUR 93,509 thousand). EUR 24,506 
thousand (2014: EUR 19,073 thousand) of inventories is ex-
pected to be held for longer than one year.

note 25

trade receivables

Trade receivables break down as follows:

 

 
The carrying amount of receivables pledged to secure finan-
cial liabilities or assigned as collateral is EUR 0 thousand (De-
cember 31, 2014: EUR 0 thousand). Further information on 
trade receivables can be found in notes 39 and 41 (under 
“Factoring” and “Credit risk”).

other non-current assets eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

other non-current financial 
assets

Derivatives not yet settled  
(open positions) 838 71

Non-current receivables 3,134 7,112

3,972 7,183

other non-current assets  
(non-financial)

Receivables from other taxes 1,237 1,457

Prepaid expenses 159 363

1,397 1,820

total 5,369 9,003

inventories eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Raw materials and supplies 226,103 224,756

Work in progress 2,323 3,756

Finished goods and merchandise 104,974 109,101

Prepayments 5,064 6,478

total 338,464 344,092

trade receivables eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Trade receivables (gross) 269,794 243,270

Bad debt provisions (10,856) (10,501)

total 258,939 232,769
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note 26

construction contracts

Revenue of EUR 17,138 thousand (2014: EUR 23,660 thou-
sand) was generated from construction contracts in the 2015 
financial year.

note 27

other current assets

Other current assets break down as follows:

note 28

current securities

There were no current securities at the end of either reporting 
period presented in these financial statements. 

construction contracts eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Contract costs incurred by the reporting date 7,047 3,189

Profits accrued by the reporting date 210 287

Losses incurred by the reporting date (2,212) (164)

Balance from contract manufacturing (gross) 5,044 3,313

Less advances received (total) (4,614) (3,217)

Balance from contract manufacturing (net) 430 96

Thereof gross amount due from customers for 
contract work (trade receivables) 960 2,032

Thereof gross amount due to customers for 
contract work (other current liabilities) (530) (1,936)

Retentions included therein 0 0

Provisions for expected losses from 
construction contracts 0 13

other current assets eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

other current financial assets

Derivatives not yet settled  
(open positions) 1,718 453

Creditors with debit balances 2,461 1,845

Offset maintenance 3,700 4,390

Other 14,572 14,690

carrying amount as at 31/12 22,451 21,377

other current assets  
(non-financial)

Receivables from other taxes 
(particularly receivables from tax 
authorities – VAT) 49,769 37,444

Prepayments 1,774 1,869

Emission certificates 6,441 5,280

Prepaid expenses 3,386 3,544

Other 26 126

carrying amount as at 31/12 61,395 48,262

total 83,846 69,640
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note 29

equity

consolidated Statement of changes in equity

The amount of and changes in group equity are presented in 
the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Share capital and capital reserves

The share capital of Lenzing AG amounts to EUR 
27,574,071.43 as at December 31, 2015 (December 31, 2014: 
EUR 27,574,071.43) and is divided into 26,550,000 no-par-
value shares (December 31, 2014: 26,550,000). The propor-
tion of the share capital attributable to one share amounts to 
roughly EUR 1.04. Each ordinary share represents an equal 
interest in the capital and conveys the same rights and ob-
ligations, particularly the right to a resolved dividend and 
the right to vote at the Shareholders’ Meeting. The issuing 
amount of the shares is fully paid up. No other classes of 
shares have been issued.

By resolution of the Shareholders’ Meeting on December 
10, 2010, the Management Board was authorized, subject 
to the approval of the Supervisory Board, to raise the share 
capital by a maximum of EUR 13,358,625.00 (equivalent to 
12,862,500 shares or 50% of the share capital as at Decem-
ber 31, 2010) within five years – possibly in tranches – against 
cash and contributions in kind (“authorized capital”).

Effective June 17, 2011 (the first trading day of the new shares), 
Lenzing AG implemented a capital increase as authorized in 
the extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting on December 10, 
2010. A total of 825,000 new shares were issued. The share 
capital was fully paid up. 

In addition, the Management Board was authorized by reso-
lution of the Shareholders’ Meeting on December 10, 2010, 
subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, to issue 
convertible bonds granting a subscription right or specifying 
a conversion obligation for up to 12,862,500 ordinary shares 
(equivalent to 50% of the share capital as at December 31, 
2010) by no later than December 9, 2015 (“contingent capi-
tal”).

After the implementation of the capital increase in the 2011 
financial year, the number of new shares to be issued and 
convertible bonds decreased to 12,037,500.

By resolution of the Shareholders’ Meeting on April 28, 2014, 
the Management Board was authorized to purchase via the 
stock exchange, with the consent by the Supervisory Board, 
treasury shares of up to 10% of the company’s share capi-
tal during a period of 30 months from April 28, 2014, with 
the lowest equivalent of not more than 20% below and the 
highest equivalent of not more than 10% above the average 
closing price of the last three stock exchange days prior to 
the purchase of the shares. The purchase must not be for the 
purpose of trading in treasury shares. The authorization can 
be exercised in whole or in part or in several partial amounts 
and in pursuit of one or several purposes by the company, 
by a subsidiary (section 228(3) of the Austrian Commercial 
Code) or by third parties for the company’s account. In addi-
tion, the Management Board was also authorized to reduce 
the share capital, if necessary, by redeeming such treasury 
shares without any further resolution by the Shareholders’ 
Meeting. The Supervisory Board was authorized to adopt any 
amendments to the articles of association resulting from the 
redemption of shares.

By resolution of the Shareholders’ Meeting on April 22, 2015, 
the Management Board was authorized, subject to the ap-
proval of the Supervisory Board, to raise the share capital 
within five years – if need be in several tranches – against cash 
and/or contributions in kind by up to EUR 13,778,412 by way 
of issuing up to 13,274,000 no-par share certificates (“autho-
rized capital”). This authorization has not yet been entered into 
the commercial register and is therefore not yet valid. 

In addition, the Management Board, by resolution of the Share-
holders’ Meeting on April 22, 2015, was also authorized to is-
sue by April 22, 2020 convertible bonds – if need be in several 
tranches – which provide or allow for subscription or conver-
sion rights to up to 13,274,000 shares (“contingent capital”). 
The issue may be realized by means of the contingent capital 
to be approved and/or by means of owned shares.

The Management Board did not exercise the authorizations 
in place on or until December 31, 2015 to increase the share 
capital, issue convertible bonds and repurchase treasury 
shares in the reporting period.

The capital reserves constitute restricted reserves of Lenzing 
AG that may only be used to offset an accumulated loss of 
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Lenzing AG. They were recognized based on the inflow of funds that Lenzing AG received from the shareholders above and 
beyond the share capital.

other reserves

Other reserves include all accumulated other comprehensive income and consist of the foreign currency translation reserve, the 
reserve for available-for-sale financial assets, the hedging reserve and actuarial gains/losses. The foreign currency translation 
reserve comprises all exchange rate differences resulting from the translation of annual financial statements of consolidated 
subsidiaries prepared in foreign currencies into the group currency (euro). This item also includes exchange differences on 
receivables that represent a part of the net investment in a foreign operation. The reserve for available-for-sale financial assets 
consists of measurements recognized directly in equity of the assets concerned, less deferred taxes. The hedging reserve 
comprises the effective portion of cash flow hedges until the hedged items are recognized in profit or loss, less deferred taxes. 
Actuarial gains/losses comprise the effects recognized directly in equity from remeasurement of pensions and similar obliga-
tions, less deferred taxes.

The amounts attributable to components of other comprehensive income for the financial year break down as follows:

other comprehensive income eUr ‘000

2015 2014

Before tax tax effect after tax Before tax tax effect after tax

Consolidated subsidiaries 41,381 (225) 41,157 48,440 87 48,527

Investments accounted for using the equity 
method 3 0 3 178 0 178

Foreign currency translation reserve 41,384 (225) 41,159 48,618 87 48,705

available-for-sale financial assets 163 (41) 123 790 (198) 593

Consolidated subsidiaries 23,801 (5,443) 18,358 (27,449) 6,168 (21,281)

Investements accounted for using the equity 
method 5 0 5 (5) 0 (5)

Hedging reserve 23,806 (5,443) 18,363 (27,454) 6,168 (21,286)

Consolidated subsidiaries 5,234 (1,360) 3,874 (13,896) 3,496 (10,400)

Investements accounted for using the equity 
method (30) 0 (30) (718) 0 (718)

actuarial gains/losses 5,204 (1,360) 3,844 (14,614) 3,496 (11,118)

total 70,557 (7,068) 63,489 7,341 9,553 16,893
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The reserve for hedging cash flows (hedging reserve) devel-
oped as follows:

 
 
The above amounts from the reclassification to profit or loss of 
cash flow hedges from gas swaps are reported under cost of 
material. The above amounts from the reclassification to profit 
or loss of cash flow hedges from forward foreign exchange 
contracts are mainly reported under revenue in earnings before 
interest and tax (EBIT). The above amounts from the reclassi-
fication to profit or loss of cash flow hedges from other deriva-
tives are reported in the financial result. 

retained earnings

Retained earnings break down as follows:

The unappropriated revenue reserves of Lenzing AG can 
be released at any time and distributed to the shareholders 
as part of the accumulated profits. Under Austrian law, divi-
dends can only be distributed from the accumulated profits 
according to the approved annual financial statements of the 
parent company in accordance with the Austrian Commercial 
Code.

The following dividends were resolved and paid out to the 
shareholders of Lenzing AG:

 

The Management Board makes the following proposal for the 
appropriation of the net retained profits for 2015 in the annual 
financial statements of Lenzing AG in accordance with the 
Austrian Commercial Code:

 
 

changes in the hedging reserve eUr ‘000

2015 2014

Gains/losses recognized in the report-
ing period from the valuation of cash flow 
hedges

From gas swaps (1,184) (3,548)

From forward foreign exchange contracts (37,773) (31,537)

From other derivatives 1 (23)

(38,956) (35,107)

reclassification to profit or loss  
of amounts relating to cash flow hedges

From gas swaps 1,876 2,558

From forward foreign exchange contracts 60,696 4,892

From other derivatives 190 203

62,762 7,653

total 23,806 (27,454)

retained earnings eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Unappropriated revenue reserves of Lenzing AG 393,769 380,441

Share-based payments 433 0

Accumulated profits of Lenzing AG under 
Austrian law (Austrian Commercial Code - 
öUGB) 53,100 26,550

Retained earnings of the subsidiaries including 
the effect of adjusting the financial statements 
of Lenzing AG and its subsidiaries from local 
regulations to IFRS 539,497 483,385

total (not including other reserves) 986,799 890,376

dividends of  
lenzing aG  
resolved and paid total  

number of 
shares 

dividend               
per share     

eUr ’000 eUr

Dividend for the financial 
year 2014 resolved at the 
Ordinary Shareholders’ 
Meeting on April 22, 2015 
(payment as of April 29, 
2015) 26,550 26,550,000 1.00

Dividend for the financial 
year 2013 resolved at the 
Ordinary Shareholders’ 
Meeting on April 28, 2014 
(payment as of April 30, 
2014) 46,463 26,550,000 1.75

Proposal on the appropriation of the 
accumulated profits for 2015 eUr ‘000

Lenzing AG closed financial year 2015 with a profit 
under Austrian law (öUGB) of 66,428

Allocation to (unappropriated) revenue reserves of (13,328)

and adding the profit carried forward from 2014 of 0

results in accumulated profits of 53,100

The Management Board proposes the following 
appropriation of the accumulated profits:

Distribution of a dividend in line with an amount of EUR 
2,00 per share for the share capital entitled to dividend 
payments of EUR 27,574,071.43 or 26,550,000 shares 53,100

amount carried forward to new account 0
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The dividend from the above proposal is subject to approv-
al by the shareholders at the Shareholders’ Meeting and is 
therefore recognized in equity as at the reporting date. From 
January 1, 2016, the dividends are subject to a capital gains 
tax deduction of 27.5% in Austria (see the table above for 
the amounts). Until December 31, 2015 the capital gains tax 
deduction had amounted to 25% of gross dividends. In the 
case of individuals with unlimited tax liability, the income tax 
in Austria is thereby settled (final taxation). For corporations 
with unlimited tax liability, the profit shares distributed by 
Lenzing AG constitute tax-free investment income. Corpora-
tions with unlimited tax liability that hold at least 10% of the 
share capital are exempt from capital gains tax in Austria. 
For corporations with unlimited tax liability that hold less than 
10% of the share capital, the capital gains tax retained can be 
offset in the corporation tax returns. If foreign EU companies 
with unlimited tax liability have held at least 10% of the share 
capital for at least one year without interruption, the capital 
gains tax deduction can be waived if additional requirements 
are satisfied. Non-distributed profits are not taxed for share-
holders in Austria. In the case of entities with limited tax li-
ability, the relevant double taxation agreements must also be 
taken into account.

non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests comprise the shareholdings of third 
parties in consolidated group companies (non-controlling 
interests or shareholders). Companies with non-controlling 
interests are shown in note 47 under “Consolidated com-
panies” and there comprise those companies in which the 
Lenzing Group holds a share less than 100% and that are not 
reported under puttable non-controlling interests (the latter 
relates to Lenzing (Nanjing) Fibers Co., Ltd., Nanjing, China, 
which is assigned to the Segment Fibers).

As at December 31, 2015, non-controlling interests in equity 
amounted to EUR 26,787 thousand (December 31, 2014: 
EUR 23,291 thousand), in particular in PT. South Pacific Vis-
cose (SPV), Purwakarta, Indonesia, which is assigned to the 
Segment Fibers. As at December 31, 2015, the non-control-
ling shareholders held 11.92% (December 31, 2014: 11.92%) 
of the capital and voting rights of SPV, which is not listed on 
the stock exchange. The core business of SPV is the produc-
tion and sale of botanic cellulose fibers.

The table below summarizes SPV’s financial information in 
accordance with IFRS (100% in each case, i.e. not adapted to 

the interest held by the Lenzing Group and before intra-group 
eliminations or adjustments):

 

Summarized financial information of SPv eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Non-current assets 274,066 266,892

Current assets 160,462 166,412

Equity 224,723 195,395

 Thereof equity attributable to  
 shareholders of Lenzing AG 197,936 172,104

 Thereof equity attributable to non- 
 controlling interests 26,787 23,291

Non-current liabilities 95,481 106,207

Current liabilities 114,324 131,702

2015 2014

Revenue 463,964 416,692

Earnings before tax (EBT) 16,617 (6,660)

Total comprehensive income 29,328 15,818

 Thereof net profit for the year  
 (of continued operations) 7,669 (7,607)

  Net profit for the year attributable to  
  shareholders of Lenzing AG 6,754 (6,700)

  Net profit for the year attributable  
  to non-controlling interests 914 (907)

 Thereof other comprehensive income  
 (of continued operations) 21,659 23,425

  Other comprehensive income  
  attributable to shareholders of  
  Lenzing AG 19,077 20,633

  Other comprehensive income  
  attributable to non-controlling  
  interests 2,582 2,792

Cash flow from operating activities 28,638 41,859

Cash flow from investing activities (3,325) (4,649)

Cash flow from financing activities (34,649) (36,535)

Change in cash and cash equivalents (9,337) 676

Dividends paid to non-controlling 
interests 0 0
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Changes in non-controlling interests in subsidiaries already 
controlled due to changes in ownership interests because of 
the Lenzing Group acquiring or selling shares without losing 
control are reported in the consolidated statement of chang-
es in equity and had the following effects on non-controlling 
interests:

 
 
 
Due to the sale and the associated loss of control over the 
previously fully consolidated subsidiary European Carbon Fi-
ber GmbH, Kelheim, Germany, in April 2015, non-controlling 
interests in the amount of EUR 222 thousand were derecog-
nized.

In total, the following shares of other comprehensive income 
are attributable to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries of 
Lenzing AG:

note 30

Government grants

The amount accrued in this item primarily results from grants 
provided for promoting investments in economically underde-
veloped regions and investments in environmental protection 
and from grants provided for promoting investments in general.

In the reporting period, government grants amounting to EUR 
4,177 thousand (2014: EUR 5,599 thousand), mainly resulting 
from the promotion of research activities, were recognized in 
profit or loss. Any conditions attached to these grants were 
fulfilled, meaning that it is considered unlikely that they will have 
to be repaid, even just in part.

Government grants also include emission certificates as at 
December 31, 2015 in the amount of EUR 5,030 thousand 
(December 31, 2014: EUR 3,749 thousand). Based on Direc-
tive 2003/87/EC of the European Parliament and the European 
Council on a system for trading greenhouse gas emission cer-
tificates, a total of 419,540 emission certificates were allocated 
free of charge to the relevant companies in the Lenzing Group 
for 2015 through national allocation plans (2014: 812,851 emis-
sion certificates). Emission certificates developed as follows:

 
As at December 31, 2015, a provision of EUR 376 thousand 
(December 31, 2014: EUR 168 thousand) was set aside to 
cover the shortfall of emission certificates.

effects of the acquisition and 
disposal of further shares in 
subsidiaries already controlled eUr ‘000

2015 2014

European Carbon Fiber GmbH  
(2015: n.a., 2014: - 8.93%) 0 68

Lenzing Modi Fibers India Private Limited 
(2015: n.a., 2014: + 0.1%) 0 7

decrease (+)/increase (-)  
of non-controlling interests in equity 0 75

other comprehensive income  
attributable to non-controlling interests eUr ‘000

2015 2014

items that will not be reclassified subse-
quently to profit or loss

Remeasurement of defined benefit liability (55) (72)

Income tax relating to these components of 
other comprehensive income 14 18

items that may be reclassified to profit 
or loss

Foreign operations - foreign currency 
translation differences arising during the 
reporting period 2,638 2,863

Net fair value gains/losses on remeasurement 
of available-for-sale financial assets recognized 
in the reporting period 0 5

Income tax relating to these components of 
other comprehensive income 0 (1)

other comprehensive income - net of tax 2,596 2,813

development of emission certificates number

2015 2014

as at 01/01  847,423  313,948 

Allocation for the year  419,540  812,851 

Returned for actual emissions in the 
previous year  (301,317)  (266,261)

Net purchases and sales during the 
year  (20,070)  (13,115)

as at 31/12  945,576  847,423 
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note 31

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities break down as follows as at December 31:

Financial liabilities eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 currency
nominal 

value
carrying 
amount

average 
effective 
interest 

in %

Bond

Fixed interest EUR 120,000 119,817 3.9

119,817

Private placements

Fixed interest EUR 214,000 213,511 2.5

Floating-rate interest EUR 75,500 75,310 1.5

288,821

liabilities to banks

loans:

Fixed interest EUR 2,570 2,570 2.2

Floating-rate interest EUR 103,364 103,131 1.6

Floating-rate interest USD 73,333 66,451 2.5

Floating-rate interest CNY 0 0 n/a

operating loans1:

Floating-rate interest USD 21,034 19,262 3.0

Floating-rate interest CNY 340,000 47,948 5.0

Floating-rate interest EUR 0 0 n/a

239,361

lease liabilities

Fixed interest EUR 4,299 4,299 4.0

Floating-rate interest EUR 1,996 1,996 1.5

6,295

liabilities to other lenders (miscellaneous)

Fixed interest EUR 6,606 6,606 1.2

Fixed and floating-
rate interest EUR 19,837 19,837 0.9

Floating-rate interest USD 2,741 2,509 3.7

28,952

total 683,247

Thereof current 172,337

Thereof non-current 510,910

Financial liabilities (previous year) eUr ‘000

31/12/2014 currency
nominal 

value
carrying 
amount

average 
effective 
interest 

in %

Bond

Fixed interest EUR 120,000 119,713 3.9

119,713

Private placements

Fixed interest EUR 139,500 139,128 3.0

Floating-rate interest EUR 89,500 89,341 1.9

228,468

liabilities to banks

loans:

Fixed interest EUR 44,668 44,668 3.2

Floating-rate interest EUR 122,474 122,147 1.8

Floating-rate interest USD 113,333 92,150 2.4

Floating-rate interest CNY 50,480 6,691 6.3

operating loans1:

Floating-rate interest USD 26,577 21,612 3.4

Floating-rate interest CNY 400,000 53,021 6.1

Floating-rate interest EUR 6,500 6,500 0.9

346,790

lease liabilities

Fixed interest EUR 1,938 1,938 4.0

Floating-rate interest EUR 2,544 2,544 2.3

4,482

liabilities to other lenders (miscellaneous)

Fixed interest EUR 6,149 6,149 1.3

Fixed and floating-
rate interest EUR 21,983 21,983 1.2

Floating-rate interest USD 2,668 2,194 3.6

30,326

total 729,778

Thereof current 192,745

Thereof non-current 537,033

1) Revolving credit agreements and overdrafts.
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In the 2010 financial year, the Lenzing Group issued a seven-
year bond with a fixed interest rate of 3.875% and a nominal 
value of EUR 120,000 thousand. It matures on September 
27, 2017.

In the 2012 financial year, the Lenzing Group issued a private 
placement. The issue volume amounts to EUR 200,000 thou-
sand. Terms of four and seven years with fixed and floating-
rate interest respectively and a term of ten years with fixed 
interest only were agreed. The average term is around six 
years. In the 2013 financial year, the Lenzing Group issued 
another private placement. The issue volume amounts to 
EUR 29,000 thousand. A term of five years with fixed interest 
was agreed.

In the 2015 financial year the Lenzing Group agreed the re-
financing of its private placements and a corresponding vol-
ume increase. Existing private placements in the amount of 
EUR 89,500 thousand were terminated and re-issued at ex-
tended terms. Furthermore, additional private placements in 
the amount of EUR 60,500 thousand were issued. In total, 
EUR 150,000 thousand private placements with an average 
term of seven years were therefore issued.

The average effective interest rates of all private placements 
are shown in the table above. The next interest rate adjust-
ment for the floating-rate loans and partially fixed-rate loans 
will take place within the next six months, depending on the 
loan agreement. The conditions for loans that can be utilized 
multiple times (revolving loans) are fixed for a certain period 
and bear floating-rate interest.

Others loans primarily relate to obligations to the Forschungs-
förderungsfonds der gewerblichen Wirtschaft (Austrian fund 
for the promotion of research in industry) and the ERP fund 
and loans from non-controlling shareholders.

EUR 68,093 thousand (December 31, 2014: EUR 105,452 
thousand) of the reported financial liabilities is collateralized 
with land charges and other security and EUR 8,016 thou-
sand (December 31, 2014: EUR 7,578 thousand) is collater-
alized with receivables. Shares in Biocel Paskov a.s. were 
pledged to finance the purchase price for the interest in this 
company and to finance investments.

note 32

deferred taxes (deferred tax assets and liabilities)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the following items 
of the statement of financial position:

 
 
 
 
Please refer to note 17 for information on tax credits.

deferred tax assets eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Intangible assets 13 19

Property, plant and equipment 11,984 10,749

Financial assets 7,882 7,692

Other assets 6,112 6,455

Provisions 16,415 17,784

Investment grants 171 176

Other liabilities 4,949 9,934

Tax loss carryforwards 12,352 18,605

Tax credits 13,921 0

Gross deferred tax assets -  
before valuation adjustment 73,800 71,413

Valuation adjustment on deferred  
tax assets (16,124) (10,025)

Thereof relating to tax loss carryforwards (8,911) (6,835)

Gross deferred tax assets 57,676 61,388

Offsettable against deferred  
tax liabilities (40,423) (39,855)

net deferred tax assets 17,253 21,534

deferred tax liabilities eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Intangible assets 314 1,400

Property, plant and equipment 76,494 68,830

Financial assets 1,894 842

Other assets 6,069 4,609

Special depreciation/amortization  
for tax purposes 5,883 6,004

Provisions 21 216

Investment grants 433 321

Other liabilities 2,250 2,463

Gross deferred tax liabilities 93,357 84,685

Offsettable against deferred tax assets (40,423) (39,855)

net deferred tax liabilities 52,934 44,830
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EUR 17,913 thousand (December 31, 2014: EUR 21,742 thousand) of the gross deferred tax assets is due within one year. EUR 
5,864 thousand (December 31, 2014: EUR 4,390 thousand) of the gross deferred tax liabilities is due within one year. The re-
maining amounts are due in more than one year.

 Deferred taxes developed as follows:

 
As at December 31, 2015, there were tax loss carryforwards of EUR 53,577 thousand in the Group (December 31, 2014: EUR 
80,199 thousand). The existing tax loss carryforwards can be utilized as follows:

 

development of deferred taxes eUr ‘000

as at 
01/01/2014

recog-
nized 

in profit 
or loss

recog-
nized 

in other 
com-
pre-

hensive 
income

cur-
rency 
trans-
lation 

adjust-
ment

as at 
31/12/2014 

= 
01/01/2015

recog-
nized 

in profit 
or loss

recog-
nized 

in other 
com-
pre-

hensive 
income

changes 
in scope of 
consolida-

tion and 
disposal of 
other busi-
ness areas

cur-
rency 
trans-
lation 

adjust-
ment

as at 
31/12/2015

Intangible assets (1,537) 155 0 1 (1,382) (24) 0 1,104 1 (301)

Property, plant and 
equipment (55,417) 213 0 (2,877) (58,081) (3,496) 0 314 (3,247) (64,510)

Financial assets 9,599 (2,552) (198) 0 6,850 (820) (41) 0 0 5,988

Other assets 1,176 (491) 960 201 1,846 (1,667) (440) 98 206 43

Special depreciation/
amortization for tax 
purposes (6,087) 83 0 0 (6,004) 120 0 0 0 (5,883)

Provisions 13,724 (63) 3,496 411 17,568 233 (1,359) (416) 368 16,395

Investment grants (81) (86) 0 22 (145) (135) 0 0 20 (261)

Other liabilities (2,379) 4,514 5,208 127 7,471 (18) (5,003) (21) 271 2,700

Tax loss 
carryforwards 15,730 1,571 0 1,304 18,605 (6,478) 0 (980) 1,206 12,352

Tax credits 0 0 0 0 0 14,006 0 0 (85) 13,921

Valuation adjustment (5,254) (4,127) 0 (644) (10,025) (6,465) 0 910 (544) (16,124)

total (30,526) (783) 9,466 (1,454) (23,297) (4,745) (6,844) 1,009 (1,804) (35,681)

loss carryforwards (measurement basis) eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

total 53,577 80,199 

 Thereof capitalized loss carryforwards 13,780 49,895 

 Thereof non-capitalized loss carryforwards 39,797 30,304 

Possible expiration of non-capitalized loss carryforwards

Within 1 year 36 36 

Within 2 years 7,277 35 

Within 3 years 6,414 9,525 

Within 4 years 11,684 4,805 

Within 5 years 0 2,336 

Can be carried forward without restriction 14,387 13,567 
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The recoverability of deferred tax assets is assessed – after 
deducting the negative temporary differences – on the basis 
of the future positive tax results according to the planning 
approved by the Management Board. This planning is also 
used in the impairment tests (see in particular note 3 under 
“Impairment” for details). The assessment of unused tax loss 
carryforwards and tax credits also takes utilization require-
ments into account.

As at December 31, 2015, net deferred tax assets totaling 
EUR 17,253 thousand (December 31, 2014: EUR 21,534 
thousand) were capitalized, thereof mostly at group entities 
that generated losses in the past year or in the previous year 
at EUR 14,194 thousand (December 31, 2014: EUR 21,512 
thousand). In turn, these related mainly to a Chinese produc-
tion site at EUR 11,176 thousand (December 31, 2014: EUR 
15,877 thousand) and a Chinese sales location at EUR 3,018 
thousand (December 31, 2014: EUR 5,154 thousand). At the 
Chinese production site, there are net deferred tax assets 
totaling EUR 24,683 thousand (December 31, 2014: EUR 
23,162 thousand) that have only partially been capitalized. In 
the past, there was a disadvantageous local cost structure 
and pricing policy that caused losses. The planning assumes 
an improvement in the market environment and market po-
sitioning (in particular an improvement of the cost structures 
and of the sales prices; see note 20 for further details of the 
planning assumptions). In the carryforward period of five 
years (December 31, 2014: five years), the expected positive 
tax results lead to a utilization of loss carryforwards to the 
extent of the capitalized amounts. The excess deferred tax 
assets are written down. The tax loss carryforwards of the 
Chinese sales location could be entirely utilized in 2015. The 
deferred tax assets existing as at the reporting date relate to 
other temporary differences.

There are restrictions with regard to the utilization of the 
non-capitalized loss carryforwards. If it had been possible 
to utilize all tax loss carryforwards in full, the deferred tax as-
sets from loss carryforwards would have amounted to EUR 
12,352 thousand (December 31, 2014: EUR 18,605 thou-
sand) instead of EUR 3,441 thousand (December 31, 2014: 
EUR 11,769 thousand).

Under deferred tax assets, the financial assets item includes 
amounts for outstanding sevenths from tax write-downs on 
investments in accordance with section 12(3) no. 2 of the 
Austrian Corporation Tax Act totaling EUR 32,443 thousand 
(December 31, 2014: EUR 30,781 thousand). Sevenths from 
write-downs were utilized for tax purposes in the amount of 

EUR 3,475 thousand in the current year (2014: EUR 2,722 
thousand).

With regard to shares in subsidiaries, joint ventures, associ-
ates and the pro-rata net assets of these investments held by 
group companies, no deferred tax liabilities were recognized 
in relation to temporary differences of EUR 218,539 thousand 
(December 31, 2014: EUR 135,509 thousand) which could 
be realized as a result of a sale. Moreover, no deferred tax li-
abilities were recognized for other differences whose reversal 
may be caused by a distribution with withholding taxes; the 
Group’s share in net retained profit of the affected subsidiar-
ies amounts to EUR 202,456 thousand (2014: EUR 183,597 
thousand). In both cases, the differences will probably not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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note 33

Provisions

The provisions item of the Lenzing Group breaks down as follows:

Provisions eUr ‘000

total thereof current thereof non-current

31/12/2015 31/12/2014 31/12/2015 31/12/2014 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations

Pensions and severance payments 96,538 102,944 4,421 4,472 92,117 98,473

Jubilee benefits 13,432 13,858 592 871 12,840 12,987

109,970 116,802 5,014 5,342 104,957 111,460

other provisions

Restructuring measures 983 11,243 983 11,243 0 0

Guarantees and warranties 1,824 2,808 974 1,208 850 1,600

Anticipated losses and other risks 13,919 15,384 3,503 4,437 10,415 10,947

Emission certificates 1,787 1,698 1,787 1,698 0 0

Other 8,804 6,056 2,789 56 6,015 6,000

27,317 37,189 10,037 18,642 17,280 18,547

accruals 

Personnel expenses (non-financial) 31,842 34,715 31,425 34,715 416 0

Other (financial) 23,419 22,682 23,419 22,682 0 0

55,261 57,397 54,844 57,397 416 0

total 192,548 211,389 69,895 81,382 122,653 130,007

Provisions for pensions and similar 
obligations (incl. restructuring measures)

Pensions and severance payments

The Lenzing Group has entered into obligations for pensions 
and severance payments from defined benefit plans, which 
are reported under provisions for pensions and severance 
payments, and from defined contribution plans.

defined benefit plans (for pensions and 
severance payments)

In the case of defined benefit plans for pensions and sever-
ance payments, the benefits are based on the final salary 
and length of service. They do not require any contributions 
by the employees.

The defined benefit pension plans are based on contractual 
obligations. The Lenzing Group’s most significant defined 
benefit pension plan is in Austria. This defined benefit pen-
sion plan applies to employees who joined the Group be-
fore January 1, 2000 and decided to remain in the plan. The 
claims generally arose after a vesting period of at least 10 
or 15 years of service. A retirement age of 58 to 63 years is 
assumed for the beneficiaries, depending on their gender. At 
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present, the plan mainly covers employees who have already 
retired. In some cases, there are qualifying insurance policies 
recognized as plan assets and part of obligations are covered 
by securities that do not qualify as plan assets. 

There are also pension plans in Hong Kong. This defined 
benefit pension plan applies to employees who joined the 
Group before January 1, 2000 and decided to remain in the 
plan. It is chiefly financed by employer contributions to an 
external pension fund. The level of the employer contributions 
is redefined every three years after an evaluation of the plan’s 
financial position. The claims are settled with a lump sum 
payment immediately on occurrence of the insured event.

The defined benefit severance plans are based on statutory 
obligations and obligations under collective agreements. The 
Lenzing Group’s most significant defined benefit severance 
plan is in Austria. Under this plan, employees whose employ-
ment is subject to Austrian law and started before January 1, 
2003 are legally entitled to a severance payment in specific 
cases, in particular when they reach the statutory retirement 
age and in the event of termination by the employer (“old sev-
erance payment system”). The amount of the severance pay-
ment depends on the amount of the employee’s salary at the 
time the employment relationship is terminated and on the 
length of the employment relationship.

There are also significant similar defined benefit severance 
plans in Indonesia and the Czech Republic. Here they apply 
to all employees irrespective of when they joined the Group. 
There are no assets covering the defined benefit severance 
plans; they are financed entirely with provisions. 

The defined benefit pension and severance plans primarily 
involve the following risks that influence the amount of the 
obligations to be recognized:

 � investment risk: The present value of the obligations and 
plan assets is calculated using a discount rate derived from 
high-quality fixed-income corporate bonds (see note 3). If 
the return on plan assets falls short of this rate, this will 
result in a plan deficit and an increase in the obligations.

 � interest rate risk: A decrease in the discount rate due to 
lower bond interest rates on the capital market will result 
in an increase in the obligations. 

 � Salary and pension trend: The obligations are measured 
based on assumed future salary and pension trends. If the 

actual development is higher than the currently assumed 
trend, this will result in an increase in the obligations.

 � Personnel turnover and departure risk: In measuring 
the obligations, probabilities of departure depending on 
the length of service are calculated for each country. A 
decrease in the anticipated personnel turnover rates will 
result in an increase in the obligations.

 � longevity risk: The obligations are calculated taking ac-
count of the average life expectancy on the basis of coun-
try-specific biometric data. A rise in the life expectancy of 
the beneficiaries will result in an increase in the obligations. 

The Lenzing Group is also exposed to currency risks in con-
nection with these plans.

The Lenzing Group takes various measures to reduce the 
risks from defined benefit plans. These include in particular 
financing the defined benefit plans externally with plan assets 
or covering the obligations with securities that do not qualify 
as plan assets and settling existing defined benefit plans with 
installments. In addition, pensions and similar obligations are 
now only concluded in the form of defined contribution com-
mitments, where possible and legally permissible.

The objectives of the investment policy are to create an op-
timized composition of the plan assets and ensure that they 
cover the existing claims of the employees concerned. The 
investment strategies (asset allocations) for the plan assets 
are contractually regulated. A reinsurance policy has been 
concluded for part of the claims from the Austrian pension 
plan and is shown under plan assets. This policy is a conven-
tional life insurance policy that chiefly invests in debt instru-
ments in line with the maturity profile of the underlying claims 
with the aim of high investment security. To a lesser extent, 
the insurance policy’s premium reserve fund also includes 
real property assets and equity instruments. The policy of-
fers a guaranteed minimum return. The Lenzing Group no 
longer pays contributions to the insurance. The pension fund 
for covering the defined benefit plans as plan assets in Hong 
Kong invests with the goal of a medium-term to long-term 
performance that exceeds the inflation rate. To achieve this 
goal, it primarily invests in equity instruments. Details of the 
breakdown of plan assets as at the reporting date can be 
found in the table further below.
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The main actuarial parameters applied for defined benefit pension and severance plans are as follows:

In both financial years, the defined benefit pension plans in Austria were calculated using the biometric data from Pagler & 
Pagler AVÖ 2008 P – bases for calculating pension insurance for salaried employees. The defined benefit severance plans in 
Austria were calculated in both financial years using a personnel turnover rate that includes all reasons for departure without 
entitlement to severance payments. 

In the other countries, the following biometric data and assumptions are used:

 � indonesia: Indonesia mortality table (Tabel Mortalita Indonesia TMI 2011)
 � czech republic: AVÖ 2008-P (Pagler & Pagler)
 � others: No biometric assumptions were made because of the low number of beneficiaries.

actuarial assumptions for defined benefit pension and severance plans

discount rate p.a. in % 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Austria - pensions 2.1 1.7

Austria - severance payments 2.2 1.8

Other countries:

 Germany N/A 2.5

 Indonesia 9.0 7.8

 Hong Kong 1.5 1.8

 Czech Republic 1.8 1.2

Salary increases p.a. in %

Austria - pensions 3.0 3.0

Austria - severance payments 3.0 3.0

Other countries:

 Germany N/A 2.3

 Indonesia 8.0 8.0

 Hong Kong 4.5 4.5

 Czech Republic 2.5 2.5

Pension increases p.a. in %

Austria - pensions 0.0-3.0 0.0-3.0

Austria - severance payments N/A N/A

Other countries:

 Germany N/A 1.8

 Indonesia N/A N/A

 Hong Kong N/A N/A

 Czech Republic N/A N/A

Staff turnover deductions p.a. in %

Austria - pensions 0.0 0.0

Austria - severance payments 0.0-4.0 0.0-4.4

Other countries:

 Germany N/A 0.0-12.5

 Indonesia 1.0-7.5 2.0-10.0

 Hong Kong 0.0 0.0

 Czech Republic 1.0 1.0
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The obligations (carrying amounts) from defined benefit pension and severance plans (incl. restructuring measures) reported in 
the consolidated statement of financial position break down as follows:

carrying amounts from defined benefit pension and severance plans  
(incl. restructuring measures) eUr ‘000

31/12/2015
Pensions 
in austria

Severance  
payments in austria

Pensions and severance  
payments in other countries total

Present value of obligations covered by plan assets (DBO) - gross 27,140 0 1,790 28,931

Fair value of plan assets (3,407) 0 (1,314) (4,721)

Present value of obligations covered by plan assets (DBO) - net 23,733 0 476 24,209

Present value of obligations not covered by plan assets (DBO) 0 60,883 11,534 72,417

amounts recognized in statement of financial position1 23,733 60,883 12,010 96,626

Thereof reported under:

Pensions and severance payments - non-current 21,662 59,076 11,378 92,117

Pensions and severance payments - current 2,071 1,718 632 4,421

Restructuring measures - current 0 88 0 88

total 23,733 60,883 12,010 96,626

carrying amounts from defined benefit pension and severance plans  
(incl. restructuring measures) (previous year) eUr ‘000

31/12/2014
Pensions 
in austria

Severance  
payments in austria

Pensions and severance  
payments in other countries total

Present value of obligations covered by plan assets (DBO) - gross 29,156 0 1,469 30,625

Fair value of plan assets (3,531) 0 (1,243) (4,774)

Present value of obligations covered by plan assets (DBO) - net 25,626 0 225 25,851

Present value of obligations not covered by plan assets (DBO) 0 68,197 11,595 79,792

amounts recognized in statement of financial position2 25,626 68,197 11,821 105,643

Thereof reported under:

Pensions and severance payments - non-current 23,556 63,588 11,328 98,473

Pensions and severance payments - current 2,070 1,910 492 4,472

Restructuring measures - current 0 2,699 0 2,699

total 25,626 68,197 11,821 105,643

1) Incl. other provisions for restructuring measures of EUR 88 thousand.
2) Incl. other provisions for restructuring measures of EUR 2,699 thousand.
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The net liability (provision) for defined benefit pension and severance plans (incl. restructuring measures) developed as follows:

 

Plan settlements in the 2015 and 2014 financial years are linked to the group-wide headcount reductions and the resulting pay-
ments (refer to the notes on other provisions for restructuring measures further down in this chapter).

net liability (provision) for defined benefit pension and severance plans  
(incl. restructuring measures) eUr ‘000

2015
Pensions 
in austria

Severance  
payments in austria

Pensions and severance 
payments in other countries total

net liability (provision) as at 01/011 25,626 68,197 11,821 105,643

Expense for the period (profit or loss):

 Current service cost 10 2,681 807 3,498

 Past service cost 0 0 411 411

 Gain/loss on settlement of plans² 0 (30) 0 (30)

 Net interest 413 1,174 628 2,216

 Administrative and other costs 0 0 1 1

Remeasurement of period (other comprehensive income) (396) (5,560) 722 (5,234)

Changes in scope of consolidation and disposal of 
other business areas 0 (573) (1,767) (2,340)

Cash flows (1,920) (5,006) (672) (7,598)

Currency translation adjustment 0 0 58 58

net liability (provision) as at 31/123 23,733 60,883 12,010 96,626

Thereof pensions and severance payments 23,733 60,795 12,010 96,538

Thereof restructuring measures 0 88 0 88

net liability (provision) for defined benefit pension and severance plans  
(incl. restructuring measures) (previous year) eUr ‘000

2014
Pensions 
in austria

Severance  
payments in austria

Pensions and severance 
payments in other countries total

net liability (provision) as at 01/014 23,549 61,196 10,091 94,836

Expense for the period (profit or loss):

 Current service cost 9 2,528 748 3,285

 Past service cost 0 0 422 422

 Gain/loss on settlement of plans5 0 1,073 290 1,363

 Net interest 679 1,968 780 3,427

 Administrative and other costs 0 0 1 1

Remeasurement of period (other comprehensive income) 3,260 9,936 700 13,896

Cash flows (1,871) (8,505) (2,031) (12,407)

Currency translation adjustment 0 0 820 820

net liability (provision) as at 31/126 25,626 68,197 11,821 105,643

Thereof pensions and severance payments 25,626 65,498 11,821 102,944

Thereof restructuring measures 0 2,699 0 2,699

4)  Incl. other provisions for restructuring measures of EUR 17,472 thousand.    5) The gain/loss on settlement of plans was already recognized in profit or loss in con-
nection with the other provision for restructuring measures in the previous year, and thus does not affect profit or loss in the 2014 financial year.     

6) Incl. other provisions for restructuring measures of EUR 2,699 thousand.

1) Incl. other provisions for restructuring measures of EUR 2,699 thousand.    2) The gain/loss on settlement of plans was already recognized in profit or loss in con-
nection with the other provision for restructuring measures in the previous year, and thus does not affect profit or loss in the 2015 financial year.    
3) Incl. other provisions for restructuring measures of EUR 88 thousand.
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The net liability (provision) of the defined benefit pension and severance plans shown above comprises the present value of the 
pension and severance payment obligation (incl. restructuring measures) (defined benefit obligation/DBO) less the fair value of 
the plan assets. These two components of the net liability developed as follows:

Present value of the pension and severance payment obligation (incl. restructuring measures) eUr ‘000

2015
Pensions 
in austria

Severance  
payments in austria

Pensions and severance  
payments in other countries total

Present value of obligation (dBo) as at 01/011 29,156 68,197 13,064 110,417

Changes in scope of consolidation and disposal of other business areas 0 (573) (1,767) (2,340)

Service cost (profit or loss):

 Current service cost 10 2,681 807 3,498

 Past service cost 0 0 411 411

 Gain/loss on settlement of plans² 0 (30) 0 (30)

Interest expense (profit or loss) 478 1,174 653 2,305

Cash flows:

 Payments made from the plan (282) 0 0 (282)

 Direct payments of employer (1,920) (3,795) (634) (6,350)

 Settlement payments 0 (1,211) 0 (1,211)

Remeasurement of period (other comprehensive income):

 On the basis of demographic assumptions 0 0 841 841

 On the basis of financial assumptions (905) (2,635) (1,032) (4,571)

 Due to experience adjustments 603 (2,926) 780 (1,542)

Currency translation adjustment 0 0 202 202

Present value of obligation (dBo) as at 31/123 27,140 60,883 13,324 101,348

Thereof pensions and severance payments 27,140 60,795 13,324 101,259

Thereof restructuring measures 0 88 0 88

Present value of the pension and severance payment obligation (incl. restructuring measures) 
(previous year) eUr ‘000

2014
Pensions 
in austria

Severance  
payments in austria

Pensions and severance 
payments in other countries total

Present value of obligation (dBo) as at 01/014 27,197 61,196 11,127 99,520

Service cost (profit or loss):

 Current service cost 9 2,528 748 3,285

 Past service cost 0 0 422 422

 Gain/loss on settlement of plans5 0 1,073 290 1,363

 Interest expense (profit or loss) 784 1,968 805 3,557

Cash flows:

 Payments made from the plan (280) 0 0 (280)

 Direct payments of employer (1,871) (1,736) (804) (4,411)

 Settlement payments 0 (6,769) (1,185) (7,953)

Remeasurement of period (other comprehensive income): 0 0 0 0

 On the basis of demographic assumptions 0 0 (158) (158)

 On the basis of financial assumptions 3,338 10,213 1,359 14,910

 Due to experience adjustments (20) (277) (504) (801)

Currency translation adjustment 0 0 964 964

Present value of obligation (dBo) as at 31/126 29,156 68,197 13,064 110,417

Thereof pensions and severance payments 29,156 65,498 13,064 107,718

Thereof restructuring measures 0 2,699 0 2,699

4)  Incl. other provisions for restructuring measures of EUR 17,472 thousand.    5) The gain/loss on settlement of plans was already recognized in profit or loss in con-
nection with the other provision for restructuring measures in the previous year, and thus does not affect profit or loss in the 2014 financial year.     

6) Incl. other provisions for restructuring measures of EUR 2,699 thousand.

1) Incl. other provisions for restructuring measures of EUR 2,699 thousand.    2) The gain/loss on settlement of plans was already recognized in profit or loss in con-
nection with the other provision for restructuring measures in the previous year, and thus does not affect profit or loss in the 2015 financial year.    
3) Incl. other provisions for restructuring measures of EUR 88 thousand.
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Fair value of plan assets eUr ‘000

2015
Pensions 
in austria

Severance  
payments in austria

Pensions and severance 
payments in other countries total

Fair value of plan assets as at 01/01 3,531 0 1,243 4,774

Interest income (profit or loss) 64 0 25 89

Cash flows:

 Payments made to the plan (employer contributions) 0 0 37 37

 Payments made from the plan (282) 0 0 (282)

 Administrative and other costs 0 0 (1) (1)

Remeasurement of period on the basis of return on plan assets 
excluding amounts included in interest income  
(other comprehensive income) 94 0 (133) (39)

Currency translation adjustment 0 0 143 143

Fair value of plan assets as at 31/12 3,407 0 1,314 4,721

Fair value of plan assets (previous year) eUr ‘000

2014
Pensions 
in austria

Severance  
payments in austria

Pensions and severance 
payments in other countries total

Fair value of plan assets as at 01/01 3,648 0 1,036 4,684

Interest income (profit or loss) 105 0 25 130

Cash flows:

 Payments made to the plan (employer contributions) 0 0 42 42

 Payments made from the plan (280) 0 0 (280)

 Administrative and other costs 0 0 (1) (1)

Remeasurement of period on the basis of return on plan assets 
excluding amounts included in interest income  
(other comprehensive income) 58 0 (3) 55

Currency translation adjustment 0 0 144 144

Fair value of plan assets as at 31/12 3,531 0 1,243 4,774
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The plan assets break down by asset class as follows:

 
The fair values of the equity and debt instruments shown above are determined based on price quotations on an active market. 
The fair value of the insurance policy is not determined on an active market; it corresponds to the cover funds reported in the 
statement of financial position of the insurance company. The insurance company chiefly invests in debt instruments and, to a 
lesser extent, in real property assets and equity instruments. The plan assets do not include any financial instruments issued 
by or assets used by the Lenzing Group. The fair value of cash and cash equivalents corresponds to the nominal value as at 
the reporting date.

The actual return on plan assets amounts to EUR 52 thousand (return in 2014: EUR 186 thousand).

Breakdown of plan assets eUr ‘000

31/12/2015
Pensions 
in austria

Severance  
payments in austria

Pensions and severance 
payments in other countries total

Cash and cash equivalents 0 0 28 28

Equity instruments 0 0 1,007 1,007

Debt instruments 0 0 280 280

Insurance policies qualifying as plan assets 3,407 0 0 3,407

Balance 3,407 0 1,314 4,721

Breakdown of plan assets (previous year) eUr ‘000

31/12/2014
Pensions 
in austria

Severance  
payments in austria

Pensions and severance 
payments in other countries total

Cash and cash equivalents 0 0 98 98

Equity instruments 0 0 920 920

Debt instruments 0 0 225 225

Insurance policies qualifying as plan assets 3,531 0 0 3,531

Balance 3,531 0 1,243 4,774
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Sensitivity analyses are performed for the risk of changes in actuarial parameters for measuring the present value of the obliga-
tions from defined benefit plans. The sensitivity analyses show the effects on the present value of the obligations from hypo-
thetical changes in key parameters that could reasonably have changed at the end of the reporting period. This relates to the 
parameters of discount rates, salary increases and pension increases. In each case, one parameter was changed while the 
other parameters were kept constant. The sensitivity analyses are performed based on the present values of the obligations as 
at the reporting date before deducting plan assets (defined benefit obligation/DBO) and before reclassification to other provi-
sions for restructuring measures. The sensitivities of the parameters are as follows as at the reporting dates:

The sensitivity analyses shown above represent hypothetical changes on the basis of the assumptions made. Actual deviations 
from the assumptions will result in other effects. In particular, the parameters altered on an isolated basis above may correlate 
with one another in reality. The deduction of plan assets will lead to a further reduction of the effects.

The weighted average terms (durations) of the defined benefit pension and severance payment obligations in years are as fol-
lows:

Sensitivity analysis of the defined benefit pension and severance payment obligations

31/12/2015
change in parameters  

(percentage points)

decrease in parameter/
change in present value of 

obligation in eUr ’000

increase in parameter/change 
in present value of obligation 

in eUr ’000

Discount rate 1.0 10,718 (9,153)

Salary increase 1.0 (6,781) 7,764

Pension increase 1.0 (2,222) 2,555

Sensitivity analysis of the defined benefit pension and severance payment obligations (previous year)

31/12/2014
change in parameters  

(percentage points)

decrease in parameter/
change in present value of 

obligation in eUr ’000

increase in parameter/change 
in present value of obligation 

in eUr ’000

Discount rate 1.0 12,669 (10,756)

Salary increase 1.0 (7,747) 8,917

Pension increase 1.0 (2,759) 3,169

Weighted average durations of the  
defined benefit pension and severance payment obligations in years Years

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Austria - pensions 10 10

Austria - severance payments 11-14 11-16

Other countries

 Germany N/A 21

 Indonesia 8 8

 Hong Kong 8 9

 Czech Republic 9 10
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The Lenzing Group expects contributions to plan assets for 
the pension and severance plans to amount to EUR 39 thou-
sand in the coming year (2014: EUR 44 thousand).

defined contribution plans (for pensions and 
severance payments)

The Lenzing Group makes payments to pension funds and 
similar external funds for defined contribution pension and 
severance plans. The Lenzing Group’s most significant de-
fined contribution pension and severance plans are in Aus-
tria. The defined contribution pension plan in Austria is based 
on contractual obligations. It applies to all employees who 
joined the Group after December 31, 1999, with the excep-
tion of apprentices, and to employees who joined before this 
date and decided to change from the defined benefit pension 
plan to this plan. Starting from the beginning of the employ-
ment relationship or from a certain length of service, a certain 
percentage that depends on the beneficiary’s salary is paid 
into an external pension fund by the employer. Each benefi-
ciary is entitled to make their own contribution, the maximum 
amount of which is equivalent to the amount that the employ-
er makes for the beneficiary. The claims generally become 
vested five years after the employer begins paying contribu-
tions. The defined contribution severance plan in Austria is 
based on statutory obligations (“new severance payment 
system”). Under this plan, the Lenzing Group must pay 1.53% 
of the gross salary into an employee provision fund in the 
case of employees whose employment relationships are sub-
ject to Austrian law and started after December 31, 2002. 

Most of the Lenzing Group’s foreign locations also offer de-
fined contribution pension plans, the majority of which are 
based on contractual obligations and cover almost all em-
ployees at the respective locations. Depending on the con-
tractual arrangement, a certain percentage of the beneficia-
ries’ remuneration is paid to an external fund or insurance 
company. The claims either become vested immediately or 
have a vesting period of up to several years, depending on 
the contract.

Under defined contribution plans, the Lenzing Group’s obli-
gation is only to pay agreed contributions into a fund. In this 
case, actuarial risk and investment risk are assumed by the 
employee. Therefore, no provisions or other accruals are rec-
ognized after the agreed contributions have been paid.

Expenses for defined contribution plans break down as fol-
lows:

 

  

Provisions for jubilee benefits

On the basis of collective agreement regulations, Lenzing 
AG and a number of subsidiaries, particularly Austrian and 
Czech subsidiaries, are required to pay jubilee benefits to 
employees who have been with the company for a certain 
length of time. These payments are based on the amount of 
the salary at the time of the relevant employee anniversary 
and are payable as at the employee anniversary. No assets 
have been eliminated from the company and no contributions 
have been made to a pension fund or any other external fund 
to cover these obligations. The jubilee benefits do not require 
any contributions by the employees.

expenses for defined  
contribution plans eUr ‘000

2015 2014

Austria - pensions 1,387 1,420

Austria - severance payments 1,276 1,134

Other countries 2,468 2,174

total 5,132 4,728
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The main actuarial parameters applied for obligations for jubilee benefits are as follows:

 
In both financial years, the obligations for jubilee benefits in Austria were calculated using a personnel turnover rate that de-
pends on the length of service and includes all reasons for departure. In the other countries, there are country-specific assump-
tions regarding personnel turnover probabilities and biometric data.

The following table shows the development of the obligation (provision) for jubilee benefits:

actuarial assumptions for the obligations for jubilee benefits

discount rate p.a. in % 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

 Austria 2.1 1.7

 Germany N/A 1.8

 Czech Republic 1.0 0.6

Salary increases p.a. in %

 Austria 3.0 3.0

 Germany N/A 2.3

 Czech Republic 2.5 N/A

Staff turnover deductions p.a. in %

 Austria 1.3-6.7 1.2-7.5

 Germany N/A 0.0-12.5

 Czech Republic 1.0 1.0

development of the obligation (provision) for jubilee benefits eUr ‘000

2015 2014

Present value of obligation (dBo) as at 01/01 13,858 13,320

Changes in scope of consolidation and disposal of other business areas (482) 0

Current service cost (profit or loss) 756 666

Past service cost (profit or loss) 271 15

Interest expense (profit or loss) 226 394

Remeasurement of period (profit or loss):

 On the basis of demographic assumptions (67) (2)

 On the basis of financial assumptions  (336) 1,774

 Due to experience adjustments (8) (1,246)

Direct payments of employer (787) (1,062)

Currency translation adjustment 2 (1)

Present value of obligation (dBo) as at 31/12 13,432 13,858
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other provisions and accruals

Other provisions and accruals developed as follows:

development of other provisions and accruals eUr ‘000

2015 as at 01/01

currency 
translation 
adjustment

changes in scope of  
consolidation and disposal 

of other business areas

reclassification to liabilities 
held for sale, disposal 

groups and other  
reclassifications Utilization reversal additions accrued interest as at 31/12 thereof current

thereof  
non-current

other provisions 

Restructuring measures 11,243 11 0 (1,434) (3,415)1 (5,433) 10 0 9832 983 0

Guarantees and warranties 2,808 2 (454) 0 (164) (983) 615 0 1,824 974 850

Anticipated losses and other risks 15,384 27 (9) 0 (1,437) (4,556) 4,773 (263) 13,919 3,503 10,415

Emission certificates 1,698 2 0 0 (1,697) 0 1,784 0 1,787 1,787 0

Other 6,056 55 0 0 0 0 2,693 0 8,804 2,789 6,015

37,189 96 (463) (1,434) (6,712) (10,972) 9,875 (263) 27,317 10,037 17,280

accruals 

Personnel expenses (non-financial) 34,715 498 (861) 0 (30,782) (403) 28,674 0 31,842 31,425 416

Other (financial) 22,682 1,079 (4,095) 0 (13,994) (1,594) 19,341 0 23,419 23,419 0

57,397 1,577 (4,956) 0 (44,777) (1,996) 48,015 0 55,261 54,844 416

total 94,587 1,674 (5,419) (1,434) (51,488) (12,968) 57,891 (263) 82,578 64,881 17,697

development of other provisions and accruals (previous year) eUr ‘000

2014 as at 01/01

currency 
translation 
adjustment

changes in scope of  
consolidation and disposal 

of other business areas

reclassification to liabilities 
held for sale, disposal 

groups and other  
reclassifications Utilization reversal additions accrued interest as at 31/12 thereof current

thereof  
non-current

other provisions 

Restructuring measures 37,211 220 0 (8,556) (16,322)1 (5,891) 4,582 0 11,2432 11,243 0

Guarantees and warranties 4,266 0 0 0 (267) (1,774) 583 0 2,808 1,208 1,600

Anticipated losses and other risks 25,262 130 0 0 (7,249) (4,148) 550 839 15,384 4,437 10,947

Emission certificates 1,754 0 0 0 (1,612) 0 1,557 0 1,698 1,698 0

Other 8,846 81 0 0 (1,544) (1,327) 0 0 6,056 56 6,000

77,338 430 0 (8,556) (26,993) (13,140) 7,271 839 37,189 18,642 18,547

accruals 

Personnel expenses (non-financial) 37,115 469 0 0 (34,085) (1,182) 32,398 0 34,715 34,715 0

Other (financial) 28,073 1,393 0 0 (20,265) (6,270) 19,750 0 22,682 22,682 0

65,187 1,863 0 0 (54,349) (7,452) 52,148 0 57,397 57,397 0

total 142,526 2,293 0 (8,556) (81,342) (20,592) 59,419 839 94,587 76,040 18,547

1) The utilization of the provision for restructuring measures includes the statutory severance payment of EUR 1,211 thousand (2014: EUR 6,769 thousand).   
2) Incl. reclassification from severance or pension provisions of EUR 88 thousand (December 31, 2014: EUR 2,699 thousand)
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development of other provisions and accruals eUr ‘000

2015 as at 01/01

currency 
translation 
adjustment

changes in scope of  
consolidation and disposal 

of other business areas

reclassification to liabilities 
held for sale, disposal 

groups and other  
reclassifications Utilization reversal additions accrued interest as at 31/12 thereof current

thereof  
non-current

other provisions 

Restructuring measures 11,243 11 0 (1,434) (3,415)1 (5,433) 10 0 9832 983 0

Guarantees and warranties 2,808 2 (454) 0 (164) (983) 615 0 1,824 974 850

Anticipated losses and other risks 15,384 27 (9) 0 (1,437) (4,556) 4,773 (263) 13,919 3,503 10,415

Emission certificates 1,698 2 0 0 (1,697) 0 1,784 0 1,787 1,787 0

Other 6,056 55 0 0 0 0 2,693 0 8,804 2,789 6,015

37,189 96 (463) (1,434) (6,712) (10,972) 9,875 (263) 27,317 10,037 17,280

accruals 

Personnel expenses (non-financial) 34,715 498 (861) 0 (30,782) (403) 28,674 0 31,842 31,425 416

Other (financial) 22,682 1,079 (4,095) 0 (13,994) (1,594) 19,341 0 23,419 23,419 0

57,397 1,577 (4,956) 0 (44,777) (1,996) 48,015 0 55,261 54,844 416

total 94,587 1,674 (5,419) (1,434) (51,488) (12,968) 57,891 (263) 82,578 64,881 17,697

development of other provisions and accruals (previous year) eUr ‘000

2014 as at 01/01

currency 
translation 
adjustment

changes in scope of  
consolidation and disposal 

of other business areas

reclassification to liabilities 
held for sale, disposal 

groups and other  
reclassifications Utilization reversal additions accrued interest as at 31/12 thereof current

thereof  
non-current

other provisions 

Restructuring measures 37,211 220 0 (8,556) (16,322)1 (5,891) 4,582 0 11,2432 11,243 0

Guarantees and warranties 4,266 0 0 0 (267) (1,774) 583 0 2,808 1,208 1,600

Anticipated losses and other risks 25,262 130 0 0 (7,249) (4,148) 550 839 15,384 4,437 10,947

Emission certificates 1,754 0 0 0 (1,612) 0 1,557 0 1,698 1,698 0

Other 8,846 81 0 0 (1,544) (1,327) 0 0 6,056 56 6,000

77,338 430 0 (8,556) (26,993) (13,140) 7,271 839 37,189 18,642 18,547

accruals 

Personnel expenses (non-financial) 37,115 469 0 0 (34,085) (1,182) 32,398 0 34,715 34,715 0

Other (financial) 28,073 1,393 0 0 (20,265) (6,270) 19,750 0 22,682 22,682 0

65,187 1,863 0 0 (54,349) (7,452) 52,148 0 57,397 57,397 0

total 142,526 2,293 0 (8,556) (81,342) (20,592) 59,419 839 94,587 76,040 18,547
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Other provisions for restructuring measures particularly re-
late to provisioning because of the headcount reduction as 
part of the reorganization and the cost optimization program 
“excelLENZ” in the 2013 financial year. These measures were 
extended in the engineering and maintenance areas and 
Lenzing Technik in the 2014 financial year. As a result of the 
reorganization, the entire Lenzing Group was restructured in 
organizational terms. In addition, the focus of the organiza-
tion was geared even more strongly towards the most impor-
tant fiber markets. The engineering and maintenance areas 
and Lenzing Technik were reorganized to support the realign-
ment of the technical functions and the other areas. As part 
of the accompanying cost optimization program, savings 
in material costs, operating expenses, overheads and per-
sonnel expenses and improvements in operating efficiency 
were planned or already implemented. Provisions have been 
recognized particularly for the resulting severance payments 
and settlements. In this context, provisions for regular sever-
ance payments in the amount of EUR 2,699 (see section on 
“Defined benefit plans” above) were reported in provisions for 
restructuring measures as at December 31, 2014. An amount 
not utilized of EUR 1,434 thousand was reclassified to the 
severance payment provision in the 2015 financial year. The 
rest in the amount of EUR 5,423 of the necessary provisions 
was released to/recognized in personnel expenses and other 
operating expenses (2014: EUR 1,309 thousand; each ad-
justed for minor currency translation differences).

Other provisions for guarantees and warranties mainly in-
clude provisions for warranty risks from the sale of defective 
products and guaranteed obligations for the benefit of third 
parties. Other provisions for anticipated losses and other 
risks mainly include provisions for obligations from infrastruc-
ture services to be performed and provisions for additional 
claims from procurement contracts and other onerous con-
tracts. Other provisions for emission certificates comprise the 
equivalent value of the emission certificates used. 

Miscellaneous other provisions primarily relate to obliga-
tions for legal disputes of EUR 6,000 thousand (December 
31, 2014: EUR 6,000 thousand) and particularly include the 
provision for legal proceedings in which the Lenzing Group is 
taking action against patent infringements.

Accruals for personnel costs primarily include liabilities for 
short-term claims of existing and former employees (particu-
larly for vacation and comp time not yet taken, overtime and 
performance bonuses).

Other accruals chiefly comprise anticipated losses from reve-
nue reductions/increases in expenses from transactions with 
customers and suppliers (particularly discounts and rebates) 
and liabilities for goods deliveries and services already per-
formed by third parties but not yet invoiced.

In the case of other short-term provisions and accruals, it 
is considered likely that the outflow of funds will take place 
within the next 12 months. In the case of the long-term por-
tion of other provisions, the outflow of funds depends on 
various different factors (particularly guarantee and warranty 
periods, contract terms and other events):

 � In the case of other provisions for guarantees and war-
ranties, the outflow of funds is expected by December 
31, 2020 at the latest (December 31, 2014: by December 
31, 2020 at the latest).

 � In the case of other provisions for anticipated losses and 
other risks, the outflow of funds is expected by:

 
 

 
 
In the case of miscellaneous other provisions (the legal dis-
putes), the exact timing of the outflow of funds is currently 
uncertain; previous developments indicate that the outflow 
of funds is probably not to be expected within the next 12 
months.

expected outflow of funds in the case 
of other provisions (non-current) for 
anticipated losses and other risks  
(estimated as of the reporting date) eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

In the 2nd year 1,763 2,876

In the 3rd to 5th year 3,655 5,226

In the 6th to 10th year 3,204 1,685

Thereafter 1,794 1,161

total 10,415 10,947
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note 34

Puttable non-controlling interests

Puttable non-controlling interests developed as follows:

 

note 35

other liabilities and trade payables

Other liabilities break down as follows:

development of the carrying amounts 
of puttable non-controlling interests eUr ‘000

2015 2014

carrying amount as at 01/01 12,410 19,534

Share of annual net profit/loss for 
the year (1,531) (8,818)

Currency translation adjustment 807 1,693

carrying amount as at 31/12 11,686 12,410

Thereof recognized under:

Non-current liabilities 11,686 12,410

other liabilities eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

other non-current  
financial liabilities

Derivatives not yet settled (open 
positions) 282 4,494

Deferred interest and other 3 807

285 5,301

other non-current liabilities  
(non-financial)

Partial retirement 2,611 2,240

Deferred income 178 100

2,789 2,339

total other  
non-current liabilities 3,075 7,640

other current financial liabilities

Derivatives not yet settled (open 
positions) 16,086 29,514

Customer payments from factoring 
not yet forwarded 21,261 17,211

Liabilities from recourse on bills of 
exchange 11,734 11,802

Debtors with credit balances 1,074 1,350

Other 6,325 4,404

56,480 64,282

other current liabilities  
(non-financial)

Liabilities from other taxes 6,354 3,773

Wage and salary liabilities 5,764 6,070

Social security liabilities 4,656 4,743

Partial retirement 2,197 1,738

Prepayments received 9,413 9,799

Deferred income and other 402 88

28,786 26,212

total other  
current liabilities 85,266 90,493
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A supplier of the Lenzing Group finances its trade receivables 
from the Lenzing Group with a reverse factoring agreement. 
The supplier can commission its bank to pay the receivables 
early. The change did not result in significant amendments to 
the terms of the agreement on account of the present value test 
performed. From the Lenzing Group’s perspective, this agree-
ment does not result in a reclassification of the affected trade 
payables to another kind of liability according either to civil law 
or IFRS regulations. There is therefore no change of presenta-
tion in the consolidated statement of financial position (there un-
der trade payables) or the consolidated statement of cash flows 
(there in the cash flow from operating activities). As at December 
31, 2015, this potentially affected trade payables totaling EUR 
48,679 thousand (December 31, 2014: EUR 67,389 thousand).

notes on the consolidated  
Statement of cash Flows 

note 36

liquid funds

The statement of cash flows shows how liquid funds changed 
during the year under review as a result of cash inflows and 
outflows. Liquid funds break down as follows:

note 37

other disclosures on the consolidated statement 
of cash flows

Gross cash flow equals cash flow from operating activities 
before changes in working capital. Working capital com-
prises inventories, trade receivables, other non-current and 
current assets, current provisions, trade payables and other 
non-current and current liabilities.

In the 2015 financial year, gross cash flow also includes cash 
inflow from the distribution of an investment accounted for us-
ing the equity method in the amount of EUR 30,000 thousand 
(see note 14). Other non-cash income/expenses include the 
allocation of profit or loss to puttable non-controlling interests 
of EUR -1,531 thousand (2014: EUR -8,818 thousand) and the 
impairment of financial assets and other non-current financial 
assets of EUR 1,860 thousand (2014: EUR 1,440 thousand). 
In addition, other non-cash income/expenses contain unreal-
ized net exchange rate gains/losses and measurement ef-
fects from receivables and inventories.

Non-cash transactions from the acquisition of intangible as-
sets and property, plant and equipment are not included 
in cash flow from investing activities of the current period. 
These are essentially payments not yet made to suppliers in 
the amount of EUR 3,578 thousand (2014: EUR 7,379 thou-
sand) and additions from finance leases in the amount of 
EUR 1,969 thousand (2014: EUR 2,551 thousand).

The net cash inflow from the disposal of subsidiaries and oth-
er business areas is reported in the cash flow from investing 
activities (see also note 5).

In the sale of interests to non-controlling shareholders, pay-
ments of EUR 2 thousand were made to the Lenzing Group 
in 2014 (see also note 4).

liquid funds eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Cash and cash equivalents 347,254 271,791

total 347,254 271,791
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notes on capital risk Management and 
Financial instruments 

note 38

capital risk management

Basic information

The Lenzing Group manages its equity and debt capital with 
the clear objective of optimizing the income, costs and assets 
of the individual operations/business units and of the Group 
as a whole so as to achieve a sustainably strong economic 
performance and a sound balance sheet structure. Impor-
tant factors here include financial leverage capacity, sufficient 
liquidity at all times and a clear focus on cash-related key 
figures and performance indicators in view of the Group’s 
strategic course and long-term goals.

This ensures that the group companies can operate on a go-
ing concern basis. In addition, the authorized capital and the 
contingent capital contribute to enabling Lenzing AG to raise 
additional equity flexibly in order to take advantage of market 
opportunities that arise in the future.

Lenzing AG is subject to the minimum capital requirements of 
Austrian company law. There are no minimum capital require-
ments stipulated in the Articles of Association. The Lenzing 
Group’s equity management strategy is aimed at ensuring 
that Lenzing AG and the other group companies have capital 
resources that fulfill the local requirements. Some loan agree-
ments with banks also include financial covenants, particu-
larly in relation to the level of equity, the ratio of net financial 
debt to EBITDA (see below for definition and calculation) and 
other key financial indicators or financial criteria of the Group 
or individual, sometimes amalgamated group companies. 
This relates in particular to Lenzing AG, PT. South Pacific Vis-
cose, Purwakarta, Indonesia, Pulp Trading GmbH, Lenzing, 
Austria, and Biocel Paskov a.s., Paskov, Czech Republic. If 
these financial covenants are breached, the banks can de-
mand early repayment of the financial liabilities in some cas-
es. Depending on the volume of the financial liabilities con-
cerned and the refinancing options prevalent on the market 
at that time, this could lead to a refinancing risk and thus a 
liquidity risk for the Lenzing Group. In addition, future interest 
expenses could also increase because of higher credit risk 

spreads to be paid. For this reason, the financial covenants 
are monitored by the Treasury department on an ongoing ba-
sis and are taken into account when assessing distributions 
of the relevant group companies, because they limit or can 
limit potential distributions significantly. 

In the year under review, all related capital requirements were 
fulfilled. 

The management uses an adjusted equity ratio internally 
for control purposes. Adjusted equity is calculated in accor-
dance with IFRS. In addition to equity, it also includes invest-
ment grants less the associated deferred taxes. The adjusted 
equity ratio (= adjusted equity in relation to total assets) was 
50.6% as at December 31, 2015 (December 31, 2014: 44.9%).

Adjusted equity is as follows:

 
The dividend policy of Lenzing AG as the parent company 
of the Lenzing Group is based on the principles of continuity 
and a long-term focus with the aim of promoting the future 
development of the company, distributing dividends to the 
shareholders in line with the company’s opportunity and risk 
situation, and also taking account appropriately of the inter-
ests of all other stakeholders crucial to the company’s suc-
cess. It is based on the Lenzing Group’s net profit.

net financial debt   

Together with the Supervisory Board, the Management 
Board of Lenzing AG regularly reviews the development of 
the capital structure and the performance indicators, key fig-
ures and influencing factors behind this development. Par-
ticular emphasis is placed on the development of net financial 
debt, as the two key figures of net financial debt and EBITDA 
are extremely important key performance indicators both in 
the Group’s management and on the part of the financing 

adjusted equity eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Equity 1,206,694 1,045,634

Government grants (+) 25,802 26,559

Proportionate deferred taxes on 
government grants (-) (6,068) (6,133)

total 1,226,429 1,066,061
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banks. The continued optimal development of the Lenzing 
Group is only possible with very strong self-financing capac-
ity as the basis for increased debt capacity. 

The interest-bearing financial liabilities break down as follows:

 
 

Liquid assets consist of the following:

 

 

 
The financial instruments under liquid assets are payable on 
demand or have a term of less than one year.

Net financial debt in absolute terms and in relation to EBITDA 
(after restructuring/according to the consolidated income 
statement and before restructuring) is as follows:

interest bearing financial liabilities eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Non-current financial liabilities 510,910 537,033

Current financial liabilities 172,337 192,745

total 683,247 729,778

liquid assets eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Cash and cash equivalents 347,254 271,791

Liquid bills of exchange 
(in trade receivables) 8,057 8,470

total 355,311 280,261

net financial debt (absolute) eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Interest bearing financial liabilities 683,247 729,778

Liquid assets (-) (355,311) (280,261)

total 327,936 449,517

net financial debt  
in relation to eBitda eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

eBitda (after restructuring and 
according to the consolidated 
income statement) 290,114 240,302

Restructuring (see Note 6) (3,681) (2,030)

eBitda (before restructuring) 286,433 238,272

net financial debt/eBitda  
(after restructuring and accord-
ing to the consolidated income 
statement) 1.1 1.9

net financial debt/eBitda  
(before restructuring) 1.1 1.9
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note 39

classes and categories of financial instruments

carrying amounts and measurement categories

The carrying amounts and measurement categories of financial assets (asset financial instruments) broke down by class as 
follows as at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014:

 

carrying amounts and measurement categories by classes of financial assets eUr ‘000

carrying amount     valuation pursuant to iaS 39

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
at amortized 

cost at cost

at fair 
value 

through 
profit or 

loss

at fair  
value 

directly in 
equity

Cash and cash equivalents (see note 36) 347,254 271,791 

Trade receivables (see note 25) 258,939 232,769 

Financial assets - loans (see note 22) 5,011 7,261 

Other non-current financial assets – non-current receivables 
(see note 23) 3,134 7,112 

Other current financial assets (not including derivatives -  
open positions) (see note 27) 20,733 20,925 

loans and receivables 635,070 539,858

Financial assets - non-current securities (see note 22) 16,274 14,369 

Financial assets - other equity investments (see note 22) 1,562 1,564 

available-for-sale financial assets 17,836 15,933

Other financial assets - derivative financial instruments at 
positive fair value (cash flow hedges) (see notes 23, 27) 2,138 317 

Other financial assets - derivative financial instruments at 
positive fair value (cash flow hedges with the underlying 
already recognized in profit or loss) (see notes 23, 27) 418 207 

other 2,556 524

total 655,462 556,315

thereof:

At amortized cost 635,070 539,858

At cost 1,562 1,564

At fair value through profit or loss 418 207

At fair value directly in equity 18,412 14,686

total 655,462 556,315
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The carrying amounts and measurement categories of financial liabilities (liability financial instruments) broke down by class as 
follows as at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014:

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

carrying amounts and measurement categories by classes of financial liabilities eUr ‘000

carrying amount valuation pursuant to iaS 39

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
at amor-

tized cost at cost

at fair 
value 

through 
profit or 

loss

at fair 
value 

directly 
in equity

valu-
ation 

pursu-
ant to 
iaS 17

Financial liabilities - bond (see note 31) 119,817 119,713 

Financial liabilities - private placements (see note 31) 288,821 228,468 

Financial liabilities - liabilities to banks (see note 31) 239,361 346,790 

Financial liabilities - liabilities to other lenders  
(miscellaneous) (see note 31) 28,952 30,326 

Trade payables 149,987 181,130 

Other non-current financial liabilities (see note 35) 3 807 

Other current financial liabilities  
(not including derivatives - open positions and financial 
guarantee contracts) (see notes 35, 46) 40,245 34,609 

Provisions - accruals - other (financial) (see note 33) 23,419 22,682 

Financial liabilities at amortized cost 890,606 964,524

Financial liabilities - lease liabilities (see note 31) 6,295 4,482 

Other financial liabilities - derivative financial instruments at 
negative fair value (cash flow hedges) (see note 35) 5,263 26,522 

Other financial liabilities - derivative financial instruments at 
negative fair value (cash flow hedges with the underlying 
already recognized in profit or loss) (see note 35) 11,106 7,485 

Other current financial liabilities (financial guarantee 
contracts) (see note 46) 148 159

Puttable non-controlling interests (see note 34) 11,686 12,410

other 34,499 51,059

total 925,105 1,015,583

thereof:

At amortized cost 890,606 964,524

At fair value through profit or loss 11,106 7,485

At fair value directly in equity 5,263 26,522

Valuation pursuant to IAS 17 6,295 4,482

Non-allocable 11,835 12,569

total 925,105 1,015,583
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Fair value hierarchy

The following breakdowns analyze the financial instruments according to the type of measurement method in the consolidated 
statement of financial position/in the notes. The item measured is the relevant individual financial instrument. Three levels of 
measurement methods have been defined:

level 1: Prices for identical assets or liabilities on an active market (used without adjustment)

level 2: Input factors that can be directly (for instance, as prices) or indirectly (for instance, derived from prices) observed for 
assets or liabilities and that do not fall under level 1 

level 3: Input factors for assets or liabilities that are not data observable on the market

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and liabilities whose fair value is measured 
on a recurring basis in the consolidated statement of financial position by class of financial instrument and by the level of the 
fair value hierarchy to which the fair value measurement is to be allocated, as at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014:

The Lenzing Group accounts for transfers in the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period when the changes oc-
cur. There were no transfers between the different levels of the fair value hierarchy of financial instruments that were held on 
December 31, 2015.

carrying amounts, fair values and fair value hierarchy of financial instruments  
(recurring measurement in statement of financial position) eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

carrying 
amount Fair value

Fair value  
hierarchy

carrying 
amount Fair value

Fair value  
hierarchy

Financial assets

Financial assets - non-current securities (see note 22) 16,274 16,274 Level 1 14,369 14,369 Level 1

available-for-sale financial assets 16,274 16,274 14,369 14,369

Other financial assets - derivative financial instruments at 
positive fair value (cash flow hedges) (see notes 23, 27) 2,138 2,138 Level 2 317 317 Level 2

Other financial assets - derivative financial instruments at 
positive fair value (cash flow hedges with the underlying 
already recognized in profit or loss) (see notes 23, 27) 418 418 Level 2 207 207 Level 2

other 2,556 2,556 524 524

total 18,830 18,830 14,893 14,893

Financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities - derivative financial instruments at 
negative fair value (cash flow hedges) (see note 35) 5,263 5,263 Level 2 26,522 26,522 Level 2

Other financial liabilities - derivative financial instruments at 
negative fair value (cash flow hedges with the underlying 
already recognized in profit or loss) (see note 35) 11,106 11,106 Level 2 7,485 7,485 Level 2

other 16,369 16,369 34,008 34,008

total 16,369 16,369 34,008 34,008



158

Consolidated FinanCial statements 2015

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and liabilities whose fair value is measured 
for disclosure in the notes only by class of financial instrument and by the level of the fair value hierarchy to which the fair value 
measurement is to be allocated, as at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014:

carrying amounts, fair values and fair value hierarchy of financial instruments  
(measurement for disclosures in the notes only) eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

carrying 
amount Fair value

Fair value  
hierarchy

carrying 
amount Fair value

Fair value  
hierarchy

Financial liabilities

 Financial liabilities - bond (see note 31) 119,817 125,964 Level 1 119,713 126,780 Level 1

 Financial liabilities - private placements (see note 31) 288,821 301,449 Level 3 228,468 234,249 Level 3

 Financial liabilities - liabilities to banks (see note 31) 239,361 240,385 Level 3 346,790 347,496 Level 3

 Financial liabilities - liabilities to other lenders  
 (miscellaneous) (see note 31) 28,952 28,790 Level 3 30,326 29,964 Level 3

 Other current financial liabilities  
 (financial guarantee contracts) (see note 46) 148 148 Level 3 159 159 Level 3

total 677,100 696,736 725,456 738,648

For the following reasons, the management assumes that, 
with the exception of the fair values shown above, the carry-
ing amount of the financial assets and financial liabilities rep-
resents a reasonable approximation of their fair value:

 � The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, trade receiv-
ables and other current financial assets corresponds to 
the carrying amount, as the short remaining term means 
that no significant difference between the carrying amount 
and the fair value is to be expected and credit risk is taken 
into account by recognizing bad debt provisions.

 � The carrying amount of loans and non-current financial re-
ceivables is roughly equivalent to the fair value, as due to 

the amount of existing receivables no significant difference 
between the fair value and the carrying amount is to be ex-
pected and credit risk is taken into account by recognizing 
bad debt provisions.

 � Because of their short-term nature, the fair values of the 
accruals, trade payables and other current financial liabili-
ties correspond to their carrying amounts. 

 � In the case of other non-current financial liabilities, it is as-
sumed that there is no significant difference between the 
carrying amount and the fair value because of the low car-
rying amount.
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Fair value measurement methods

In the Lenzing Group, the following financial instruments in particular are measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of 
financial position:

 � Current and non-current securities (level 1 of the fair value hierarchy)
 � Currency and commodity futures (level 2 of the fair value hierarchy)

The fair value measurement methods are described in note 3 for securities (section on “Financial assets and securities”) and 
currency and commodity futures (section on “Derivative financial instruments and hedges”). 

The majority of equity investments and related derivative financial instruments measured at cost (see note 3, section on “Finan-
cial assets and securities”) – EUR 1,050 thousand (December 31, 2014: EUR 1,050 thousand) – relates to the equity investment 
in LP Beteiligungs & Management GmbH, Linz, an option that requires the Lenzing Group to sell this equity investment and an 
option that entitles the Lenzing Group to sell this equity investment. LP Beteiligungs & Management GmbH, Linz, is a medium-
sized Austrian corporation. A fair value cannot be reliably determined due to an insufficient planning base. The Lenzing Group 
does not currently intend to sell these equity investments. No holdings were derecognized and no gains or losses on remea-
surement were recognized for these equity investments in the reporting period. 

In the Lenzing Group, fair value is calculated only for disclosure in the notes for the following financial instruments in particular:

 � Issued bond (level 1 of the fair value hierarchy)
 � Other financial liabilities and financial guarantee contracts (level 3 of the fair value hierarchy)

The fair value of the issued bond is derived from its current quoted price and changes in particular on the basis of changes in market 
interest rates and the credit rating of Lenzing AG. 

The fair values of the other financial liabilities are determined using generally accepted valuation methods based on the discounted 
cash flow method. The main input factor here is the discount rate, which takes account of the available market data (risk-free inter-
est rates) and the credit quality of the Lenzing Group that is not observable on the market. The fair values of the financial guarantee 
contracts equal the estimated expected default arising from the maximum possible payment obligation and the expected loss.

In light of varying influencing factors, the fair values presented can only be considered as indicators of the values that could actually 
be generated on the market.

offsetting financial assets and liabilities

The Lenzing Group concludes framework netting agreements (in particular master netting arrangements) in the form of Inter-
national Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA) and local master agreements. The amounts owed according to such agree-
ments by each counterparty in the same currency on a single day with regard to all outstanding transactions are collated into 
a single net amount to be paid by one party to the other. In certain cases – for instance in the case of default – all outstanding 
transactions are terminated under the agreement, the value on termination is calculated and only one net amount must be 
paid to settle all transactions. No netting is shown in the Lenzing Group’s statement of financial position, because such master 
agreements do not usually result in net settlements of several transactions.
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The following tables contain information on offsetting financial assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial po-
sition on the basis of framework netting agreements. The “Effect of framework netting agreements” column shows the amounts 
that are the subject of an agreement of this type but do not fulfill the criteria for offsetting in the IFRS consolidated statement 
of financial position.

offsetting financial assets and liabilities eUr ‘000

Financial assets as at 31/12/2015
Financial  

assets (gross)

offset 
amounts  

recognized 
(gross)

recognized  
financial  

assets (net)

effect of 
framework 

netting  
agreements net amounts

Cash and cash equivalents 347,254 0 347,254 0 347,254

Other financial assets -  
derivative financial instruments at positive fair value

 Forward foreign exchange contracts 2,556 0 2,556 (2,424) 132

total 349,810 0 349,810 (2,424) 347,385

Financial liabilities as at 31/12/2015

Financial  
liabilities 

(gross)

offset 
amounts  

recognized 
(gross)

recognized 
financial  

liabilities (net)

effect of 
framework 

netting  
agreements net amounts

Liabilities to banks 239,361 0 239,361 0 239,361

Other financial liabilities -  
derivative financial instruments at negative fair value

 Forward foreign exchange contracts 15,373 0 15,373 (2,424) 12,948

 Gas swaps 996 0 996 0 996

total 255,730 0 255,730 (2,424) 253,306

offsetting financial assets and liabilities (previous year) eUr ‘000

Financial assets as at 31/12/2014
Financial  

assets (gross)

offset 
amounts  

recognized 
(gross)

recognized  
financial  

assets (net)

effect of 
framework 

netting  
agreements net amounts

Cash and cash equivalents 271,827 (36) 271,791 0 271,791

Other financial assets -  
derivative financial instruments at positive fair value

 Forward foreign exchange contracts 524 0 524 (524) 0

total 272,351 (36) 272,315 (524) 271,791

Financial liabilities as at 31/12/2014

Financial  
liabilities 

(gross)

offset 
amounts  

recognized 
(gross)

recognized 
financial  

liabilities (net)

effect of 
framework 

netting  
agreements net amounts

Liabilities to banks 346,826 (36) 346,790 0 346,790

Other financial liabilities -  
derivative financial instruments at negative fair value

 Forward foreign exchange contracts 32,431 0 32,431 (524) 31,907

 Gas swaps 1,576 0 1,576 0 1,576

total 380,833 (36) 380,798 (524) 380,274
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transfer of financial assets  
(sale of receivables/factoring)

Since the 2014 financial year, factoring agreements have 
been in place that oblige banks to purchase certain trade 
receivables from the Lenzing Group for a revolving monthly 
nominal amount. The Lenzing Group is entitled to sell these 
receivables. The agreements have indefinite terms; each 
party has the right to cancel the agreements with notice and 
then allow them to expire. The receivables sold are current 
receivables due within a year.

The risks involved in the sold receivables that are relevant for 
risk assessment are credit default risk, currency risk in the 
case of receivables in foreign currencies and the risk of de-
layed payments. Credit-risk defaults and, in the case of receiv-
ables in foreign currencies, exchange rate fluctuations are the 
major opportunities and risks associated with these receiv-
ables. The risk of delayed payments is borne by the Lenzing 
Group for all factoring agreements and is considered minor.

In the case of an agreement for the sale of receivables in the 
reporting currency (hereafter referred to as “Tranche 1”), the 
bank bears the entire credit default risk. This means that all 
opportunities and risks were largely transferred to the bank.

In the case of the other agreements (hereafter referred to as 
“Tranche 2”), the Lenzing Group assumes liability of 10% for 
each payment default. This amount, which cannot be reim-
bursed by another party, is not advanced by the bank. The 
remaining credit default risk (90% per payment default) and 
– in the case of receivables not in the reporting currency – 
the currency risk are assumed by the bank. The significant 
opportunities and risks were thereby shared between the  
Lenzing Group and the bank; however, the authority to dis-
pose of the receivables was transferred to the bank. The 
Lenzing Group committed itself to concluding credit insur-
ance for the sold receivables and to taking on accounts re-
ceivable management. In the event of a legal dispute, the par-
ticipating banks have the right to return overdue receivables 
to the Lenzing Group for procedural reasons. However, this 
does not return the credit default risk to the Lenzing Group 
and there are no effects on the liquidity of the Lenzing Group.

As at December 31, 2015, the factoring agreements had a 
maximum usable nominal volume totaling EUR 86,936 thou-
sand (31 December 2014: EUR 86,936 thousand). EUR 2,600 
thousand (December 31, 2014: EUR 2,600 thousand) relates 
to Tranche 1 and EUR 84,336 thousand (December 31, 2014: 
EUR 84,336 thousand) to Tranche 2.

As at December 31, 2015, receivables totaling EUR 82,038 
thousand (December 31, 2014: EUR 78,272 thousand) were 
sold on the basis of the factoring agreements and derecog-
nized in the Lenzing Group’s consolidated statement of finan-
cial position. EUR 1,850 thousand (December 31, 2014: EUR 
1,636 thousand) relates to Tranche 1 and EUR 80,188 thou-
sand (December 31, 2014: EUR 76,636 thousand) to Tranche 
2. The amount of Tranche 2 that was not advanced of EUR 
8,019 thousand (December 31, 2014: EUR 7,664 thousand) 
(prior to foreign currency measurement) is reported under 
other current assets (financial) as at December 31, 2015. The 
fair values are equal to the indicated carrying amounts, in 
particular because the remaining terms of the relevant re-
ceivables are short. In the 2014 financial year the Lenzing 
Group received the majority of the advances from the factor-
ing agreements in March and May 2014 when the transac-
tions began. In the 2015 financial year, advances were, for 
the most part, evenly spread over the period under review.

From the Lenzing Group’s perspective, the above-mentioned 
amount of Tranche 2 that was not advanced corresponds to 
the theoretical maximum loss due to credit risk for the as-
sumption of liability in the case of default. The fair value of 
this liability was EUR 148 thousand as at December 31, 2015 
(December 31, 2014: EUR 159 thousand) (see also note 46). 
As at December 31, 2015, other current liabilities (financial) 
were recognized at EUR 326 thousand (December 31, 2014: 
EUR 316 thousand) for the assumed obligations and risks 
from the factoring agreements. A total of EUR 10 thousand 
was recognized for this in profit or loss in the 2015 financial 
year. A cumulative amount of EUR 326 thousand has been 
recognized in profit or loss since the start of the agreement 
in the 2014 financial year. On the date of the transfer of the 
receivables in 2015, a total of EUR 315 thousand was recog-
nized in profit or loss.

Payments that were received from customers in the period 
between the last advance made by the bank and December 
31, are accrued in other current liabilities (financial). 

The banks have the right to sell receivables back to the  
Lenzing Group at nominal value. Such repurchases would 
have no effect on the allocation of credit risk defaults, as the 
default risk is not re-transferred. The cash outflows result-
ing from the repurchases would follow quickly, i.e. in 2016, if 
at all. Any utilization of the payment default guarantee would 
also follow quickly, i.e. in 2016. No utilization is expected for 
the receivables sold as at the reporting date. 
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note 40

net interest and net result from financial instruments and net foreign currency result

net interest and net result

Net interest and net result from financial instruments by class/measurement category in accordance with IAS 39 breaks down 
as follows:

The net result from financial instruments comprises net interest (current interest income and expenses including amortization of 
premiums and discounts and dividends of companies that are not accounted for using the equity method), gains/losses on remea-
surement from fair value measurement in profit or loss and directly in equity, the result from impairment (recognition and reversal 
of bad debt provisions/valuation adjustments) and disposals. Income from available-for-sale financial assets includes gains/losses 
from remeasurement and from the reclassification of the remeasurement gains/losses to profit or loss. Net result from financial 
instruments does not include exchange rate gains/losses (with the exception of financial instruments at fair value through profit or 
loss) and gains/losses from hedging instruments (cash flow hedges).

net interest and net result from financial instruments eUr ‘000

2015

From 
interest 
income

From 
interest 

expense
net  

interest

From subse-
quent measure-

ment at fair 
value through 
profit or loss

From subse-
quent measure-

ment at fair 
value directly  

in equity

From  
impair-

ment

From 
result on 
disposal

net 
result 
(total)

Loans and receivables 920 0 920 0 0 (3,075)1 0 (2,154)

Available-for-sale financial assets 649 0 649 0 163 0 0 813

Financial instruments measured 
at fair value through profit or loss 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Financial liabilities measured at 
amortized cost 0 (23,307) (23,307) 0 0 0 0 (23,307)

total 1,570 (23,307) (21,737) 0 163 (3,075) 0 (24,648)

net interest and net result from financial instruments (previous year) eUr ‘000

2014

From 
interest 
income

From 
interest 

expense
net  

interest

From subse-
quent measure-

ment at fair 
value through 
profit or loss

From subse-
quent measure-

ment at fair 
value directly  

in equity

From 
impair-

ment

From 
result on 
disposal

net 
result 
(total)

Loans and receivables 1,691 0 1,691 0 0 (4,699)1 0 (3,008)

Available-for-sale financial assets 233 0 233 0 790 0 (43) 980

Financial instruments measured 
at fair value through profit or loss 0 0 0 (124) 0 0 0 (124)

Financial liabilities measured at 
amortized cost 0 (25,861) (25,861) 0 0 0 0 (25,861)

total 1,924 (25,861) (23,937) (124) 790 (4,699) (43) (28,012)

1) Incl. valuation of non-current financial assets
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The change in bad debt provisions for “Receivables measured 
at amortized cost” is reported in “Other operating expenses”. 
The portion recognized directly in equity from the subsequent 
measurement of available-for-sale financial assets at fair value 
is reported in the “Reserve for available-for-sale financial as-
sets”. The remaining components of net result are included in 
“Income from non-current and current financial assets” and in 
“Financing costs”.

In the current financial year, expenses totaling EUR 2,051 thou-
sand (2014: EUR 2,306 thousand) were recognized for the pro-
vision of loans. 

net foreign currency result

Net foreign currency gains/losses are included in other oper-
ating income/expenses in the amount of EUR -276 thousand 
(2014: EUR +4,676 thousand), in income from non-current 
and current financial assets in the amount of EUR +5,034 
thousand (2014: EUR +4,077 thousand) and in financing costs 
in the amount of EUR -3,606 thousand (2014: EUR -1,556 
thousand).

note 41

Management of financial risks and derivative 
financial instruments

Basic information

As an international company, the Group is exposed to finan-
cial risks and other market risks. Potential risks are identified 
and assessed at an early stage using a company-wide risk 
management system that is regulated comprehensively in 
guidelines. This aims to achieve maximum risk transparency 
and quality of information by quantifying all risk categories, 
with particular regard to risk concentration. The efficiency of 
group-wide risk management is evaluated and monitored on 
an ongoing basis by both the internal control system (ICS) 
and the internal audit department.

Financial risks from financial instruments – credit risk, liquidity 
risk, currency risk (particularly USD, CNY and CZK), com-
modity price risk and interest rate risk – are classified as 

relevant risks for the Lenzing Group. Corresponding hedg-
ing measures are used to attempt to minimize these risks. 
Shares acquired in external companies are classified as long-
term investments and therefore are not seen as a relevant 
market price risk in the short to medium term.

credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk of losses of assets that may occur 
as a result of individual business partners failing to meet their 
contractual obligations. In the case of delivery transactions 
(particularly trade receivables), the credit risk inherent in the 
hedged item is secured against to a large extent by notable 
credit insurance and bankable security (guarantees, letters of 
credit, bills of exchange etc.). Accounts receivable and cus-
tomer limits are monitored on an ongoing basis. The credit 
risk at banks from investments (particularly cash and cash 
equivalents) and asset derivatives is reduced by concluding 
transactions only with counterparties with a good credit rat-
ing.

Receivables are measured individually. Individual bad debt 
provisions are recognized for receivables if they are not ex-
pected to be fully collectible. This applies in particular if there 
are significant financial difficulties of the debtor, default or de-
lay in making payments or an increased probability that the 
debtor will become bankrupt and the receivable concerned 
is not sufficiently collateralized. The historical default rates for 
receivables are low because of the Lenzing Group’s com-
prehensive receivables management (extensive collateraliza-
tion with credit insurance and bankable security and ongo-
ing monitoring of accounts receivable and customer limits). 
Group (collective) bad debt provisions therefore are not rec-
ognized.

The Group tends to rate the risk concentration with regard 
to trade receivables as low, as its customers are based in 
various countries, belong to various sectors and are active 
on largely independent markets. In addition, a rather small 
amount of the receivables is overdue and not impaired (see 
table “Aging of receivables”).
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The bad debt provisions developed as follows:

 

Bad debt provisions for trade receivables include bad debt provisions relating to companies accounted for using the equity 
method in the amount of EUR 2,104 thousand (2014: EUR 2,134 thousand).

Bad debt provisions for trade receivables mainly relate to bad debt provisions for past due, uninsured receivables.

The carrying amount of the impaired receivables is as follows:

development of bad debt provisions eUr ‘000

loans (non-current  
and current) trade receivables

other financial  
receivables (non- 

current and current)

Bad debt provisions as at 01/01/2014 2,271 7,554 3,580

Changes in scope of consolidation 0 0 0

Utilization 0 (557) (930)

Reversal (6) (124) 0

Addition 10 3,389 1,4301

Currency translation adjustment (22) 238 0

Bad debt provisions as at 31/12/2014 = 01/01/2015 2,253 10,501 4,080

Changes in scope of consolidation 0 (134) 0

Utilization 0 (1,097) (454)

Reversal (5) (873) 0

Addition 193 2,169 1,5911

Currency translation adjustment (17) 289 0

Bad debt provisions as at 31/12/2015 2,423 10,856 5,217

carrying amount of impaired receivables as at december 31, 2015 eUr ‘000

loans (non-current 
and current) trade receivables

other financial  
receivables (non- 

current and current)

Before bad debt provision 2,423 14,493 5,311

After bad debt provision 0 3,637 94

carrying amount of impaired receivables as at december 31, 2014 (previous year) eUr ‘000

loans (non-current 
and current) trade receivables

other financial  
receivables (non-

current and current)

Before bad debt provision 2,416 20,369 5,765

After bad debt provision 163 9,868 1,686

1) Incl. measurement of non-current financial assets
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The aging of the financial receivables breaks down as follows:

The maximum exposure to credit risk from financial assets recognized is as follows:

The maximum exposure to credit risk from financial guarantee contracts and contingent liabilities is shown in note 46.

From a current point of view, there are no doubts regarding the collectability of financial assets that are neither past due nor 
impaired.

There are no significant concentrations of risk from the investment of financial assets with only one business partner.

aging of receivables eUr ‘000

loans (non-current 
and current) trade receivables

other financial  
receivables (non-

current and current)

Carrying amount as at 31/12/2015 5,011 258,939 26,423

Thereof not impaired at the reporting date:

   Not overdue 5,011 239,176 26,329

 Overdue up to 30 days 0 13,307 0

 Overdue for 31 to 90 days 0 2,264 0

 Overdue for 91 to 365 days 0 173 0

 Overdue for more than one year 0 381 0

Thereof impaired 0 3,637 94

aging of receivables (previous year) eUr ‘000

loans (non-current 
and current) trade receivables

other financial  
receivables (non-

current and current)

Carrying amount as at 31/12/2014 7,261 232,769 28,560

Thereof not impaired at the reporting date: 0

 Not overdue 7,098 205,089 26,874

 Overdue up to 30 days 0 13,939 0

 Overdue for 31 to 90 days 0 1,761 0

 Overdue for 91 to 365 days 0 2,099 0

 Overdue for more than one year 0 12 0

Thereof impaired 163 9,868 1,686

Maximum exposure to credit risk from financial assets recognized eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Carrying amount of asset financial instruments (see note 39) 655,462 556,315

Less risk reduction in relation to receivables due to

 Credit insurance received (not including deductibles) (150,151) (133,629)

 Guarantees received (6,710) (3,436)

total 498,602 419,250
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liquidity risk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk of not being able to obtain funds at all times to settle the liabilities incurred. Management of liquidity 
risk is given high priority in the Lenzing Group. The company guidelines stipulate uniform, forward-looking liquidity planning and me-
dium-term planning throughout the Group. The risk of a possible liquidity shortage is monitored continuously in the Lenzing Group. 

The Lenzing Group has liquid assets totaling EUR 355,311 thousand (December 31, 2014: EUR 280,261 thousand) in the form of 
cash and cash equivalents, liquid securities and liquid bills of exchange (see note 38). To finance necessary operating resources 
and to cover any deficits caused by economic cycles, there were free credit facilities in the amount of EUR 190,918 thousand 

Maturity analysis of non-derivative financial liabilities eUr ‘000

Measurement category pursuant to iaS 39 31/12/2015 cash flows 2016 cash flows 2017 to 2020 cash flows from 2021

carrying 
amount

Fixed  
interest

Fixed 
and 

floating-
rate 

interest

Float-
ing-rate 
interest

repay-
ment

Fixed 
interest

Fixed 
and 

floating-
rate 

interest

Float-
ing-rate 
interest

repay-
ment

Fixed 
interest

Fixed 
and 

floating-
rate 

interest

Float-
ing-rate 
interest

repay-
ment

Bond Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC) 119,817 4,650 0 0 0 4,650 0 0 120,000 0 0 0 0

Private placements Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC) 288,821 5,422 0 901 40,500 15,472 0 3,983 100,500 6,150 0 1,802 148,500

Liabilities to banks Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC) 239,361 22 0 5,263 123,248 4 0 2,530 116,113 0 0 0 0

Liabilities to other lenders Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC) 28,952 52 149 92 7,917 43 271 92 20,335 0 4 0 700

Trade payables Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC) 149,987 0 0 0 149,987 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Puttable non-controlling interests n/a (other) 11,686 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11,686

Other liabilities - other financial liabilities (not including financial guarantee contracts) Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC) 40,248 0 0 0 40,245 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0

Other current financial liabilities (financial guarantee contracts)1 n/a (other) 148 0 0 0 148 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Accruals - other (financial) Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC) 23,419 0 0 0 23,419 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Finance lease liabilities n/a (IAS 17) 6,295 59 0 0 646 173 0 0 1,643 4,636 0 0 4,007

total 908,735 10,205 149 6,256 386,110 20,344 271 6,605 358,594 10,786 4 1,802 164,893

Maturity analysis of non-derivative financial liabilities (previous year) eUr ‘000

Measurement category pursuant to iaS 39 31/12/2014 cash flows 2015 cash flows 2016 to 2019 cash flows from 2020

carrying 
amount

Fixed  
interest

Fixed 
and 

floating-
rate 

interest

Float-
ing-rate 
interest

repay-
ment

Fixed 
interest

Fixed 
and 

floating-
rate 

interest

Float-
ing-rate 
interest

repay-
ment

Fixed 
interest

Fixed 
and 

floating-
rate 

interest

Float-
ing-rate 
interest

repay-
ment

Bond Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC) 119,713 4,650 0 0 0 9,300 0 0 120,000 0 0 0 0

Private placements Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC) 228,468 4,184 0 1,630 0 13,241 0 3,213 193,000 4,324 0 0 36,000

Liabilities to banks Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC) 346,790 699 0 7,722 185,117 27 0 5,831 161,673 0 0 0 0

Liabilities to other lenders Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC) 30,326 71 171 81 7,184 64 302 81 22,107 1 4 0 1,035

Trade payables Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC) 181,130 0 0 0 181,130 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Puttable non-controlling interests n/a (other) 12,410 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12,410

Other liabilities - other financial liabilities (not including financial guarantee contracts) Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC) 35,415 0 0 0 34,609 0 0 0 807 0 0 0 0

Other current financial liabilities (financial guarantee contracts)1 n/a (other) 159 0 0 0 159 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Accruals - other (financial) Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC) 22,682 0 0 0 22,682 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Finance lease liabilities n/a (IAS 17) 4,482 23 0 0 389 60 0 0 2,115 4,623 0 0 1,978

total 981,575 9,628 171 9,432 431,269 22,692 302 9,125 499,702 8,948 4 0 51,423

1) The maximum possible payment obligations from financial guarantee contracts granted are shown. The amounts are assumed to be due in the first year. 
   



ANNUAL REPORT 2015 . lenzinG GroUP |  167

as at December 31, 2015 (December 31, 2014: EUR 198,509 thousand). In the medium and long term, the Lenzing Group is 
financed with equity and financial liabilities, particularly bonds, private placements and bank loans. Current financial liabilities 
can regularly be extended or refinanced with other lenders. Trade payables serve the short-term financing of the goods and 
services purchased. The liabilities covered by reverse factoring agreements are settled in line with their agreed maturity; the 
associated outflows are taken into account in liquidity planning. For this reason, the Group tends to rate the risk concentration 
with regard to sufficient sources of financing as low.

The contractually agreed (undiscounted) interest and principal payments for primary financial liabilities (including financial guar-
antee contracts) break down as follows:

Maturity analysis of non-derivative financial liabilities eUr ‘000

Measurement category pursuant to iaS 39 31/12/2015 cash flows 2016 cash flows 2017 to 2020 cash flows from 2021

carrying 
amount

Fixed  
interest

Fixed 
and 

floating-
rate 

interest

Float-
ing-rate 
interest

repay-
ment

Fixed 
interest

Fixed 
and 

floating-
rate 

interest

Float-
ing-rate 
interest

repay-
ment

Fixed 
interest

Fixed 
and 

floating-
rate 

interest

Float-
ing-rate 
interest

repay-
ment

Bond Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC) 119,817 4,650 0 0 0 4,650 0 0 120,000 0 0 0 0

Private placements Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC) 288,821 5,422 0 901 40,500 15,472 0 3,983 100,500 6,150 0 1,802 148,500

Liabilities to banks Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC) 239,361 22 0 5,263 123,248 4 0 2,530 116,113 0 0 0 0

Liabilities to other lenders Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC) 28,952 52 149 92 7,917 43 271 92 20,335 0 4 0 700

Trade payables Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC) 149,987 0 0 0 149,987 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Puttable non-controlling interests n/a (other) 11,686 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11,686

Other liabilities - other financial liabilities (not including financial guarantee contracts) Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC) 40,248 0 0 0 40,245 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0

Other current financial liabilities (financial guarantee contracts)1 n/a (other) 148 0 0 0 148 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Accruals - other (financial) Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC) 23,419 0 0 0 23,419 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Finance lease liabilities n/a (IAS 17) 6,295 59 0 0 646 173 0 0 1,643 4,636 0 0 4,007

total 908,735 10,205 149 6,256 386,110 20,344 271 6,605 358,594 10,786 4 1,802 164,893

Maturity analysis of non-derivative financial liabilities (previous year) eUr ‘000

Measurement category pursuant to iaS 39 31/12/2014 cash flows 2015 cash flows 2016 to 2019 cash flows from 2020

carrying 
amount

Fixed  
interest

Fixed 
and 

floating-
rate 

interest

Float-
ing-rate 
interest

repay-
ment

Fixed 
interest

Fixed 
and 

floating-
rate 

interest

Float-
ing-rate 
interest

repay-
ment

Fixed 
interest

Fixed 
and 

floating-
rate 

interest

Float-
ing-rate 
interest

repay-
ment

Bond Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC) 119,713 4,650 0 0 0 9,300 0 0 120,000 0 0 0 0

Private placements Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC) 228,468 4,184 0 1,630 0 13,241 0 3,213 193,000 4,324 0 0 36,000

Liabilities to banks Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC) 346,790 699 0 7,722 185,117 27 0 5,831 161,673 0 0 0 0

Liabilities to other lenders Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC) 30,326 71 171 81 7,184 64 302 81 22,107 1 4 0 1,035

Trade payables Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC) 181,130 0 0 0 181,130 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Puttable non-controlling interests n/a (other) 12,410 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12,410

Other liabilities - other financial liabilities (not including financial guarantee contracts) Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC) 35,415 0 0 0 34,609 0 0 0 807 0 0 0 0

Other current financial liabilities (financial guarantee contracts)1 n/a (other) 159 0 0 0 159 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Accruals - other (financial) Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC) 22,682 0 0 0 22,682 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Finance lease liabilities n/a (IAS 17) 4,482 23 0 0 389 60 0 0 2,115 4,623 0 0 1,978

total 981,575 9,628 171 9,432 431,269 22,692 302 9,125 499,702 8,948 4 0 51,423
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The tables above include all primary financial liabilities held at the reporting date. They do not include planned figures for future 
liabilities. Amounts in foreign currency were translated at the spot exchange rate as at the reporting date. Floating-rate interest 
payments were calculated based on the last interest rates set before the reporting date. Financial liabilities that are repayable at 
any time are always assigned to the earliest time period.

The contractually agreed (undiscounted) interest and principal payments for derivative financial instruments break down as 
follows:

 
 Maturity analysis of derivative financial instruments eUr ‘000

Measurement category pursuant to iaS 39 31/12/2015                                      cash flows 2016 cash flows 2017 to 2020 cash flows from 2021

carrying 
amount

Fixed  
interest

Fixed and  
floating- 

rate interest

Floating-
rate inter-

est
repay-

ment
Fixed 

interest

Fixed and 
floating-rate 

interest

Floating-
rate inter-

est
repay-

ment
Fixed 

interest

Fixed and 
floating-rate 

interest

Floating-
rate inter-

est
repay-

ment

currency derivatives

Cash flow hedges n/a 2,138 0 0 0 1,300 0 0 0 838

Cash flow hedges with the underlying already recognized in profit or loss n/a 418 418 0

Trading At fair value through profit or loss (trading) 0 0 0

Positive fair value 2,556 0 0 0 1,718 0 0 0 838 0 0 0 0

Cash flow hedges n/a (4,267) (3,985) (282)

Cash flow hedges with the underlying already recognized in profit or loss n/a (11,106) (11,106) 0

Trading At fair value through profit or loss (trading) 0 0 0

negative fair value (15,373) 0 0 0 (15,090) 0 0 0 (282) 0 0 0 0

total currency derivatives (12,817) 0 0 0 (13,373) 0 0 0 556 0 0 0 0

Gas derivatives

Cash flow hedges n/a (996) (996) 0

Cash flow hedges with the underlying already recognized in profit or loss n/a 0 0 0

Trading At fair value through profit or loss (trading) 0 0 0

negative fair value (996) 0 0 0 (996) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

total gas derivatives (996) 0 0 0 (996) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

total (13,813) 0 0 0 (14,369) 0 0 0 556 0 0 0 0

Fair value: + = receivable, - = liability from the Lenzing Group’s perspective   
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Maturity analysis of derivative financial instruments eUr ‘000

Measurement category pursuant to iaS 39 31/12/2015                                      cash flows 2016 cash flows 2017 to 2020 cash flows from 2021

carrying 
amount

Fixed  
interest

Fixed and  
floating- 

rate interest

Floating-
rate inter-

est
repay-

ment
Fixed 

interest

Fixed and 
floating-rate 

interest

Floating-
rate inter-

est
repay-

ment
Fixed 

interest

Fixed and 
floating-rate 

interest

Floating-
rate inter-

est
repay-

ment

currency derivatives

Cash flow hedges n/a 2,138 0 0 0 1,300 0 0 0 838

Cash flow hedges with the underlying already recognized in profit or loss n/a 418 418 0

Trading At fair value through profit or loss (trading) 0 0 0

Positive fair value 2,556 0 0 0 1,718 0 0 0 838 0 0 0 0

Cash flow hedges n/a (4,267) (3,985) (282)

Cash flow hedges with the underlying already recognized in profit or loss n/a (11,106) (11,106) 0

Trading At fair value through profit or loss (trading) 0 0 0

negative fair value (15,373) 0 0 0 (15,090) 0 0 0 (282) 0 0 0 0

total currency derivatives (12,817) 0 0 0 (13,373) 0 0 0 556 0 0 0 0

Gas derivatives

Cash flow hedges n/a (996) (996) 0

Cash flow hedges with the underlying already recognized in profit or loss n/a 0 0 0

Trading At fair value through profit or loss (trading) 0 0 0

negative fair value (996) 0 0 0 (996) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

total gas derivatives (996) 0 0 0 (996) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

total (13,813) 0 0 0 (14,369) 0 0 0 556 0 0 0 0
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Maturity analysis of derivative financial instruments (previous year) eUr ‘000

Measurement category pursuant to iaS 39 31/12/2014                                      cash flows 2015 cash flows 2016 to 2019 cash flows from 2020

carrying 
amount

Fixed  
interest

Fixed and  
floating- 

rate interest

Floating-
rate inter-

est
repay-

ment
Fixed 

interest

Fixed and 
floating-rate 

interest

Floating-
rate inter-

est
repay-

ment
Fixed 

interest

Fixed and 
floating-rate 

interest

Floating-
rate inter-

est
repay-

ment

currency derivatives

Cash flow hedges n/a 317 0 0 0 246 0 0 0 71

Cash flow hedges with the underlying already recognized in profit or loss n/a 207 207 0

Trading At fair value through profit or loss (trading) 0 0 0

Positive fair value 524 0 0 0 453 0 0 0 71 0 0 0 0

Cash flow hedges n/a (24,946) (21,103) (3,843)

Cash flow hedges with the underlying already recognized in profit or loss n/a (7,485) (7,485) 0

Trading At fair value through profit or loss (trading) 0 0 0

negative fair value (32,431) 0 0 0 (28,588) 0 0 0 (3,843) 0 0 0 0

total currency derivatives (31,907) 0 0 0 (28,135) 0 0 0 (3,772) 0 0 0 0

Gas derivatives

Cash flow hedges n/a (1,576) (926) (651)

Cash flow hedges with the underlying already recognized in profit or loss n/a 0 0 0

Trading At fair value through profit or loss (trading) 0 0 0

negative fair value (1,576) 0 0 0 (926) 0 0 0 (651) 0 0 0 0

total gas derivatives (1,576) 0 0 0 (926) 0 0 0 (651) 0 0 0 0

total (33,484) 0 0 0 (29,061) 0 0 0 (4,423) 0 0 0 0

Fair value: + = receivable, - = liability from the Lenzing Group’s perspective   
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Maturity analysis of derivative financial instruments (previous year) eUr ‘000

Measurement category pursuant to iaS 39 31/12/2014                                      cash flows 2015 cash flows 2016 to 2019 cash flows from 2020

carrying 
amount

Fixed  
interest

Fixed and  
floating- 

rate interest

Floating-
rate inter-

est
repay-

ment
Fixed 

interest

Fixed and 
floating-rate 

interest

Floating-
rate inter-

est
repay-

ment
Fixed 

interest

Fixed and 
floating-rate 

interest

Floating-
rate inter-

est
repay-

ment

currency derivatives

Cash flow hedges n/a 317 0 0 0 246 0 0 0 71

Cash flow hedges with the underlying already recognized in profit or loss n/a 207 207 0

Trading At fair value through profit or loss (trading) 0 0 0

Positive fair value 524 0 0 0 453 0 0 0 71 0 0 0 0

Cash flow hedges n/a (24,946) (21,103) (3,843)

Cash flow hedges with the underlying already recognized in profit or loss n/a (7,485) (7,485) 0

Trading At fair value through profit or loss (trading) 0 0 0

negative fair value (32,431) 0 0 0 (28,588) 0 0 0 (3,843) 0 0 0 0

total currency derivatives (31,907) 0 0 0 (28,135) 0 0 0 (3,772) 0 0 0 0

Gas derivatives

Cash flow hedges n/a (1,576) (926) (651)

Cash flow hedges with the underlying already recognized in profit or loss n/a 0 0 0

Trading At fair value through profit or loss (trading) 0 0 0

negative fair value (1,576) 0 0 0 (926) 0 0 0 (651) 0 0 0 0

total gas derivatives (1,576) 0 0 0 (926) 0 0 0 (651) 0 0 0 0

total (33,484) 0 0 0 (29,061) 0 0 0 (4,423) 0 0 0 0
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currency risk

The companies of the Lenzing Group are exposed to cur-
rency risks on the basis of cash flows from capital expen-
ditures and from operating business as well as from invest-
ments and financing in foreign currencies. Risks from foreign 
currencies are hedged as far as possible if they influence 
the Group’s cash flows. In operating business, the individual 
group companies are exposed to currency risk in connec-
tion with planned incoming and outgoing payments in cur-
rencies other than their functional currency. The exchange 
rate risk arising from foreign-currency items from anticipated 
future transactions by group companies in foreign currencies 
is hedged with forward foreign exchange contracts, which 
are recognized at fair value. 

For companies with the same functional currency, the re-
spective net exposures in foreign currency are calculated for 
the following sales year as part of budgeting. Purchases in a 
particular foreign currency and sales in a particular foreign 
currency are each aggregated into groups. As at December 
31, 2015, approximately 61% (December 31, 2014: approxi-
mately 59%) of the budgeted net exposure for the following 
financial year for the dominant currency pair in the Lenzing 
Group, EUR/USD, was hedged. In addition the CNY plays an 
important role. The level of the resulting risk concentration as 
at the reporting date can be seen in the tables below (espe-
cially the “Sensitivity analysis and risk exposure for foreign 
currency risks” tables). 

At group level, translation risk is also regularly assessed 
and monitored. Translation risk refers to the risk that arises 
because of the consolidation of foreign investments whose 
functional currency is not the euro. The greatest risk expo-
sure here is in relation to the USD.

instruments for hedging against currency risk

Cash flow hedge derivatives are allocated to revenue from 
operating business in the subsequent financial years in the 
respective hedged currency. The resulting cash flows are 
planned on a monthly basis. The sum of incoming and out-
going payments for each month is balanced as at the end of 
the respective month. Cash flow hedge derivatives with the 
hedged item already recognized in profit or loss are used to 
hedge foreign-currency receivables/liabilities that are already 
recognized at the reporting period but do not impact cash un-
til after the reporting date. In some cases, group companies 
use derivatives for hedging against currency risks to which 
no hedged items are allocated in accounting terms (trading 
derivatives), but which are used to hedge against currency 
risks in economic terms. For this reason, hedge accounting 
is not used for these derivatives.

The ineffective portion of the cash flow hedge derivatives 
amounted to EUR 0 thousand in the financial year (2014: EUR 
43 thousand).
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cash flow hedge derivatives for currency risks

The nominal values and fair values of the cash flow hedge derivatives are as follows as at the reporting dates:

nominal value, fair value and hedging period of cash flow hedge  
derivatives for currency risks eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

nominal  
value in ‘000

Positive  
fair 

value
negative  
fair value

net fair  
value

Hedging  
period  

until
nominal  

value in ‘000

Positive  
fair 

value
negative  
fair value

net fair  
value

Hedging  
period 

until

Forward for-
eign exchange  
contracts

CNY/CNH-sale/
EUR-buy CNY/CNH 533,490 1,671 (157) 1,514 09/2017 CNY/CNH 1,231,000 0 (6,293) (6,293) 06/2016

CNY/CNH-sale/
GBP-buy CNY/CNH 164,585 79 (148) (69) 06/2017 CNY/CNH 123,200 0 (445) (445) 06/2016

CZK-buy/ 
EUR-sale CZK 48,000 11 (4) 7 08/2016 CZK 202,000 0 (91) (91) 01/2016

JPY-sale/ 
GBP-buy JPY 0 0 0 0 n/a JPY 261,000 106 0 106 01/2016

USD-buy/ 
EUR-sale USD 176 7 0 7 01/2016 USD 5,000 210 0 210 02/2016

EUR sale/ 
GBP-buy EUR 5,890 0 (122) (122) 01/2017 EUR 0 0 0 0 n/a

USD-sale/ 
CZK-buy USD 70,700 120 (1,332) (1,211) 01/2017 USD 81,600 0 (5,451) (5,451) 01/2016

USD-sale/ 
EUR-buy USD 170,620 251 (2,505) (2,253) 06/2017 USD 213,600 0 (12,088) (12,088) 01/2016

USD-sale/ 
GBP-buy USD 0 0 0 0 n/a USD 9,700 0 (577) (577) 08/2015

total 2,138 (4,267) (2,129) 317 (24,946) (24,629)

Fair value: + = receivable, - = liability from the Lenzing Group’s perspective
The hedging period stated is equivalent to the period of the expected cash flows and their recognition in profit or loss.
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cash flow hedge derivatives for currency risks with the hedged item  
already recognized in profit or loss

The nominal values and fair values of cash flow hedge derivatives with the hedged item already recognized in profit or loss are 
as follows as at the reporting dates:  

Sensitivity analysis and exposure for currency risks

Sensitivity analyses are performed for currency risks. They show the effects of hypothetical changes in exchange rates on profit 
or loss/other comprehensive income/equity.

The Lenzing Group uses the following assumptions in its analysis:

 � As a basis for the sensitivity of profit or loss, the Group uses receivables and liabilities of group companies that are denomi-
nated in a currency other than the functional currency of the relevant company, open derivatives from cash flow hedges for 
currency risks with the hedged item already recognized in profit or loss and trading derivatives for currency risks as at the 
reporting date. The carrying amounts of the receivables and liabilities and the nominal values of the derivatives correspond 
to the exposure. For the aggregation to group exposure, the individual exposures are presented consistently in relation to 
the currencies USD/EUR. 

 � Open derivatives from cash flow hedges for currency risks with the hedged item not yet recognized in profit or loss are used 
as the basis for the sensitivity of other comprehensive income as at the reporting date. The nominal value of the open deriva-
tives corresponds to the exposure.

nominal value and fair value of cash flow hedge derivatives for currency risks with the  
underlying already recognized in profit or loss eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

nominal  
value in ‘000

Positive  
fair value

negative  
fair value

net fair  
value

nominal  
value in ‘000

Positive  
fair value

negative  
fair value

net fair  
value

Forward foreign  
exchange contracts

CNY/CNH-sale/EUR-buy CNY/CNH 635,600 105 (8,126) (8,021) CNY/CNH 420,050 0 (4,520) (4,520)

CNY/CNH-sale/GBP-buy CNY/CNH 61,600 0 (259) (259) CNY/CNH 0 0 0 0

CZK-buy/EUR-sale CZK 16,000 12 0 12 CZK 0 0 0 0

JPY-sale/EUR-buy JPY 0 0 0 0 JPY 3,500 2 0 2

JPY-sale/GBP-buy JPY 14,000 2 0 2 JPY 49,500 34 0 34

EUR-sale/GBP-buy EUR 300 0 (1) (1) EUR 0 0 0 0

USD-buy/EUR-sale USD 2,900 253 0 253 USD 2,143 171 0 171

USD-sale/CZK-buy USD 7,000 0 (923) (923) USD 6,900 0 (801) (801)

USD-sale/EUR-buy USD 24,250 45 (1,796) (1,750) USD 22,818 0 (1,938) (1,938)

USD-sale/GBP-buy USD 0 0 0 0 USD 5,500 0 (227) (227)

total 418 (11,106) (10,688) 207 (7,485) (7,278)

Fair value: + = receivable, - = liability from the Lenzing Group’s perspective
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The sensitivities and exposure for currency risk are as follows as at the reporting dates:

Sensitivity analysis and risk exposure for foreign currency risks (eUr) eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Group 
exposure in 

relation to 
eUr

Sensitivity in 
the event of 

10% devalu-
ation of the 

eUr

Sensitivity in 
the event of 
10% revalu-
ation of the 

eUr

Group 
exposure in 

relation to 
eUr

Sensitivity in 
the event of 

10% devalu-
ation of the 

eUr

Sensitivity in 
the event of 
10% revalu-
ation of the 

eUr

EUR-USD 77,498 8,611 (7,045) 74,379 8,264 (6,762)

EUR-GBP (2,170) (241) 197 (2,674) (297) 243

EUR-CNY/CNH 10,944 1,216 (995) 50,407 5,601 (4,582)

EUR-CZK 53,939 5,993 (4,904) 90,955 10,106 (8,269)

EUR-HKD (3,182) (354) 289 (2,536) (282) 231

Sensitivity of profit or loss (due to receivables 
and liabilities) 15,225 (12,457) 23,392 (19,139)

Sensitivity of other comprehensive income 
(due to cash flow hedge derivatives) (25,902) 23,637 (35,857) 31,473

Sensitivity of equity (10,677) 11,180 (12,465) 12,333

Group exposure: + receivable, - liability; sensitivity: + increase in profit/in other comprehensive income, - decrease in profit/in other comprehensive income

Sensitivity analysis and risk exposure for foreign currency risks (USd) eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Group 
exposure in 

relation to 
USd

Sensitivity in 
the event of 

10% devalu-
ation of the 

USd

Sensitivity in 
the event of 
10% revalu-
ation of the 

USd

Group 
exposure in 

relation to 
USd

Sensitivity in 
the event of 

10% devalu-
ation of the 

USd

Sensitivity in 
the event of 
10% revalu-
ation of the 

USd

USD-IDR 38,439 4,271 (3,494) 3,328 370 (303)

USD-GBP (7,415) (824) 674 (6,019) (669) 547

USD-HKD 59 7 (5) 47 5 (4)

USD-CNY/CNH 26,329 2,925 (2,394) 30,933 3,437 (2,812)

USD-CZK (15,649) (1,739) 1,423 (2,463) (274) 224

Sensitivity of profit or loss (due to receivables 
and liabilities) 4,640 (3,797) 2,870 (2,348)

Sensitivity of other comprehensive income 
(due to cash flow hedge derivatives) 12,006 (14,674) 12,495 (15,271)

Sensitivity of equity 16,646 (18,471) 15,364 (17,619)

Group exposure: + receivable, - liability; sensitivity: + increase in profit/in other comprehensive income, - decrease in profit/in other comprehensive income
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commodity price risk

As part of the optimization of energy costs, gas purchasing in the Lenzing Group was largely centralized. The Group uses OTC 
gas swaps as cash flow hedges to manage gas price risks. The hedging strategies are determined based on the planned gas 
consumption figures in the relevant currency and are compared with the current market prices on a monthly basis (“market to 
market” assessment). The Lenzing Group is exposed to accounting-related price risks because of the gas swaps. These risks 
particularly relate to the possibility that fair value measurement of the gas swaps may result in a negative impact on other com-
prehensive income/equity in the event of an adverse change in market prices.

Other than this, the Group is subject to the usual market price risks in connection with its business activities (particularly for 
wood, pulp and energy), which are not hedged with derivatives or financial instruments, but instead with other safeguarding 
measures (particularly long-term and short-term supply contracts with various suppliers).  

instruments for hedging against commodity price risks – cash flow hedges

The nominal values and fair values of the cash flow hedge derivatives are as follows as at the reporting dates:

 

Sensitivity analysis and exposure for commodity price risks

Sensitivity analyses are performed for the price change risk from gas swaps. They show the effects of hypothetical changes in 
gas prices on profit or loss/other comprehensive income/equity.

The Lenzing Group uses the following assumptions in its analysis:

 � Open derivatives from cash flow hedges as at the reporting date are used as the basis for the sensitivity.

 � The exposure corresponds to the nominal values of the derivatives (not including the hedged items). In economic terms, 
the derivatives are used to hedge physical hedged items that will impact profit or loss in subsequent periods, meaning that 
from an economic perspective there is no risk exposure in combination with the hedged items.

1) Corresponds to the exposure           
 

contract value, nominal value and hedging  
period of cash flow hedge derivatives for commodity price risks eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

contract 
value1  

in ‘000
Positive  

fair value
negative  
fair value

net fair 
value

Hedging  
period 

until

contract 
value1  

in ‘000
Positive  

fair value
negative  
fair value

net fair 
value

Hedging  
period 

until

Gas swaps

GBP 2,403 0 (996) (996) 03/2016 GBP 5,767 0 (1,576) (1,576) 03/2016

total 0 (996) (996) 0 (1,576) (1,576)

Fair value: + = receivable, - = liability from the Lenzing Group’s perspective (each shown as net position) 
The hedging period stated is equivalent to the period of the expected cash flows and their recognition in profit or loss.



ANNUAL REPORT 2015 . lenzinG GroUP |  177

If the market price level for gas had been 10% higher/lower as at December 31, 2015, this would have changed other compre-
hensive income/equity before tax by EUR +/-238 thousand (December 31, 2014: EUR +/-581 thousand).

interest rate risk

The Lenzing Group is exposed to interest rate risk because of its business-related financing and investment activities. Interest 
rate risks arise on the basis of potential changes in the market interest rate. They can lead to a change in fair value in the case of 
fixed-rate financial instruments and to fluctuations in the cash flows from interest payments in the case of floating-rate financial 
instruments. Interest rate risks and the resulting risk concentrations are managed by monitoring and adjusting the composition 
of fixed-rate and floating-rate primary financial instruments on an ongoing basis and occasionally by using derivative financial 
instruments. The level of the resulting risk concentration as at the reporting date can be seen in the “Risk exposure for interest 
rate risks” table below. The decisive factor for management is the effect of the interest rate risk on earnings. There were no 
outstanding interest rate derivatives as at the reporting dates. 

Sensitivity analysis and exposure for interest rate risks

As at the reporting dates, the exposure for interest rate risks in the form of the carrying amounts of interest-bearing primary 
financial instruments is as follows:

 

Sensitivity analyses are performed for interest rate risks from floating-rate financial instruments. They show the effects of hypo-
thetical changes in interest rates on profit or loss/other comprehensive income/equity.

1) Includes the wholesale fund GF82, whose income is distributed or reinvested.        
    

risk exposure for interest rate risks eUr ‘000

31/12/2015

Fixed interest
Fixed and floating-

rate interest
Floating- 

rate interest no interest total

Cash and cash equivalents 0 0 347,254 0 347,254

Financial assets1 3,754 0 0 19,093 22,847

Financial liabilities (346,803) (19,837) (316,606) 0 (683,247)

total (343,050) (19,837) 30,647 19,093 (313,146)

risk exposure for interest rate risks (previous year) eUr ‘000

31/12/2014

Fixed interest
Fixed and floating-

rate interest
Floating- 

rate interest no interest total

Cash and cash equivalents 0 0 271,791 0 271,791

Financial assets1 3,754 0 1,815 17,626 23,194

Financial liabilities (311,595) (21,983) (396,200) 0 (729,778)

total (307,841) (21,983) (122,594) 17,626 (434,793)

+ receivables, - liabilities
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The Lenzing Group uses the following assumptions in its analysis:

 � All floating-rate primary financial instruments as at the reporting date are used as the basis for the sensitivity.

 � The exposure corresponds to the carrying amount of the floating-rate financial instruments.

The sensitivities and exposure for interest rate risks from floating-rate financial instruments are as follows as at the reporting 
dates:

 

Further information on financial risk management and financial instruments can be found in the risk report of the Lenzing Group 
Management Report as at December 31, 2015 (particularly in the section on “Use of financial instruments”).

1) Sensitivity decreases proportionately to reduction of basis points.
2) Liabilities at which no negative interest is calculated will not be included in the calculation. 

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risks  
from floating-rate financial instruments eUr ‘000

31/12/2015

exposure with 
floating-rate 

interest

Sensitivity in the 
event of 100 bp 

increase in inter-
est rate level

Sensitivity in the 
event of 100 bp 

decrease in inter-
est rate level1

Cash and cash equivalents 347,254 3,473 (3,473)

Financial assets 0 0 0

Financial liabilities (316,606) (3,166) 2,4012

Sensitivity of profit or loss/of equity 30,647 306 (1,071)

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risks  
from floating-rate financial instruments (previous year) eUr ‘000

31/12/2014

exposure with 
floating-rate 

interest

Sensitivity in the 
event of 100 bp 

increase in inter-
est rate level

Sensitivity in the 
event of 100 bp 

decrease in inter-
est rate level

Cash and cash equivalents 271,791 2,718 (2,718)

Financial assets 1,815 18 (18)

Financial liabilities (396,200) (3,962) 3,962

Sensitivity of profit or loss/of equity (122,594) (1,226) 1,226
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notes on leases 

note 42

Finance leases

Property, plant and equipment includes development rights and other assets from finance leases in which the Lenzing Group 
is the lessee. The finance lease for development rights relates to land handed over to Lenzing AG for use in exchange for an 
index-linked lease payment. After the end of the lease, Lenzing AG has the right to acquire the land at its market value. The 
lease has a term of 99 years.

The other finance leases include agreements on the modernization of small hydro power plants, in which the lessor undertakes 
to construct, operate and maintain power plants as part of the revitalization. All of the energy generated is purchased by Lenz-
ing AG for a contractually agreed fee, part of which serves to cover the investment costs and which is considered a contingent 
lease payment. After the agreements expire, ownership of the power plants will be transferred to Lenzing AG in exchange for 
payment of a transfer fee. The lease has a term of 25 years. In addition, there are finance leases concerning agreements on an 
industrial primary clarifier and related expansion investments. After the agreements expire, the ownership of the plant including 
the land can be transferred to Lenzing AG in exchange for payment of a transfer fee. The lease has a term of up to 16 years.

The carrying amount of the leased assets is as follows:

 

 

carrying amount of leased assets eUr ‘000

2015
land and 
buildings

technical equip-
ment and machinery, 

factory and office 
equipment

Prepayments  
and assets under 

construction total

Cost 668 2,145 3,373 6,185

Accumulated depreciation (85) (549) 0 (634)

carrying amount 31/12/2015 583 1,596 3,373 5,552

carrying amount of leased assets (previous year) eUr ‘000

2014
land and 
buildings

technical equip-
ment and machinery, 

factory and office 
equipment

Prepayments  
and assets under 

construction total

Cost 668 2,145 1,404 4,217

Accumulated depreciation (78) (339) 0 (418)

carrying amount 31/12/2014 589 1,805 1,404 3,799
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The present value of minimum lease payments breaks down as follows:

 
 

 

Finance lease obligations are included under “Financial liabilities” in the consolidated statement of financial position (see note 31).

 

note 43

operating leases

the lenzing Group as lessee

There are obligations from rental and lease agreements for 
property, plant and equipment that is not reported in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. Earnings before 
interest and tax in 2015 include expenses from rental and 
lease agreements amounting to EUR 10,982 thousand (2014: 
EUR 7,513 thousand). They chiefly consist of minimum lease 
payments.

The future minimum lease payments during the non-cancel-
lable term of these leases relating to IT equipment, vehicles, 
rail cars and office and storage premises break down as fol-
lows, classified by year:

The conditions of the main operating leases can be summa-
rized as follows:

 � it equipment:  The leases have a term of up to 3 years. 
There are no price adjustment clauses.

 � vehicles: The leases have a term of up to 5 years. These 
agreements do not provide for any possibility to acquire 
the vehicles at the end of the contractual term and there 
are no price adjustment clauses.

 � rail cars: The leases have a term of up to 12 years. 
The agreements can be canceled after a minimum term. 
There are price adjustment clauses in some cases.

 � office and storage premises: The leases have a term of 
up to 5 years. These agreements do not provide for any 
possibility to acquire the office and storage premises at 
the end of the contractual term. There are extension op-
tions and price adjustment clauses in some cases.

Minimum lease payments as lessee (finance leases) eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

< 1 year 1-5 years > 5 years total < 1 year 1-5 years > 5 years total

Total future minimum lease payments 705 1,816 8,643 11,164 412 2,176 6,601 9,188

Thereof interest component (59) (173) (4,636) (4,869) (23) (60) (4,623) (4,707)

total 646 1,643 4,007 6,295 389 2,115 1,978 4,482

Minimum lease payments as lessee 
(operating leases) eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

In subsequent year 5,554 5,704

In the following 2-5 years 8,268 12,337

Thereafter 12 1,507

total 13,834 19,548
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the lenzing Group as lessor

The future minimum lease payments during the non-cancel-
lable term of the leases mainly relate to land and buildings 
and break down as follows, classified by year:

 

 
The most significant lease relates to land where the recy-
cling plant is operated by RVL Reststoffverwertung Lenzing 
GmbH. The lease payments are index-linked. The lease was 
concluded for an indefinite term and can be canceled at the 
earliest as at December 31, 2029, subject to a notice period 
of six years.

disclosures on related Parties  
and executive Bodies 

note 44

related party disclosures   

overview

Related parties are companies and individuals who are re-
lated to the Lenzing Group according to the IFRS definition. 
In particular, the related parties of the Lenzing Group are the 
companies of the B&C Group including their subsidiaries, joint 
ventures and associates and their executive bodies (execu-
tive board/management and supervisory board, if any) plus 
the close relatives of the members of executive bodies and 
the companies they influence (see also note 1 “Description 
of the company and its business activities” and note 45). The 
amounts and transactions between Lenzing AG and its con-
solidated subsidiaries are eliminated on consolidation and are 
not discussed any further here.

B&C Privatstiftung is managed by a Board of Trustees. No 
member of the Lenzing AG Management Board is a member 
of the Board of Trustees or of the management/Management 
Boards of subsidiaries of B&C Privatstiftung, with the excep-
tion of subsidiaries of the Lenzing Group. The Lenzing Group 
has no influence on the business activities of B&C Privatstif-
tung.

In some cases, the members of the corporate bodies of  
Lenzing AG and the entities mentioned above are also mem-
bers of corporate bodies or shareholders of other companies 
with which Lenzing AG maintains ordinary business relation-
ships. There are ordinary business relationships with banks, 
including in the areas of financing, investment and derivatives.  

relationships with related companies

Lenzing AG and the subsidiaries included in the tax group 
agreement are members of the tax group concluded on Sep-
tember 25, 2009 between B&C Industrieholding GmbH as 
the group parent and Lenzing AG and other subsidiaries of 
Lenzing AG as group members in accordance with section 
9 of the Austrian Corporation Tax Act (for more information, 
see the section on “Current taxes and deferred taxes” under 
“Accounting policies”, note 3).

The Lenzing Group recognized a tax credit from the tax 
group of EUR 1,487 thousand in profit or loss in the 2015 fi-
nancial year (2014: EUR 3,000 thousand). In accordance with 
the contractual obligation, advances on the tax allocation 
were paid to B&C Industrieholding GmbH in the amount of 
EUR 19,328 thousand in 2015 (2014: EUR 9,605 thousand).

As at December 31, 2015, the Lenzing Group recognized a 
liability of EUR 6,954 thousand (December 31, 2014: EUR 
16,591 thousand) to B&C Industrieholding GmbH from the 
tax allocation after deduction of the advances. This is report-
ed in the “Current tax liabilities” item of the statement of finan-
cial position. In 2015, an income tax expense of EUR 11,682 
thousand (2014: EUR 15,852 thousand) was recognized as a 
result of the tax allocation to B&C Industrieholding GmbH. In 
addition, B&C Industrieholding GmbH charged costs of EUR 
15 thousand (2014: EUR 172 thousand) to Lenzing AG.

Minimum lease payments as lessor 
(operating leases) eUr ‘000

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

In subsequent year 2,959 2,842

In the following 2-5 years 4,694 4,640

Thereafter 10,003 10,989

total 17,656 18,471
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relationships with companies accounted for using the equity method and their material 
subsidiaries

Transactions with companies accounted for using the equity method and their material subsidiaries mainly relate to:

The extent of material transactions and the amounts of outstanding balances with companies accounted for using the equity 
method and their material subsidiaries were as follows:

eQUi-Fibres Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH

and its subsidiaries (eFB): 

 � Distribution of fibers
 � Delivery of pulp and of machinery and equipment

lenzing Papier GmbH (lPP):  � Provision of infrastructure and administrative services

rvl reststoffverwertung lenzing GmbH (rvl):  � Operation of a recycling plant and purchase of the steam  
generated; rent of a plot of land

Gemeinnützige Siedlungsgesellschaft m.b.H.  
für den Bezirk vöcklabruck (GSG):

 � Provision of infrastructure and administrative services

Pt. Pura Golden lion (PGl):  � Loan liability

Wood Paskov s.r.o. (lWP):  � Purchase of wood

relationships with companies accounted for using the equity method  
and their material subsidiaries eUr ‘000

2015 eFB lPP GSG PGl
total  

associates rvl lWP
total joint 
ventures

Revenue 51,925 10,445 86 0 62,456 10,525 0 10,525

Other operating income 774 76 66 0 915 0 29 29

Cost of material (34,981) (2) 0 0 (34,983) 0 (154) (154)

Purchased services (3,605) 0 0 0 (3,605) (10,525) 0 (10,525)

Other operating expenses (194) (523) (74) 0 (791) (43) 0 (43)

Interest cost 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Interest income 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

31/12/2015

Trade receivables 14,890 3,061 22 0 17,973 0 8 8

Trade payables 3,153 0 0 0 3,153 23 17 40

Loan liabilities 0 0 0 2,509 2,509 0 0 0

Other liabilities 0 20 0 0 20 0 0 0
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Bad debt provisions for trade receivables from companies accounted for using the equity method in the amount of EUR 523 
thousand were recognized in profit or loss as an expense (2014: expense of EUR 24 thousand). There were no material transac-
tions with non-consolidated subsidiaries in either of the two financial years.

relationships with members of the Management Board and of the Supervisory Board of lenzing aG

The fixed and variable current remuneration and termination pay expensed by Lenzing AG for the active members of the Man-
agement Board break down as follows:

 

Of the total amounts shown above of EUR 5,470 thousand in the 2015 financial year (2014: EUR 2,325 thousand), a total of EUR 
2,644 thousand relates to current remuneration (fixed and variable current remuneration; 2014: EUR 2,325 thousand), and EUR 2,826 
thousand to termination benefits (termination pay; 2014: EUR 0 thousand) in the 2015 financial year. In addition, provisions for entitle-
ments of active Management Board members derived from long-term bonus models (other long-term employee benefits) increased 

relationships with companies accounted for using the equity method  
and their material subsidiaries (previous year) eUr ‘000

2014 eFB lPP GSG PGl
total  

associates rvl lWP
total joint 
ventures

Revenue 51,164 11,377 70 0 62,610 11,017 0 11,017

Other operating income 1,074 216 74 0 1,364 0 29 29

Cost of material (44,300) (3) 0 0 (44,303) 0 (154) (154)

Purchased services (12,497) 1 0 0 (12,496) (11,017) 0 (11,017)

Other operating expenses (167) (45) (68) 0 (280) (15) 0 (15)

Interest cost 0 0 0 (67) (67) 0 0 0

Interest income 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

31/12/2014

Trade receivables 4,835 4,953 8 0 9,796 0 6 6

Trade payables 4,064 6 0 0 4,070 0 28 28

Loan liabilities 0 0 0 2,194 2,194 0 0 0

Other liabilities 0 40 0 0 40 0 0 0

Fixed and variable current remuneration and termination  
pay expensed for active members of the Management Board eUr ‘000

Stefan  
doboczky1

robert  
van de Kerkhof

thomas  
riegler2

Peter  
Untersperger3

Friedrich  
Weninger4 total

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

Fixed current remuneration 412 0 453 292 457 259 244 585 0 435 1,566 1,571

Variable current remuneration 644 0 209 133 0 116 225 190 0 315 1,077 754

Termination pay 0 0 0 0 874 0 1,953 0 0 0 2,826 0

total 1,056 0 662 425 1,330 376 2,422 774 0 750 5,470 2,325

1) Member of the Management Board since June 1, 2015.    2) Member of the Management Board until December 1, 2015.     
3) Member of the Management Board until May 31, 2015.    4) Member of the Management Board until December 31, 2014.
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by EUR 298 thousand in the 2015 financial year (2014: decrease 
of EUR 47 thousand); another EUR 0 thousand (2014: EUR 309 
thousand) was expensed for the settlement of entitlements. In 
addition, EUR 40 thousand was expenses in profit or loss for 
vacation compensation (short-term employee benefits), taking 
into account the amounts previously provided for (2014: EUR 
138 thousand reversed to profit or loss). Moreover, the active 
members of the Management Board were granted post-employ-
ment benefits in the amount of EUR 273 thousand (2014: EUR 
295 thousand) by providing for company pension and severance 
plans in the income statement and in other comprehensive in-
come.

A long-term bonus agreement was concluded with Dr. Stefan 
Doboczky in the 2015 financial year. It has a term of three years 
with entitlement in 2018. The amount of the bonus is based on 
the increase achieved in enterprise value over this period. The 
agreement requires the achievement of a minimum return per 
year. A further additional condition is the prolongation of his con-
tract as member of the Management Board. The bonus will be 
paid out 50% in cash and 50% in shares of Lenzing AG. The 
number of shares in Lenzing AG to be granted is variable and 
dependent on the amount of bonus entitlement and the aver-
age market price of the shares over the past twelve months. 
The settlement with equity instruments constitutes share-based 
payment in accordance with IFRS 2; cash settlement is clas-
sified as other non-current benefits in accordance with IAS 19 
(see above; included in the amount of EUR 298 thousand). The 
measurement is based on a multiple calculation taking into ac-
count EBITDA and net debt. It also includes discount effects and 
the probability of utilization. For the first half of granted shares, a 
retention period of at least one year as of the acquisition date ap-
plies. For the second half of granted shares, a retention period of 
at least two years applies. There are no special agreements on 
the transferability of bonus entitlements. Forecast dividends are 
not taken into account in the calculation of fair value. An expense 
for the equity-settled bonus entitlement of EUR 433 thousand 
(2014: EUR 0 thousand) was recognized in personnel expenses 
in the 2015 financial year; offsetting this, retained earnings were 
increased by the same amount.

The expenses for the active Supervisory Board members (short-
term employee benefits in the form of remuneration for the Su-
pervisory Board members including attendance fees) amounted 
to EUR 294 thousand for the 2015 financial year (2014: EUR 436 
thousand).

Hence, remuneration expensed for key management personnel, 
which comprises active members of the Management Board 
and of the Supervisory Board of Lenzing AG, in line with their 
functions, is summarized below:

 

Prior to their appointment to the board, members of the Man-
agement Board provided services to the Lenzing Group in the 
2014 financial year for which the Lenzing Group recognized 
an expense of EUR 102 thousand.

The present value of the provision for severance payments 
recognized for active members of the Management Board 
amounts to EUR 0 thousand (December 31, 2014: EUR 838 
thousand) as at December 31, 2015.

In addition to the benefits above, the employee representa-
tives on the Supervisory Board who were delegated by the 
Works Council are entitled to regular payment (wage or salary 
and severance and jubilee benefits) under their employment 
contracts. This payment represents appropriate remuneration 
for the role/activities performed in the company.

In line with usual market and corporate practice, Lenzing AG 
also grants additional benefits that are considered non-mon-
etary benefits to the members of the Management Board, 
some senior executives and Supervisory Board members. For 
example, insurance coverage (D&O, accident, legal protection 
etc.) is provided, with the costs borne by the Lenzing Group. 
Overall premium payments are made to the insurers, meaning 
that there is no specific allocation to the Management Board 

remuneration for key management 
personnel (expensed) eUr ‘000

2015 2014

remuneration  
for the Management Board

Short-term employee benefits 2,684 2,186

Other long-term employee benefits 298 262

Post-employment benefits 273 295

Share-based remuneration 433 0

Remuneration  
(without termination benefits) 3,687 2,743

Termination benefits 2,826 0

6,514 2,743

remuneration  
for the Supervisory Board

 Short-term employee benefits 294 436

total 6,807 3,180
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and the Supervisory Board. In addition, the members of the 
Management Board and some senior executives are provided 
with company vehicles for their use. Moreover, expenses, es-
pecially travel expenses, incurred by members of the Man-
agement Board and the Supervisory Board are reimbursed. 
The principles of the remuneration system for the Manage-
ment Board and the Supervisory Board are described in detail 
and published in the 2015 Corporate Governance Report of 
the Lenzing Group. 

No advances, loans or guarantees have been granted to mem-
bers of the Management Board and the Supervisory Board. 
The Lenzing Group has not entered into any contingencies 
for the benefit of the Management Board and the Supervisory 
Board. Directors’ dealings reports regarding members of the 
Management Board and the Supervisory Board are published 
on the Austrian Financial Market Authority website (see http://
www.fma.gv.at).

Post-employment benefits for former members of the Man-
agement Board of Lenzing AG (who left before January 1, 
2013) or their surviving dependents in the amount of EUR 74 
thousand (2014: EUR 1,652 thousand) were recognized in the 
form of expenses in the income statement and allocations in 
other comprehensive income. The present value of the pen-
sion provision recognized in this context after deduction of 
the fair value of plan assets (net obligation) amounts to EUR 
7,305 thousand (December 31, 2014: EUR 7,921 thousand) as 
at December 31, 2015.

note 45

executive bodies of the company

Members of the Supervisory Board

Hanno Bästlein, vienna
Chairman (since April 22, 2015)
Vice-Chairman (until April 22, 2015)

Michael Junghans, vienna
Chairman (until April 22, 2015)

Felix Strohbichler, anthering
Vice-Chairman (since April 22, 2015)

veit Sorger, vienna
Vice-Chairman

Helmut Bernkopf, vienna

Franz Gasselsberger, linz

Josef Krenner, linz

Patrick Prügger, vienna

andreas Schmidradner, vienna

astrid Skala-Kuhmann, icking (Germany)

Martin Payer, leoben (until April 28, 2014)

appointed by the Works council

Johann Schernberger, regau  
Chairman of the Works Committee
Chairman of the Works Council for Waged Employees 
(since September 1, 2015)

rudolf Baldinger, lenzing (until September 1, 2015)
Chairman of the Works Committee
Chairman of the Works Council for Waged Employees

Georg liftinger, Weyregg am attersee
Vice-Chairman of the Works Committee
Chairman of the Works Council for Salaried Employees

Helmut Kirchmair, timelkam (since September 1, 2015)
Vice-Chairman of the Works Council for Waged Employees  

daniela Födinger, Seewalchen am attersee
Vice-Chairwoman of the Works Council for Salaried Employ-
ees (since April 28, 2014)

Franz Berlanda, Wolfsegg am Hausruck
Vice-Chairman of the Works Council for Waged Employees 
(since April 28, 2014)

Gerhard ratzesberger, lenzing
Vice-Chairman of the Works Council for Salaried Employees 
(until April 28, 2014)
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Members of the Management Board

Stefan doboczky, Seewalchen am attersee
Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
Chairman of the Management Board (since June 1, 2015)

robert van de Kerkhof, Mondsee
Chief Commercial Officer (CCO)
Member of the Management Board (since May 1, 2014)

thomas obendrauf, Graz
Chief Financial Officer (CFO)
Member of the Management Board (since March 1, 2016)

Peter Untersperger, linz
Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
Chairman of the Management Board (until May 31, 2015)

thomas riegler, Salzburg
Chief Financial Officer (CFO)
Member of the Management Board (until December 1, 2015)

Friedrich Weninger, Mondsee
Chief Operating Officer (COO)
Member of the Management Board (until December 31, 2014)

other notes 

note 46

Financial guarantee contracts, contingent assets 
and liabilities, other financial obligations and legal 
risks

There are contingent liabilities, in particular to secure the claims 
of certain sold equity investments and suppliers, as well as for 
possible default of payment related to receivables sold (see also 
note 39) and of third parties outside the Group in the amount of 
EUR 26,962 thousand (December 31, 2014: EUR 27,105 thou-
sand) and, to a lesser extent, retentions granted, that have not 
yet been recognized as actual liabilities. The amounts shown 
represent the maximum payment obligation on the part of the 
Lenzing Group. The potential for recoveries exists to a limited 
extent only for the obligations and liabilities relating to the claims 
of certain sold equity investments. EUR 8,477 thousand (De-
cember 31, 2014: EUR 10,322 thousand) of the amount men-
tioned above relates to financial guarantee contracts. It is pre-

dominantly considered unlikely that the Group will be required 
to make payments under these financial guarantee contracts. 
Liabilities at the amount of the fair values of these financial guar-
antee contracts of EUR 148 thousand were recognized as at 
December 31, 2015 (December 31, 2014: EUR 159 thousand). 

The Lenzing Group bears obligations for severance payments 
and anniversary benefits for former employees of certain sold 
equity investments up to the amount of the notional claims as 
at the date of the sale. Provisions have been recognized for 
these obligations as at the reporting date in the amount of the 
present value according to actuarial principles and reported 
according to their maturity.

As at December 31, 2015, obligations for outstanding or-
ders of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 
amounted to EUR 21,084 thousand (December 31, 2014: 
EUR 10,361 thousand).

In addition, Lenzing AG in particular has assumed contingent 
liabilities to secure third-party claims against consolidated 
companies that are considered unlikely to become effective. 
The Management Board is not aware of any other financial 
obligations with a significant impact on the financial position 
and financial performance of the Group.

As an international group, the Lenzing Group is exposed to 
a variety of legal and other risks. In particular, these include 
risks in the areas of product defects, competition and antitrust 
law, patent law, tax law, employees and environmental pro-
tection (particularly for environmental damage at production 
locations). The outcomes of currently pending proceedings or 
future proceedings cannot be predicted, hence expenses that 
are not fully covered by insurance and that can have a mate-
rial impact on the future financial position and financial per-
formance of the Group can arise as a result of court or official 
rulings or settlement agreements. Further information can be 
found in the risk report of the Group Management Report of 
the Lenzing Group as at December 31, 2015.

There are legal disputes pending in the Group as a result of its 
operating activities, particularly in the area of patent law. The 
Management Board is assuming at this time that the currently 
known proceedings will not have a significant impact on the cur-
rent financial position and financial performance of the Group, 
or it has provided sufficiently for the corresponding risks. Re-
gardless of this careful assessment, residual risks still remain.
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note 47

Group companies

In addition to Lenzing AG, the Lenzing Group includes the following group companies (list of group companies in accordance with 
section 245a(1) in conjunction with section 265(2) of the Austrian Commercial Code):

1), 2), 3) Notes on the next page.

Group companies 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

currency Share capital Share Share capital Share 

consolidated companies: in % in %

ASIA Fiber Engineering GmbH, Vienna, Austria EUR 36,336 100.00 36,336 100.00

Avit Investments Limited, Providenciales, Turks and Caicos USD 2,201,000 100.00 2,201,000 100.00

Beech Investment s.r.o., Zlaté Moravce, Slovakia EUR 6,639 100.00 6,639 100.00

Biocel Paskov a.s., Paskov, Czech Republic CZK 280,000,000 100.00 280,000,000 100.00

BZL - Bildungszentrum Lenzing GmbH, Lenzing, Austria EUR 43,604 75.00 43,604 75.00

Cellulose Consulting GmbH, Vienna, Austria EUR 36,336 100.00 36,336 100.00

Dolan GmbH, Kelheim, Germany EUR - - 1,000,000 100.00

Energie- und Medienzentrale Heiligenkreuz GmbH, Heiligenkreuz, Austria EUR 72,673 100.00 72,673 100.00

European Carbon Fiber GmbH, Kelheim, Germany EUR - - 25,000 91.07

LENO Electronics GmbH, Lenzing, Austria EUR - - 40,000 100.00

Lenzing Beteiligungs GmbH, Lenzing, Austria1 EUR 35,000 100.00 35,000 100.00

Lenzing Fibers (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., Shanghai, China USD 200,000 100.00 200,000 100.00

Lenzing Fibers GmbH, Heiligenkreuz, Austria EUR 363,364 100.00 363,364 100.00

Lenzing Fibers Grimsby Limited, Grimsby, UK GBP 1 100.00 1 100.00

Lenzing Fibers Holding GmbH, Lenzing, Austria EUR 35,000 100.00 35,000 100.00

Lenzing Fibers (Hongkong) Ltd., Hong Kong, China HKD 16,000,000 100.00 16,000,000 100.00

Lenzing Fibers Inc., Mobile, USA USD 10 100.00 10 100.00

Lenzing Fibers Ltd., Manchester, UK GBP 1 100.00 1 100.00

Lenzing Global Finance GmbH, Munich, Germany EUR 25,000 100.00 25,000 100.00

Lenzing Holding GmbH, Lenzing, Austria EUR 35,000 100.00 35,000 100.00

Lenzing Land Holding LLC., Dover, USA USD 10,000 100.00 10,000 100.00

Lenzing Modi Fibers India Private Limited, Mumbai, India INR 1,148,681,290 96.41 1,148,681,290 96.41

Lenzing (Nanjing) Fibers Co., Ltd., Nanjing, China USD 64,440,000 70.00 64,440,000 70.00

LP Automotive GmbH, Lenzing, Austria EUR 35,000 100.00 35,000 100.00

Lenzing Technik GmbH, Lenzing, Austria EUR 35,000 100.00 35,000 100.00

Penique S.A., Panama, Panama USD 5,000 100.00 5,000 100.00

PT. South Pacific Viscose, Purwakarta, Indonesia2 IDR 72,500,000,000 92.85 72,500,000,000 92.85

Pulp Trading GmbH, Lenzing, Austria EUR 40,000 100.00 40,000 100.00

Reality Paskov s.r.o., Paskov, Czech Republic CZK 900,000 100.00 900,000 100.00

Tencel Holding Limited, Manchester, UK GBP 1 100.00 1 100.00

Wasserreinhaltungsverband Lenzing – Lenzing AG, Lenzing, Austria3 EUR 0
Member- 

ship 0
Member- 

ship
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comments: 

1) Reporting date is Sep. 30, interim financial statements are prepared as at 
Dec. 31.

2) Share: The share held directly by the Lenzing Group is 88.08% (December 
31, 2014: 88.08%). Another 11.92% of the shares are held indirectly via PT. 
Pura Golden Lion, Jakarta, Indonesia, an associate of the Lenzing Group. 
The total calculated share is therefore 92.85%.

3) Explanation: The Lenzing Group participates in Wasserreinhaltungsverband 
Lenzing – Lenzing AG, Lenzing, via a membership. It holds 50% of the vot-
ing rights and can appoint half of the Management Board members. Since 
under company law all assets are attributable to the respective landowner, 
the entity is notionally a separate company (what is known as a “silo struc-
ture”). Assets located on the Lenzing Group’s land are therefore included in 
consolidation. Costs incurred in the association are allocated to its members 
according to source.

4) Explanation: The Lenzing Group has the right to acquire additional shares 
and voting rights in EQUI-Fibres Beteiligungsgesellschaft, Kelheim, Germa-
ny. This right is currently not considered substantial, because the Lenzing 
Group does not believe the exercisability of this right is sufficiently likely 
from a legal point of view. Therefore, the Lenzing Group does not control 
this company. However, the Lenzing Group exerts a significant influence 
over the financial and operating policies of this company. This means the 
company is an associate accounted for using the equity method.

5) Explanation: The investment in Gemeinnützige Siedlungsgesellschaft 
m.b.H. für den Bezirk Vöcklabruck, Lenzing, is not included in the consoli-
dated financial statements as a subsidiary, even though the Lenzing Group 

holds 99.9% of the voting rights in this company. According to the general 
circumstances, the Lenzing Group does not control this company because 
its power is limited and the returns hardly vary or can hardly be influenced 
by the Lenzing Group. In particular because of its representation in manage-
ment bodies and its participation in decision-making processes, it exerts 
significant influence over the financial and operating policies of this com-
pany. This means the company is an associate accounted for using the 
equity method.

6) Explanation: The company is in liquidation, which was largely completed 
from an economic perspective as at December 31, 2013. Under the Ger-
man Commercial Code, this company’s equity in its liquidation balance 
sheet amounted to EUR -22,402 thousand as at December 9, 2014 (equity 
as per liquidation opening balance sheet as at December 10, 2013: EUR 
-21,056 thousand). After the waiver of loans still to be formally executed by 
the shareholders, its equity will be approximately zero. The Lenzing Group 
does not expect any further material negative effects. On the basis of its im-
materiality from the group perspective, it is not consolidated.

7) Explanation: The company is in liquidation, which was largely completed 
from an economic perspective as at December 31, 2015. The equity of this 
company in accordance with IFRS was EUR -1,314 thousand as at Decem-
ber 31, 2015 (EUR 396 thousand as at December 31, 2014) and its net loss 
in 2015 was EUR -1,553 thousand (2014: EUR -630 thousand). After the 
waiver of loans still to be formally executed by the shareholders, its equity 
will be approximately zero. The Lenzing Group does not expect any further 
material negative effects. On the basis of its immateriality from the group 
perspective, it is not consolidated.

Group companies 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

currency Share capital Share Share capital Share 

companies accounted for using the equity method: in % in %

associates:

 EQUI-Fibres Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Kelheim, Germany4 EUR 2,000,000 45.00 2,000,000 45.00

 Gemeinnützige Siedlungsgesellschaft m.b.H. für den Bezirk Vöcklabruck,  
 Lenzing, Austria5 EUR 1,155,336 99.90 1,155,336 99.90

 Lenzing Papier GmbH, Lenzing, Austria EUR 35,000 40.00 35,000 40.00

 PT. Pura Golden Lion, Jakarta, Indonesia IDR 2,500,000,000 40.00 2,500,000,000 40.00

 WWE Wohn- und Wirtschaftspark Entwicklungsgesellschaft m.b.H.,  
 Vienna, Austria EUR 36,336 25.00 36,336 25.00

Joint ventures:

 LKF Tekstil Boya Sanayi ve Ticaret Anonim Sirketi, Istanbul, Turkey TRY 200,000 33.34 200,000 33.34

 RVL Reststoffverwertung Lenzing GmbH, Lenzing, Austria EUR 36,336 50.00 36,336 50.00

 Wood Paskov s.r.o., Paskov, Czech Republic CZK 2,000,000 50.00 2,000,000 50.00

Unconsolidated companies:

European Precursor GmbH, Kelheim, Germany6 EUR 25,000 95.00 25,000 95.00

Lenzing Engineering and Technical Services (Nanjing) Co., Ltd., Nanjing, China7 USD 2,100,000 100.00 2,100,000 100.00
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note 48

Significant events after the end of the reporting period

The Lenzing Group is not aware of any events significant to it after the reporting date December 31, 2015 that would have re-
sulted in a different presentation of its financial position and financial performance.

note 49

authorization of the consolidated financial statements

These consolidated financial statements were approved on March 09, 2016 (December 31, 2014: March 12, 2015) by the Man-
agement Board for review by the Supervisory Board, presentation to the Shareholders’ Meeting and subsequent publication. 
The Supervisory Board may have changes made to the consolidated financial statements as part of the review for which it is 
responsible.

Lenzing, March 09, 2016
lenzing aktiengesellschaft

 
the Management Board 
 
 

Stefan doboczky robert van de Kerkhof  thomas obendrauf
Chief Executive Officer Chief Commercial Officer Chief Financial Officer 
Chairman of the Management Board Member of the Management Board Member of the Management Board
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aUditor’S rePort

report on the consolidated Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Lenzing Aktiengesell-
schaft, Lenzing, comprising the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 
31, 2015, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, the consolidated statement of cash flows and the consolidated statement of changes 
in equity for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, and the notes. 

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated Financial 
Statements 

The Company’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements under section 245a UGB, 
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the prepara-
tion of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement whether due 
to fraud or error.

auditor’s responsibility    

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based 
on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with laws and regulations applicable in 
Austria and Austrian Standards on Auditing. These principles require the application of Inter-
national Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Those standards require that we comply with the ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and dis-
closures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the au-
ditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consoli-
dated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Group’s preparation and fair presentation 
of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropri-
ate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effective-
ness of the Group’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by manage-
ment, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
reasonable basis for our audit opinion. 
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opinion 

Our audit did not give rise to any objections. In our opinion the consolidated financial state-
ments comply with legal requirements and give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
the Group as of December 31, 2015 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as 
adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements under section 245a UGB.   

comments on the Management report for the Group

Pursuant to statutory provisions, the management report for the Group is to be audited as to 
whether it is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and as to whether the other 
disclosures are not misleading with respect to the Group’s position. The auditor’s report also 
has to contain a statement as to whether the management report for the Group is consistent 
with the consolidated financial statements and whether the disclosures pursuant to section 
243a UGB are appropriate.

In our opinion, the management report for the Group is consistent with the consolidated finan-
cial statements. The disclosures pursuant to section 243a UGB are appropriate.

Vienna, March 9, 2016

Deloitte Audit Wirtschaftsprüfungs GmbH

Walter Müller Ulrich Dollinger
Certified Public Accountant Certified Public Accountant

The report is a translation from the original auditor’s report in German, which is solely valid. Publishing or transmitting of the 

consolidated financial statements including our audit opinion may only take place in conformity with the audit version above. 

This auditors‘ report refers only to the complete German version of the consolidated financial statements complete with the 

management report. Section 281, paragraph 2 of the Austrian Commercial Code applies to any other versions.
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declaration 
of the management Board 

declaration of the Management Board according  
to Section 82 (4) no. 3 of the Stock exchange act
 
We confirm to the best of our knowledge that the consolidated financial statements of the 
Lenzing Group as at December 31, 2015 that were prepared in accordance with the applicable 
accounting standards pursuant to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) give a 
true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Lenzing 
Group.

In addition, we confirm to the best of our knowledge that the Group Management Report gives 
a true and fair view of the development and performance of the business and the position 
of the Lenzing Group, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties the 
Lenzing Group faces.

 
Lenzing, March 9, 2016

the Management Board

Stefan doboczky robert van de Kerkhof  thomas obendrauf
Chief Executive Officer Chief Commercial Officer Chief Financial Officer 
Chairman of the Management Board Member of the Management Board Member of the Management Board



ANNUAL REPORT 2015 . lenzinG GroUP |  193

Lenzing group Five-Year overvieW

Key earnings and profitability figures

eUr mn 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Revenue 1,976.8 1,864.2 1,908.9 2,090.4 2,140.0

EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation  
and amortization) 290.1 240.3 225.4 352.4 480.3

EBITDA margin 14.7% 12.9% 11.8% 16.9% 22.4%

EBIT (earnings before interest and tax) 151.1 21.9 86.4 231.5 364.0

EBIT margin 7.6% 1.2% 4.5% 11.1% 17.0%

EBT (earnings before tax) 149.1 7.3 68.1 236.0 351.9

Net profit/loss for the year 124.0 (14.2) 50.0 180.9 267.4

Earnings per share in EUR 4.63 (0.51) 1.89 6.61 9.88

ROCE (return on capital employed) 8.0% (0.1%) 3.7% 13.7% 23.0%1

ROE (return on equity) 13.0% 0.7% 6.0% 21.4% 39.0%

ROI (return on investment) 6.3% 0.9% 3.4% 9.3% 16.9%

Key cash flow figures

eUr mn 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Gross cash flow 284.5 230.8 94.6 248.0 435.3

Cash flow from operating activities 215.6 218.8 82.3 209.4 309.7

Free cash flow 145.0 114.8 (163.9) (109.1) 119.21

CAPEX 70.9 104.3 248.7 319.6 193.4

Liquid assets as at 31/12 355.3 280.3 296.0 528.8 499.6

Unused credit facilities as at 31/12 190.9 198.5 296.2 211.2 250.8

Key balance sheet figures

eUr mn as at 31/12 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Total assets 2,421.8 2,375.1 2,439.9 2,632.7 2,340.5

Adjusted equity 1,226.4 1,066.1 1,109.6 1,153.1 1,048.1

Adjusted equity in % 50.6% 44.9% 45.5% 43.8% 44.8%

Net financial debt 327.9 449.5 504.7 346.3 153.3

Net financial debt / EBITDA 1.1 1.9 2.2 1.0 0.3

Net debt 424.5 552.5 582.0 445.5 239.3

Net gearing 26.7% 42.2% 45.5% 30.0% 14.6%

Trading working capital 447.4 395.7 393.7 363.8 372.8

Trading working capital to annualized group revenue ratio 21.6% 19.5% 21.3% 17.4% 17.0%

Key stock market figures

eUr 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Market capitalization in millions as at 31/12 1,846.6 1,400.2 1,105.4 1,811.2 1,697.6

Share price as at 31/12 69.55 52.74 41.64 68.22 63.94

Dividend per share 2.002 1.00 1.75 2.00 2.50

employees

Headcount 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Employees as at 31/12 6,127 6,356 6,675 7,033 6,444

1) Adjusted compared with the annual reports of previous years.    2) On the basis of proposed distribution of profits.     

The above financial indicators are largely derived from the Lenzing Group’s consolidated financial statements according to IFRS. Further details on their 
calculation can be found in section “Notes on financial performance indicators of the Lenzing Group”, in the glossary of the the Annual Report and the 
consolidated financial statements of the Lenzing Group.

Rounding differences can occur when presenting rounded amounts and percentages.

To improve the informative value and clarity, the presentation of key indicators was revised for this Annual Report.
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Financial calendar 2016

Publication Financial calendar 2016

Final results 2015 Wed, March 23

Record Date “Annual General Meeting” Su, April 10

72nd Annual General Meeting Wed, April 20

Quotation ex dividend Fr, April 22

Record Date “Dividends” Mo, April 25

Dividend distribution Tu, April 26

Results 1st quarter Thu, May 12

Half-year results Wed, August 24

Results 3rd quarter Wed, November 16

notes:
This English translation of the financial statements was prepared for the company’s convenience only. It is a non-binding translation of the 
German financial statements. In the event of discrepancies between this English translation and the German original the latter shall prevail.

This annual report also includes forward-looking statements based on current assumptions and estimates that are made to the best of its 
knowledge by Lenzing Group. Such forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of terms such as “should”, “could”, “will”, “es-
timate”, “expect”, “assume”, “predict”, “intend”, “believe” or similar items. The projections that are related to the future development of the 
Lenzing Group represent estimates that were made on the basis of the information available as at the date on which this annual report went 
to press. Actual results may differ from the forecast if the assumptions underlying the forecast fail to materialize or if risks arise at a level that 
was not anticipated.

Calculation differences may arise when rounded amounts and percentages are summed. The annual report was prepared with great accuracy 
in order to ensure that the information provided herein is correct and complete. Rounding, type-setting and printing errors can nevertheless 
not be completely ruled out.



GloSSarY

air-dried pulp

Pulp with 10% equilibrium moisture 

Botanic fibers

A fiber industrially produced from raw materials of plant origin (e.g. 

wood).

cellulose

The raw material of pulp production. Cellulose is a component of all 

plants. The cellulose content of wood is about 40%.

co-product

By-products recovered during pulp and fiber production. 

dissolving wood pulp

A special kind of pulp with special characteristics used to manu-

facture viscose, modal and lyocell fibers and other cellulose-based 

products. This grade of pulp is characterized by higher alpha cel-

lulose content and by a high degree of purity.

FSc

The Forest Stewardship council (FSc) is an international non-

profit organization for wood certification. https://ic.fsc.org/

HiGG index

Source: http://www.apparelcoalition.org/higgindex/ 

iSo 14001

An international standard for the certification of environmental man-

agement systems.

 

iSo 9001

An international standard for the certification of quality management 

systems.

lyocell

A new type of cellulose fiber developed by Lenzing and produced 

in a very environmentally friendly solvent process. Lenzing markets 

these fibers under the brand name TENCEL®. Their properties en-

able new and innovative products to be developed and produced.

Modal

Modal is a viscose fiber refined under modified viscose production 

conditions and spinning conditions. It stands apart for its softness 

and is the preferred fiber for high-quality underwear and similar 

products. The fibers have improved use characteristics such as 

tenacity, dimensional stability, and so forth. Lenzing markets these 

fibers under the brand name Lenzing Modal®.

nonwovens 

Nonwoven materials, fleece. Nonwovens made from Lenzing fibers 

are used for sanitary, medical and cosmetics applications

oHSaS 18001

Occupational Health and Safety Assessment Series (OHSAS) is a 

certification system for management systems pertaining to work 

safety.

www.ohsas-18001-occupational-health-and-safety.com

PeFc

The Program for the Endorsement of Forest Certification Schemes 

(PEFC) is an international non-profit organization for wood certification.

www.pefc.org

Stakeholders 

All internal and external persons or groups affected directly or indi-

rectly by business activities currently or in the future. 

Stock-to-Use ratio

Measures the relationship of supply and demand for a specified raw 

material, showing to the extent to which the remaining inventories 

of a certain raw material can fulfill demand or the entire level of con-

sumption. The stock-to-use ratio is stated as a percentage. 

Source: www.investor-verlag.de/rohstoffe/basiswissen-die-

stocks-to-use-ratio-/111022351

viscose fibers

A regenerated cellulose fiber produced from raw materials of plant 

origin (e.g. wood) using the viscose process. Lenzing markets these 

fibers under the brand name Lenzing Viscose®.

Wood-based and cotton linter-based cellulose fibers

A fiber produced from raw materials of plant origin 

(e.g. wood).
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GloSSarY

Financial glossary

adjusted equity

Equity including non-current and current government grants less 

proportionate deferred taxes on government grants.

adjusted equity ratio

Ratio of adjusted equity to total assets as a percentage.

caPex

Capital expenditures; comprising investments in intangible assets, 

property, plant and equipment.

capital employed

Total assets less non-interest-bearing debt less cash and cash 

equivalents less current securities less investments accounted for 

using the equity method less financial assets.

earnings per share

Ratio of Lenzing AG shareholders’ share in the net profit/loss for the 

year to the weighted average number of shares issued as a percent-

age, calculated according to IFRS (IAS 33 earnings per share); the 

precise derivation can be found in Note 18 in the notes to the con-

solidated financial statements.

eBit (earnings before interest and tax)

Earnings before interest and tax or operating result; the precise deri-

vation can be found in the consolidated income statement.

eBit margin

Ratio of EBIT to revenue as a percentage; equals the return on sales 

(ROS).

eBitda (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amor-

tization)

Operating result before depreciation and amortization or earnings 

before interest, tax, depreciation on property, plant and equipment 

and amortization of intangible assets and before income from the 

release of investment grants; the precise derivation can be found in 

the consolidated income statement.

eBitda margin

Ratio of EBITDA to revenue as a percentage.

eBt (earnings before tax)

Earnings before tax; profit/loss for the year before income tax ex-

pense; the precise derivation can be found in the consolidated in-

come statement.

equity

The equity item pools the equity instruments according to IFRS. An 

equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest 

in the assets of an entity after deducting the liabilities. This relates to 

funds provided to the entity by the owners.

Free cash flow

Cash flow from operating activities less cash flow from investing 

activities less net cash inflow from the disposal of subsidiaries and 

other business areas plus acquisition of financial assets less pro-

ceeds from the disposal or repayment of financial assets. Free cash 

flow corresponds to the readily available cash flow.

Gross cash flow

Gross cash flow equals cash flow from operating activities before 

change in working capital; the precise derivation can be found in the 

consolidated cash flow statement.

iaS

Abbreviation for International Accounting Standard(s); these are in-

ternationally recognized accounting rules.

iFrS

Abbreviation for International Financial Reporting Standard(s); these 

are internationally recognized accounting rules.

liquid assets

Cash and cash equivalents plus liquid securities and liquid bills of 

exchange.

Market capitalization

Weighted average number of shares multiplied by the share price as 

at the reporting date.

net debt

Interest-bearing financial liabilities (=current and non-current finan-

cial liabilities) less liquid assets plus provisions for pensions and sev-

erance payments.

net financial debt

Interest-bearing financial liabilities (= non-current and current finan-

cial liabilities) less liquid assets.

net financial debt/eBitda

Ratio of net financial debt to EBITDA as a percentage.

net gearing

Ratio of net financial debt to adjusted equity as a percentage.
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net Profit/loss for the year

Profit/loss after tax; net profit/loss; the precise derivation can be 

found in the consolidated income statement. 

non-interest-bearing debt

Trade payables plus puttable non-controlling interests plus other li-

abilities plus current tax liabilities plus deferred taxes (deferred tax 

liabilities) and proportionate deferred taxes on government grants 

plus provisions excluding post-employment benefits.

noPat

Net operating profit after tax; operating result (EBIT) less proportion-

ate current income tax expense.

Post emloyment benefits

Provisions for pensions and severance payments. 

roce (return on capital employed)

Return on capital employed; ratio of NOPAT to average capital em-

ployed (average from January 1 and December 31) as a percentage. 

roe (return on equity)

Return on equity; ratio of EBT (earnings before tax) to average ad-

justed equity (average from January 1 and December 31) as a per-

centage.

roi (return on investment)

Return on investment; ratio of EBIT (earnings before interest and tax) 

to average total assets (average from January 1 and December 31) 

as a percentage. 

total assets

Total of non-current and current assets or the total of equity and 

non-current and current liabilities; the precise derivation can be 

found in the consolidated statement of financial position.

trading working capital

Inventories plus trade receivables less trade payables.

trading working capital to annualized group revenue ratio

Ratio of trading working capital to the most recent quarterly revenue 

reported x 4 as a percentage. 

Working capital

Inventories plus trade receivables plus other non-current and current 

assets less current provisions less trade payables less other non-

current and current liabilities.
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